ADVANCES IN HORTICULTURAL SCIENCE

Formerly Rivista dell'Ortoflorofrutticoltura Italiana founded in 1876 and issued by University of Florence, Italy

EDITORS-IN-CHIEF

Stefano Mancuso University of Florence Florence, Italy

ASSOCIATE EDITORS

Elisa Azzarello University of Florence Florence, Italy

Giulia Atzori University of Florence Florence, Italy

Frantisek Baluska University of Bonn Bonn, Germany

Karim Ben Hamed Laboratoire des Plantes Extrêmophiles Centre de Biotechnologie de Borj Cédria Hammam, Tunisie

Carla Benelli National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy

Stefano Biricolti University of Florence Florence, Italy

Francois Bouteau Université Paris Diderot-Paris 7, Sorbonne Paris Cité Orsay Cedex, France

Elena-Cocuta Buciumeanu National Research and Development Institute for Biotechnology in Horticulture Bucarest, Romania

Cecilia Brunetti National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI) Italy

Stefania Caparrotta University of Florence Florence, Italy

Diego Comparini University of Florence Florence, Italy Mauro Centritto National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy

Vadzim Dzemidchyk University of Minsk Minsk, Belorus

Rudolf Eibach Institute for Grapevine Breeding Siebeldinge, Germany

E.P. Eleftheriou Aristotle University of Thessaloniki Thessaloniki, Greece

Andrea Fabbri University of Parma Parma, Italy Silvano Fares Consiglio per la Ricerca e la sperimentazione in Agricoltura Rome, Italy

Martin Fellner Palacky University and Institute of Experimental Botany ASCR Olomouc-Holice Czech Republic

Vassilis Fotopoulos Cyprus University of Technology Limassol, Cyprus

Monica Gagliano The University of Western Australia Crawley, Australia

Edgardo Giordani University of Florence Florence, Italy

Guidi Nissim Werther University of Florence Florence, Italy Luis Gurovich Universidad Católica de Chile Santiago, Chile

Yoichiro Hoshino Hokkaido University Sapporo, Japan

Lin Jinxing Beijing Forestry University Beijing, P.R. China

Maurizio Lambardi National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI) Italy

Francesco Loreto National Research Council Rome, Italy

Andrea Luvisi University of Salento Lecce, Italy

George Manganaris Cyprus University of Technology Lemesos, Cyprus

Elisa Masi University of Florence Florence, Italy

Christian Mazars Paul Sabatier University - Toulouse III Toulose, France

Alessio Mengoni University of Florence Florence, Italy

Franco Miglietta National Research Council S. Michele all'Adige (TN), Italy

Axel Mithoefer Max Planck Institute Jena, Germany **Susan J. Murch** University of British Columbia Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada

Stefania Nin CREA Pescia (PT), Italy

Peter M. Neumann Faculty of Civil and Environmental Engineering Haifa, Israel

Velemir Ninkovic Department of Ecology Uppsala, Sve

Camilla Pandolfi University of Florence Florence, Italy

Alberto Pardossi University of Pisa Pisa, Italy

Igor Pottosin Universidad de Colima Colima, Mexico

Silvia Radice Facultad de Agronomía y Ciencias Agroalimetarias Morón, Buenos Aires, Argentina Hava F. Rapoport Instituto de Agricultura Sostenibible, CSIC Cordoba, Spain

Tapani Repo Finnish Forest Research Institute Joensuu, Finland

Sergey Shabala University of Tasmania Hobart, Tasmania, Australia

Hans Schultz Geisenheim Research Center Geseinheim, Germany

Jorge Soria INIA Las Brujas, Uruguay

Vicente Sotés Ruiz Università Politecnica di Madrid Madrid, Spain

A.K. Srivastava National Research Center for Citrus Nagpur, Maharashtra, India

Cosimo Taiti University of Florence Florence, Italy Narendra Tuteia ICGEB New delhi, India

Kawano Tomonori The University of Kitakyushu Kitakyushu, Japan

Teofilo Vamerali University of Padua,

Padua, Italy Johan Van Huylenbroeck

Institute for Agricultural and Fisheries Research Melle, Belgium

Marie-Christine Van Labeke Ghent University Ghent, Belgium

Liz Van Volkenburgh University of Washington Seattle, Washington, USA

Carlo Viti University of Florence Florence, Italy

Yinglang Wan Beijing Forestry University Beijing, P.R. China

MANAGEMENT EDITOR

Cinzia Silori University of Florence Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy

Advances in Horticultural Science is covered in the following indexing and abstracting services:

 ACNP Catalogo Italiano dei Periodici - AGRICOLA - AGRICULTURE Journals - AGRIS -APE Journal - BASE Bielefeld Academic Search Engine - BIOBASE - Biological Abstracts - Biological Science Journals PQ - BIOSIS Preview THOMSON REUTERS -CAB Abstracts - EBSCO - EZB Elektronische Zeitschriften Bibliothek - Universitäts bibliothek Regensburg - Google Scholar -HORTICULTURAL Abstracts -Journal Seek. A Searchable Database of Online Scholarly Journals - JURN - Natural Science Journals PQ - NewJour. Electronic Journals & Newsletters, University of Georgetown - OAISTER oclc - Ornamental Horticulture CABI - Plant Breeding Abstract CABI - Proquest - Scirus ELSEVIER - SciTech Journals - SciVerse SCOPUS ELSEVIER - Searchteam - Ulrich's Periodicals Directory - WoS Web of Science THOMSON REUTERS - WorldCat

Advances in Horticultural Science is published by the Department of Agri-Food Production and Environmental Sciences, University of Florence, Viale delle Idee, 30, 50019 Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy Phone +39-055-4574021-22, Fax +39-055-4574910, E-mail: ahs@dispaa.unifi.it

CONTENTS

SINUMPORN P., NARUMI-KAWASAKI T., FUKAI S. Development of interspecific hybrids between <i>Habenaria radiata</i> and <i>Habenaria rhodocheila</i> com- plex	3
Кнамі А., Barzegar T., Nikbakht J., Ghahremani Z. Effect of foliar spray of calcium lactate on the growth, yield and biochemical attribute of lettuce (<i>Lactuca sativa</i> L.) under water deficit stress	11
Abbasnia Zare S.K., Sedaghathoor S., Padasht Dahkaei M.N., Hashemabadi D. The effect of different colored netting on quantitative and qualitative traits of two foliage plant species (<i>Codiaeum variegatum</i> and <i>Aglaonema commutatum</i>)	25
Smiderle O.J., Souza A.G., Menegatti R.D., Silva T.J. Different substrates for seedling production of <i>Euterpe oleracea</i> Mart.	35
Ameri A., Davarynejad G.H., Tehranifar A., Moshтaghi N. Cefixime manages internal bacterial contamination during tissue culture operation	43
Мивакак I. Improving water productivity and yield of onion crop by combining early planting and straw mulch under different irrigation levels in dry Mediterranean region	49
Кім Ј.Н., Ѕин Ј.К., Yoon S.T., Roн M.S. Production of seed-propagated compact potted <i>Coryolopsis</i> plant in one year	61
Sнігаізні М., Asakuma H. Varietal differences in sweetness value and flesh juiciness among persimmon cultivars	71
ABDI G., KARAMI L. Salicylic acid effects on some physiochemical properties and secondary metabolite accumulation in <i>Mentha piperita</i> L. under water deficit stress	81
Akbarnejad-Samani Z., Shamili M., Samari F. The toxicity potential of Ag nanoparticles synthesized from <i>Cordia myxa</i> L.	93
Rezaei Zafarghandi M.S., Rahmati-Joneidabad M. Indirect shoot organogenesis and <i>in vitro</i> root formation of <i>Antirrhinum majus</i> L. by using of sodium nitroprusside	105

SHORT NOTE

Ilahy R., Tlili I., Rouhou H.C., Siddiqui M.W., Mishra P.M., Kuchi V.S., Homa F., Hdider C., Jebari H., Lenucci M.S.

Determining the main agronomic traits of snake melon (*Cucumis melo* var. *flexuosus* L.) fruits as affected by genotypic differences





(*) Corresponding author: punpaka.sinumporn@gmail.com

Citation:

SINUMPORN P., NARUMI-KAWASAKI T., FUKAI S., 2020 - Development of interspecific hybrids between Habenaria radiata and Habenaria rhodocheila complex - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 3-10

Copyright:

© 2020 Sinumporn P., Narumi-Kawasaki T., Fukai S. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 20 October 2018 Accepted for publication 6 March 2019

Development of interspecific hybrids between Habenaria radiata and Habenaria rhodocheila complex

P. Sinumporn (*), T. Narumi-Kawasaki, S. Fukai

Faculty of Agriculture, Kagawa University, Miki-cho, Kagawa 761-0795, Japan.

Key words: apomixis, cross combination, PCR-RFLP, reciprocal crossing, seed germination.

Abstract: Reciprocal crosses between Habenaria radiata and H. rhodocheila complex were investigated to develop new hybrids. The fruit-setting frequency and seed germination in the cross combination of H. radiata \times H. rhodocheila complex were higher than those of H. rhodocheila complex \times H. radiata. The hybridity of the obtained progenies was confirmed through PCR-RFLP analysis of the rRNA gene. Cross combinations producing true hybrids, apomicts, or both were observed, indicating that both H. radiata and H. rhodocheila complex were facultative apomixis. The obtained hybrids, H. radiata \times H. rhodocheila (orange flower), showed the intermediate plant form and flower shape of the parents, and both petals and lip were pale yellow.

1. Introduction

Habenaria is a large genus in the family Orchidaceae, consisting of more than 800 species distributed in tropical and subtropical areas such as Southern America, Southern and Central Africa, and East Asia (Pridgeon, 1992; Kurzweil, 2009; Pedron *et al.*, 2012; Batista *et al.*, 2013; Jin *et al.*, 2014). Habenaria species show diverse plant forms, flower shapes, and petal colors. There are many Habenaria species having high ornamental value, but only a few species are commercialized.

In this study, we focused on two *Habenaria* species: *H. radiata* and *H. rhodocheila*. *Habenaria* radiata is a species native to Japan in the wetlands of Honshu, Shikoku, and Kyushu Islands. This species is low-temperature tolerant. The form of the flowers is unique and beautiful, and the white petals look like a white egret bird. This species has been used as ornamental pot plants (Kim *et al.*, 2007, 2010; Mitoma and Kanno, 2018), but it can be used as cut flowers (Sinumporn *et al.*, 2015). *Habenaria rhodocheila* is found in Southeast Asia, Laos, Myanmar, southeast China, Thailand, Malaysia, and the Philippines. The flowers of *H. rhodocheila* have a large lip and four lobes, with side lobes and oblique mid lobes. The lips show a wide range of color such as orange, pink, red, and yellow. Formerly, the pink-flowered genotype was accepted under the name *H*. erichmichelii, and the yellow-flowered genotype was H. xanthocheila. The morphological characteristics are also different in each genotype, beside petal color (Kurzweil, 2009; Batista et al., 2013). H. xanthocheila is distinguished from H. rhodocheila in its tuber shape, i.e. H. xanthocheila has a crown-shaped tuber but H. rhodocheila has a round tuber (Cullen et al., 2011). Because these genotypes are very closely related, they are integrated into one species, called H. rhodocheila complex. In this report, we adopted the name H. rhodocheila complex and distinguished the genotypes only by the color of the petals. Producing hybrids between the two completely different Habenaria species, H. radiata and H. rhodocheila complex, could result in new hybrids having vigor, low-temperature tolerance, and beautiful flower shape with colorful petals.

Recently, many orchid species including Habenaria are at risk of extinction. The numbers of both H. radiata and H. rhodocheila complex are decreasing in their natural habitats, which are being destroyed through urbanization, agricultural use, ecological mismanagement of habitat, changes in climate conditions, and overcollection by people (Stewart and Kane, 2006; Mitsukuri et al., 2009; Tanaka et al., 2015). Supply of new interspecific hybrids with increased ornamental value is expected to reduce the illegal collection of the species in their habitats. There is little research on intraspecific cross breeding using these two Habenaria species. Only a successful of intraspecific cross between wild-type and petaloid-sepal genotypes in H. radiata was done (Kim et al., 2010; Mitoma et al., 2019). In this study, we carried out reciprocal crossing between H. radiata and H. rhodocheila complex, and evaluated the obtained progenies. This report is the first on successful interspecific crossing of H. radiata and H. rhodocheila complex.

2. Materials and Methods

Plant materials

Tubers of *H. radiata* 'Aoba' (HRA) (Fig. 1A) were planted in April, every year, in 12 cm plastic pots (5 tubers per pot) with sphagnum moss and tubers of *H. rhodocheila* complex (orange, pink, and yellow petal genotypes, RCO, RCP, and RCY, respectively) (Fig. 1B, 1C, 1D) were planted in 12 cm plastic pots filed with a medium consisting of Growing Mix (Metro Mix 350; Sun Gro Horticulture, MA USA): Kanuma (volcanic porous soil): Vermiculite, 1:2:1. Then, *H. radiata* were placed in a greenhouse in natural temperature with solar radiation. *H. rhodocheila* complex were placed in a growth chamber controlled at a constant temperature of 20°C with solar radiation.



Fig. 1 - Plant morphology of Habenaria species used in this study. (A) H. radiata 'Aoba', (B) H. rhodocheila complex (orange), (C) H. rhodocheila complex (pink), and (D) H. rhodocheila complex (yellow).

Interspecific cross and in vitro germination

A preliminary crossing experiment, HRA × RCO, was carried out in 2015. HRA and two H. rhodocheila complexes, RCO and RCY, were then cross-pollinated reciprocally in 2017. Five plants of each genotype were used in those cross combinations. Twenty plants of HRA and RCP were also cross-pollinated reciprocally in 2017. A total of six cross combinations were made (Table 1). The pollinia of mother plants were removed in advance to prevent self-pollination and the aimed pollinia of other plants were placed on the stigma. Reciprocal crosses were also conducted. Hand-pollinated flowers were labelled individually, and the capsules were harvested before dehiscence about 2 months after pollination. The capsules were surface sterilized with 70% (v/v) ethanol for 30 s and 0.1% (v/v) sodium hypochlorite solution for 15 min

Cross combination	Number of flowers	Number of pod	Seed	Number of plantlets	Number of true
	poliliateu	Sets (70)	germination	lesteu FCN-NFLF	Tiybrius (70)
HRA × RCO	13	8 (61.5)	++++	36	36 (100)
RCO × HRA	2	2 (100)	-	-	-
HRA × RCP	28	16 (57.1)	+++	21	0 (0)
RCP × HRA	41	12 (29.3)	-	-	-
HRA × RCY	11	1 (9.1)	+	18	1 (5.5)
RCY × HRA	3	1 (33.3)	+	8	0 (0)

Table 1 - Reciprocal crossing between Habenaria radiata and Habenaria rhodocheila complex

HRA = *H. radiate*; RCO = *H. rhodocheila* (orange petal); RCP = *H. rhodocheila* (pink petal); RCY = *H. rhodocheila* (yellow petal). *++++ = Germination well, ++ = Germination fair, + = Germination poor, - = No germination.

and then rinsed three times with sterilized water. Seeds were removed from the capsules and mixed in a petri dish, and then a batch of seeds picked up with tweezers was placed on a seed germination medium in 5 cm petri dishes. The medium was MM (Malmgren, 1996) supplemented with 20 g/l sucrose and 0.7% agar, and adjusted to pH 5.75 prior to autoclaving at 0.103 MPa pressure and 121°C for 20 min. The cultures were kept at 20°C under dark conditions. Extract numbers of seeds placed on the medium was unknown, the germination was evaluated in four stages: well (+++), fair (++), poor (+) and no-germination (-). Six months after sowing, protocorms were transplanted to 6×6 cm plastic culture vessels with MM medium. The protocorm cultures were kept under light inflorescence lamps (FL40S. BRN; Toshiba Lighting & Technology Co. Ltd.) for 16 h with a light intensity of 31.5 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹at 24°C. The protocorms were subcultured every month. After 12 months, the developed plantlets were acclimatized and planted in 12 cm plastic pots using the same growing medium as for the mother plants. The obtained progenies were grown in a growth chamber controlled at 20°C.

PCR-RFLP

The total DNA of both parents and progenies was extracted from 0.1 g of leaf tissue according to a modified ABBAS DNA extraction method (Abbas *et al.*, 2013). PCR was performed in a 50 µl reaction mixture containing 70 ng of total DNA, 0.2mM each of rRNA gene specific primers (5'-ACA CAC CGC CCG TCGCTC CTA-3' and 5'-ACT CGA TGG TTC ACG GGA TTC TG-3'), 2.5 mM dNTPs, 20mM of 10× PCR *Ex Taq* buffer, and 5 U/µl of *Ex Taq* polymerase (TaKaRa Bio Inc., Otsu, Shiga, Japan) according to Haruki *et al.* (1997). PCR was conducted under the following thermocycling conditions: 1 cycle of 96°C, 10 s; 25 cycles of 96°C, 10 s, 55°C, 30 s, 72°C, 60 s; and 1 cycle of 72°C, 10 min.

The amplified products of both the parents and the progenies were digested with selected restriction endonucleases (*Alu* I, *Hha* I, *Rsa* I, and *Sty* I; Nippon Gene Co. Ltd., Toyama, Japan) at 37°C for 1 h. The digested products were separated by electrophoresis in 1.8% agarose gels (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, California, USA) containing 0.1 μ I/mI ethidium bromide solution and photographed.

3. Results

Pod set and seed germination in the reciprocal crossings

Six reciprocal cross combinations were made, and the pod set frequencies varied depending on both cross combinations and the ovule parents. The HRA × RCO cross combination resulted in 8 pod sets from 13 flowers (61.5%), and the opposite cross of RCO × HRA resulted in 2 pod sets from 2 flowers (100%). HRA × RCP had 16 pod sets from 28 flowers (57.1%), and the opposite cross RCP × HRA had 12 from 41 flowers (29.3%). HRA × RCY had only 1 pod set from 11 flowers (9.1%), and the opposite cross RCY × HRA had 1 from 3 flowers (33.3%) (Table 1).

All pods were harvested before dehiscence, and the seeds were cultured on MM medium without plant growth regulators. The seeds from the cross combination of HRA × RCO germinated well, but the seeds from RCO × HRA did not germinate. The seeds of HRA × RCP also had rather high germination, but the seeds from RCP × HRA did not germinate. Both cross combinations of HRA × RCY and RCY × HRA had poor seed germination (Table 1).

The sown seeds from HRA \times RCO (Fig. 2A) swelled within 50 days of culture (Fig. 2B), developed protocorms around 90 days of culture (Fig. 2B), and the protocorms produced rhizoids (Fig. 2C). After being

subjected to light, the protocorms turned green (Fig. 2D), produced the first leaf within 120 days of culture (Fig. 2E), and then developed plantlets around 150 days of culture (Fig. 2F).

ed both apomixis and true hybrids (Fig. 3C). The progenies of the reciprocal cross RCY \times HRA (YXW) showed the same band pattern as the female parent (RCY), suggesting that they were apomicts.



Fig. 2 - Seed development of *Habenaria radiate* × *Habenaria rhodocheila* on MM medium. (A) Sown seeds (day 0), (B) Protocorm development (50 days), (C) Enlarged embryo rupture testa and developed protocorm (3 months), (D) Green protocorm with protomeristem (3 months), (E) Emergence of first leaf (4 month), (F) Plantlets (5 months).

Confirmation of hybridity through PCR-RFLP analysis

To confirm the hybridity of the obtained progenies, PCR-RFLP analysis targeting the ribosomal RNA gene was used according to Haruki et al. (1997). The early growth stage of two progenies of HRA × RCO, named WXO1 and WXO2, were used. Expected single PCR product was amplified in all the tested plants. Three restriction enzymes (Alu I, Hha I and Rsa I) that showed polymorphism in the digested PCR products between both parents were applied. The band pattern of both WXO1 and WXO2 was intermediate between both parents (HRA and RCO), indicating that both WXO1 and WXO2 were true hybrids. Thirty-six HRA × RCO progenies in the in vitro stage were chosen randomly and their hybridity was tested in the same manner. The results showed that all the tested progenies were true hybrids (Table1) (Fig. 3A). In contrast, an early growth-stage progeny of HRA × RCP, named WXP1, showed a band pattern the same as the female parent (HRA) when the PCR products were digested with Alu I, Hha I, Rsa I, and Sty I, suggesting that the plants were apomicts. Twenty-one HRA × RCP progenies in the in vitro stage were tested in the same manner. The results showed all the tested progenies were apomicts (Fig.3B). One rapidly grown apomict was designed WXY1 and the one that was judged to be a true hybrid was designed WXY2. Moreover, the results of HRA × RCY (WXY) showed that the progenies includMorphological characteristics of the obtained progenies

The obtained progenies WXO1 and WXO2 (confirmed as hybrids through PCR-RFLP analysis), WXY1 (assumed to be an apomict), and the parent RCO were grown in a growth chamber controlled at 20°C. HRA grown in a greenhouse without heating was used for morphological comparison.



Fig. 3 - PCR-RFLP profile of parents and progenies. A: HRA × RCO. 1. HRA, 2. WXO1, 3.WXO2, 4. RCO. B: HRA × RCP. 1. HRA, 2. WXP, 3. RCP. C: HRA × RCY. 1. HRA, 2. WXY1, 3.WXY2, 4.YXW, 5. RCY.

Both WXO1 and WXO2 grew vigorously, and the first flowering was observed in WXO1 one year after transfer to ex vitro and in WXO2 two years after transfer to ex vitro. Both WXO1 and WXO2 showed an intermediate plant form (Fig. 4A, 4B, respectively) and leaf morphology of theirs parents. HRA had narrow light green leaves (Fig. 5A). RCO had wide lanceolate leaves with an undulate leaf margin, and the leaves were green or greyish green, sometimes with red-brown spots (Fig. 5D). WXO1 had lanceolate light green leaves, and WXO2 had lanceolate light green leaves with an undulate leaf margin (Fig. 5B, 5C, respectively). The inflorescence morphology of WXO1 and WXO2 was intermediate between the parents. WXO1 had an inflorescence with two flowers, and WXO2 had an inflorescence with eight flowers. Habenaria radiata produced two to four flowers (average 2.8 flowers) per inflorescence. RCO had eight to ten flowers (average 9.4 flowers) per inflorescence (Fig. 1B). The inflorescence morphology of WXY1 was similar to HRA, although it could not be accurately determined due to the poor growth of WXY1. HRA had a flower consisting of two pure white petals and a lip with three green ovate sepals. The lip had three main lobes; the two lateral lobes were highly fringed and the center lobe was simple (Fig.



Fig. 4 - Plant morphology of hybrids. (A) WXO1, (B) WXO2, (C) WXY1.

6A). RCO had a flower consisting of two grey-brown orange petals and an orange lip and three sepals. The dorsal sepal was egg-shaped and the slanted lateral sepals sometimes rolled-in. The lip had three main lobes, with the two side lobes elliptical and the middle lip had two ovate-oblong lobes (Fig. 6B). The petals of both WXO1 and WXO2 were pale yellowish, which was an intermediate characteristic of the parents. The sepals of WXO1 and WXO2 were green, with the dorsal sepal being egg-shaped, the same as the female parent (HRA), and the lateral sepals were slanted and rolled-in, the same as the male parent (RCO). In addition, two petals were attached, forming an egg-shaped hood with the dorsal sepal. The lip had three main lobes, with the two lateral lobes being slightly fringed and the center lobe had two slightly ovate-oblong lobes, the same as the male parent (RCO) (Fig. 6D, 6E). The apomixtic progeny WXY1 produced flowers resembling *H. radiata* (Fig. 6F). One progeny derived from the cross combination of HRA × RCY (WXY2), confirmed as a true hybrid through PCR-RFLP analysis, showed an intermediate plant morphology between the parents (data not shown) but had not flowered because only one year had passed after acclimatization.



Fig. 6 - Floral morphology of the parents and hybrids. (A) HRA, (B) RCO, (C) RCY, (D) WXO1, (E) WXO2, (F) WXY1.



Fig. 5 - Leaves of the parents and hybrids. (A) HRA, (B) WXO1, (C) WXO2, (D) RCO.

Plants in the genus *Habenaria* produce a storage organ having species-specific morphology. HRA produced stolons during the growing season, and new tubers formed at the top of the stolon. The HRA tuber was oval with a smooth surface (Fig. 7A). RCO produced a long oval tuber at the bottom end of the stem. The RCO tuber was bigger than that of HRA. The tuber had a rough surface and was densely covered with hair (Fig. 7C). Both WXO1 and WXO2 had tubers with intermediate morphological characteristics of the parents (Fig. 7B) (Table 2).



Fig. 7 - Tubers of the parents and hybrids. (A) HRA, (B) WXO2, (C) RC.

4. Discussion and Conclusions

Interspecific hybridization is a powerful breeding method that can produce new traits in ornamental plants including orchids. This study aimed to produce new *Habenaria* hybrids by using two different ecotype species (*H. radiata* and *H. rhodocheila* complex). The two species chosen in this study are different in not only plant morphology but also flowering physiology. Because the flowering time of *H. radiata* is during June to August under natural conditions, *H. rhodocheila* complexes were grown in a growth chamber controlled at 20°C to match the flowering time.

The fruit settings in *H. radiata* × *H. rhodocheila* complex were higher than in the opposite crosses. The germination of the obtained seeds was also different depending on the cross combination (Table 1). The seeds obtained from *H. radiata* × *H. rhodocheila* complex showed higher seed germination than those in the opposite crosses. Unilateral cross incompatibility is often observed in interspecific crossings including orchids (Johansen, 1990; Borba *et al.*, 1999). The hybridity of the obtained progenies was investigated by using RFLP analysis. The results showed that all the tested progenies of HRA × RCO were true

hybrids, whereas all the tested progenies of HRA × RCP and RCY × HRA were apomicts. Both true hybrids and apomicts were found in the progenies of HRA × RCY. The results of RFLP analysis were consistent with the observed plant morphological characteristics of the obtained progenies. The production of apomixis, including obligue and facultative, is known in some genera including *Habenaria* in the family Orchidaceae (Batygina et al., 2003). Zhang and Gao (2018) reported obligate apomixis in *H. malintana*. The present study showed that both true hybrids and apomicts appeared in *H. radiata* and *H. rhodocheila*. Successful crossing of different flower types of H. radiata has been reported (Kim et al., 2010). Adthalungrong et al. (2015) reported successful reciprocal crossing between RCP and RCY. These findings indicate that both H. radiata and H. rhodocheila do not have obligate apomixis. We consider that the facultative apomixis observed in this study is induced by interspecific crossing between distantly related species. In many plants, pollination is necessary for induction of apomixis (den Nijs and van Dijk, 1993). When HRA was used as a female parent, the frequency of apomict production varied depending on the pollen parents. The results suggest that the growth of the pollen tube in the ovary differed depending on the *H. rhodocheila* complex genotype. In HRA \times RCY, only one pod was harvested, and both an apomict and true hybrid were obtained from the pod. This finding suggests that different embryogenesis, sexual and asexual, occurred at the same time. Further detailed morphological and genetic investigation of embryo development in interspecific hybridization is required to explain these phenomena. If the occurrence of apomixis is unpredictable in a practical breeding program, efficient selection of true hybrids is essential. The present study selected true hybrids at the early developmental stage of progenies through PCR-RFLP analysis. Selecting plants in the in vitro stage will be useful in a practical breeding program.

Table 2 - Morphology characteristics of two Habenaria species and interspecific hybrids

Name	Plant (c	form m)	Lea (c	ves m)	Number F of		wer m)	Stigma	Number of	mber of Inflorescences		Tuber (cm)		Storage organ characteristics
	Height	Spread	Length	Width	leaves	Length	Width	– (cm)	flowers	(cm)	(cm)	Length	width	-
H. radiata (n=5)	13.8±2.4	15.1±0.4	6.9±0.7	0.5±0.1	5.0±3.0	3.2±0.1	2.2±0.1	0.3±0.1	2.8±0.4	18.8±2.0	3.3±0.8	1.5±0.1	1.1±0.2	Round-oval with many long stolons
H. rhodocheila (orange) (n=5)	22.3±3.1	23.4±0.6	9.5±1.9	2.2±0.4	6.4±0.2	3.1±0.0	2.3±0.1	0.4±0.1	9.4±1.2	25.8±2.4	3.5±0.5	3.6±1.5	1.5±0.2	Long oval
WXO1 (n=2)	10.8±2.8	9.3±1.0	3.2±0.7	0.8±0.1	4.0±1.0	2.4±0.2	1.6±0.2	0.4±0.1	1.5±0.5	12.9±3.4	3.1±0.1	1.4±0.1	1.0±0.1	Round-oval
WXO2 (n=2)	16.0±2.5	20.4±1.6	7.4±0.1	2.4±0.1	6.0±1.0	2.7±0.1	1.8±0.1	0.3±0.0	8.5±1.5	22.0±1.8	3.3±0.0	1.7±0.2	0.9±0.2	Round-long oval with many short stolons

We obtained new interspecific Habenaria hybrids, WXO1, WXO2, and WXY2. Both WXO1 and WXO2 showed intermediate morphological characteristics of the parents (Table 2). It is well-known in Orchidaceae that interspecific hybrids exhibit an intermediate morphological characteristic of parent. When the intermediate characteristics is observed in detail, the characteristics of either the female parent or the male parent often appear strongly in each organ as shown in this study. In case of Ascocentrum ampullaceum var. auranticum × Vanda coerulea, the progenies showed flowers having pink petal color and spur which come from female parent and orange mottles on the petals come from male parent (Kishor et al., 2006). Interspecific hybrids between Vanilla planifilia and V. aphylla showed two types, light green plants without leaf resembling male parent and green plants with leaves resembling female parent (Divakaran et al., 2006). The flowers of WXO1 and WXO2 were pale yellow. The major flower pigment of H. rhodocheila complex is considered to be carotenoids (Sinumporn et al., 2015). In flowers that contain carotenoids as a main flower pigment, the flowers are orange when the amount of carotenoid is high and yellow when it is low (Kishimoto et al., 2007). It is assumed that the carotenoid content of the WXO1 and WXO2 petals is very low because one parent HRA has white petals, resulting in pale yellow petals in the hybrids. The interspecific hybrid of HRA × RCY named WXY2 showed intermediate morphological characteristics in leaves between parents (data not shown). Because that the hybrid was not large enough to give flowering, the floral characteristics was not determine yet. Interspecific hybrids often have flower color intermediate between the parents as reported in the reciprocal crossing progenies of RCP and RCY, which produced pale orange and pink flowers (Adthalungrong et al., 2015). The hybrids obtained in this study are new, but the ornamental value is not high enough. Further breeding steps such as backcrossing and self-pollination are required for flower pigment accumulation and flower form improvement. Furthermore, the temperature response of these hybrids is not yet clear because the resulting hybrids were grown under constant temperature conditions. It is necessary to clarify the characteristics of cultivation to evaluate the hybrids.

We obtained new interspecific hybrids between *H. radiata* and *H. rhodocheila* complex. The interspecific hybridization produced both true hybrids and apomicts. The apomicts were distinguished at the early developmental stage of the progenies through PCR-RFLP analysis. The obtained hybrids showed an

interesting flower shape and color, which were intermediate between the parents. Further breeding processes, especially back crossing, is required to improve the ornamental value of the hybrids.

References

- ABBAS S.R., GARDAZI S.D.A., SABIR S.M., SHAH A.H., ABBAS M.R., BATOOL A., 2013 - "ABBAS" DNA extraction method from plants. - Int. J. Sci. Eng. Res., 4(7): 989-994.
- ADTHALUNGRONG A., SACHATI S., SARUNA M., 2015 -*Hybridization between* Habenaria rhodocheila *and* H. xanthocheila *and inheritance of flower color*. - Acta Horticulturae, 1087: 351-356.
- BATISTA J.A.N., BORGES K.S., DE FARIA M.W.F., PROITE K., RAMALHO A.J., SALAZAR G.A., VAN DEN BERG C., 2013 *Molecular phylogenetics of the species-rich genus* Habenaria (Orchidaceae) in the New World based on nuclear and plastid DNA sequences. - Mol. Phylogenet. Evol., 67: 95-109.
- BATYGINA T.B., BRAGINA E.A., VASILYEVA V.E., 2003 The reproductive system and germination in orchids. Acta Biol. Cracov. Ser. Bot., 45(2): 21-34.
- BORBA E.L., SHEPHERD G.J., SEMIR J., 1999 Reproductive systems and crossing potential in three species of Bulbophyllum (Orchidaceae) occurring in Brazilian 'campo rupestre' vegetation. - Plant Syst. Evol., 217: 205-214.
- CULLEN J., KNEES S.G., CUBEY H.S., SHAW J.M.H., 2011 -The European garden flora flowering plants. Vol. I. -Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 472.
- DEN NIJS A.P.M., VAN DIJK G.E., 1993 Apomixis, pp. 229-245. - In: HAYWARD M.D., N.O.BOSEMARK, and I. ROMAGOSA (eds.) Plant breeding: Principles and prospects. Chapman & Hall, London, UK, pp. 550.
- DIVAKARAN M., NIRMAL BABU K., RAVINDRAN P.N., PETER K.V., 2006 - Interspecific hybridization in vanilla and molecular characterization of hybrids and selfed progenies using RAPD and AFLP markers. - Sci. Hortic., 108(4): 414-422.
- HARUKI K., HOSOKI T., NAKO Y., OHTA K., 1997 Possibility of classification in some species of Lilium by PCR-RFLP of ribulose-1, 5-bisphosphate carboxylase large subunit (rbcL) gene and ribosomal RNA gene. - J. Japan. Soc. Hort., 66(1): 189-192.
- JIN W.T., JIN X.H., SCHUITEMAN A., LI D.Z., XIANG X.G., HUANG W.C., LI J.W., HUANG L.Q., 2014 - Molecular systematics of subtribe Orchidinae and Asian taxa of Habenariinae (Orchideae, Orchidaceae) based on plastid matK, rbcL and nuclear ITS. - Mol. Phylogenet. Evol., 77: 41-53.
- JOHANSEN B., 1990 Incompatibility in Dendrobium (Orchidaceae). Bot. J. Linn. Soc., 103: 165-196.
- KIM S.Y., ENDO M., YUN P.Y., KANNO A., 2010 Production

of intraspecific hybrids between wild-type and petaloidsepal cultivars in Habenaria radiata. - Sci. Hortic., 124: 415-418.

- KIM S.Y., YUN P.Y., FUKUDA T., OCHIAI T., YOKOYAMA J., KAMEYA T., KANNO A., 2007 - *Expression of a DEFI-CIENS-like gene correlates with the differentiation between sepal and petal in the orchid,* Habenaria radiata (*Orchidaceae*). - Plant Sci., 172: 319-326.
- KISHIMOTO S., SUMITOMO K., YAGI M., NAGAYAMA M., OHMIYA A., 2007 - Three routes to orange petal color via carotenoid components in 9 Compositae species. - J. Japan. Soc. Hort., 76(3): 250-257.
- KISHOR R., SHA VALLI KHAN P.S., SHARMA G.J., 2006 -Hybridization and in vitro culture of an orchid hybrid Ascocenda 'Kangla'. - Sci. Hortic., 108: 66-73.
- KURZWEIL H., 2009 *The genus* Habenaria (Orchidaceae) in *Thailand*. Thai For. Bull. (Bot.), Special Issue: 7-105.
- MALMGREN S., 1996 Orchid propagation; Theory and practice, pp. 63-72. - In: ALLEN C. (ed.) North American native terrestrial orchids. Propagation and production. Conference Proceedings, March 16-17. The North American Native Terrestrial Orchid Conference, Germantown, MD, USA, pp. 116.
- MITOMA M., KAJINO Y., HAYASHI R., ENDO M., KUBOTA S., KANNO A., 2019 - *Molecular mechanism underlying pseudopeloria in* Habenaria radiata (*Orchidaceae*). -Plant J., 99: 439-451.

- MITOMA M., KANNO A., 2018 The greenish flower phenotype of Habenaria radiata (Orchidaceae) is caused by a mutation in the SEPALLATA-like MADS-box geneHrSEP-1. - Front. Plant Sci., 9: 1-12.
- MITSUKURI K., ARITA T., JOHKAN M., YAMASAKI S., MISHI-BA K., ODA M., 2009 - *Effects of type of explant and dark preconditioning on bud formation in* Habenaria radiata (*Thunb.*) in vitro. - HortScience, 44(2): 523-525.
- PEDRON M., BUZATTO C.R., SINGER R.B., BATISTA J.A.N., MOSER A., 2012 - Pollination biology of four sympatric species of Habenaria (Orchidaceae: Orchidinae) from southern Brazil. - Bot. J. Linn. Soc., 170: 141-156.
- PRIDGEON A., 1992 The illustrated encyclopedia of orchids. Timber Press, Portland, Oregon, USA, pp. 138.
- SINUMPORN P., FUKAI S., NARUMI T., POTAPOHN N., 2015 - *New usage of* Habenaria radiata *as a cut flower*. - Acta Horticulturae, 1087: 193-200.
- STEWART S.L., KANE M.E., 2006 Asymbiotic seed germination and in vitro seedling development of Habenaria macroceratitis (Orchidaceae), a rare Florida terrestrial orchid. - Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 86: 147-158.
- TANAKA N., YUKAWA T., HTWE K.M., MURATA J., 2015 -An orchid checklist of Mt. Popa, Central Myanmar. -Bull. Natl. Mus. Nat. Sci., Ser. B., 41(2): 69-89.
- ZHANG W., GAO J., 2018 High fruit sets in a rewardless orchid: a case study of obligate agamospermy in Habenaria. - Aust. J. Bot., 66: 144-151.





(*) Corresponding author: tbarzegar@znu.ac.ir

Citation:

KHANI A., BARZEGAR T., NIKBAKHT J., GHAHRE-MANI Z., 2020 - Effect of foliar spray of calcium lactate on the growth, yield and biochemical attribute of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) under water deficit stress - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 11-24.

Copyright:

© 2020 Khani A., Barzegar T., Nikbakht J., Ghahremani Z. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 31 October 2019 Accepted for publication 14 May 2019

Effect of foliar spray of calcium lactate on the growth, yield and biochemical attribute of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) under water deficit stress

A. Khani¹, T. Barzegar¹^(*), J. Nikbakht², Z. Ghahremani¹

- ¹ Department of Horticultural Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Zanjan, Zanjan, Iran.
- ² Department of Water Engineering, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Zanjan, Zanjan, Iran.

Key words: anthocyanin, antioxidant enzymes, leaf water status, nutrient uptake.

Abstract: The field experiment was conducted to evaluate the effect of foliar spray of calcium lactate (Ca) on fresh yield and biochemical attribute of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) under water deficit stress, in a split plot form based on a randomized complete block design with three Irrigation regimes (70, 85 and 100% ETc) and three calcium lactate treatment levels (0, 0.75 and 1.5 g L⁻¹) in three replicates. Results revealed that water deficit stress significantly reduced the growth and yield of plant, leaf relative water contents, excised leaf water retention and N, P and Mg absorption while led to increase anthocyanin, phenol and flavonoids contents, antioxidant activity, peroxidase and catalase activity and water use efficiency. The results of our research indicated that the application of CaL 1.5 g L⁻¹ is capable of increasing lettuce yield, under field conditions with 30% less than optimal irrigation. CaL treatment showed a clearly protective effect in stressed plants, enhancing their leaf water status, antioxidant capacity and N and Ca contents in comparison to untreated plants. Therefore, feeding leaves by CaL with increasing antioxidant activity and nutrients content especially N led to increase growth and fresh yield of lettuce under normal irrigation and water deficit conditions.

1. Introduction

Abiotic stresses such as high temperature, drought, salinity and chemical toxicity, are the most important limiting factors to crop productivity. Drought is undoubtedly one of the most important stresses that have huge impact on growth and productivity of the crops (Fahad *et al.*, 2017; Hussain *et al.*, 2018). Water stress is the most prominent abiotic stress limiting agricultural crop growth and productivity (Gholipoor *et al.*, 2013; Ihsan *et al.*, 2016). Deficit irrigation stress as a consequence of the progressive decrease in water availability has been a hot topic regarding food security during the last two decades (UNESCO, 2012). Growth and development of plants is influenced by reduction in turgor that result in decreased nutrient acquisition from dry soil (Luo *et al.*, 2011). Due to the threat of climate change, there is a need to limit the use of water resources in arid and semi-arid climates. It is therefore important to find new approaches to avoid crop productivity losses in 'limited fresh-water' areas.

Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.), an annual plant of Asteraceae family, is considered as one of the most important salad vegetables as a cool season crop. Lettuce leaves contain vitamins C and E, carotenoids, phenolic acids with anti-free radical activity, and minerals with a lot of fiber, which are an important part of the human diet. Moreover, lettuce contains lactocin and lactucopicrin which improve the quality of sleep (Chakraborti *et al.*, 2002; FAOSTAT, 2016).

Since most of vegetable species are shallow-rooted, they are sensitive to mild water stress. In lettuce production, it is particularly important to preserve optimal growth through a well-scheduled irrigation program, where the harvested part of the plant is the photosynthetic leaf area, (Ahmed *et al.*, 2000; Casanova *et al.*, 2009). Its leaves have high water content and it is sensitive to mild water deficit stress due to its shallow root system (Kizil *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, in lettuce, new strategies will become critical to enhance productivity under deficit irrigation (Malcom *et al.*, 2012).

Foliar application of agro-chemicals has widely been used in agriculture as a rapid, low-cost and effective way for enhancing growth and productivity of many vegetable crops under water deficit stress especially green leafy vegetables like lettuce. Calcium lactate is considered as one of important agro-chemical which can be spray and play important roles in physiological and biochemical processes. Calcium (Ca) is the mineral nutrient most commonly decrease absorption under water deficit condition, so increasing the calcium content in the leafy vegetables could further improve Ca concentrations in plant tissues (Grusak, 2002).

Ca is an essential macronutrient for plant growth and development, and is considered as an important intracellular messenger, mediating responses to hormones, stress signals and a variety of developmental processes. Furthermore, Ca is an important component in the structure of cell walls and cell membranes (Hepler and Winship, 2010). Ca plays a role in the regulation of various mechanisms of plants under environmental conditions such as water stress, heat, cold and salinity. In addition, calcium signaling is required for acquisition of tolerance or resistance to the stress (Cousson, 2009). Positive effect of calcium in improving stress tolerance can be attributed to regulate of water status, antioxidant systems activity, osmolytes accumulation, improving photosynthetic pigment content, and nutritional balances (Kurtyka *et al.*, 2008). Ca plays an important role in oxidative stress signaling, linking H_2O_2 perception and induction of antioxidant genes in plants (Rentel and Knight, 2004). Ca participates in most cellular signaling processes (Sanders *et al.*, 2002) and interacts strongly with reactive oxygen species (Evans *et al.*, 2005).

Since the combined effects of Ca and water deficit stress have hardly been reported, the current study was, therefore, designed to evaluate the influence of foliar application of calcium lactate on the growth, yield and biochemical attribute of lettuce cv. New Red Fire under water deficit stress.

2. Materials and Methods

Experimental design

The field experiment was carried out at the Research farm of the Agriculture faculty, University of Zanjan, Iran, during 2017. The experiment was performed using a split plot based on a randomized complete block design with three Irrigation regimes (70, 85 and 100% ETc) as the main plot and three calcium lactate (CaL) treatment levels (0, 0.75 and 1.5 g L^{-1}) as the sub-plot in three replicates. The soil properties of experimental filed as well as average daily climatic data during the growing seasons was shown in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

Plant material

Seeds of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) cv. New Red Fire was obtained from a "Takii seed" company. Lettuce seeds were sown in the nursery on the 2^{nd} of August. Seedlings were transplanted at the 3-4 leaf stage when the seedlings were four weeks old with 25 cm spacing within row and 35 cm spacing between rows that there were about 11.5 plants per square meters (plants m⁻²).

Table 1 - Soil physical and chemical properties on the site of experimental field

Loam clay 0.94 7.4 1.49 0.07 0.12 0.13 0.20	Soil texture	Organic matter (%)	рН	EC (dS m ⁻¹)	N (%)	Ca (g kg ⁻¹)	Na (g kg ⁻¹)	K (g kg ⁻¹)
	Loam clay	0.94	7.4	1.49	0.07	0.12	0.13	0.20

Meteorological parameter	May	June	July	August	September
Rainfall (mm)	0.01	1.11	5.00	0.00	0.02
Average temperature (°C)	22.94	25.71	27.68	24.79	15.73
Minimum temperature (°C)	11.29	16.8	17.61	14.68	7.89
Maximum temperature (°C)	32.47	33.96	36.82	35.12	25.05

Table 2 - Average daily climatic parameters of Zanjan Synoptic station during the growth seasons (2017) of lettuce

Irrigation treatments and calcium lactate applications

After plant establishment, lettuce plants were sprayed with different concentration calcium lactate at 6-7th leaf stage, 10 and 20 days after first spraying for 3 times, during the plant growth. Irrigation treatments were applied one week after the first spraying. All foliar sprayings time were the same and distilled water was used for control treatment. The three irrigation levels were calculated based on actual evapotranspiration (ETc): (1) control, irrigated 100% crop water requirement (I100), (2) deficit irrigation 85% ETc (I85), and (3) deficit irrigation 50% ETc (I50). The Water requirement of the plant for control treatment was estimated using long-term average daily data of meteorological parameters recorded at Zanjan Meteorological Station and following relation.

$ET_c = ET_0 \times K_c$

 ET_c : Water requirement of lettuce (mm/day), ET_o : Evapotranspiration of grass reference plant (mm/day) and K_c: Vegetable coefficient of lettuce (no unit).

It is necessary to explain that ET_o values were estimated based on the standard FAO-Penman-Monteith method. Table 2 shows the long-term average of meteorological parameters of Zanjan synoptic station during the period of plant growth which was used to calculate ETO and ETC values. After calculating the ETC values, the net and gross irrigation water requirements of lettuce were estimated based on cropping intervals, type of irrigation system and irrigation interval and then give the plant at each irrigation time. Based on the calculations, the amount of irrigation water given to the control plants was estimated to be 895.7 m³.ha⁻¹. Water requirement of other treatments was estimated and distributed based on the water requirement of control treatment and water stress (Allen et al., 1998). All necessary management practices such as weeds control were done according to recommended practices during the crop growth.

Measurements

Anthocyanin content. Anthocyanin content in leaf

tissue was determined according to the method of Mita *et al.* (2000). Fresh weight of leaves (0.1 g) was homogenized in methanol containing 1% (v/v) HCl and then was filtrated. The filtration was stored at 4°C for 24 hours in dark conditions. The absorbance of filtration was recorded at 550 nm using UV-vis spectrophotometer (Specorp 250 Jena-History) and the anthocyanin was expressed as μ mol g⁻¹FW.

Total phenols and flavonoids contents

The fresh leaf tissue (2.0 g) was washed with deionized water, and homogenized in 80% cold methanol (20:80, V/V). The homogenate was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min, and the supernatant was collected for the measurement of, total phenolic and flavonoid content. Total phenolics assay was carried out according to the procedure described in the literature (Meda *et al.*, 2005). The results were expressed as mg of gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per 100 g of fresh weight based on a standard curve using gallic acid as standard. Total flavonoids were determined by the colorimetric method (Kim *et al.*, 2002). Quercetin was used as a reference standard, and the results were expressed as mg quercetin equivalents per 100 g fresh weight of leaf.

Antioxidant activity

As mentioned in the previous paragraph, 2.0 g of leaves were homogenated in methanol and then was centrifuged. The filtration was used to determine free radical scavenging activity using the 2, 2,diphenyl-2-picryl-hydrazyl (DPPH) method at optical density 517 nm (Sun *et al.*, 2007). Antioxidant activity (%) was calculated using the following equation:

Antioxidant activity = A DPPH - A sample (517 nm)/A DPPH × 100

Catalase (CAT) and peroxidase (POX) enzymes activity

Samples were taken from the fully expanded leaf and transferred to the laboratory in the ice. Leaf sample (0.5 g) was frozen in liquid nitrogen and ground using a porcelain mortar and pestle.

Catalase (CAT) activity was measured by following the decomposition of H_2O_2 at 240 nm with a UV spectrophotometer (Cakmak and Horst, 1991). Samples

without H_2O_2 were used as blank. The activity of CAT was calculated by the differences obtained at OD_{240} values at 30 second interval for 2 min after the initial biochemical reaction. Peroxidase (POX) activity was measured using modified method of the Tuna *et al.* (2008) with guaiacol at 470 nm. A change of 0.01 units per minute in absorbance was considered to be equal to one unit POX activity, which was expressed as unit g⁻¹ FW min⁻¹.

Leaf water status (RWC, ELWR)

The fresh weight of young leaves (FW) was recorded and then was kept in Petri dishes for 24 hours immersed in distilled water. The turgid weight (TW) was measured after saturation of leaves with water. The leaves were dried at 70°C to constant weight and then weighted (DW). Leaf relative water contents (RWC) were calculated according to the following formula reported by Hanson and Hitz (1982).

(%) RWC= (FW-DW) / (TW-DW) × 100

For the determination of excised leaf water retention (ELWR), The youngest leaves collected for each treatment were weighed to record fresh weight (FW), kept at room temperature (25°C) for 6 hours and reweighed (WL). ELWR was calculated using the following formula suggested by Lonbani and Arzani (2011).

ELWR= [1-(FW-WL)/FW] ×100

Nutrient contents

The lettuce leaf samples from each treatment were collected at the end of the experiment. For mineral analysis, leaf samples were taken and ovendried at 70°C until constant weight. Then 0.3 g of the dry samples was taken and digested using a mixture of sulphuric acid (H_2SO_4) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) as described by Allen *et al.* (1974). All the studied elements were assayed in the digest of the concerned plant samples. Total nitrogen was determined using Kjeldahl method as described by Piper (1950). Phosphorus determination was done by complexing it with ammonium molybdate, which on reduction with ascorbic acid gives stable blue colour, the content of P was measured by spectrophotometer at 882 nm according to Watanabe and Olsen (1965). Potassium, calcium and magnesium content were analyzed by flame photometer (Chapman and Pratt, 1961).

Yield and water use efficiency (WUE)

Lettuce plants were weighed after harvest with a digital gravimetric scale. The average weight of single plant was calculated in grams and total yield was estimated in kg/m². Also water use efficiency (WUE) was obtained from the ratio of the amount of yield of each treatment to the amount of water consumed by the same treatment in kg m⁻³.

Statistical analyses of the data

The analysis of variance (two-way ANOVA) and least significant difference (LSD) test ($P \le 0.05$ and $P \le 0.01$) used to compare means within each sampling date. The Statistical analysis and standard error calculation were carried out using SAS software (v. 9.1).

3. Results

Anthocyanin content

The data in Table 3 and figure 1, displays the anthocyanin contents of lettuce leaf applied with different concentrations of CaL under water deficit. Mean comparisons of data showed that deficit irrigation led to a significant increase in antioxidant activity compared to control. However, the effect of CaL on the anthocyanin contents was depended to the

Table 3 - Variance analysis (ANOVA) of effect of calcium lactate on physiological characteristics in lettuce under deficit irrigation

					Mean of	fsquares			
S.O.V	df	Anthocyanin	Total phenols	Flavonoids	CAT activity	POX activity	Antioxidant activity	RWC	ELWR
Replication	2	1.003	0.002	0.308	0.057	0.003	16.725	8.614	23.677
Irrigation	2	2.162 **	6.187 **	11.932 **	1.953 **	0.851 **	132.47 **	42.799 *	238.260 **
Error (a)	4	5.648	0.135	0.330	0.009	0.001	23.524	9.036	14.106
Calcium lactate	2	4.292 *	1.057 **	24.265 **	0.702 **	0.052 *	318.416 **	186.691 **	420.124 **
Calcium lactate × irrigation	4	2.770 *	0.475 *	1.149 *	0.075 *	0.030 *	43.004 *	1.302 NS	29.661 *
Error (b)	12	6.388	0.121	0.338	0.023	0.008	9.686	9.323	6.176
Coefficient of Variation (%)	-	11. 18	2.31	4.19	8.87	16.93	3.73	3.9	3.4

** and * represent significance at the 1 and 5% probability levels, respectively, and Ns represents non-significance at p<0.05.



Fig. 1 - Effects of CaL treatments on anthocyanin content of lettuce under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

irrigation regime treatment. The highest value of anthocyanin content was obtained from plant treated with 1.5 g L⁻¹ CaL under irrigation 85% ETc. According to the results, there was no significant difference between different levels of CaL under irrigation 100% ETc. However, anthocyanin content at 85% ETc was significantly increased by using CaL while under irrigation of 70% ETc with the increase of anthocyanin content did not show any significant difference between different levels of CaL.

Secondary metabolic products, which are intensively biosynthesized under drought, are antioxidants (Do Nascimento and Fett-Neto, 2010). Anthocyanin pigments as one of secondary metabolites and antioxidative systems play many important eco-physiological roles in plants, including roles in stress protection (Winkel-Shirley, 2002). Increased anthocyanin contents are thought to mask chlorophyll and/or act as a filter for preventing high light absorption by leaves and thus minimize photoinhibition (Farrant, 2000). Therefore anthocyanin accumulation in drought-stressed leaves confirms a possible protective role of anthocyanins as sun-screens and reactive oxygen species (ROS) scavengers in stressed plants (Merzlyak and Chivkunova, 2000), that similar results have also been reported by Jazizadeh and Mortezaei Nejad (2016) in chicory.

The obtained results indicated that CaL was effective in preserving and increasing anthocyanin content. These findings were in agreement with Abd-Elhady (2014) findings who also observed that CaL pretreatments proved to be effective for increasing the retention of anthocyanin in frozen strawberry.

Total phenols and flavonoids contents

The exposure to water deficit stress significantly (P<0.05) increased total phenols and flavonoids contents (Table 3, Figs. 2A, B). Besides, the results of the present study also showed that foliar application of CaL increased total phenols and flavonoids contents under normal and deficit irrigation, however, the effects of CaL was dependent to the irrigation levels. The maximum value of phenols and flavonoids contents was recorded in plant treated with 0.75 g L⁻¹ CaL under irrigation 70% ETc. In all levels of irrigation, application of 0.75 g L⁻¹ CaL had the greatest effect on total flavonoid content, although did not show significant difference with CaL 1.5 g L⁻¹ under irrigation 70% ETc.



Fig. 2 - Effects of CaL treatments on total phenol and flavonoids contents of lettuce under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

Phenolic compounds include many secondary metabolites in plants that display antioxidant properties (Barbagallo *et al.*, 2012). Some of the phenolic compounds, such as phenolic acids or flavonoids, are widely recognized in most of the plant species (Jwa *et al.*, 2006). Phenolic compounds are important because of their contribution to the nutritional quality attributes of fruits and vegetables such as color, astringency, bitterness and flavor (Vinson *et al.*, 2001). The role of phenols as antioxidant is supported by several researches and the recovery methods have a great importance for industrial use (Barbagallo *et al.*, 2012). Environmental stress can cause an increase in the content of phenolic compounds of cell (Weidner *et al.*, 2009).

Aghdam *et al.* (2013) reported that the total phenols and flavonoids contents increased in the cornelian cherry fruit with $CaCl_2$ treated. Their results suggested that $CaCl_2$ treatment may stimulate the accumulation of phenols and flavonoids fruits by activating their biosynthetic pathways. Biosynthesis of phenols such as flavonoids in plants carried out via the shikimate-phenylpropanoid pathways. Ca^{2+} plays a direct role in the biosynthesis of phenols (Castañeda and Perez, 1996). CaL might be a potential molecule for activating phenyl propanoidflavonoids pathways of fruits by increasing the PAL activity (Jacobo-Velazquez *et al.*, 2011; Aghdam *et al.*, 2013).

Catalase (CAT) and peroxidase (POX) enzymes activity

Significant differences among irrigation treatments were observed for CAT and POX enzyme activity (Table 3, Figs. 3A, 3B). The antioxidant enzyme activates increased with the decrease of irrigation water applied. As the results showed CAT and POX enzymes activity increased with increasing CaL concentration under deficit irrigation, although no significantly differences was observed in normal irrigation. The highest CAT and POX enzymes activity were recorded in plant treated with 1.5 g L⁻¹ CaL under irrigation 70% ETc, which had no significant difference with 0.75 g L⁻¹.



Fig. 3 - Effects of CaL treatments on catalase (CAT) and peroxidase (POX) enzymes activity of lettuce under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

The production of ROS (Vurukonda *et al.*, 2016) is another major factor that impairs plant growth under water deficit (Liting *et al.*, 2015). Plants employ a number of mechanisms, at molecular, cellular and physiological levels to persist stress condition (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2000). The activation of antioxidant enzymes is one of the major types of these mechanisms which enable plants to control ROS (Shahid *et al.*, 2014). CAT, ascorbate peroxidase (APX), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and POX are the key antioxidant enzymes involved in detoxification of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide (Kadkhodaie *et al.*, 2014).

A relationship between antioxidant enzymes activity and water stress or salinity tolerance was confirmed by comparison of a tolerant cultivar with a sensitive cultivar in several plant species, such as tomato (Mittova et al., 2002).

Calcium is known to regulate different metabolisms in plants mediating signaling pathways, which modulate gene expression in response to stress and its adaptation (Upadhyaya et al., 2011). Upadhyaya et al. (2011), observed POX activity was increased in the stressed plant as compared to controls, but recovering plants showed POX activity increasing after rehydration, which was enhanced by CaCl, and reported that CaCl, treatment resulted in increased non enzymatic antioxidant and enhanced activities of enzymatic antioxidant, including SOD, POX and CAT, and thus reduced ROS accumulation and lipid peroxidation ultimately leading to improved post-drought recovery potential in Camellia sinensis. Calcium applied alleviation of drought-induced damage has been clarified in numerous plants e.g. Zoysia japonica (Xu et al., 2013), and Phaseolus vulgaris (Abou El-Yazied, 2011).

Antioxidant activity (AA)

AA was affected significantly by the irrigation treatments, and water deficit stress increased AA, which no significant difference was observed between irrigation 100 and 85%ETc (Table 3, Fig. 4). In present study, the exogenous application of CaL significantly (P<0.05) increased AA of lettuce under different irrigation regimes compared to control plant. The highest AA (93.03%) was observed in CaL 0.75 g L⁻¹ under irrigation 85% ETc, however had no significant difference with CaL 1.5 g L⁻¹ treatment under irrigation 70% ETc (Fig. 4).

The antioxidant activity in lettuce arises from phenolic compounds, secondary plant products, such as



Fig. 4 - Effect of CaL treatments on antioxidant activity of lettuce under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n = 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

flavonoids and phenols, and also anthocyanin. Also, the antioxidant activity strongly correlated to the presence of efficient oxygen radical scavengers, such as vitamin C and phenolic compounds (Tulipani *et al.*, 2008).

In current study a significant correlation was found between antioxidant activity and anthocyanins, phenols and flavonoids contents; which the anthocyanin, phenolic and flavonoids content and CAT and POX enzymes activity, as well as the total antioxidant activity also increased with increasing water deficit stress and Cal concentration. This finding described that phenolic compounds and anthocyanin, and antioxidant enzyme activity makes an important contribution to the antioxidant capacity in lettuce leaf. Velioglu *et al.* (1998) reported a strong relationship between total phenolic content and antioxidant activity in fresh fruits and vegetables.

Leaf water status (RWC, ELWR)

Based on the findings (Table 3, Figs. 5A, 6), deficit irrigation caused a significant reduction in RWC and ELWR contents. The application of CaL significantly ameliorated relative water content (RWC) and excised leaf water retention (ELWR) contents (Figs. 5B, 6). Mean comparisons of data, displayed that pretreatment with CaL markedly reduced the effects of water deficit stress and also improved ELWR under control irrigation and water deficit stress. The highest value of ELWR content was obtained in plant treated with CaL 1.5 g L⁻¹ under irrigation of 85 and 100% ETc.



Fig. 5 - Effects of irrigation (A) and CaL (B) treatments on leaf relative water content (RWC) of lettuce. Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.

RWC and ELWR are among the main physiological criteria that influence plant water relations and have been used for assessing drought tolerance (Xing *et al.*, 2004). Under drought stress, leaf RWC plays an important role in the tolerance of plants to stress by inducing osmotic adjustments due to the accumulation of osmoprotectants (Barnabás *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2012). The maintenance of a high plant



Fig. 6 - Effects of CaL treatment on excised leaf water retention (ELWR) content of lettuce under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that

water status during stress is a significant defensive mechanism to maintain enough water by minimizing water loss (e.g. caused by stomatal closure, trichomes, reduced leaf area, senescence of older leaves, etc.) and maximizing water uptake (e.g. by increased root growth) (Barnabás et al., 2008). Because of the decrease in leaf area, the accumulation of chlorophyll has increased, but due to high transpiration, the plant loses more water and as a result, the RWC of leaf and consequently photosynthesis decreases (Farooq et al., 2012). Farooqi et al. (2000) indicated that RWC of lemongrass leaves decreased in all the cultivars due to drought but after rehydration, RWC gradually increased to pre-stress level, which has also been reported in several crop species such as melon (Mani, 2014). As well as drought stress significantly decreased RWC and ELWR in spring safflower (Balian *et al.*, 2015).

Ruiz-Lozano and Azcon (1997) reported that calcium application significantly increased RWC in lettuce. The results of this research showed that the RWC of leaves increased with calcium application. Increasing relative water content means increasing water holding capacity, which can prevent water loss in leaves in a dry environment (Ma *et al.*, 2005).

Nutrient contents

According to the results (Table 4, Fig. 7), N content in lettuce leaves increased with increasing CaL concentration, indeed the highest value of N was obtained at CaL 1.5 g L⁻¹ under irrigation 100 %ETc that had significant difference with deficit irrigation treatments (85 and 70% ETc), whereas in other treatments there were not any significant differences. Mean comparisons of data, showed that deficit irri-

					Mean of S	Squares		
Source of variations	df	N	Р	К	Ca	Mg	Fresh	
		content	content	content	content	content	yield	WUE
Replication	2	0.030	0.008	0.008	0.002	0.004	206838.82	0.380
Irrigation	2	0.208 **	0.111 **	0.153 **	0.621 **	2.157 **	21349043.15 **	3.293 **
Error (a)	4	0.008	0.008	0.003	0.005	0.004	83934.71	0.183
Calcium lactate	2	1.158 **	0.024 NS	0.025 NS	0.291 **	0.095 **	6105376.18 **	10.144 **
Calcium lactate × Irrigation	4	0.116 **	0.006 NS	0.010 NS	0.047 **	0.018 *	413961.66 *	0.317 NS
Error (b)	12	0.012	0.006	0.008	0.004	0.005	101407.46	0.170
Coefficient of Variation (%)	-	1.47	3.48	1.43	2.09	3.4	2.82	2.78

Table 4 - Variance analysis (ANOVA) of effects of calcium lactate on nutrient contents and fresh yield in lettuce under deficit irrigation

** and * represent significance at the 1 and 5% probability levels, respectively, and NS represents non-significance at p<0.05.



Fig. 7 - Effects of CaL treatments on nitrogen content of lettuce leaves under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

gation significantly increased P content in lettuce leaves and decreased K content compared to control irrigation (Table 4, Figs. 8A, 8B).

The Ca content increased with the deficit irrigation treatments, in particular with moderate deficit irrigation (85% ETc). Ca content in lettuce leaves increased in response to higher CaL concentration (Fig. 9A). In fact, the highest value of Ca was



Fig. 8 - Effect of irrigation treatments on phosphorus (A) and potassium (B) contents of lettuce leaves. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

observed in treatments with application of 1.5 g L⁻¹ CaL under irrigation 70 and 85% ETc. The overall effect of deficit irrigation on Mg content was negative, with a decrease of 0.79% (Fig. 9B) under deficit irrigation 70% ETc. Mg content in the leaves decreased when the concentration of CaL applied was increased. The lowest value of Mg content was obtained in plant applied with 1.5 g L⁻¹ CaL under deficit irrigation 70% ETc.



Fig. 9 - Effect of CaL treatments on calcium (A) and magnesium (B) contents of lettuce leaves under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

Drought stress and associated reduction in soil moisture can decrease plant nutrient uptake by reducing nutrient supply through mineralization (Sanaullah et al., 2012), and nutrient diffusion in the soil (Chapin III, 1991; Lambers et al., 2008). Drought can depress plant growth by reducing N and P uptake, transport and redistribution (Rouphael et al., 2012). A majority of studies have indicated that plants decrease N and P uptake with a decline in soil moisture (Sardans and Peñuelas, 2012). N uptake was reduced in maize under stress conditions, which indicates that the absorption of nutrients is limited in conditions of water deficit stress, which may be reduced due to reduced transpiration rate, active transfer and membrane permeability (Naeem et al., 2017). Owing to a reduction in stomatal conductance, photosynthesis and transpiration rates also decrease, and CO_2 assimilation rates progressively decline in response to drought (Farooq *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, drought effects on plant may depend on the reduction in N and P uptake relative to the decrease in CO₂ assimilation (He and Dijkstra, 2014).

Based on the current findings, increasing K and Ca contents and decreasing Mg content of lettuce leaves under water deficit stress as compared to wellwatered conditions that also reported by Tadayyon et al. (2018) in castor plants. Potassium has a positive correlation with the physiological effects of plants, such as water use efficiency, stomatal control, air and underground body biomass, and is likely to play an important role in photosynthesis (Sardans et al., 2012). Increasing K content of leaves with decreasing irrigation rate maybe due to role of this cation in the regulation of osmotic pressure and stomatal control, (Zhao et al., 2000). Nahar and Gretzmacher (2002) reported that with increasing deficit irrigation, Mg concentration in tomato tissues decreased, which is similar to results of the present study.

The same results were reported from other authors, that high concentrations of Ca often result in increased leaf Ca along with a marked reduction in leaf Mg (Nassery *et al.*, 1979; Borghesi *et al.*, 2011). As well as, Naeem *et al.* (2018) revealed that concentration of macronutrients (N, K, Ca) in maize grains was markedly improved by foliar supply of calcium which indicates its synergistic effect on uptake and translocation of these nutrients. Tuna *et al.* (2007) also observed leaf N, K and Ca content increased in tomato plants supplemented with calcium under stress conditions.

In safflower, by decreasing soil moisture K and Mg content decreased. Following this reduction, there was a significant increase in calcium concentration, which is justified by the antagonistic relationship between Ca and Mg (Vafaie *et al.*, 2013). Morard *et al.* (1996) reported an intense antagonistic relationship between Ca and Mg, that Mg transfer to leaves was affected by calcium.

Fresh yield

Lettuce plants grown under control and deficit irrigation conditions exhibited significant differences between CaL treatments in fresh yield (Table 4, Fig. 10). Water deficit stress caused significant reductions in yield. In fact, deficit irrigated plants showed a 6.8 and 15.8% decrease in fresh yield, respectively. As the results showed, with increasing CaL concentrations, lettuce yield significantly increased and reached to highest value (1.37 kg.m⁻²) at CaL 1.5 g L⁻¹ under irrigation 100% ETc (Fig. 10).



Fig. 10 - Effect of CaL treatments on fresh yield of lettuce under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

Lettuce is one of the leaf-edible vegetables that it is extremely sensitive to water deficit stress due to shallow root system (Sabedze and Wahome, 2010). Our results are in agreement with many open-field studies on lettuce (Jiménez-Arias, 2019) and lettuce (Sayyari et al., 2013). Deficit irrigation defined as a practice that applies water below full crop-water requirements, deliberately exposes plants to a certain level of moisture stress. It is well known that drought stress results in dehydration of the cell and osmotic imbalance that impairs numerous metabolic and physiological processes in plants (Mahajan and Tuteja, 2005). Reduction in fresh yield of lettuce with deficit irrigation might be attributed to the suppression of cell division and expansion, and growth due to the low turgor pressure and also closure of stomata leaf and more leaf senescence under drought stress (Sayyari *et al.*, 2013).

Foliar application of CaL enhanced fresh yield of lettuce. Naeem *et al.* (2013) reported that crop productivity and photosynthetic efficiency in *Senna occidentalis* was improved under Ca application. With low calcium availability, a reduction in bean plant height, leaf area and shoot and root growth has been reported (Leal and Prado, 2008). Foliar applied of chelated calcium enhanced the seed yield and related attributes in common bean under water-deficit conditions (Abou El-Yazied, 2011).

Water use efficiency (WUE)

According to the results (Table 4, Figs. 11A, 11B), irrigation and CaL treatments significantly affected WUE, but their interaction showed no significant differences. Water deficit stress significantly increased WUE and the highest WUE was recorded in 70% ETc deficit-irrigated plants that had no significant difference with deficit irrigation 85% ETc (Fig 8A). WUE increased with increasing CaL concentration and the highest WUE (15.8 kg m⁻³) was obtained at 1.5 g L⁻¹ CaL (Fig. 8B).



Fig. 10 - Effect of CaL treatments on fresh yield of lettuce under deficit irrigation. Values are means with standard errors (n= 3). Data were subjected to two-way ANOVA and different letters mean that values are statistically different P<0.05.</p>

WUE, the physiological parameter of crop, describes the relationship between plant water use and dry matter production (Cai et al., 2012). Regarding water resource constraints, it is essential to find ways to preserve water and increase water use efficiency in plants (Topcu et al., 2007; Alenazi et al., 2015). The highest WUE value was determined in 70% ETc irrigation. It was calculated that WUE values increased with the decrease in the amount of water. These results are similar to the previous finding of Simsek et al. (2004), who reported that the maximum WUE for watermelon was obtained with low irrigation. With increased WUE, there is a greater biomass production per amount of water transpired, and less water is needed for growth and development (Nemali and van Iersel, 2008).

WUE is strongly related to photosynthetic activity and transpiration efficiency, and can be affected by irrigation (Monneveux *et al.*, 2006). Ca is directly involved in photosynthesis processes, and its deficit reduces the plant's biomass by reducing the efficiency of carboxylation and photosynthesis (Alarcon *et al.*, 1999). The results of the current experiment showed that N content was increased with Ca application, which increasing N content leads to increase dry matter production as well as the WUE. Therefore, Ca maybe increased the WUE by increasing the amount of N and Ca in lettuce plants.

4. Conclusions

The results obtained in this investigation proposed that lettuce is sensitive to water deficit stress during their entire growing period. Hence, it could be concluded that under water deficit, decrease in the relative water content in the leaves is related to the decrease markedly in the fresh yield. Application of CaL showed a clearly protective effect on yield of plants under water deficit stress. The result also revealed that treating the plants with calcium lactate led to increase N and Ca accumulation. CaL appears to promote water deficit tolerance by acting at different levels: leaf water status and antioxidant defenses, without evidence of toxic effects on the soil. Finally, calcium application was determined as an optimum strategy for most desirable traits that decrease stresses effect. However, further studies may be required to determine CaL application rates for optimal response of growth, yield and nutrients uptake.

References

- ABD-ELHADY M., 2014 Effect of citric acid, calcium lactate and low temperature prefreezing treatment on the quality of frozen strawberry. - Ann. Agric. Sci., 59(1): 69-75.
- ABOU EL-YAZIED A.A., 2011 Foliar application of glycine betaine and chelated calcium improves seed production and quality of common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) under water stress conditions. - Res. J. Agric. Biol. Sci., 7: 357-370.
- AGHDAM M.S., DOKHANIEH A.Y., HASSANPOUR H., FARD J.R., 2013 - Enhancement of antioxidant capacity of cornelian cherry (Cornus mas) fruit by postharvest calcium treatment. - Sci. Hortic., 161: 160-164.
- AHMED A.K., CRESSWELL G.C., HAIGH A.M., 2000 -Comparison of sub-irrigation and overhead irrigation of tomato and lettuce seedlings. - J. Hort. Sci. Biotechnol., 75(3): 350-354.
- ALARCÓN A.L., MADRID R., EGEA C., GUILLÉN I., 1999 -Calcium deficiency provoked by the application of different forms and concentrations of Ca²⁺ to soil-less cultivated muskmelons. - Sci. Hortic., 81(1): 89-102.
- ALENAZI M., ABDEL-RAZZAK H., IBRAHIM A., WAHB-ALLAH M., ALSADON A., 2015 - Response of muskmelon cultivars to plastic mulch and irrigation regimes under greenhouse conditions. - J. Anim. Plant. Sci., 25(5): 1398-1410.
- ALLEN R., PEREIRA L., RAES D., SMITH M., 1998 Crop evapotranspiration. Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. - FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper, FAO, Rome, Italy, 300: 56.
- ALLEN S.E., GRIMSHAW H.M., PARKINSON J.A., QUARMBY C., 1974 - Chemical analysis of ecological materials. -Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK, pp. 565.
- BALIAN A., REZAI A.M., GOLABADI M., MAJIDI M.M., 2015 -Evaluation of physiological traits for improving water

deficit tolerance in spring safflower. - Int. J. Adv. Biol. Biom. Res., 2(4): 913-918.

- BARBAGALLO R.N., CHISARI M., PATANÉ C., 2012 -Polyphenol oxidase, total phenolics and ascorbic acid changes during storage of minimally processed 'California Wonder' and 'Quadrato d'Asti' sweet peppers. - LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 49(2): 192-196.
- BARNABÁS B., JÄGER K., FEHÉR A., 2008 The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. Plant. Cell. Environ, 31(1): 11-38.
- BORGHESI E., CARMASSI G., UGUCCIONI M.C., VERNIERI P., MALORGIO F., 2011 - *Effects of calcium and salinity stress on quality of lettuce in soilless culture.* - J. Plant. Nutr., 36(5): 677-690.
- CAI X., STARMAN T., NIU G., HALL C., LOMBARDINI L., 2012 - *Response of selected garden roses to drought stress.* -HortScience, 47(8): 1050-1055.
- CAKMAK I., HORST W.J., 1991 Effect of aluminium on lipid peroxidation, superoxide dismutase, catalase, and peroxidase activities in root tips of soybean (Glycine max). - Physiol. Plant., 83(3): 463-468.
- CASANOVA M.P., MESSING I., JOEL A., CAÑETE A.M., 2009 - Methods to estimate lettuce evapotranspiration in greenhouse conditions in the central zone of Chile. -Chilean J. Agric. Res., 69(1): 60-70.
- CASTAÑEDA P., PEREZ L., 1996 *Calcium ions promote the response of* Citrus limon *against fungal elicitors or wounding*. Phytochem., 42(3): 595-598.
- CHAKRABORTI S., CHAKRABORTI T., MANDAL M., MANDAL A., DAS S., GHOSH S., 2002 *Protective role of magne*sium in cardiovascular diseases: a review. - Mol. Cell. Biochem., 238(1-2): 163-179.
- CHAPIN III F.S., 1991 Effects of multiple environmental stresses on nutrient availability and use. pp. 67-88. In: MOONEY H.A., W.E. WINNER, E.J. PELL, E. CHU (eds.) -Response of plants to multiple stress. - Academic Press Inc., S. Diego, CA, USA, pp. 422.
- CHAPMAN H.D., PRATT P.F., 1961 *Methods of analysis for soils, plants and water.* - University of California, Division of Agricultural Sciences, Berkeley, CA, USA, pp. 309.
- COUSSON A., 2009 Involvement of phospholipase C-independent calcium-mediated abscisic acid signalling during Arabidopsis response to drought. - Biol. Plant., 53(1): 53-62.
- DO NASCIMENTO N.C., FETT-NETO A.G., 2010 Plant secondary metabolism and challenges in modifying its operation: an overview, pp. 1-13. - In: FETT-NETO A.G. (ed.) Plant secondary metabolism engineering. Methods in molecular biology (Methods and Protocols), vol. 643. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, USA, pp. 339.
- EVANS N.H., McAINSH M.R., HETHERINGTON A.M., KNIGHT M.R., 2005 - *ROS perception in* Arabidopsis thaliana: *the ozone-induced calcium response.* - Plant. J., 41(4): 615-626.
- FAHAD S., BAJWA A.A., NAZIR U., ANJUM S. A., FAROOQ A., ZOHAIB A., SADIA S., NASIM W., ADKINS S., SAUD S.,

IHSAN M.Z., ALHARBY H., WU C., WANG D., HUANG J., 2017 - *Crop production under drought and heat stress: plant responses and management options.* - Front Plant Sci., 8(1147): 1-16.

- FAOSTAT, 2016 FAOSTAT Statistics Division FAO, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- FAROOQ M., HUSSAIN M., WAHID A., SIDDIQUE K.H.M., 2012 - Drought stress in plants: an overview. pp. 1-33.
 In: AROCA R. (ed.) - Plant responses to drought stress. From morphological to molecular features - Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 466.
- FAROOQI A.H.A., KUMAR R., FATIMA S., SHARMA S., 2000 -Response of different genotypes of lemongrass (Cymbopogon flexuosus and C. pendulus) to water stress. - J. Plant. Biol., 27(3): 277-282.
- FARRANT J.M., 2000 A comparison of mechanisms of desiccation tolerance among three angiosperm resurrection plant species. - J. Plant. Ecol., 151(1): 29-39.
- GHOLIPOOR M., SINCLAIR T.R., RAZA M.A.S., LÖFFLER C., COOPER M., MESSINA C.D., 2013 - Maize hybrid variability for transpiration decrease with progressive soil drying. - J. Agron. Crop. Sci., 199(1): 23-29.
- GRUSAK M.A., 2002 Enhancing mineral content in plant food products. J. Am. Coll. Nutr., 21(3): 178-183.
- HANSON A.D., HITZ W.D., 1982 Metabolic responses of mesophytes to plant water deficits. Ann. Re. Plant. Physiol., 33(1): 163-203.
- HE M., DIJKSTRA F.A., 2014 Drought effect on plant nitrogen and phosphorus: a meta-analysis. - New Phytologist, 204(4): 924-931.
- HEPLER P.K., WINSHIP L.J., 2010 Calcium at the cell wall-cytoplast interface. - J. Integr. Plant. Biol, 52(2): 147-160.
- HUSSAIN M., FAROOQ S., HASAN W., UL-ALLAH S., TAN-VEER M. 2018 - Drought stress in sunflower: physiological effects and its management through breeding and agronomic alternatives. - Agric. Water Manag., 201: 152-166.
- IHSAN M.Z., EL-NAKHLAWY F.S., ISMAIL S.M., FAHAD S., 2016 - Wheat phenological development and growth studies as affected by drought and late season high temperature stress under arid environment. - Front. Plant Sci., 7: 795.
- JACOBO-VELÁZQUEZ D.A., MARTINEZ-HERNÁNDEZ G.B., DEL C. RODRIGUEZ S., CAO C.M., CISNEROS-ZEVALLOS L., 2011 - Plants as biofactories: physiological role of reactive oxygen species on the accumulation of phenolic antioxidants in carrot tissue under wounding and hyperoxia stress. - J. Agric. Food. Chem., 59(12): 6583-6593.
- JAZIZADEH A., MORTEZAEI NEJAD F., 2016 Effects of drought stress on physiological and morphological indices of Chicory (Cichorium intybus L.) introduced in urban green space. - J. Plant. Proc. Func., 6(21): 279-290.
- JIMENEZ-ARIAS D., GAECIA-MACHADO F.J., MORALES-

STERRA S., LUIS J.C., SUAREZ E., HERNANDEZ M., VALDES F., BORGES A.A., 2019 - *Lettuce plants treated with L-pyroglutamic acid increase yield under water deficit stress.* - Environ. Exp. Bot., 158: 215-222.

- JWA N.S., AGRAWAL G.K., TAMOGAMI S., YONEKURA M., HAN O., IWAHASHI H., RAKWAL R., 2006 - Role of defense/stress-related marker genes, proteins and secondary metabolites in defining rice self-defense mechanisms. - Plant. Physiol. Biochem., 44(5-6): 261-273.
- KADKHODAIE A., ZAHEDI M., RAZMJOO J., PESSARAKLI M., 2014 - Changes in some anti-oxidative enzymes and physiological indices among sesame genotypes (Sesamum indicum L.) in response to soil water deficits under field conditions. - Acta Physiol. Plant., 36(3): 641-650.
- KIM D.O., LEE K.W., LEE H.J., LEE C.Y., 2002 Vitamin C equivalent antioxidant capacity (VCEAC) of phenolic phytochemicals. J. Agric. Food. Chem., 50(13): 3713-3717.
- KIZIL Ü., GENC L., INALPULAT M., ŞAPOLYO D., MIRIK M., 2012 - Lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) yield prediction under water stress using artificial neural network (ANN) model and vegetation indices. - Žemdirbystė-Agriculture, 99(4): 409-418.
- KURTYKA R., MAŁKOWSKI E., KITA A., KARCZ W., 2008 -Effect of Calcium and Cadmium on growth and accumulation of Cadmium, Calcium, Potassium and Sodium in maize seedlings. - Polish. J. Environ. Stud., 17(1): 51-56.
- LAMBERS H., CHAPIN III F.S., PONS T.L., 2008 - *Photosynthesis.* pp. 11-99. In: LAMBERS H., F.S. CHAPIN III, T.L. PONS (eds.) - *Plant physiological ecology*. *Second edition* - Springer, New York, NY, USA, pp. 605.
- LEAL R.M., PRADO De M.R., 2008 Desordens nutricionais no feijoeiro por deficiência de macronutrientes, boro e zinco. - Rev. Bras. Ciênc. Agrár., 3(4): 301-306. (in Portuguese).
- LITING W., LINA W., YANG Y., PENGFEI W., TIANCAI G., GUOZHANG, K., 2015 - Abscisic acid enhances tolerance of wheat seedlings to drought and regulates transcript levels of genes encoding ascorbate-glutathione biosynthesis. - Front. Plant. Sci., 6(458): 1-11.
- LONBANI M., ARZANI A., 2011 Morpho-physiological traits associated with terminal drought-stress tolerance in triticale and wheat. - Agron. Res., 9(1-2): 315-329.
- LUO Y., ZHAO X., ZHOU R., ZUO X., ZHANG J., LI Y., 2011 -Physiological acclimation of two psammophytes to repeated soil drought and rewatering. - Acta Physiol. Plant., 33(1): 79-91.
- MA R., ZHANG M., LI B., DU G., WANG J., CHEN J., 2005 -The effects of exogenous Ca2+ on endogenous polyamine levels and drought-resistant traits of spring wheat grown under arid conditions. - J. Arid. Environ, 63(1): 177-190.
- MAHAJAN S., TUTEJA N., 2005 Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. - Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 444(2): 139-158.

MALCOLM S., MARSHALL E., AILLERY M., HEISEY P., LIV-

INGSTON M., DAY-RUBENSTEIN K., 2012 - Agricultural adaptation to a changing climate: economic and environmental implications vary by US region. - USDA-Economic Research Service. Economic Research Report No. 136, Washington DC, USA, pp. 84.

- MANI F., 2014 Evaluation of drought stress on yield and physiological attributes in Cantaloupe crop (Cucumis melo L.). - Indian J. Appl. Res., 4: 6-10.
- MEDA A., LAMIEN C.E., ROMITO M., MILLOGO J., NACOUL-MA O.G., 2005 - Determination of the total phenolic, flavonoid and proline contents in Burkina Fasan honey, as well as their radical scavenging activity. - Food Chem., 91(3): 571-577.
- MERZLYAK M.N., CHIVKUNOVA O.B., 2000 *Light-stressinduced pigment changes and evidence for anthocyanin photoprotection in apples.* - J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol., 55(2-3): 155-163.
- MITA S., MURANO N., AKAIKE M., NAKAMURA K., 2000 -Mutants of Arabidopsis thaliana with pleiotropic effects on the expression of the gene for beta-amylase and on the accumulation of anthocyanin those are inducible by sugars. - Plant J., 11: 841-851.
- MITTOVA V., TAL M., VOLOKITA M., GUY M., 2002 Salt stress induces up-regulation of an efficient chloroplast antioxidant system in the salt-tolerant wild tomato species Lycopersicon pennellii but not in the cultivated species. - Physiol. Plant., 115(3): 393-400.
- MONNEVEUX P., REKIKA D., ACEVEDO E., MERAH O., 2006 - Effect of drought on leaf gas exchange, carbon isotope discrimination, transpiration efficiency and productivity in field grown durum wheat genotypes. -Plant. Sci., 170(4): 867-872.
- MORARD P., PUJOS A., BERNADAC A., BERTONI G., 1996 -Effect of temporary calcium deficiency on tomato growth and mineral nutrition. - J. Plant. Nutr., 19(1): 115-127.
- NAEEM M., KHAN M.N., KHAN M.M.A., MOINUDDIN, 2013 - Adverse effects of abiotic stresses on medicinal and aromatic plants and their alleviation by calcium. pp. 101-146. - In: TUTEJA N., S.S. GILL (eds.) - Plant Acclimation to Environmental Stress. - Springer, New York, NY, USA, pp. 493.
- NAEEM M., NAEEM M.S., AHMAD R., AHMAD R., 2017 -Foliar-applied calcium induces drought stress tolerance in maize by manipulating osmolyte accumulation and antioxidative responses. - Pak. J. Bot., 49(2): 427-434.
- NAEEM M., NAEEM M.S., AHMAD R., IHSAN M.Z., ASHRAF M.Y., HUSSAIN Y., FAHAD S., 2018 - Foliar calcium spray confers drought stress tolerance in maize via modulation of plant growth, water relations, proline content and hydrogen peroxide activity. - Arch. Agron. Soil. Sci., 64(1): 116-131.
- NAHAR K., GRETZMACHER R., 2002 Effect of water stress on nutrient uptake, yield and quality of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.) under subtropical conditions. - Bodenkultur, 53(1): 45-51.
- NASSERY H., OGATA G., MAAS E.V., 1979 Sensitivity of

sesame to various Salts1. - Agron. J., 71(4): 595-597.

- NEMALI K.S., VAN IERSEL M.W., 2008 Physiological responses to different substrate water contents: Screening for high water-use efficiency in bedding plants. - J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci., 133(3): 333-340.
- PIPER C.S., 1950 Soil and Plant Analysis. 1st ed. -Interscience Publishers Inc., New York, USA, pp. 368.
- RENTEL M.C., KNIGHT M.R., 2004 Oxidative stressinduced calcium signaling in Arabidopsis. - Plant. Physiol., 135(3): 1471-1479.
- ROUPHAEL Y., CARDARELLI M., SCHWARZ D., FRANKEN P., COLLA G., 2012 - Effects of drought on nutrient uptake and assimilation in vegetable crops. pp. 171-195. - In: AROCA R. (ed.) - Plant responses to drought stress. From morphological to molecular features - Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 466.
- RUIZ-LOZANO J.M., AZCÓN R., 1997 Effect of calcium application on the tolerance of mycorrhizal lettuce plants to polyethylene glycol. Symbiosis, 23(1): 9-22.
- SABEDZE M.W., WAHOME P.K., 2010 Influence of different irrigation regimes on production of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.). - Am-Euro. J. Agric. Environ. Sci., 8: 233-238.
- SANAULLAH M., RUMPEL C., CHARRIER X., CHABBI A., 2012 - How does drought stress influence the decomposition of plant litter with contrasting quality in a grassland ecosystem? - Plant. Soil, 352(1-2): 277-288.
- SANDERS D., PELLOUX J., BROWNLEE C., HARPER J.F., 2002 - Calcium at the crossroads of signaling. - Plant. Cell, 14(S1): S401-S417.
- SARDANS J., PEÑUELAS J., 2012 The role of plants in the effects of global change on nutrient availability and stoichiometry in the plant-soil system. Plant. Physiol., 160: 1741-1761.
- SARDANS J., PEÑUELAS J., COLL M., VAYREDA J., RIVAS-UBACH A., 2012 - Stoichiometry of potassium is largely determined by water availability and growth in Catalonian forests. - Funct. Ecol., 26(5): 1077-1089.
- SAYYARI M., GHAVAMI M., GHANBARI F., KORDI S., 2013 -Assessment of salicylic acid impacts on growth rate and some physiological parameters of lettuce plants under drought stress conditions. - Inter. J. Agric. Crop Sci., 5(17): 1951-1957.
- SHAHID M., POURRUT B., DUMAT C., NADEEM M., ASLAM M., PINELLI E., 2014 - Heavy-metal-induced reactive oxygen species: phytotoxicity and physicochemical changes in plants. pp. 1-44. - In: WHITACRE D. (ed.) Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. Volume 232. - Springer, Cham, New York, NY, USA, pp. 144.
- SHINOZAKI K., YAMAGUCHI-SHINOZAKI K., 2000 -Molecular responses to dehydration and low temperature: differences and cross-talk between two stress signaling pathways. - Curr. Opin. Plant. Biol., 3(3): 217-223.
- ŞIMŞEK M., KAÇIRA M., TONKAZ T., 2004 The effects of different drip irrigation regimes on watermelon [Citrullus lanatus (Thunb.)] yield and yield components

under semi-arid climatic conditions. - Aust. J. Agric. Res., 55(11): 1149-1157.

- SUN T., POWERS J.R., TANG J., 2007 Evaluation of the antioxidant activity of asparagus, broccoli and their juices. Food. Chem., 105(1): 101-106.
- TADAYYON A., NIKNESHAN P., PESSARAKLI M., 2018 -Effects of drought stress on concentration of macro-and micro-nutrients in Castor (Ricinus communis L.) plant. -J. Plant. Nutr., 41(3): 304-310.
- TOPCU S., KIRDA C., DASGAN Y., KAMAN H., CETIN M., YAZICI A., BACON M.A., 2007 - Yield response and Nfertiliser recovery of tomato grown under deficit irrigation. - Euro. J. Agron., 26(1): 64-70.
- TULIPANI S., MEZZETTI B., CAPOCASA F., BOMPADRE S., BEEKWILDER J., DE VOS C. H.R., CAPANOGLU E., BOVY A., BATTINO M., 2008 - Antioxidants, phenolic compounds, and nutritional quality of different strawberry genotypes. - J. Agric. Food. Chem., 56(3): 696-704.
- TUNA A.L., KAYA C., ASHRAF M., ALTUNLU H., YOKAS I., YAGMUR B., 2007 - The effects of calcium sulphate on growth, membrane stability and nutrient uptake of tomato plants grown under salt stress. - Environ. Exp. Bot., 59(2): 173-178.
- TUNA L., KAYA C., DIKILITAS M., HIGGS D., 2008 The combined effects of gibberellic acid and salinity on some antioxidant enzyme activities, plant growth parameters and nutritional status in maize plants. - Environ. Exp. Bot., 62: 1-9.
- UNESCO, 2012 Managing Water Under Uncertainty and Risk (Vol. 1). - United Nations World Water Development Report 4. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris, France, pp. 407.
- UPADHYAYA H., PANDA S.K., DUTTA B.K., 2011 CaCl₂ improves post-drought recovery potential in Camellia sinensis (L) O. Kuntze. - Plant. Cell. Rep., 30(4): 495-503.
- VAFAIE A., EBADI A., RASTGOU B., MOGHADAM S.H., 2013
 The effects of potassium and magnesium on yield and some physiological traits of Safflower (Carthamus tinctorius). Inter. J. Agric. Crop. Sci., 5(17): 1895-1900.
- VELIOGLU Y.S., MAZZA G., GAO L., OOMAH B.D., 1998 -Antioxidant activity and total phenolics in selected fruits, vegetables, and grain products. - J. Agric. Food. Chem., 46: 4113-4117.
- VINSON J.A., SU X., ZUBIK L., BOSE P., 2001 Phenol antioxidant quantity and quality in foods: fruits. - J. Agric. Food. Chem., 49(11): 5315-5321.
- VURUKONDA S.S.K.P., VARDHARAJULA S., SHRIVASTAVA
 M., SKZ A., 2016 Enhancement of drought stress tolerance in crops by plant growth promoting rhizobacteria.
 - Microbiol. Res., 184: 13-24.
- WATANABE F.S., OLSEN S.R., 1965 Test of an ascorbic acid method for determining phosphorus in water and NaHCO₃ extracts from soil. Soil. Sci. Soc. Am. J., 29(6): 677-678.
- WEIDNER S., KAROLAK M., KARAMAC M., KOSINSKA A.,

AMAROWICZ R., 2009 - Phenolic compounds and properties of antioxidants in grapevine roots (Vitis vinifera L.) under drought stress followed by recovery. - Acta Soc. Bot. Pol., 78(2): 97-103.

WINKEL-SHIRLEY B., 2002 - *Biosynthesis of flavonoids and effects of stress.* - Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 5(3): 218-223.

XING H., TAN L., AN L., ZHAO Z., WANG S., ZHANG C., 2004 - Evidence for the involvement of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species in osmotic stress tolerance of wheat seedlings: inverse correlation between leaf abscisic acid accumulation and leaf water loss. - Plant. Growth. Regul., 42(1): 61-68.

XU C., LI X., ZHANG L., 2013 - The effect of calcium chloride

on growth, photosynthesis, and antioxidant responses of Zoysia japonica under drought conditions. - PLoS One, 8(7): e68214.

- ZHANG L., GAO M., HU J., ZHANG X., WANG K., ASHRAF M., 2012 - Modulation role of abscisic acid (ABA) on growth, water relations and glycinebetaine metabolism in two maize (Zea mays L.) cultivars under drought stress. - Inter. J. Mol. Sci., 13(3): 3189-3202.
- ZHAO H. C., WANG B.C., LIU Y.Y., DUAN C.R., CAI S.X., SAKANISHI A., 2000 - Influence of water stress on the lipid physical state of plasma membranes from P. betuloefolia. Bqe leaves. - Colloids Surf. B. Biointerfaces, 19(2): 181-185.





(*) Corresponding author: sedaghathoor@yahoo.com

Citation:

ABBASNIA ZARE S.K., SEDAGHATHOOR S., PADA-SHT DAHKAEI M.N., HASHEMABADI D., 2020 - The effect of different colored netting on quantitative and qualitative traits of two foliage plant species (Codiaeum variegatum and Aglaonema commutatum) - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 25-33.

Copyright:

© 2020 Abbasnia Zare S.K., Sedaghathoor S., Padasht Dahkaei M.N., Hashemabadi D. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 27 June 2019 Accepted for publication 31 October 2019

The effect of different colored netting on quantitative and qualitative traits of two foliage plant species (*Codiaeum variegatum* and *Aglaonema commutatum*)

S.K. Abbasnia Zare ¹, S. Sedaghathoor ¹ (*), M.N. Padasht Dahkaei ², D. Hashemabadi ¹

¹ Rasht Branch, Islamic Azad University, Rasht, Iran.

² Agricultural and Natural Resources Research, Center of Guilan, Agricultural Research, Education, and Extension Organization, Rasht, Iran.

Key words: anthocyanin, brix°, croton, photoselective, yellow netting.

Abstract: Photoselective netting is a new group of colored netting developing in the past few decades. The effect of colored (red, green, and yellow) netting was studied on physiological traits of Codiaeum and Aglaonema in a trial in Flowers and Ornamental Plants Research Station of Lahijan, north of Iran. The trial was based on a split-plot experiment with two factors. The first factor was devoted to colored netting at four levels (no netting, green, yellow, and red) and the second factor was devoted to plant species at two levels of Codiaeum and Aglaonema based on a randomized complete block design with three replications. The results showed the positive effect of yellow netting on improving the vegetative capability of the plants, so that the highest plant height, shoot and root fresh and dry weight, and leaf area were observed in the plants grown under the yellow netting. Also, the highest anthocyanin, carotenoid contents, and catalase activity were obtained from the red netting and the highest Brix° and total chlorophyll from the red and yellow netting. According to the results, the highest vegetative growth rate was related to *Codiaeum*. The application of the colored nets provided the plants with more optimal growth conditions.

1. Introduction

The average number of sunny days in Iran annually amounts to a significant value of 280 days, making it unavoidable to use shading to control incident radiation during sunlight exposure (Forghani and Kiani Abri, 2005). The concept of photo-selective shade netting was first devised in Israel and was tested on ornamental plants, vegetables, and fruit trees. Then, the idea gradually spread to the whole world to be applied to various plants, climatic regions, and agronomic practices (Shahak, 2008). So far, black netting has mostly been used for shading and transparent netting has been employed for protection against environmental or pest damages. A whole new group of protective nettings has been developed to manipulate both the quality and quantity of radiation intercepted by plants and simultaneously protect them optimally (Shahak *et al.*, 2004 a, b).

The technology of colored nets that selectively filters sunlight and physically protects crops is based on specific nets in which color elements are used during fabrication. This technology seeks to absorb ultraviolet, blue, green, yellow, red, far-red, or near-infrared spectra. The direct light is intended to change into scattered light too. Colored nets can only alter the components of sunlight that penetrates through their plastic strings whereas solar rays that go across the holes are not manipulated (Shahak et al., 2016). It has been documented that yellow and red, as well as grey, netting can significantly increase the productivity of Capsicum annuum versus black netting. These results were attributed to the increased number of fruits in a season in plants subjected to the netting (Shahak et al., 2008). In another study by Shahak et al. (2016), it was revealed that yellow netting outperformed red netting in stimulating the vegetative growth of *Pittosporum* and among the studied nets, yellow netting exhibited much stronger strengthening effects than red netting. Other studies have also shown that blue netting reduced vegetative growth and induced dwarfness in leafy ornamental plants and cut flowers whereas red and yellow nets that reduced the intensity of blue light induced vegetative growth in plants (Shahak et al., 2016). Photoselective nets can, according to studies, alter shade guality by scattering light and changing its spectral composition (Shahak et al., 2008). Wang and Folta (2013) reported that the colored nets had a significant effect on increasing vegetative growth rate in foliage plants as compared to the black nets with a similar coefficient of shading (Oren-Shamir et al., 2001). The results showed that the red and white nets increased the yield of Cordyline with respect to plant height, leaf number, biomass, leaf area, photosynthesis rate, and harvest index as compared to control. Also, plants under the colored nets exhibited a longer vase life than those in the open air, but there was no significant difference between nets with different colors. According to the results, white and red nets were better for the growth of Cordyline (Kumar Gaurav et al., 2016). Since few studies have addressed the effect of colored netting on vegetative and physiological traits of foliage plants, the present paper explores the impact of color netting on vegetative traits of ornamental Codiaeum variegatum and Aglaonema commutatum plants in Flower and Ornamental Plant Research Station of Lahijan, Iran.

2. Materials and Methods

The effect of colored (red, green, and yellow) netting was studied on vegetative traits of *C. variegatum* and *Aglaonema commutatum* in Flowers and Ornamental Plants Research Station of Lahijan, north of Iran in the spring and of 2018. The trial was based on a split-plot experiment with two factors. The first factor was devoted to colored netting at four levels (no netting, green, yellow, and red) and the second factor was devoted to plant species at two levels of *C. variegatum* and *A. commutatum* based on a RCBD with three replications. Each experimental plot was composed of four plants. The light intensity in cloudy days was in the range of 4000-5000 lux, No shade net of 6000 lux and on sunny days in the range of 20,000-28,000 lux and No shade net of 30,000-35000 lux.

The recorded vegetative parameters included plant growth rate, plant height, shoot and root fresh and dry weight and leaf area. Dry weight was obtained oven-dried at 105°C for 24 h. To determine leaf area, the leaves length (L) and widest width (W) were measured, and the leaf area (A) was calculated by the following equation (Moll and Kamparth, 1997):

A= L x W x 0.75

The physiological traits included °Brix, chlorophyll a, b and total, carotenoid, anthocyanin, flavonoid, antioxidant capacity, catalase and peroxidase. The Brix° of the leaves was measured with an N-1 α handheld refractometer (ATAGO Co., Japan). To measure chlorophyll contents of the treatments, 0.5 g of sample was weighed and ground in a mortar containing 50 ml 80% acetone. Then, the extract was infiltrated, adjusted to 50 ml, and poured into cuvettes. To determine chlorophyll content, it was read at 643 and 660 nm with a spectrophotometer. Chlorophyll a and b and total chlorophyll contents were estimated by the following equations (Mazumdar and Majumder, 2003):

Total chlorophyll (mg/ml) = $7.12(A_{660}) + 16.8 (A_{643})$ Chlorophyll a (mg/ml) = $993(A_{660}) - 0.777(A_{643})$ Chlorophyll b (mg/ml) = $17.6(A_{643}) - 2.81(A_{660})$

To measure the carotenoid level, the treatments were sampled. Then, 0.5 g was weighed from the sample and was ground in a mortar containing 50 ml 80% acetone. Then, it was infiltrated, adjusted to 50 ml, and poured into cuvettes. The extracts were read at 645, 663, and 660 nm and were placed in the following equation, denoted by *A*, to determine

carotenoid levels of the treatments (Mazumdar and Majumder, 2003):

Carotenoid level = $4.69(A_{660}) - 0.268(A_{643}) + 8.02(A_{663})$

To measure anthocyanin content, 0.5 of the sample was taken and ground in a Chinese mortar containing 50 ml of hydrochloric-ethanol acid (85% ethanol 95% + 15% hydrochloric acid). Then, it was infiltrated, adjusted to 50 ml , and poured into cuvettes. They were placed in a refrigerator at 4°C for 24 hours followed by 2 hours in darkness. The extract was read at 535 nm with a spectrophotometer and was placed in the following equation to determine anthocyanin content (Mazumdar and Majumder, 2003):

where a = sample weight (0.5 g), b = the volume taken for the measurement (5 ml), c = total volume (50 ml), d = the fraction taken for the sample 0.1, and e = absorption read at 535 nm.

exbxc

dxa

Total anthocyanin content of sample = $\frac{\text{Total absorption of sample}}{98.2}$

To measure flavonoid content, 0.1 g of the sample was taken and ground in a mortar containing 85% methanol and was centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 5 minutes. Then, it was infiltrated and the supernatant was placed in a hot bath at 80°C for 10 minutes. Then, it was cooled down and its absor was read at 270, 300, and 330 nm with a spectrophotometer (Humadi and Istudor, 2008).

A=ɛbc

where: A= absorption rate, ε = extinction coefficient 33000 m.cm^{-1,} b= width of the cuvette (1 cm) and c= total flavonoid content.

In order to estimate antioxidant capacity, 1 g of the plant was wrapped in foil and was placed in liquid nitrogen for 2-3 minutes. Then, it was ground with 10 ml methanol 85% and the samples were placed in room temperature for one hour. Next, their extract was infiltrated and centrifuged for five minutes. Then, 150 ml was taken from it and was added with 850 μ l DPPH. The solution was stirred fast and was kept in room temperature at the dark for 20 minutes. After placing the blank and resetting the instrument, first only DPPH was poured into the cuvette and it was read. Then, the sample was read at 517 nm by a spectrophotometer. The antioxidant capacity of the extracts was calculated by the following equation in terms of % inhibition in DPPH (Ramandeep and Savage, 2005):

$$\text{%DPPH} = \frac{A_{\text{cont}} - A_{\text{samp}}}{A_{\text{cont}}} \quad \text{x 100}$$

where %DPPH = percent inhibition, A_{cont} = absorption rate of DPPH, and A_{samp} = absorption rate (sample + DPPH).

The activity of catalase (CAT) was measured through the following stages (Dazy *et al.*, 2008): 1 g of plant tissue that had been ground in 4 ml ethanol was added with (i) 0.01 mol phosphate buffer (pH = 7), (ii) 0.5 ml H_2O_2 0.2 mol, and (iii) 2 ml acid reagent (dichromate/acetic acid mixture). Then, its absorption was read at 610 nm with a spectrophotometer. To measure the enzymatic activity of peroxidase (POD), the extract was prepared as described above. Then, the variations of OD at 430 nm were read with a spectrophotometer once thirty seconds for two minutes (Chance and Maehly, 1955). Data were statistically analyzed with MSTATC Software Package, and the means were compared with the LSD test.

3. Results

According to the results of analysis of variance (ANOVA; Tables 1, 2), the simple effect of netting type and plant species and their interactions were significant (p<0.01) on plant height. The tallest plants were obtained from the yellow netting and the shortest from no net exposure. Also, means comparison for the interaction of 'netting type × plant species' revealed that the highest plant height was related to 'yellow net × *A. commutatum*' and the lowest to 'no net × *A. commutatum*'.

According to ANOVA (Table 1), plant growth rate was significantly (p<0.01) affected by shade netting, plant species, and 'shade netting × plant species'. Means comparison revealed that the highest growth rate was obtained from the yellow netting (Table 3) and the lowest from no-netting treatment. Means comparison for the interactive effect of 'shade netting × plant species' on plant growth rate showed that 'yellow netting × C. variegatum' had the utmost plant growth rate and 'no netting × A. commutatum' had the lowest one. According to ANOVA, leaf number was significantly influenced by netting type (p<0.05) and plant species (p<0.01), but the interaction of these two parameters was insignificant for this trait (Table 1). Means comparison revealed that the highest number of leaves was observed in the plants treated with the yellow net and the lowest in

the plants not treated with the nets (Table 3).

The effect of netting type and plant species was significant (p<0.01) on leaf size (leaf length and width), but the interaction of 'net type × plant species' was insignificant (Table 1). The yellow net was related to the highest leaf length and width and the control to the lowest leaf size (Table 3). As well, means comparison for the effect of plant species on leaf size indicated that *C. variegatum* produced the largest leaves (Table 4). ANOVA shows the significant (p<0.01) influence of netting type and plant species

on leaf area, but the insignificant effect of 'netting type × plant species' on this trait (Table 1). The highest leaf area of 138.4 cm² was associated with the application of the yellow net, but control treatment (in which no net was applied) showed the lowest leaf area of 72.19 cm² (Table 3). Means comparison for the effect of plant species on leaf area revealed that *C. variegatum* had the highest leaf area (Table 4).

ANOVA revealed the significant (p<0.01) effect of shade netting type and plant species on shoot fresh and dry weight, but their interaction was significant

Table 1 - Analysis of variance for the effect of experimental factors on the studied morphological traits

		Means of squares											
Source of Variables	df	Final height	Growth	Initial leaf no.	Final leaf no.	Leaf no. Increase	Leaf length	Leaf width	Leaf area	Shoot fresh weight	Shoot dry weight	Root fresh weight	Root dry weight
Replication	2	4.76 NS	6.74 *	0.58 NS	21.15 NS	14.86 NS	0.97 NS	0.51 NS	264.38 NS	25.99 NS	0.13 NS	1.26 NS	0.006 NS
Netting (A)	3	202.24 **	160.65 **	4.20 NS	189.84 *	153.79 **	41.01 **	7.09 **	4813.22 **	3492.35 **	17.12 **	35.24 **	0.173 **
Error	6	5.54	0.97	5.57	37.95	15.81	0.76	0.58	226.36	85.45	0.42	1.32	0.006
Plant (B)	1	1536.00 **	997.82 **	348.84 **	2095.34 **	734.27 **	173.35 **	19.26 **	16949.00 **	28295.47 **	138.67 **	0.39 NS	0.002 NS
AB	3	42.36 **	50.11 **	3.75 NS	22.95 NS	11.98 NS	13.57 NS	1.89 NS	1448.57 NS	529.42 *	2.59 *	6.80 *	0.032 *
Error	8	1.43	2.28	4.95	25.25	10.24	5.60	0.69	517.91	82.94	0.41	1.01	0.005
C.V. (%)		3.62	14.13	26.23	25.40	28.32	12.93	11.71	22.42	18.07	18.06	21.51	21.79

Ns= insignificant difference; **= significant difference at the p<0.01 level; *= significant difference at the p<0.05 level.

Table 2 - Analysis of variance for the effect of experimental factors on the studied morpho-chemical traits

-			Means of squares											
Source of Variables	df	Brix	Catalase	Peroxidase	Anthocyanin	Chlorophyll a	Chlorophyll b	Total chlorophyll	Carotenoid	Flavanoid	Antioxidant capacity			
Replication	2	0.29 NS	0.001 NS	0.015 NS	1170.53 NS	1.81 NS	0.31 NS	1.62 NS	0.45 NS	0.001 NS	0.003 NS			
Netting (A)	3	15.49 *	0.005 **	0.014 NS	16243.31 **	2.63 NS	0.95 NS	6.56 *	5.68 **	0.000 NS	0.008 **			
Error	6	1.74	0.000	0.005	721.97	1.10	0.39	1.04	0.41	0.000	0.001			
Plant (B)	1	532.04 **	0.000 NS	0.032 NS	6699.06 **	3.06 NS	0.06 NS	1.66 NS	0.36 NS	0.000 NS	0.003 *			
AB	3	0.49 NS	0.000 NS	0.037 **	48512.77 **	2.80 NS	0.28 NS	2.13 NS	1.09 NS	0.001 **	0.007 **			
Error	8	0.37	0.001	0.003	5179.48	1.19	0.27	1.92	0.47	0.000	0.000			
C.V. (%)		6.97	48.63	13.11	28.83	75.90	56.85	57.60	31.23	10.53	36.02			

Ns= insignificant difference; **= significant difference at the p<0.01 level; *= significant difference at the p<0.05 level.

Table 3 - Means comparison for the effect of netting type on the studied traits

Netting	Final height (cm)	Growth (cm)	Leaf no.	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Root fresh weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)	Leaf length (cm)	Leaf width (cm²)	Leaf area	Sugar content (%)	Catalase (UNIT) ¹	Anthocyanin (mg/100 g)	Total chlorophyll (mg/g)	Carotenoid (mg/L)	Antioxidant capacity (DPPH%)
No netting	25.25 c	3.92 c	13.50 b	23.52 c	1.65 c	2.11 c	0.14 c	14.92 c	6.04 b	72.19 c	6.66 b	0.04 b	1.37 b	0.85 b	0.77 b	9 a
Yellow	39.33 a	16.50 a	27.17 a	82.05 a	5.75 a	7.89 a	0.55 a	21.17 a	8.50 a	138.4 a	9.68 a	0.04 b	2.62 b	2.90 a	2.60 a	2 b
Red	33.92 b	11.50 b	19.63 ab	50.25 b	3.52 b	4.82 b	0.34 b	19.17 b	7.33 ab	106.5 b	10.33 a	0.10 a	4.77 a	3.09 a	2.94 a	5 ab
Green	33.33 b	10.88 b	18.83 ab	45.74 b	3.20 b	3.84 bc	0.27 bc	18.00 b	6.46 b	88.92 bc	8.50 ab	0.03 b	1.20 b	2.77 ab	2.50 a	9 a

Similar letter(s) in each column show insignificant differences according to the LSD test. ¹ Peroxidase enzyme unit in μ M /H₂O₂ consumed/min/mg.

Plant species	Final height (cm)	Growth (cm)	Leaf no.	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Leaf length (cm)	Leaf width (cm)	Leaf area (cm²)	Sugar content (%)	Antho- cyanin (mg/100 g)	Antioxidant capacity (DPPH%)
Codaeum variegatum	40.96 a	17.15 a	29.13 a	84.72 a	5.93 a	21 a	8.98 a	128.08 a	13.50 a	3.02 a	5 b
Aglaonema commutatum	24.96 b	4.25 b	10.44 b	16.05 b	1.12 b	15.63 b	6.19 b	74.93 b	4.08 b	1.97 b	7 a

Table 4 - Means comparison for the effect of plant species on the studied traits

Similar letter(s) in each column show insignificant differences according to the LSD test.

for this trait (p<0.05) (Table 1). The highest shoot fresh and dry weight was obtained from the yellow netting (Table 3) as means comparison for the effect of shade net type indicated. Likewise, means comparison for the interaction of netting type and plant species showed that 'yellow netting × C. variegatum' produced the highest shoot fresh and dry weight without any significant differences from that of 'red netting × C. variegatum' and 'green netting × C. variegatum'. The lowest shoot fresh and dry weight was obtained from 'no netting × A. commutatum' and 'green netting × A. commutatum' (Table 5). The effect of net type was significant on root fresh and dry weight at the p<0.01 level and the interaction of 'net type × plant species' was significant for these traits at the p<0.05 level (Table 1). Means comparison indicated that the highest root fresh and dry weights were obtained from the yellow netting and the lowest were obtained when the plants were barely exposed to radiation (Table 3). According to means comparison for the interactive effect of the treatments, 'yellow net × A. commutatum' produced the highest root fresh and dry weight whilst the lowest root fresh and dry weights were obtained from 'no net × C. variegatum', 'no net × A. commutatum', and 'green net × A. commutatum' (Table 5).

ANOVA indicated that degree Brix (°Bx) was signif-

icantly influenced by net type at the p<0.05 level and by plant species at the p<0.01 level, but the interaction of 'net type × plant species' was insignificant for this trait (Table 2). The highest degree Brix was related to the red net (10.33%) and yellow net (9.68%) and the lowest to control (6.66%) (Table 3). Means comparison for the effect of plant species indicated that *C. variegatum* had higher Brix of 13.50% (Table 4).

The effect of net type was significant (p<0.01) on catalase enzyme, but this enzyme content was not influenced by plant species and 'net type × plant species' (Table 2). The highest catalase enzyme content was obtained from the red netting showing insignificant differences from other treatments (Table 4). ANOVA showed that the interactive effect of 'net type × plant species' was significant (p<0.01) on peroxidase enzyme, but the effect of shading net and plant species was not significant (Table 1). The highest peroxidase enzyme content was obtained from 'no net × A. commutatum' and the lowest from 'red net × C. variegatum', 'green net × A. commutatum', and 'no net × C. variegatum' (Table 5).

Anthocyanin content was significantly (p<0.01) influenced by net type, plant species, and 'net type × plant species' (Table 2). Means comparison indicated

Plant species	Final height (cm)	Growth (cm)	Shoot fresh weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)	Root fresh weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)	Peroxidase (UNIT) ¹
'No netting × <i>Codaeum variegatum</i> '	29.33 c	6.33 cd	44.32 bc	3.10 b	2.09 c	0.15 c	0.34 b
'No netting × Aglaonema commutatum'	21.17 d	1.50 d	2.72 d	0.19 c	2.14 c	0.15 c	0.61 a
'Yellow netting × C. variegatum'	49.33 a	25.33 a	118.2 a	8.27 a	6.68 ab	0.47 ab	0.43 ab
'Yellow netting × A. commutatum'	29.33 c	7.67 c	45.93 b	3.22 b	9.10 a	0.64 a	0.40 b
'Red netting × C. variegatum'	42.83 b	17.83 b	88.31 a	6.18 a	5.20 bc	0.36 bc	0.33 b
'Red netting × A. commutatum'	25.00 d	5.17 cd	12.19 cd	0.85 c	4.43 bc	0.31 bc	0.45 ab
'Green netting × C. variegatum'	42.33 b	19.08 b	88.10 a	6.17 a	5.21 bc	0.36 bc	0.39 b
'Green netting × A. commutatum'	24.33 d	2.67 cd	3.38 d	0.24 c	2.49 c	0.18 c	0.33 b

Table 5 - Means comparison for the interactive effect of 'netting type × plant species' on the studied traits

Similar letter(s) in each column show insignificant differences according to the LSD test.

 1 Peroxidase enzyme unit in μM /H $_2O_2$ consumed/min/mg.

that the highest anthocyanin content was obtained from the red net (Table 3), but the other treatments did not differ significantly to one another. According to means comparison for the effect of plant species on anthocyanin content, the highest content was observed in *C. variegatum* (Table 4). Also, means comparison for the interactive effect of 'net type × plant species' on anthocyanin content indicated that 'red net × *A. commutatum*' had the highest anthocyanin content and 'green net × *A. commutatum*' and 'no net × *A. commutatum*' exhibited the lowest one (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 - The effect of 'netting type × plant species' on anthocyanin content. NN= no netting, YN= yellow netting, RN= red netting, GN= green netting, CV= Codaeum variegatum, AC= Aqlaonema commutatum.

The results of ANOVA showed that the effect of net type was significant (p<0.05) on total chlorophyll content, but the effect of plant species, net type, and 'net type × plant species' was insignificant on chlorophyll a and b and so was the effect of plant species and 'net type × plant species' on total chlorophyll (Table 2). Means comparison for the effect of net type on total chlorophyll (Table 3) indicated that the highest total chlorophyll was related to the red and yellow nets and the lowest to no-net treatment.

Shading net type influenced carotenoid content of plants significantly (p<0.01), but the trait was not significantly affected by plant species and 'net type × plant species' (Table 1). Means comparison showed that the plants grown under the red nets had a higher carotenoid content but without any significant differences from those grown under the yellow and green nets. The lowest carotenoid content was related to control (Table 3). The results of ANOVA showed that the interaction of 'net type × plant species' was significant (p<0.01) for flavonoid content, but the effect of net type and plant species was insignificant on this trait (Table 2). The highest flavonoid content

was obtained from 'green net \times *C. variegatum*' and the lowest from 'red net \times *C. variegatum*' (Fig. 2).

Antioxidant capacity was significantly influenced by netting type and 'netting type × plant species' at the p<0.01 level and by plant species at the p<0.05 level (Table 2). *A. commutatum* plants grown under the yellow net and control plants had the highest antioxidant capacity, while the lowest capacity was related to the yellow net (Table 3). Also, it was found that *A. commutatum* had a higher antioxidant capacity than *C. variegatum* (Table 4). Means comparison for 'net type × plant species' revealed that the highest antioxidant capacity was related to 'no net × *A. commutatum*' and the lowest to 'yellow net × *C. variegatum*' and 'yellow net × *A. commutatum*' (Fig. 3).

4. Discussion and Conclusions

Based on our results the highest plant height was related to 'yellow net $\times A$. commutatum'. In a study on the effect of colored nets on Cordyline, Kumar



Fig. 2 - The effect of 'netting type × plant species' on flavonoid content. NN= no netting, YN= yellow netting, RN= red netting, GN= green netting, CV= Codaeum variegatum, AC= Aglaonema commutatum.





Gaurav et al. (2016) stated that plants grown under colored shade nets exhibited variable growth due to the spectral effect on plant growth. They reported that the Cordyline plants grown under white and red shade nets were taller than the control plants (not exposure to shade nets). It has been reported that both red and yellow shade nets enhanced the vegetative traits of Aralia including stem length and thickness, petals, and leaf dimensions and generally increased the yield of commercial cut flowers (Oren-Shamir et al., 2001; Shahak, 2008). Shahak et al. (2016), also, found that the yellow shading net induced vegetative growth of Pittosporum. The highest growth rate was observed in the plants exposed to the yellow nets. It has been argued that yellow nets outperform red nets in inducing vegetative growth, probably because of the inductive effect of supplementary artificial green light (Oren-Shamir et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2004). In a four-year research study on cut flowers in Besor Research Station (2000-2003), an increase was reported in stimulatory capacity and in growth under yellow and red nets (Shahak, 2008; Ovadia et al., 2009). There is a report that lettuce produced the highest number of leaves under colored nets (pearl and red nets) and the lowest number in control (no net application) (Ilić et al., 2017). It can be concluded that different plant species differ in their growth and development responses to the spectra generated by different colored nets. Leaf area is a crucial parameter for growth. It is defined as a plant's capacity to synthesize dry matter in terms of radiation use rate and photosynthesis rate. Kumar Gaurav et al. (2016) showed that leaf area of Cordyline was higher under colored shade netting than control (no shade net application). Colored nets influenced both the length of growth period and morphological traits of lettuce so that they enhanced leaf area index and shortened the length of growth period significantly (Ilić et al., 2017).

In the present study, the yellow net resulted in higher fresh weight than the other nets and control. In addition, the highest plant growth was related to the yellow net, implying the impact of yellow nets on quantitative and qualitative traits of plants. This leads us to the conclusion that colored shade nets, especially yellow nets, can enhance plant biomass. In Kumar Gaurav *et al.*'s study (2016), the highest leaf fresh weight (85.88 percent higher in the red net than in the control) and leaf dry weight were obtained from the red net and overall, the colored nets had the strongest impact on this trait when compared to control (no net application).

Brix is a measure of sugar content of the solution and depends on radiation diffraction. It represents the percentage of solid material weight of a solution to the total weight of the solution. Our results revealed that flowers grown under the red and yellow shade nets had higher degree Brix and this may be related to the stimulatory effect of artificial green light under the yellow nets (Kim et al., 2004). Hydrogen peroxide is the most stable form of reactive oxygen species. It has been suggested that hydrogen peroxide is toxic to cells. Catalase and peroxidase play a crucial role in inhibiting the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide. These enzymes are abundant in aerobic microbes, but anaerobic microbes lack them (Singh, 2003). It has been documented that peroxidases are involved in many cell processes such as auxin metabolism, wood formation, traverse linkages in plant cell walls, response to environmental stresses, and so on (Yamasaki et al., 1997). Thus, the higher catalase and peroxidase enzyme content in plant species plays a considerable role in inhibiting the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in plants.

A laboratory trial has shown that three properties of light color, intensity and duration affect plant growth so that red/infra-red ratio is dictated by the duration and photo flux of radiation treatments and influences anthocyanin development and synthesis significantly (Mancinelli, 1990). Lefsrud *et al.* (2008) reported that anthocyanin content of lettuce was increased in plants exposed to red LED light. In the present study, plants grown under the red shade nets exhibited the highest anthocyanin content.

At intense radiation, chlorophyll degradation rate in plant leaf exceeds its synthesis rate, resulting in the loss of chlorophyll content due to the inhibition of chloroplast formation (Gonçalves *et al.*, 2001; Fu *et al.*, 2012). It has been documented that colored nets increase chlorophyll content in plants. For example, Alkalai-Tuvia *et al.* (2014) studied the effect of colored nets on peppers and reported that the chlorophyll content of the peppers grown under the pearl nets was significant higher than that of the peppers grown under the black nets.

The plants grown under the red nets had a higher carotenoid. It has been reported by Tinyane *et al.* (2013) and Selahle *et al.* (2014) that carotenoid content of tomatoes was increased under red and pearl shade nets. Kong *et al.* (2012) reported that the yellow net resulted in morphological changes and leaf carotenoid increase in peppers versus the red net, which may relate to the increase in green light con-

tent under the yellow net. Leaf carotenoid content was higher in lettuces grown under colored shade nets than control (no net) in llić *et al.*'s study (2017), which is consistent with our findings.

Phytochemical biosynthesis mostly depends on light quantity and quality as was observed in lettuce plants grown under black nets. In a study, plants grown under pearl nets had significantly higher total phenol content, flavonoids, and antioxidant properties than those grown under other nets (Ilić et al., 2017). In another study, an increase was observed in post-harvest flavonoid content in oregano, marjoram, and coriander under pearl nets (Buthelezi et al., 2016). Although phytochemical content decreases slightly after harvest, a high level of post-harvest phytochemical accumulation enables plants to maintain phytochemical quality in post-harvest period (Buthelezi et al., 2016). The accumulation of antioxidant compounds in green plants depends on many parameters such as temperature, light quantity and quality, cultivar, growing season, and metabolic factors (Miller et al., 2010). The control of radiation quality by the red and pearl photo-selective netting resulted in keeping post-flowering antioxidant activity in vegetables (Kong et al., 2013). Kong et al. (2013) reported that peppers exhibited an elevated level of antioxidants under yellow nets implying that yellow and pearl nets were likely to enhance plant resistance to biotic stresses. It seems that plants respond differently to different light spectra and plant response to the elevated level of antioxidant capacity depends on the type of colored nets.

The results show that among the studied colored shade nets, the yellow net outperformed the other nets in improving the vegetative capacity of the studied plants. Also, the highest anthocyanin, carotenoid, and catalase contents were obtained from the red net and the highest degree Brix and total chlorophyll from the red and yellow nets. Overall, the application of the colored nets was more desirable for the plants than their non-application. It has been documented that the absorption rate of yellow-colored glass is higher in 360-200 nm (blue and violet) range that is lowly important radiation for photosynthesis than in 560-760 nm range that is photosynthetically important (Haghshenas and Ghiabaklou, 2009) because the latter range is severely intercepted by chlorophyll and increases photosynthesis. This can be a reason for the higher efficiency of the yellow netting. The absorption rate of violet to yellow range of visible light (360-600 nm) by red glass is very similar to yellow glass (Haghshenas and Ghiabaklou, 2009). This

explains the change in plants' behavior to the radiation passing through the red net because it seems that the penetration of photosynthetically active radiation through red nets (i.e. red and orange portions of visible light) contributes to important plant functions such as photosynthesis and increases biomass.

References

- ALKALAI-TUVIA S., GOREN A., PERZELAN Y., WEINBERG T., FALLIK E., 2014 - The influence of colored shade nets on pepper quality after harvest - A possible mode-ofaction. - Agric. Forest., 60: 7-18.
- BUTHELEZI M.N.D., SOUNDY P., JIFON J., SIVAKUMAR D., 2016 - Spectral quality of photo-selective nets improves phytochemicals and aroma volatiles in coriander leaves (Coriandrum sativum *L.*) after postharvest storage. - J. Photochem. Photobiol. B, Biol., 161: 328-334.
- CHANCE B., MAEHLY A.C., 1955 Assay of catalase and peroxidase, pp. 764-775. - In: HORECKER B.L. (ed.) Methods in Enzymology 2. Academic Press, New York, NY, USA, pp. 987.
- DAZY M., JUNG V., FÉRARD J.F., MASFARAUD J.F., 2008 -Ecological recovery of vegetation on a coke-factory soil: role of plant antioxidant enzymes and possible implications in site. - Chemosphere, 74: 57-63.
- FORGHANI H., KIANI ABRI M., 2005 A study of relative advantage of the production and export of flowers and ornamental plants in selected provinces. - Iranian Econ. J., 5(19): 53-64. (In Persian)
- FU W., LI P., WU Y., 2012 *Effects of different light intensities on chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics and yield in lettuce.* - Sci. Hortic., 135: 45-51.
- GONÇALVES J.F.D.C., MARENCO R.A., VIEIRA G., 2001 -Concentration of photosynthetic pigments and chlorophyll fluorescence of mahogany and tonka bean under two light environments. - Rev. Brasil. Fisiol. Veget., 13: 149-157.
- HAGHSHENAS M., GHIABAKLOU Z., 2009 Investigation of tinted glazing's effect in transmission of daylight and energy in the visible spectrum. - J. Color Sci. Technol., 2(4): 213-220. (In Persian)
- HUMADI S.S., ISTUDOR V. 2008 Quantitative analysis of bio-active compound in Hibiscus sabdariffa extracts. Note quantitative analysis of flavonoids. - Farmacia, 6: 669-707.
- ILIĆ S.Z., MILENKOVIĆ L., DIMITRIJEVIĆ A., STANOJEVIĆ L., CVETKOVIĆ D., KEVREŠAN Ž., FALLIK E., MASTILOVIĆ J., 2017 - Light modification by color nets improve quality of lettuce from summer production. - Sci. Hortic., 226: 389-397.
- KIM H.H., GOINS G.D., WHEELER R.M., SAGER J.C., 2004 -Green-light supplementation for enhanced lettuce growth under red- and blue-light-emitting diodes. -

HortScience, 39(7): 1617-1622.

- KONG Y., AVRAHAM L., PERZELAN Y., ALKALAI-TUVIA S., RATNER K., SHAHAK Y., FALLIK E., 2013 - Pearl netting affects postharvest fruit quality in 'vergasa' sweet pepper via light environment manipulation. - Sci. Hortic., 150: 290-298.
- KONG Y., AVRAHAM L., RATNER K., SHAHAK Y., 2012 -Response of photosynthetic parameters of sweet pepper leaves to light quality manipulation by photoselective shade nets. - Acta Horticulturae, 956: 501-506.
- KUMAR GAURAV A., RAJU D.V.S., JANAKIRAM T., SINGH B., JAIN R., GOPALA KRISHNAN S., 2016 - Effect of different coloured shade nets on production and quality of Cordyline. - Indian J. Agri. Sci., 86(7): 865-9.
- LEFSRUD M.G., KOPSELL D.A. SAMS C., 2008 Irradiance from distinct wave-length light-emitting diodes affect secondary metabolites in kale. - HortScience, 43: 2243-2244.
- MANCINELLI L., 1990. Interaction between light quality and light quantity in the photoregulation of anthocyanin production. - Plant Physiol., 92: 1191-1195.
- MAZUMDAR B.C., MAJUMDER K., 2003 Methods on physico-chemical analysis of fruits. - Daya Publishing House, New Delhi, India, pp. 198.
- MILLER G., SUZUKI N., YILMAZ S., MITTLER R., 2010 -Reactive oxygen species homeostasis and signaling during drought and salinity stresses. - Plant Cell Environ., 33: 453-467.
- MOLL R.H., KAMPARTH E.J., 1977 Effect of population density upon agronomic traits associated with genetic increases in yield of (Zea mays L.). - Agron. J., 69: 81-84.
- OREN-SHAMIR M., GUSSAKOVSKY E.E., SHPIEGEL E., NIS-SIM-LEVI A., RATNER K., OVADIA R., GILLER Y.E., SHA-HAK Y., 2001 - Coloured shade nets can improve the yield and quality of green decorative branches of Pittosporum variegatum. - J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 76: 353-361.
- OREN-SHAMIR M., SHAHAK Y., DORI I., MATAN E., SHLO-MO E., OVADIA R., GUSSAKOVSKY E.E., NISSIM-LEVI A., RATNER K., GILLER Y., GAL Z., GANELEVINE R., 2003 -Lisianthus: enhanced elongation of summer cut flowers grown under colored shade nets. - Flortecnica, 6: 84-86.
- OVADIA R., DORI I., NISSIM-LEVI A., SHAHAK Y., OREN-

SHAMIR M., 2009 - Coloured shade nets influence the stem length, time to flower and flower size of ornamental crops. - J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 84: 161-166.

- RAMANDEEP K.T., SAVAGE P.G., 2005 Antioxidant activity in different factions of tomatoes. - Food Res. Int., 38: 487-494.
- SELAHLE M.K., SIVAKUMAR D., SOUNDY P., 2014 Effect of photo-selective nettings on postharvest quality and bioactive compounds in selected tomato cultivars. J. Sci. Food Agric., 94: 2187-2195.
- SHAHAK Y., 2008 Photoselective netting for improved performance of horticultural crops. A review of ornamental and vegetable studies carried in Israel. - Acta Hortic., 770: 161-168.
- SHAHAK Y., GAL E., OFFIR Y., BEN-YAKIR D., 2008 -Photoselective shade netting integrated with greenhouse technologies for improved performance of vegetable and ornamental crops. - Acta Horticulturae, 797: 75-80.
- SHAHAK Y., GUSSAKOVSKY E.E., COHEN Y., LURIE S., STERN R., KFIR S., NAOR A., ATZMON I., DORON I., GREEN-BLAT-AVRON Y., 2004 a - ColorNets: a new approach for light manipulation in fruit trees. - Acta Horticulturae, 636: 609-616.
- SHAHAK Y., GUSSAKOVSKY E.E., GAL E., GANELEVIN R., 2004 b - ColorNets: crop protection and light-quality manipulation in one technology. - Acta Horticulturae, 659: 143-151.
- SHAHAK Y., KON Y., RATNER K., 2016 The wonders of yellow netting. - Acta Horticulturae, 1134: 327-334.
- SINGH D.P., 2003 Stress physiology. New Age International Publisher, New Delhi, India, pp. 184.
- TINYANE P.P., SIVAKUMAR D., SOUNDY P., 2013 Influence of photo-selective netting on fruit quality parameters and bioactive compounds in selected tomato cultivars. -Sci. Hortic., 161: 340-349.
- WANG Y., FOLTA K.M., 2013 Contributions of green light to plant growth and development. - Am. J. Bot., 100(1): 70-78.
- YAMASAKI H., SAKIHAMA Y., IKEHARA N., 1997 Flavonoidperoxidase reaction as a detoxification mechanism of plant cells against H_2O_2 . - Plant Physiol., 115: 1405-1412.




(*) **Corresponding author:** souzaufpel@gmail.com

Citation:

SMIDERLE O.J., SOUZA A.G., MENEGATTI R.D., SILVA T.J., 2020 - Different substrates for seedling production of Euterpe oleracea Mart. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 35-42.

Copyright:

© 2020 Smiderle O.J., Souza A.G., Menegatti R.D., Silva T.J. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 14 December 2019 Accepted for publication 10 february 2020

Different substrates for seedling production of *Euterpe oleracea* Mart.

O.J. Smiderle¹, A.G. Souza²^(*), R.D. Menegatti³, T.J. Silva⁴

- ¹ Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation Embrapa Roraima, Boa Vista, Brazil.
- ² Federal University of Paraíba/UFPB, Campus II Areia-PB, Brazil.
- ³ Federal University of Pelotas, Capão do Leão, Brazil.
- ⁴ Federal University of Roraima, UFRR, Brazil.

Key words: alternative substrates, morphological characteristics, seedling production.

Abstract: The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of substrates involving different combinations of soil, cattle manure, burnt rice husks, sand and commercial substrate on growth in the acai palm (Euterpe oleracea Mart.) under nursery conditions in the State of Roraima. The experiment was conducted in the Fruit-Farming Sector of Embrapa Roraima, located in the district of Boa Vista. The experimental design was completely randomised, with nine treatments and four replications of five plants per replication. The treatments were T1: sand, T2: commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[©]), T3: 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4: 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5: 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6: 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7: 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8: 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks and T9: 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks. The morphological characteristics plant height (H), stem diameter (SD) and number of leaves (NF) were evaluated every 30 days from transplanting to the end of the experiment (210 days). The root dry weight (RDW), shoot dry weight (SDW), total dry weight (TDW) and the Dickson quality index (DQI) were obtained at 210 days. The substrates composed of 50% sand + 50% manure and 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks are indicated for the production of seedlings of Euterpe oleracea Mart., as they provide superior growth in plant height and stem diameter, and improve total dry-weight production in the plants.

1. Introduction

The species *Euterpe oleracea* Mart., known throughout the world as açaí, is a palm tree, native to the Brazilian Amazon, belonging to the Arecaceae family (Oliveira *et al.*, 2019). It has recently been the target of several studies, as it is a functional food rich in proteins, fibre, lipids, vitamins and minerals, and has antioxidant properties, making it an indispensable part of the most varied diets and recommended to those who practise physical exercise and enthusiasts of healthy living (Kang *et al.*, 2010; Oliveira *et al.*, 2019). According to Honorio *et al.* (2017), the açai palm is considered a species with multiple uses, however, its economic

potential is mainly related to marketing the fruit and stems, the origin of the palm heart. Since Brazil is the largest producer, consumer and exporter of these products, large-scale cultivation is attractive to both industry and rural producers, who can obtain a varied income from the products and by-products throughout the year (Monteiro *et al.*, 2019).

Considering the health benefits as well as the high added value of the products of this species, studies that contribute with information concerning cultivation are extremely relevant, especially as the acai palm occurs naturally in such areas as low-lying plains and flooded woodlands that have unique climate conditions which can compromise the initial planting stage of the crop if quality seedlings are not used (Neves et al., 2019). Both the planting and maintenance of homogeneous plantations of the açai palm therefore require the acquisition of vigorous seedlings to guarantee a return on investment and success in establishing the plantation; for this, it is necessary to improve the techniques for producing açai seedlings of a high commercial standard (Silva et al., 2017).

The production of quality seedlings depends on various factors such as the composition of the substrate, which has the role of supporting the plants and providing suitable chemical and physicals conditions for the initial development of the roots and shoots (Bilderback *et al.*, 2005). Normally, the largescale production of seedlings makes use of commercial substrates; however, besides the high cost of acquiring the substrate, the great majority contain only small concentrations of nutrients and require the use of fertilisers, a factor that increases the costs of the activity (Olle *et al.*, 2012).

As an alternative, several authors propose the use of substrates consisting of agricultural by-products that can be used mixed with commercial substrate or other products, for example, rice husks, charcoal, coffee chaff and animal manure, as well as by-products from agroindustry, which vary according to the region (Rinaldi *et al.*, 2017).

According to Olle *et al.* (2012), the choice of substrate, in addition to considering the cost of acquisition and availability for seedling production, should be based on technical and scientific results that show the material is able to promote high rates of initial plant growth and survival after planting; this will reduce the costs of establishing the crop, making it possible to expand and/or set up new plantations. There are several materials that can be used as substrates for the production of seedlings of forest species, either alone or in combination, such as sand, soil, expanded clay, vermiculite, sawdust, rice husk, pine bark, bark fiber among others (Olle *et al.*, 2012). According to Silva *et al.* (2018) when compared to exclusive use, the combination of different materials may result in satisfactory results, especially regarding the maximization of seedling growth, a fact possibly related to the combination of factors that favorfavorable conditions for availability, absorption, translocation, and nutrient use by plants.

Based on the above, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of substrates involving different combinations of soil, cattle manure, burnt rice husks, sand and commercial substrate on growth in the açai palm (*Euterpe oleracea* Mart.) under nursery conditions in the State of Roraima.

2. Materials and Methods

The experiment was conducted in the Fruit-Farming Sector of Embrapa Roraima (at 2°23'45.31" N and 60°58'44.34" W), located in the district of Boa Vista in the State of Roraima. Mature fruit of the açai were harvested in the town of Anori, in Amazonas, and taken to the seed laboratory of Embrapa Roraima for the experiment.

The fruit was first pulped with the help of a pulp processor for mechanical extraction of the seeds, which were then washed in running water until the residue was completely eliminated, and kept at room temperature. The propagating material was later sown in a bed containing washed sand as a substrate for germination and initial development of the seedlings. Substrate moisture was maintained by manual irrigationwith distilled water, four times a day.

The process of seedling emergence began around 30 days after sowing. Once the seedlings had reached a height of approximately 2.0 cm, they were transplanted into polyethylene bags (17 x 22 cm) containing different combinations of commercial substrate, soil, cattle manure, burnt rice husks and sand according to the predetermined treatments. The plants were then housed in a nursery under 50% shading, and irrigated by sprinkler for five minutes, three times a day.

The experimental design was completely randomised (CRD), with nine treatments, four replications and five plants per replication, for a total of 180 plants. The treatments were T1: sand, T2: commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[©]), T3: 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4: 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5: 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6: 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7: 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8: 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks and T9: 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks. According to Silva *et al.* (2009), a composite sample of substrate for each treatments was collected, air-dried and sieved through a 2.0 mm mesh, for chemical characterization, whose results are presented in Table 1.

The morphological characteristics of plant height (H), stem diameter (SD) and number of leaves (NL) were evaluated every 30 days from transplanting to the end of the experiment. Plant height was measured with a ruler graduated in centimetres (cm), and considered the height of the plant from the surface of the soil to the apex of the plant. The stem diameter was measured with the aid of a digital calliper in millimetres (mm), 1 cm above the surface of the substrate. At the end of the experiment (210 days after transplanting), the following plant characteristics were evaluated: shoot dry weight (SDW), root system dry weight (RDW) and total dry weight (TDW). For this, the plants were removed from the polyethylene bags, the roots were separated from the substrate by washing under running water and the shoots then separated from the root system. To obtain the dry weight, the two materials were placed in a forced air circulation oven at ±70°C to constant weight. The Dickson Quality Index (DQI) was then determined (Dickson et al., 1960). The data were submitted to analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the mean values of the treatments compared by Tukey's test at 5% probability with the aid of the SISVAR software.

3. Results and Discussion

The analysis of variance revealed significant differences between the plants submitted to the different combinations of substrates for all the morphological characteristics under evaluation (Table 2), demonstrating that the different combinations can have a direct influence on the growth characteristics of plants of the açai palm (*Euterpe oleracea* Mart.) under nursery conditions.

It can be seen from the result of the mean-value comparison test that the plants grown in T4, comprising 50% sand + 50% cattle manure, obtained on average greater or statistically equal values for all the morphological characteristics under evaluation. A similar result, except for the variable SD that was slightly lower, was obtained for the plants submitted to T9, a substrate consisting of a mixture of 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks.

Among the components in the treatments (T4 and T9) that resulted in better results for all the morphological characteristics under evaluation, cattle manure and sand should be highlighted. These results reinforce those obtained in an experiment by Menezes and Oliveira (2009) with the organic production of açai seedlings; the authors determined that the greatest growth in seedling height was obtained in the substrate containing cattle manure.

Honorio *et al.* (2017), carrying out the test for germination and emergence in seeds of the açaí in alternative substrates, suggested a combination of cattle manure + sand (1:1) as the most efficient in promoting the variables of physiological seed quality. Araujo

Treatments	H potential	OM dag/kg	K mg/dm³	P mg/dm³	Ca cmol/dm³	Mg cmol/dm³	Al cmol/dm³	H+Al cmol/dm³	Zn mg/dm³	Fe mg/dm³	Mn mg/dm³	Cu mg/dm³	B mg/dm³	S mg/dm³
T1 *	6.7	2.6	108.0	145.0	10.4	0.5	0.0	1.0	26.7	40.4	139.0	1.1	0.6	18.8
Т2	5.7	10.0	312.0	263.9	13.8	7.4	0.0	1.9	26.9	62.3	160.2	0.6	0.7	49.1
Т3	5.8	6.2	112.0	314.9	10.2	5.0	0.0	1.7	24.4	13.5	90.9	0.6	0.8	50.7
T4	6.5	4.0	92.0	218.2	10.0	2.9	0.0	1.3	23.5	20.3	107.0	0.8	0.8	34.9
Т5	6.2	3.8	92.0	151.2	9.9	1.6	0.0	1.2	24.3	27.9	111.2	1.0	0.7	25.9
Т6	6.1	4.9	106.0	71.7	12.2	1.4	0.0	1.9	16.5	13.5	88.6	0.3	0.5	17.2
Т7	6.6	4.3	120.0	93.0	11.0	0.9	0.0	1.1	20.8	18.0	127.3	0.6	0.6	17.7
Т8	6.7	3.7	122.0	132.9	11.0	0.7	0.0	1.1	23.3	33.5	132.3	0.8	0.4	19.4
Т9	6.4	4.1	120.0	170.2	9.9	1.8	0.0	1.2	23.1	15.1	100.5	0.7	0.6	28.1

 Table 1 Chemical composition of the different combinations of soil, cattle manure, rice husks, and commercial substrate using açaí seedlings (Euterpe oleracea Mart.) growing seedlings, under nursery conditions

* T1= sand, T2= commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[©]), T3= 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4= 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5= 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6= 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7= 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8= 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks, T9= 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks.

Substrate	Plant height (cm)	Stem diameter (mm)	Number of leaves	Root dry weight (g plant ⁻¹)	Shoot dry weight (g plant ⁻¹)	Total dry weight (g plant ⁻¹)	Dickson quality index
T1	8.50 e *	3.77 f	3 e	2.14 c	2.39 c	4.53 c	1.34 c
Т2	16.47 bc	6.80 c	5 b	6.67 bc	2.09 c	8.76 bc	1.56 c
Т3	17.43 b	6.18 d	4 c	25.99 a	20.90 a	46.89 a	12.94 a
T4	24.19 a	8.21 a	5 a	28.62 a	13.76 ab	42.38 a	12.37 a
Т5	15.35 c	5.77 d	4 c	10.24 b	9.39 bc	19.63 b	5.49 b
Т6	11.47 d	5.00 e	4 d	5.05 bc	4.46 c	9.50 bc	2.99 c
Т7	9.71 de	3.88 f	3 e	3.50 c	2.82 c	6.32 bc	1.91 c
Т8	11.02 d	3.93 f	3 e	4.37 bc	3.17 c	7.54 bc	2.14 c
Т9	24.16 a	7.57 b	5 a	29.00 a	21.26 a	50.26 a	12.81 a
Mean	15.37	5.68	4.00	12.84	8.91	21.76	5.95
CV %	22.01	16.06	14.76	24.16	29.91	31.38	27.10

 Table 2 Mean values for plant height, stem diameter, number of leaves, root dry weight, shoot dry weight, total dry weight and Dickson Quality Index, in açaí seedlings (Euterpe oleracea Mart.) grown in different combinations of substrates under nursery

* Mean values followed by the same lowercase letter in a column do not differ at 5% probability by Tukey's test. T1= sand, T2= commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[©]), T3= 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4= 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5= 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6= 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7= 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8= 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks, T9= 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks.

et al. (2019) describes how cattle manure is a basic substrate for obtaining vigorous seedlings, since its main function is to improve water retention, in addition to supplying macro and micronutrients and increasing their availability to the plants, resulting in improvements in seedling performance.

According to Olle *et al.* (2012), another basic component to be used in small proportions when combining substrates for plants is sand, as it provides the ideal conditions for aerating the substrate and gives good drainage. Furthermore, promoting the use of this material is based on its low cost and easy availability in some regions.

The superior results obtained for RDW, SDW, TDW and DQI in the plants submitted to T3, composed of 25% sand + 75% cattle manure, should also be pointed out. According to Menegatti *et al.* (2019), the DQI is a good indicator of plant quality, since robustness and the balance of biomass distribution in the plants are considered in its calculation and it includes several parameters which are regarded as important; the higher its value, the better the quality standard of the seedling.

However, since the performance of the plants in T3, despite an expressive DQI, was poor for the other characteristics under analysis (H and SD), and considering their importance in evaluating seedling quality, this shows the need for combining characteristics to obtain a better evaluation.

Conversely, plants submitted to treatment T1,

comprising 100% sand, displayed inferior values for all the morphological characteristics under evaluation. As mentioned above, sand is a conditioner to be used in small proportions in the composition of a substrate, as it is practically an inert material and not associated with any nutrients that can be made available to the plant. In addition, sand shows high drainage potential, which may reduce water availability to the plant, making it impossible to maintain all the physiological processes essential to growth.

Furthermore, according to Smiderle *et al.* (2015), high-density materials such as sand, when used alone or in large proportions within a mixture, are unsuitable due to their excessive weight, which makes it difficult to handle the plants in their containers and to trade or transport them to their final planting site.

Similar to the results obtained for the plants submitted to the substrate of 100% sand, the T7 substrate, comprising a mixture of 50% sand + 50% burnt rice husks also resulted in poor plant performance for the morphological characteristics under evaluation. According to Smiderle *et al.* (2015), caution is needed when using combinations of burnt rice husks and sand in the composition of plant substrates, since both materials allow high water drainage and may result in water deficiency in the plants, which would compromise the processes of photosynthesis and respiration and consequently the maintenance of cellular elongation, resulting in smaller plant growth (Souza *et al.*, 2020). As a result of the water deficit and the reduction in photosynthetic rates, the plants accumulate a smaller amount of biomass, thereby showing a reduction in total dry mass - the behaviour shown by the plants in T1 and T7 (4.53 and 6.32 g plant⁻¹ respectively). The plants grown in these two substrates had a total dry mass of less than around 6.5 times the dry mass found in the plants from the treatments considered superior, T9 and T4 (50.26 and 42.38 g plant⁻¹ respectively).

The total dry weight is the sum of SDW and RDW; the higher this value, the better the quality of the produced seedlings (Adamipour *et al.*, 2019). According to Chiomento *et al.* (2019), the total dry weight indicates the hardiness of a seedling, with the highest values representing more lignified and hardier seedlings, which may take hold faster under field conditions soon after planting.

It should be emphasized that the satisfactory morphological characteristics showed by plants grown in the commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[©]) (T2) can be related to the chemical composition of the substrate, which showed higher levels than the other treatments for the macro and micronutrients, including organic matter (OM), which when decomposed tends to release nutrients, especially nitrogen, and other mineral elements such as phosphorus, magnesium, calcium, sulphur (Aalipour *et al.*, 2019). However, it is also assumed that this substrate did not result in plants with superior morphological characteristics to the other plants due to the pH of the substrate, which was less than 6.

According to Aalipour *et al.* (2019), soils with a pH below 6 tend to reduce the availability of some nutrients, compromising the absorption and supply of the required amount of each element to enhance some of the physiological processes that culminate in growth.

The growth in plant height and stem diameter of the plants cultivated in different combinations of substrates throughout the period of the experiment can be seen in figure 1 and 2, respectively. All the curves, irrespective of the morphological characteristic under evaluation, show a linear trend, but the plants in T4 and T9 showed faster growth when compared to the plants of the other treatments being tested, achieving greater values for these variables by the end of the experiment (Table 3).

Chiomento *et al.* (2019), among the morphological characteristics under evaluation, the stem diameter is the most indicated for evaluating the survival capacity of the seedling in the field, due to a greater capacity for the formation and growth of new roots. According to Nascimento *et al.* (2019), the substrate that provides the seedlings with a balance between stem diameter growth and height, also provides greater robustness and more resistance to the adverse conditions found in the field, resulting in a higher survival rate and consequently reducing the costs of replanting.



Fig. 1 - Effect of different combinations of substrates on plant height in açai seedlings (*Euterpe oleracea* Mart.) under nursery conditions. T1= sand, T2= commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[®]), T3= 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4= 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5= 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6= 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7= 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8= 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks, T9= 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks (n=4).



Fig. 2 - Effect of different combinations of substrates on stem diameter in açai seedlings (*Euterpe oleracea* Mart.) under nursery conditions. T1= sand, T2= commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon®), T3= 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4= 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5= 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6= 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7= 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8= 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks, T9= 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks (n=4).

Table 3 - Mean values for plant height (cm), stem diameter (mm), number of leaves and nivel significative for treatments obtained in açaí seedlings (*Euterpe oleracea* Mart.) grown in different combinations of substrates under nursery conditions

Treatments	Plant heigh (average)	Stem diameter (average)	Number of leaves (average)
T1	8.50 e *	3.77 f	3.24 e
T2	16.47 bc	6.80 c	4.56 b
Т3	17.43 b	6.18 d	4.03 c
T4	24.19 a	8.21 a	5.01 a
T5	15.35 c	5.77 d	4.30 bc
Т6	11.47 d	5.00 e	3.71 d
Τ7	9.71 de	3.88 f	3.13 e
Т8	11.03 d	3.93 f	3.23 e
Т9	24.16 a	7.57 a	4.97 a
DMS	1.78	0.48	0.31
Error	0.40	0.11	0.07
CV %	22.01	16.06	14.76

* Means followed by the same small letter in the column do not differ from one another by the Tukey test (p \leq 0.05%). T1= sand, T2= commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[®]), T3= 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4= 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5= 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6= 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7= 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8= 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks, T9= 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks.

According to Silva *et al.* (2017), the presence of manure may have improved both the structural characteristics of the soil and the water retention, and may also have acted as a nutrient reservoir, including larger quantities of nitrogen, nutrient which may be indirectly discriminated for variable O.M. (Table 1). For Figueiredo *et al.* (2019), N is an essential element for components of the photosynthetic system, such as the chlorophylls, proteins and enzymes that allow

satisfactory rates of carbon assimilation to be maintained (Taiz *et al.*, 2017; Figueiredo *et al.*, 2019), and thereby guarantee the production of photoassimilates that drive plant growth.

In turn, Cattle manure mixed with soil has been widely used as a substrate for the production of seedlings of various species, as it provides ideal nutritional conditions for plant development, demonstrating that the presence of organic material in the substrate may be decisive in the growth of seedlings in the nursery and better initial start-up in the field (Steffen *et al.*, 2010; Silva *et al.*, 2017).

Considering further the relationship between the chemical characteristics of the substrate in each treatment and growth over time, it can be seen that treatments T1 and T7, which had lower values for these two morphological characteristics (H and SD), had low levels of organic matter and Mg.

This result can be understood in view of the materials used in the substrate of each treatment. T1, consisting entirely of sand, can be described as a substrate devoid of mineral nutrients; this may have compromised the production of several enzymes, proteins and other compounds which are indispensable to the metabolism of the plant.

Whereas T7, a substrate composed of a mixture of sand and burnt rice husks (1:1), induced higher values for the variables H and SD, these are not statistically superior to obtained for T1 (Table 3 and 4), suggesting that burnt rice husks, being an organic material, may have provided the plants with a certain level of nutrients.

However, according to Smiderle *et al.* (2015), sand and burnt rice husks degrades relatively slowly, which together with the high drainage it exhibits,

 Table 4 Linear equations, R² values and significance for the plant heigh, stem diameter and number of leaves of açai seedlings (Euterpe oleracea Mart.) grown in different combinations of substrates under nursery conditions

Treatment	Plant he	igh	Stem dian	neter	Number of leaves		
Treatment	Equation	R ² (sign)	Equation	R ² (sign)	Equation	R ² (sign)	
T1	0.0286x + 5.0629	0.96 **	0.0157x + 1.88	0.97 **	0.0137x + 1.60	0.98 **	
T2	0.1055x + 3.805	0.90 **	0.0257x + 3.7129	0.95 **	0.0139x + 2.8857	0.81 **	
Т3	0.1173x + 1.9929	0.90 **	0.0311x + 2.4486	0.92 **	0.0161x + 2.10	0.93 **	
Т4	0.177x + 2.95	0.98 **	0.0403x + 3.3686	0.98 **	0.0098x +3.828	0.47 *	
Т5	0.0869x + 4.921	0.96 **	0.0266x + 2.5514	0.98 **	0.0130x + 2.728	0.51 *	
Т6	0.0545x + 4.927	0.96 **	0.0195x + 2.7043	0.98 **	0.0121x + 2.257	0.83 **	
Т7	0.0358x + 5.4	0.89 **	0.0191x + 1.5857	0.98 **	0.0133x + 1.5286	0.99 **	
Т8	0.0411x + 6.1	0.89 **	0.0205x + 1.4543	0.99 **	0.0121x + 1.7714	0.98 **	
Т9	0.1799x + 2.571	0.95 **	0.0452x + .1329	0.98 **	0.0100x + 2.771	0.51 *	

** significative for P<0.01; * significative for P<0.05. T1= sand, T2= commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[®]), T3= 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4= 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5= 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6= 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7= 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8= 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks, T9= 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks.

may lead to leaching of the available nutrient content, explaining the smaller growth.

It should be noted that the low levels of Mg in treatments T1 and T7 may also have compromised plant growth in these substrates, since Mg is the central atom in the chlorophyll molecule. Substrates with less available Mg therefore tend to a reduced synthesis of this molecule. The reduction in leaf chlorophyll decreases the capacity for light absorption, promoting the fixation of a smaller amount of carbon, which reduces the production of carbohydrates and consequently reduces the energy for maintaining the rate of plant growth (Cartelat *et al.*, 2005).

The number of remaining leaves per plant over the experimental period for each substrate under test can be seen in figure 3. The treatments showed different behaviour according to the materials used in the substrate. Treatments T9 and T4 displayed a quadratic trend when adjusting the regression equations, showing that throughout the growing period the number of leaves per plant tend to decrease due to the fall of older leaves.

These results suggest that plants submitted to these treatments (T4, consisting of 50% sand + 50% cattle manure, and T9, a substrate consisting of 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks) throughout the development period, employ a greater amount of energy for growth in H and RD, instead of increasing the number of leaves.

A reduction in the number of leaves during plant growth can be beneficial, since after transplanting



Fig. 3 - Effect of different combinations of substrates on the number of leaves per plant in açaí seedlings (*Euterpe oleracea* Mart.) under nursery conditions. T1= sand, T2= commercial substrate (OrganoAmazon[®]), T3= 25% T1 + 75% manure, T4= 50% T1 + 50% manure, T5= 75% T1 + 25% manure, T6= 25% T1 + 75% burnt rice husks, T7= 50% T1 + 50% burnt rice husks, T8= 75% T1 + 25% burnt rice husks, T9= 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25%

the seedlings in the field, the smaller number of leaves per plant will result in lower rates of transpiration enabling the plant to direct the energy produced during the process of photosynthesis towards root growth and development, initially helping the plants to take hold under climate conditions which differ from those of the greenhouse.

4. Conclusions

The use of different materials in the substrate composition influenced the growth of *Euterpe oler-aceae* Mart., seedlings, highlighting for treatment 50% sand + 50% manure and the most diverse composition (25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks).

The substrates which consisted of the combinations 50% sand + 50% manure and 25% soil + 25% sand + 25% manure + 25% burnt rice husks are indicated for the production of seedlings of *Euterpe oleracea* Mart., as they provide superior growth in plant heightand stem diameter, and improve total dryweight production in the plants.

These treatments suggest the plants employ a greater amount of energy for growth in H and SD, instead of increasing the number of leaves, and this can be a strategy will result in lower rates of transpiration enabling the plant to direct the energy produced during the process of photosynthesis towards growth faster and ensuring high field survival rates.

These results could have of great interest to producers of seedling *Euterpe oleracea* Mart., as they show an increase in the quality of the seedlings produced, which is an advantage when planting, as better-quality seedlings tend to take hold faster and display better growth in the field, besides helping to reduce production costs.

Acknowledgements

We thank CNPq (National Council for Scientific and Technological Development) for the Productivity and Research scholarship to the corresponding first author.

References

AALIPOUR H., NIKBAKHT A., ETEMADI N., 2019 -Relationship between chlorosis, photosynthesis and the nutrient content of plane trees in the presence of chemical and organic fertilizers. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 33(2): 171-177.

- ADAMIPOUR N., KHOSH-KHUI M., SALEHI H., RHO H., 2019 - Effect of vermicompost on morphological and physiological performances of pot marigold (Calendula officinalis L.) under salinity conditions. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 33(4): 345-358.
- ARAÚJO F.R., VIÉGAS I.J.M., SILVA D.A.S., GALVÃO J.R., RODRIGUES D.M., JÚNIOR M.L.S., SANTOS F.S., YAKUWA T.K.M., PARAENSE A.D.L., CAMPOS P.S.S., 2019 - Nutrient omission effects on growth and nutritional status of seedlings of assai palm (Euterpe oleracea Mart.) var. Paid'égua in Clayey Oxisol. - J. Agric. Sci., 11: 510-518.
- BILDERBACK T.E., WARREN S.L., OWEN J.R., ALBANO J.P., 2005 - Healthy substrates need physicals too! -HortTechnology, 15: 747-751.
- CARTELAT A., CEROVIC Z.G., GOULAS Y., MEYER S.,LELARGE C.,BARBOTTIN A., JEUFFROY M.H., GATE P., MOYA I., 2005 - Optically assessed contents of leaf polyphenolics and chlorophyll as indicators of nitrogen deficiency in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). - Field Crops Res., 91: 35-49.
- CHIOMENTO J.L., FRIZON P., COSTA R., TRENTIN N., NARDI F.D.E., CALVETE E., 2019 - Water retention of substrates potentiates the quality of lettuce seedlings. -Adv. Hort. Sci., 33(2): 197-204.
- DICKSON A., LED A.L., OSMER J.F., 1960 *Quality appraisal* of white spruce and white pine seedling stock in nurseries. - Forest Chron., 36: 10-13.
- FIGUEIREDO F.R.A., GONÇALVES A.C.M., RIBEIRO J.E.S., SILVA T.L., NOBREGA J.S., DIAS T.J., ALBUQUERQUE M.B., 2019 - Gas exchanges in sugar apple (Annona squamosa L.) subjected to salinity stress and nitrogen fertilization. - Aust. J. Crop Sci., 13: 1959-1966.
- HONORIO A.B.M., SOUSA R.M. de, MARINHO P.H.A., LEAL T.C.A. de B., SOUZA P.B. de, 2017 - Germinação de sementes de Euterpe oleraceae (Mart.) em diferentes substratos. - Agrarian Academy, 4: 280-288.
- KANG J., LI Z., WU T., JENSEN G.S., SCHAUSS A.G., WUA X., 2010 - Anti-oxidant capacities of flavonoid compounds isolated from acai pulp (Euterpe oleracea Mart.). -Food Chem., 122: 610-617.
- MENEGATTI R.D., SOUZA A.G., BIANCHI V.J., 2019 -Estimating genetic divergence between peach rootstock cultivars using multivariate techniques based on characteristics associated with seeds. -Genetics and Molecular Research, 18: 18345.
- MENEZES R. de O., OLIVEIRA M. do S.P. de., 2009 - *Produção de mudas orgânicas de açaizeiro selecionado Euterpe oleracea Mart.* - Anais do 7° Seminário de Iniciação Científica da UFRA e 13° Seminário de Iniciação Científica da EMBRAPA.
- MONTEIRO A.F., MIGUEZ I.S., SILVA J.P.R.B., SILVA A.S.A., 2019 - High concentration and yield production of mannose from açaí (Euterpe oleracea Mart.) seeds via man-

nanase-catalyzed hydrolysis. - Sci. Rep., 9: 10939.

- NASCIMENTO C.R.D.O., CHAGAS E.A., SMIDERLE O.J., SOUZA A.A., CHAGAS P.C., 2019 - *Biometry and vigor of seeds of* Myrciaria dubia (*Kunth*) *McVaugh*. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 33(4): 359-364.
- NEVES L.H., SANTOS R.I.N., TEIXEIRA G.I. dos S., ARAUJO D.G. de., SILVESTRE W.V.D., PINHEIRO H.A., 2019 - Leaf gas exchange, photochemical responses and oxidative damages in assai (Euterpe oleracea Mart.) seedlings subjected to high temperature stress. - Sci. Hortic., 257: 52-58.
- OLIVEIRA H.O., CASTRO G.L.S., CORREA L.O., SILVESTRE W.V.D., NASCIMENTO S.V., VALADARES R.B.S, OLIVEIRA G.C., SANTOS R.I.N., FESTUCCI-BUSELLI R.A., PINHEIRO H.A., 2019 - Coupling physiological analysis with proteomic profile to understand the photosynthetic responses of young Euterpe oleracea palms to drought. - Photosynth Res., 140: 189-205.
- OLLE M., NGOUAJIO M., SIOMOS A., 2012 Vegetable quality and productivity as influenced by growing medium: a review. - Žemdirbystė-Agriculture, 99: 399-408.
- RINALDI S., LUCIA B., SALVATI L., REA E., 2017 -Understanding complexity in the response of ornamental rosemary to different substrates: A multivariate analysis. - Sci. Hortic., 176: 218-224.
- SILVA A. da C.D. da., SMIDERLE O.J., OLIVEIRA J.M.F. de., SILVA T. de J., 2017 - Tamanho da semente e substratos na produção de mudas de açaí. - Adv. For. Sci., 4: 151-156.
- SILVA F.C. da., 2009 Manual de análises químicas de solos, plantas e fertilizantes 2.ed. - Embrapa Informação Tecnológica, Rio de Janeiro, Embrapa Solos, Brasília, pp. 627.
- SILVA S.A., MELO P.A.F.R., ARAÚJO J.R.G., GOMES J.J.A., JESUS T.F., NEVES JUNIOR A.C.V., SANTOS F.A., LEMOS R.N.S., MONDEGO J.M., 2018 - Emergence and initial growth of the seedlings of Euterpe oleracea Mart. seeds of different ecotypes in function on the substrate. - J. Agric. Sci., 10: 325-332.
- SMIDERLE O.J., SILVA V.S., CHAGAS E.A., SOUZA A.G., RIBEIRO I.G., CHAGAS P.C., SOUZA O.M., 2015 -Açai seedling production: effect of substrates and seeds size on germination and growth of seedlings. - J. Adv. Agric., 4: 316-323.
- SOUZA A.G., SMIDERLE O.J., MONTENEGRO R.A., MORYA-MA T.K., DIAS T.J., 2020 - Controlled-release fertiliser and substrates on seedling growth and quality in Agonandra brasiliensis in Roraima. - J. Agric. Studies, 8: 233-242.
- STEFFEN G.P.K., ANTONIOLLI Z.I., STEFFEN R.B., MACHADO R.G., 2010 - Casca de arroz e esterco bovino como substratos para a multiplicação de minhocas e produção de mudas de tomate e alface. - Acta Zool Mex., 2: 333-343.
- TAIZ L., ZEIGER E., MOLLER I.M., MURPHY A., 2017 Plant physiology and development. Sixth edition. Sinuaer, Oxford University Press, UK, pp. 856.





(*) Corresponding author: davarynej@um.ac.ir

Citation:

AMERI A., DAVARYNEJAD G.H., TEHRANIFAR A., MOSHTAGHI N., 2020 - *Cefixime manages internal bacterial contamination during tissue culture operation* - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 43-48

Copyright:

© 2020 Ameri A., Davarynejad G.H., Tehranifar A., Moshtaghi N.. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 20 October 2018 Accepted for publication 6 March 2019

Cefixime manages internal bacterial contamination during tissue culture operation

A. Ameri¹, G.H. Davarynejad¹^(*), A. Tehranifar¹, N. Moshtaghi²

- ¹ Department of Horticultural Science and Landscape, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran.
- ² Department of Biotechnology and Plant Breeding, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran.

Key words: antibiotic, in vitro culture, growth, Pyrus communis.

Abstract: Large-scale propagation of Pyrus communis, which is a difficult-toroot species, is dependent on tissue culture technique. However, internal bacterial contaminations are an obstacle in tissue culture of fruit tree species. For this purpose, this investigation was conducted with several experiments to manage bacterial contamination. First, gram test for bacterial contamination related to Pyrus shoots proliferating was conducted. Gram test revealed that bacteria contaminating pear shoots were negative gram. Then, we investigated the application of cefixime (0, 100, 300 and 500 mg L^{-1}) or ampicillin (0, 100, 300 and 500 mg L⁻¹) for managing bacterial contaminations. It was found that the contaminated area on medium containing 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime (63.585 mm²) was lower than other treatments (803.84 mm²). Therefore, cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹ was selected to control the bacterial contamination. Next, different procedures were used included shaking with (1: sterile distilled water, 2: 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime and culturing in media with 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime, 3: 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime, culturing and subculturing in media with 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime 4: Disinfection). The third procedure was known the best due to the low bacterial contamination percentage and rate also the healthy growth of plants. Finally, the effect of gibberellic acid at 0 and 1 mg L⁻¹ was investigated to compensate for shoot growth reducing in the presence of cefixime. 1 mg L⁻¹ gibberellic acid improved the growth indices in the presence of cefixime.

1. Introduction

Fire blight, the most devastating disease of pear, leads to the death of the whole pear tree through the systematical infection in all underground and aerial parts of the tree (Vanneste, 2000; Evrenosoğlu *et al.*, 2019). From the horticultural science perspective, the revival of the pear orchards is dependent on large-scale propagation. The majority of cultivated pear is *Pyrus communis* (Morgan *et al.*, 1994) and *P. communis* cv. Williams is sensitive to fire blight (Abdollahi *et al.*, 2010). However, *Pyrus communis* is difficult-to-root (Zhu *et al.*, 2003; Sun *et al.*, 2011); therefore, the tissue-culture technique can support large-scale propagation of pear.

One of the most important factors in tissue culture is the control of microbial contamination. Plant immune system acts against pathogens. There are three steps of plant defense responses included the response in the step of entry, establishment, and spread of pathogens. Overall, plant immune systems can be classified into cell wall reinforcement and programmed cell death. In pathogen entry condition, cell wall reinforcement is efficient and in pathogen establishment and spread conditions programmed cell death can be restrictive (Abramovitch and Martin, 2004). When pathogens suppress the plant defenses responses, the plant was invaded by pathogens and contaminated. One of the phytopathogens is bacteria; they cause serious troubles in vitro conditions. Some of the modes of bacteria actions to suppress the host defenses refer to the use of type III effector proteins and toxins (Abramovitch and Martin, 2004) as well as, type IV secretion systems to inject effector proteins into cells (Angot et al., 2007). Tissue culture technique is very sensitive to special pathogenic factors and all of the microbes in air condition and equipment. In other words, all of the microbes infect cultures with the aim of nutrition (Nadha et al., 2012). Internal infections in plant cultures had often harmful effects for shoot proliferation, shoot rooting and guality of plant growth (Nadha et al., 2012). In tissue culture, the selection of the appropriate antibiotic is important. There are several reports about the use of antibiotics to manage the bacterial contamination (Phillips et al., 1981; Falkiner, 1990; Kneifel and Leonhardt, 1992; Barrett and Cassells, 1994; Falkiner, 1997; Nadha et al., 2012). Cefixime is an antibiotic belonging to cephalosporin class. The mode of action of cephalosporins is related to inhibiting the cell wall biosynthesis so that this class arrests the formation of peptide bonds (Kohanski et al., 2010).

Affect sites of various antibiotics are different; therefore the efficiency of different antibiotics is different in the removal of bacteria. There are some observations for different antibiotics affect sites in the previous studies, such as, inhibiting of cell wall synthesis that is related to benzylpenicillin and phosphomycin, inhibiting protein synthesis related to chloramphenicol and streptomycin, inhibiting of RNA and DNA synthesis related to rifampicin and nalidixic acid (Phillips *et al.*, 1981). One of the side effects of antibiotic application in plant tissue culture is the reduction of growth. However, in control of bacterial infection in *Guadua angustifolia*, streptomycin sulfate decreased growth shoot, but kanamycin caused intensive growth with high-quality; therefore, the effects of antibiotics are different on plant growth (Nadha *et al.*, 2012). The management of contamination in tissue culture leads to the prevention of waste of time and energy. In this investigation, we examine the use of antibiotics to manage the bacterial contaminations coupled with the use of GA_3 to compensate for the poor growth of the plant in the presence of antibiotic in the media.

2. Materials and Methods

Plant materials

Three months old proliferating micro-shoots of *Pyrus communis* cv. Williams, as the most common cultivar in the world, exhibited bacterial contamination. Contaminated micro-shoots were picked to investigate the experiments of bacterial control for the large-scale production of *P. communis*. These micro-shoots were maintained in MS medium (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) supplemented with 1.5 mg L⁻¹ BA, 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA and 3% sucrose.

Gram test of bacteria

Two drops, approximately 50 μ L, of a 3% (W/V) solution of potassium hydroxide were placed on a clean glass slide as outlined by Ryu (1940). Bacterial cells were transferred from culture media aseptically with a flat wooden toothpick and placed into the drop of KOH with rapid, circular agitation. After 5-8 sec, the toothpick was alternately raised and lowered just off the slid surface to detect a stringing effect. It was considered gram-negative bacteria if drop viscosity increased within 15 sec (Suslow *et al.*, 1982; Schaad *et al.*, 2001).

Antibiotic selection test

Contaminated shoots were cultured on MS medium (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) supplemented with either ampicillin 0, 100, 300 and 500 mg L⁻¹ or cefixime at 0, 100, 300 and 500 mg L⁻¹. Vessel cultures with 32 mm inner diameter were maintained at a constant temperature of $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C and in 16/8 h light/dark photoperiod (45 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) using cool white fluorescent lamps (Sylvania, Germany). After a week, the contaminated area was measured in each treatment.

Bacterial contamination removing

In the before step, we selected the proper antibiotic (cefixime at 500 mg L^{-1}). Then, we used four different procedures using cefixime at 500 mg L^{-1} to control any eventual bacterial contamination. For each procedure, 3 micro-shoots were cultured in a candle jar as a replicate.

1) Shaking of contaminated shoots with sterile distilled water (control);

2) The first, shaking of contaminated shoots with cefixime at 500 mg L^{-1} then, cultured in media with cefixime at 500 mg L^{-1} . Finally, sub-culturing in free antibiotic media;

3) The first, shaking of contaminated shoots with cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹, then, cultured in media with cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹. Finally, sub-culturing in media with cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹;

4) Disinfection of contaminated shoots (immersing in 1% hypochlorite sodium for 5 min then rinsed with sterile water three times).

MS medium (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) supplemented with 1.5 mg L⁻¹ BA, 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA and 3% sucrose were used for each procedure. Cultures were maintained at a constant temperature of $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C and in 16/8 h light/dark photoperiod (45 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) using cool white fluorescent lamps (Sylvania, Germany). After 30 days, several traits were evaluated: percentage of fungal contamination and bacterial contamination (BC), bacterial contamination rate (BCR) and general health.

Based on the following equation (E1) bacterial contamination rate was counted per each microshoot in each candle jar:

where BCR= Bacterial contamination rate, $N_i =$ Number of the contaminated shoot in each day, $D_i =$ Day number.

Rescued shoot improvement

Micro-shoots related to the best procedure were transferred to MS medium (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) supplemented with 1.5 mg L⁻¹ BA, 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA, 3% sucrose, 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime and gibberellic acid (GA₃) treatments. The concentrations of GA₃ were 0 and 1 mg L⁻¹. pH was adjusted at 5.8 with NaOH prior to autoclaving at 98 kPa and 121°C, and the media were solidified using 0.8% agar. Cefixime antibiotic and GA₃ added to the media after autoclaving by filtering. Related traits of this experiment were included: the percentage of new growth, the percentage of proliferation, the average number of bud and leaf, as well as, the average shoot length.

The evaluation of declined antibiotic dose

After the six months using cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹, proliferated shoots were divided into two groups. Each group of plants was cultured in media with

cefixime at either 500 mg L⁻¹ or 250 mg L⁻¹. pH was adjusted at 5.8 with NaOH prior to autoclaving at 98 kPa and 121°C, and the media were solidified using 0.8% agar. Cefixime antibiotic and GA₃ were added to the media after autoclaving with the syringe filter (pore size: 0.22 μ m). After 10 days, the percentage of bacterial contaminations and bacterial contamination rate were measured per each micro-shoot in each candle jar based on (E1).

Rooting micro-shoots

After six months, micro-shoots were transferred to ½-strength QL (Quoirin and Lepoivre, 1977) medium supplemented with 1.5 mg L⁻¹ Naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) and 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime. Cultures were maintained a week in dark conditions, then, transferred to 16/8 h (light/dark) photoperiod and light intensity of approximately 45 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) emitted by coolwhite fluorescent tubes in 35% relative humidity.

Statistical analysis

These experiments were arranged as a completely randomized design with three replications. The data were statistically analyzed using a one way ANOVA test and means were compared with the Duncan test at the 5% level of confidence. All of the statistical tests were performed using SAS (Statistical Analysis System) software v9.1. All of the percentage data were transformed to Arcsin Vx.

3. Results and Discussion

The result of the gram type detection showed contamination of this investigation is related to gram-negative bacteria. In the antibiotic selection step, we compared ampicillin and cefixime. We used 0, 100, 300 and 500 mg L⁻¹concentrations of each antibiotic. Ampicillin is a common antibiotic in tissue culture, and its activity spectrum is related to grampositive and gram-negative bacteria, whereas the cefixime is antibiotic acting against gram-negative bacteria. In antibiotic selection test, results revealed 500 mg L⁻¹cefixime could overcome contamination better than other treatments. The contaminated area on medium containing 500 mg L⁻¹cefixime (63.585 mm²) was lower than other treatments (803.84 mm²). Therefore, we selected 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime to control the contamination for later experiments.

ANOVA revealed that the difference between the four procedures was significant ($P \le 0.01$) for bacterial contamination percentage and the rate of bacterial

contamination (Table 1). Four procedures were used for the survival and rescuing of shoot from bacterial contamination. The third procedure (the first, shaking of contaminated shoots with 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime; then, cultured in media with 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime. Finally, sub-culturing in media with 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime) was known the best due to the low bacterial contamination percentage, rate and finally the healthy and fresh growth of plants. These indices in

rable i fillingsis of variance charts anach staay	Table 1 -	Analysis	of variance	traits	under	study
---	-----------	----------	-------------	--------	-------	-------

		Means	square
Source of variance	DF	Bacterial contamination	Rate of bacterial contamination
Treatment	3	2963.807 **	45.48649 **
Error	8	7.350.308	0.5436

NS= no significant; **= significant at the 0.01 level of probability according to Duncan Test.

other procedures were not desirable; as the highest percentage of bacterial contamination was observed in the first procedure (shaking with sterile distilled water). All of the procedures led to necrotic plants except for procedure 3 (Table 2). The presence of antibiotic in media effected on plant growth and weakened their growth; therefore, we used GA, and its effect evaluated on plants growth. GA, application in media containing 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime had a significant effect on the percentage of new growth, the average of bud number, the average shoot length and the average of leaf number (P<0.05) (Table 3). Without the application of GA₂ were not observed any proliferation and new bud formation; while in media containing GA₃, 22.53% proliferation and 1.46 the average number of bud were observed (Table 4). As well as, the results showed the decrease in the antibiotic dose to 250 mg L⁻¹ cefixime increased BCP

Table 2 - Evaluation of different procedure to come over bacterial contamination during the culture

Procedure	Fungal contamination (%)	Bacterial contamination (%)	Bacterial contamination rate	General health after 30 days
1	0	90 ± 0	9.47 ± 0.77	Necrotic leaves
2	0	74.55 ± 2.42	4.93 ± 0.119	Necrotic leaves
3	0	17.01 ± 1.22	0.45 ± 0.053	Green leaves and healthy
4	0	57.85 ± 1.56	7.47 ± 0.323	Necrotic leaves

1= shaking with sterile water.

2= the first, shaking of contaminated shoots with cefixime (500 mg/l) then, culturing in media with antibiotic. Finally, sub-culturing in free antibiotic media.

3= the first, shaking of contaminated shoots with cefixime (500 mg/l), then, culturing in media with antibiotic. Finally, sub-culturing in with antibiotic media.

4= disinfection (immersing in 1% hypochlorite sodium for 5 min then shaking with sterile water for three times. Values are mean ± standard error.

Table 3 - Analysis of variance of traits under study

	_			Means square		
Source of variance	DF	Percentage of new growth	Percentage of proliferation	Average of bud number	Average shoot height	Average of leaf number
Treatment	1	514.20 **	761.53 **	3.22 **	60.16 *	54.0 *
Error	4	6.022	4.53	0.0066	7.33	0.33

**= significant at the 0.01 level of probability according to Duncan Test.

*= significant at the 0.05 level of probability according to Duncan Test.

Table 4 - Evaluation of Gibberellic acid in MS medium along with PGRs and 500 mg/L cefixime on secondary growth traits

Concentration (mg/L)	New growth (%)	Proliferation (%)	Average bud number	Average shoot height (mm)	Average leaf number
1	43.93 ± 1.23	22.53 ± 1.74	1.46 ± 0.07	9.66 ± 2.03	10.33 ± 0.33
0	25.41 ± 1.58	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	3.33 ± 0.88	4.20 ± 0.33

Values are mean ± standard error.

to 41% and BCR to 1.2 (Table 5). Therefore, using the antibiotics at 500 mg L⁻¹ should continue because the plants grow without bacterial contamination only in the presence of 500 mg L⁻¹ cefixime (Fig. 1). Nadha et al. (2012) stated the removal of kanamycin from the medium did not result in resumption contamination after 10 days (Nadha et al., 2012); while other literature mentioned that the usage of antibiotics for inhibiting the bacteria growth has impermanent impact and removal of antibiotics has accompanied by resumption contamination (Falkiner, 1990; Barrett and Cassells, 1994; Falkiner, 1997; Leifert and Cassells, 2001) confirming the results of this experiment. In the consumption of antibiotic, resistant-bacteria theory is undeniable. Despite long-term using of cefixime, about six months, it could not only remove bacterial contamination, but also act without any resistant-bacteria. Finally, rescued shoots were able to produce healthy roots.

Table 5 - Evaluation of decreasing of cefixime on BCR and BCP after ten days

Traits	Cefixime concentration (mg/L)			
	250	500		
Bacterial contamination rate	41 a	0 b		
Bacterial contamination percentage	1.2 a	0 b		

Different letters in columns indicate significant difference between treatments at 5% level.



Fig. 1 - Contaminated shoots in vitro culture (A). Contaminated shoot after sub-culturing on media without cefixime (B). New growth after using GA3 treatment (C, D)

Leifert and Cassells (2001) mentioned alternatives for the antibiotic in their review. These alternatives included medium acidification and autotrophic culture (e.g. culture without carbohydrate) (Leifert and Cassells, 2001). In other literature were noted to activating of endogenous bacteria as a result of sub-culturing in media with cytokinins (Kneifel and Leonhardt, 1992). However, plant tissue culture without cytokinins, carbohydrates and with the modification in media acidity is impossible. In this regards, this investigation showed with the presence of cefixime in media containing cytokinins, carbohydrates could manage the bacterial contamination. Based on the results of this investigation, cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹ had not any toxicity effect on growth and proliferation. Cefixime is an antibiotic belonging to cephalosporins class. The cephalosporin antibiotics have been introduced as the appropriate antibiotic plant tissue culture since they have low eukaryote toxicity (Mathias and Boyd, 1986) which our results emphasize this point.

4. Conclusions

Bacterial contamination incidence is common and unavoidable during the in vitro propagation of fruit tree species. This investigation presented a procedure to manage the bacterial contamination of *P. communis* cv. Williams during the *in vitro* culture. Based on the results of this investigation, cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹ could control the bacterial contamination. The use of antibiotic in a medium is associated with a decrease in the growth of plants. This side effect of antibiotic was managed with the application of GA₃ at 1 mg L⁻¹. Therefore, we suggest cefixime at 500 mg L⁻¹ for *in vitro* propagation of fruit trees.

References

- ABDOLLAHI H., TAHZIBI F., GHAHREMANI Z., 2010 -Correlation between fire blight resistance and morphological characteristics of pear (Pyrus communis L.). -Acta Horticulturae, 896: 339-345
- ABRAMOVITCH R.B., MARTIN G.B., 2004 Strategies used by bacterial pathogens to suppress plant defenses. -Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 7(4): 356-364.
- ANGOT A., ANNETTE V., STÉPHANE G., NEMO P., 2007 -Exploitation of eukaryotic ubiquitin signaling pathways by effectors translocated by bacterial type III and type IV secretion systems. - PLoS Pathog., 3(1): e3.

BARRETT C., CASSELLS A.C., 1994 - An evaluation of antibi-

otics for the elimination of Xanthomonas campestris pv. pelargonii (Brown) from Pelargonium x domesticum cv. 'Grand Slam'explants in vitro. - Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 36(2): 169-175.

- EVRENOSOĞLU Y., MERTOĞLU K., BILGIN N.A., MISIRLI A., ÖZSOY A.N., 2019 - Inheritance pattern of fire blight resistance in pear. - Sci. Hortic., 246: 887-892.
- FALKINER F.R., 1990 The criteria for choosing an antibiotic for control of bacteriain plant tissue culture. - Int. Soc. Plant Tiss. Cult. Newsletter, 60:13-23.
- FALKINER F.R., 1997 Antibiotics in plant tissue culture and micropropagation. - What are we aiming at?, pp. 155-160. - In: CASSELLS A.C. (ed.) Pathogen and microbial contamination management in micropropagation. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 371.
- KNEIFEL W., LEONHARDT W., 1992 Testing of different antibiotics against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria isolated from plant tissue culture. - Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 29(2): 139-144.
- KOHANSKI M.A., DWYER D.J., COLLINS J.J., 2010 *How antibiotics kill bacteria: from targets to networks.* - Nat. Rev. Microbiol., 8(6): 423-435.
- LEIFERT C., CASSELLS A.C., 2001 Microbial hazards in plant tissue and cell cultures. - In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol., Plant, 37(2): 133-138.
- MATHIAS R.J., BOYD L.A., 1986 *Cefotaxime stimulates callus growth, embryogenesis and regeneration in hexaploid bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum *L em. thell*). -Plant Sci., 46(3): 217-223.
- MORGAN D.R., SOLTIS D.E., ROBERTSON K.R., 1994 -Systematic and evolutionary implications of rbcL sequence variation in Rosaceae. - Am. J. Bot., 81: 890-903.

MURASHIGE T., SKOOG F., 1962 - A revised medium for

rapid growth and bio assays with tobacco tissue cultures. - Physiol. Plant., 15(3): 473-497.

- NADHA H.K., SALWAN R., KASANA R.C., ANAND M., SOOD A., 2012 - Identification and elimination of bacterial contamination during in vitro propagation of Guadua angustifolia Kunth. - Pharmacogn. Mag., 8(30): 93-97.
- PHILLIPS R., ARNOTT S.M., KAPLAN S.E., 1981 Antibiotics in plant tissue culture: Rifampicin effectively controls bacterial contaminants without affecting the growth of short-term explant cultures of Helianthus tuberosus. -Plant Sci. Lett., 21(3): 235-240.
- QUOIRIN M., LEPOIVRE P., 1977 *Improved media for in vitro culture of* Prunus *sp.* Acta Horticulturae, 78: 437-442.
- RYU E., 1940 A simple method of differentiation between gram-positive and gram-negative organisms without staining. - Kitasato Arch. Exp. Med., 17: 58-63.
- SCHAAD N.W., JONES B.J., CHUN W., 2001 Laboratory guide for the identification of plant pathogenic bacteria. Third edition. - Am. Phytopathol. Soc. Press (APS), St. Paul, MN, USA, pp. 373.
- SUN Q., SUN H., BELL R.L., LI H., XIN L., 2011 Variation of phenotype, ploidy level and organogenic potential of in vitro regenerated polyploids of Pyrus communis. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 107: 131-140.
- SUSLOW T.V., SCHROTH M.N., ISAKA M., 1982 -Application of a rapid method for Gram differentiation of plant pathogenic and saprophytic bacteria without staining. - Phytopathology, 72(7): 917-918.
- VANNESTE J.L., 2000 Fire Blight: the disease and its causative agent, Erwinia amylovora. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK, pp. 370.
- ZHU L.H., LI X.Y., AHLMAN A., WELANDER M., 2003 The rooting ability of the dwarfing pear rootstock BP10030 (Pyrus communis) was significantly increased by introduction of the rolB gene. - Plant Sci., 165: 829-835.





(*) **Corresponding author:** ascientific4@aec.org.sy

Citation:

MUBARAK I., 2020 - Improving water productivity and yield of onion crop by combining early planting and straw mulch under different irrigation levels in dry Mediterranean region. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 49-60.

Copyright:

© 2020 Mubarak I. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 25 March 2019 Accepted for publication 31 October 2019

Improving water productivity and yield of onion crop by combining early planting and straw mulch under different irrigation levels in dry Mediterranean region

I. Mubarak

Department of Agriculture, Atomic Energy Commission of Syria, P.O. Box 6091, Damascus, Syria.

Key words: Allium cepa L., irrigation water use efficiency, onion bulb yield.

Abstract: In response to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by United Nations, combining using straw mulching, the proper crop planting date, and regulated deficit irrigation (RDI) is fundamental to adapt to climate change and to promote sustainable agriculture in the dry Mediterranean region. Twoyear pot experiment under field conditions (2017 and 2018) was conducted in Damascus Countryside, Syria (altitude 600 m), to evaluate the onion crop response to early planting, irrigation level, and straw mulching. Treatments composed of three different planting dates with 28-day intervals (two early dates in February and March, and the traditional date in April), three irrigation levels (100, 80, and 60% of crop evapotranspiration, ETc), and two types of soil cover (with and without wheat straw mulch), with three replicates. Findings revealed that the seasonal ETc decreased from about 900 mm under current practice (planting in April without mulch) to only about 550 mm under both straw mulch and earliness in planting. Large bulb yield increases (more than double) were also obtained. Moreover, early planting using straw mulching significantly enhanced the onion crop response to RDI, even at 60% of ETc. Combining early planting in February, straw mulching, and full irrigation represents the best agricultural management.

1. Introduction

Onion (*Allium cepa* L.) is an important crop worldwide. The environmental conditions such as photoperiod and temperature mainly affected its growth, development, and bulb yield. The agronomic practices such as planting date and irrigation water availability have also an effect on onion crop production (Brewster, 2008; Khokhar, 2014; Mubarak and Hamdan, 2018 a). Onion crop thrives best when temperatures are cool during early development period and then warmer and sunny during maturity. Hence, planting date has a profound impact on onion crop growth and development. Early planting date tends to have a longer onion growing season before bulb initiation ensuing larger plants. However, large plants are more likely to become sensitive to the cold stimulus resulting in bolting (formation of seed stalk followed by flowering), which represents a highly unfavourable feature for onion bulb production. Large plants are also related with split bulbs. However, late-date-planted onions start forming bulbs before reaching satisfactory plant growth to support the final size of bulbs. This would produce small bulbs, and therefore, decreasing the bulb yield (Brewster, 2008; Rohini and Paramaguru, 2016). Thus, determining the proper onion crop planting date is central to adapt to the regional climate changes.

Onion crop has a shallow rooting system, and therefore, it is considered as a sensitive crop to soil water deficit than other deep-rooted crops. Water productivity (WP, also known as water use efficiency, WUE) is usually used to recognize the environments or management practices by which the yield per unit water can be optimized. In the dry regions where water resources are limited as in the dry Mediterranean region, improving water productivity and crop production represents also a main challenge for agricultural water management.

Mulch has been widely adopted because of its agro-pedo-ecological benefits. It constitutes of synthetic (plastic films) or natural (plant residues as wheat or rice straw) materials. Both materials reduce the loss of soil water through evaporation. However, unlike plastic films, straw mulch allows rain and irrigation water to penetrate and to reach the soil. This conserves soil water content, and thereby reducing irrigation water requirements, promoting rooting system development, and increasing crop growth, development and yield (Vavrina and Roka, 2000; Gimenez et al., 2002; Mubarak and Hamdan, 2018 b). From eco-environmental point of view, the use of plastic mulch would not be justified at low crop prices and/or very high plastic films costs, especially it requires to be removed after use annually. The reuse of plastic films is not practical agronomically and technologically. This could increase the harmful environmental impacts from plastic components. For these reasons, straw mulching present an eco-environmentally sustainable choice. Unlike plastic films, straw mulch could incorporate into the soil ecosystem, where it is expected to biodegrade. Thus, straw mulching could be considered as a slow-acting organic fertilizer, improving soil fertility and soil physical properties, and consequently, crop yield (Khaledian et al., 2010, 2011).

Deficit irrigation (DI) in combination with mulching could be considered as a key water-saving technique that would help in meeting both water scarcity and sustainable crop production (Fereres and Soriano, 2007; Chai *et al.*, 2016). The effects of deficit irrigation under mulching on onion yield have been documented (Vavrina and Roka, 2000; Igbadun *et al.*, 2012; Patel and Rajput, 2013; Tsegaye *et al.*, 2016; Mubarak and Hamdan, 2018 b). Several studies showed that it is better to fractionate the water stress during the cropping season (Regulated deficit irrigation, RDI) rather than applying a water stress during the critical stages of crop growth period (Kadayifci *et al.*, 2005; Patel and Rajput, 2013). For example, deficit irrigation given at 75% of crop evapotranspiration (ETc) was recommended for onion crop production (Tsegaye *et al.*, 2016).

In the dry Mediterranean area, onion bulb sets as directly planted in the soil is the common method employed to establish onion plantings in the field. Farmers plant onion bulb sets early in the spring and harvest in the summer. The production period between April and August is characterized by no rainfall (Ragab and Prudhomme, 2002; Turner, 2004). Moreover, the Mediterranean climate is extremely variable with hot dry summers, and cold wet to dry winters. The Middle East and North Africa are in particular dry areas, with only 1% of renewable water resources (Joffre and Rambal, 2001; Turner, 2004; Ceccarelli et al., 2007). The increasing climatic change have intensified the vulnerability to drought (Giorgi and Lionello, 2008; Somot et al., 2008; FAO 2011; Polade et al., 2014). An increase by 1.25-2.5°C in temperature is predicted in winter, and the precipitation between October and March will decrease by 10-15 % in the southern Mediterranean countries (Ragab and Prudhomme, 2002).

As the onion crop production is already limited by the water availability and local climate, moving towards feasible tools (such as using regulated deficit irrigation under mulching) and agronomic practices (such as determining the proper crop planting date) adapted to the regional climate change is urgently needed for better water saving and cultivation period of the crop (FAO, 2011; Khokhar, 2014; Zinkernagel *et al.*, 2015).

In this context, and in response to the ambitious Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) proposed by United Nations to adapt to climate change and to promote sustainable agriculture, the present study aimed to assess the interactive effects of various planting dates, different irrigation levels, and straw mulching on onion crop production. The outcomes may introduce appropriate agronomic alternatives to meet the ever increasing demand for onions and to save irrigation water in the dry Mediterranean area. Moreover, results may contribute to make regulated deficit irrigation with straw mulching familiar for most farmers, and to stimulate them to adopt these techniques in their fields.

2. Materials and Methods

Pot experiments were conducted under open field conditions at the Deir Al-Hajar Agricultural Experiment Station, Damascus Countryside, Syria (33°20' N, 36°26' E, altitude 600 m), for different planting dates during February to May in two consecutive years 2017 and 2018. The site is located within a dry Mediterranean area, in which the total annual rainfall is about 120 mm, and the annual reference evapotranspiration is about 2000 mm. Some climatic data for the studied site collected during the growing seasons were fairly close to those averaged over the last 16 years (from 2000 to 2016) as can be shown in Table 1. For this reason, testing different planting dates during two years seemed somewhat adequate.

The soil is classified as a clay loam (29.5% clay, 42.7% silt, and 27.8% sand). Both volumetric soil water contents at permanent wilting point (*PWP*) and field capacity (*FC*) are 0.18 and 0.36 m³ m⁻³, respectively. Some chemical and physical soil properties are: pH of 8.0; ECe of 0.34 ds m⁻¹; organic matter of 1.00%; available P of 5.7 ppm; NO₃⁻ of 28.3 ppm; NH₄⁺ of 12.6 ppm.

Pots with dimensions of 25×30 cm and containing 8 kg of soil were used in the experiments. Three bulb sets of onion (*Allium cepa* L., c.v. Selmouni) were planted in each pot. The pots were set in an open field under natural climatic conditions. Plants were thinned after germination to two bulbs per pot, getting a plant density of about 400000 plants ha⁻¹.

Four different planting dates separated with 28 days were tested: PS1 (early February), PS2 (early March), PS3 (early April), and PS4 (early May). Unfortunately, onion bulb sets which were planted in May (PS4) in both studied years did not properly germinate, and therefore, they were ignored. Within a year and at each planting date, the experiment was laid out following a 2×3 factorial experiment arranged in a randomized complete block design (RCB design) with two modes of soil cover and three irrigation levels, replicated three times. The soil covering comprised of two distinct types. The first one was with mulching using 40 g of wheat straw per pot (about 8 t ha⁻¹); and the second one was with no mulching. The irrigation levels composed of IL100 (full irrigation, 100% ETc), in which plants received 100% of the crop evapotranspiration; and the root zone was replenished to field capacity. IL80 and IL60 treatments (regulated deficit irrigation) were irrigated at the same frequency as in IL100 but with water amounts equal to 80 and 60% of the ETc as calculated in IL100, respectively. In other words, the three watering treatments received at each irrigation event 1.0, 0.8 and 0.6 times the soil water depletion

Table 1 - Some climatic data for the experimental site during both studied years (2017 and 2018) and the 16 years average (from 2000 to 2016)

Variable	Year	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	Jun.	Jul.
Minimum temperature (°C)	2017	4.0	6.2	9.7	14.4	17.2	20.6
	2018	5.7	7.9	10.0	15.6	18.2	19.8
	2000-2016 average	4.0	6.8	10.1	14.1	17.6	19.3
Maximum temperature (°C)	2017	14.7	18.7	26.2	31.6	35.7	40.6
	2018	18.8	24.3	27.2	31.5	34.6	36.9
	2000-2016 average	15.7	20.6	25.3	30.4	35.0	37.4
Mean temperature (°C)	2017	9.1	14.0	19.2	24.9	28.4	31.1
	2018	12.7	17.3	19.9	25.7	27.7	28.8
	2000-2016 average	10.6	15.0	18.1	23.6	27.7	29.4
Relative air humidity (%)	2017	69.3	74.4	63.1	57.9	56.3	56.0
	2018	68.8	65.0	54.8	51.5	59.6	55.6
	2000-2016 average	75.0	64.1	60.9	56.5	56.3	60.7
Precipitation (mm)	2017	11.6	42.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	2018	30.3	1.0	14	9.9	0.0	0.0
	2000-2016 average	31.0	31.6	5.9	4.2	0.0	0.0

occurred in the full irrigation treatment (IL100), respectively. Irrigation water was added 3 times per week. Each experiment was started on the planting day with a wet soil at field capacity as measured by pot's weight. The pots were weighed before and after each irrigation event. The water amount depleted (mm) between two successive irrigation events (ETc) was regulated by weight and estimated using (Eq. 1) as:

$$ETc = (W_{1} - W_{2})/(P_{w} \times S)$$
[1]

where ETc = the crop evapotranspiration between two irrigation events (mm); W_1 = the weight of the pot (kg) after irrigation (the soil water content in the pot was at the field capacity); W_2 = the weight of the pot (kg) just before the next irrigation event; ρ_{w} = the water density (g cm⁻³); and S= the pot soil surface area (m²). The daily crop evapotranspiration (mm day⁻¹) was estimated by dividing the ETc calculated using Eq. (1) by the number of days between two successive irrigations. The seasonal crop evapotranspiration was the summation of the daily ETc, which represented the total crop water requirements during a growing season. Irrigation water amounts, which were applied to the non mulching treatments, were based on the IL100 treatment under nomulching conditions; whereas those applied to the straw mulching treatments were based on the IL100 treatment under mulching conditions.

For each planting date, phosphorous and potassium were applied as basal application at planting day; wherease, nitrogen fertilizer was splited into two equal applications, and added during early vegetative stage. Irrigation was stopped when almost 70% of leave-head dropped as signs of maturity. The onions were lifted to field cure. Then the leaves were cut leaving about 2.0 cm tops above the bulb. The length, diameter, and weight of both matured onion bulbs from each pot were measured. The sum of weights of both bulbs represent the bulb yield per pot (Y-pot), and was expressed as g pot⁻¹. Water productivity (WP, kg m⁻³) and irrigation water use efficiency (IWUE, kg m⁻³) were calculated using equations [2] and [3] (Mubarak et al., 2018). WP is the relationship between yield and seasonal evapotranspiration (ETc). Whereas, IWUE is the relationship between yield and the total amount of irrigation water applied (I, Liter pot⁻¹).

$$WP = Yield/ETc$$
 [2]

Within a year, a combined analysis of data over planting seasons was carried out to examine the interaction between planting season and the studied treatments (Gomez and Gomez, 1984). The analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted using the DSAA-STAT add-in version 2011 (Onofri, 2007). Mean comparison was made using the LSD test at the 1% level. Trend comparison (regression analysis) was also performed. Data was presented and illustrated according to the rules described by Gomez and Gomez (1984).

3. Results

As mentioned above, onion bulb sets planted in May did not properly germinate. This could be explained by the fact that onion is a vegetative overwintering stage in its life cycle, i.e., it grows best when temperatures are cool during early development period (Brewster, 2008). Therefore, it is not recommended to delay planting onion sets after April in the dry Mediterranean area.

Bulb shape indicators

The shape of onion bulbs was represented herein by two indicators: bulb length (BL) and diameter (BD). The ANOVA revealed that the main effects of all studied factors (planting date, soil cover system, and irrigation levels) highly significantly affected bulb shape indicators in both years (Table 2). Within a year, the data under each factor were pooled over the other factors as can be seen in Table 3. Results indicated that both indicators (BL and BD) found in 2017 were comparable with their homologues in 2018.

Early planted onion sets (PS1) produced the tallest onion bulbs (7.9 and 8.5 cm in 2017 and 2018, respectively) than the other planting dates, while the later planted sets (PS3) produced bulbs significantly shorter by 10-22% than those in PS1 and PS2, in both years. Moreover, onion sets grown under straw mulching produced bulbs considerably taller by about 14% in average than those grown under nomulching conditions. With regard to irrigation levels, the higher value of BL was observed under full irrigation (IL100); then, bulb length decreased as the water application rate decreased. The mean value of BL reduced by about 8 and 25% in 2017, and by about 3 and 14% in 2018, when onion sets were planted in March (PS2) and April (PS3), respectively (Table 3).

Source of variance	df	BL	BD	Y-pot	WP	IWUE
			20	017		
Planting date (PS)	2	***	***	***	***	* * *
Rep. within PS	6					
Soil cover system (SC)	1	***	***	***	***	* * *
PS × SC	2	***	NS	NS	***	* * *
Irrigation level (IL)	2	***	***	***	***	* * *
PS × IL	4	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
SC × IL	2	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
PS × SC × IL	4	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Pooled error	30					
Total	53					
CV (%)		5.88	6.12	9.14	9.07	9.26
			20	018		
Planting date (PS)	2	***	* * *	* * *	***	* * *
Rep. within PS	6					
Soil cover system (SC)	1	***	* * *	* * *	***	* * *
PS × SC	2	NS	NS	NS	***	* * *
Irrigation level (IL)	2	***	***	* * *	* * *	* * *
PS × IL	4	NS	* * *	NS	NS	NS
SC × IL	2	NS	**	NS	NS	NS
PS × SC × IL	4	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Pooled error	30					
Total	53					
CV (%)		6.90	3.83	5.89	5.49	5.45

Table 2 - Analysis of variance of the data of crop responses as affected by planting date, soil cover system, and irrigation level (significance of *Fisher* test)

*** = significant at 1‰ level, ** = significant at 1% level, NS = non-significant at 1% level. df = degree of freedom, BL = Bulb length, BD = Bulb diameter, Y-pot = bulb yield per pot, WP = water productivity, IWUE = irrigation water use efficiency.

On the other hand, the planting date×soil cover system (PS×SC) interaction effect on bulb length was found to be also significant at the 1‰ level only in 2017 (Table 2). To examine the nature of this interaction, the BL data of planting dates were compared under both soil cover systems. The values of BL under straw mulching were 8.23, 7.78, and 7.03 cm, and under no-mulching condition were 7.62, 7.05, and 5.38 cm, for PS1, PS2, and PS3, respectively. The mean values of BL in PS1 and PS2 under no-mulching were smaller by 8-10% than those under straw mulching. While in the traditional planting date in April (PS3), BL under no-mulching. This difference could explain the nature of PS×SC interaction.

The largest BD was produced from onion sets planted early in February (PS1) in both year: 4.7 and 4.0 cm in 2017 and 2018, respectively. It then significantly reduced as the planting date delayed. The mean values of BD from PS3 were shorter by 35% in 2017 and 23% in 2018 than those from PS1. Furthermore, using straw mulching led to a significant increase in BD by 17% compared with nomulching conditions. Also, significant differences in BD were observed in relation to irrigation levels. The maximum values of BD of 4.5 cm in 2017 and 4.6 cm in 2018 were found under full irrigation condition (IL100). Then, they significantly decreased as the irrigation level decreased. The effect of decreasing water application rate by 40% of ETc (as in IL60 treatment) resulted in a decreased BD by about 48% relative to those in IL100, in both years (Table 3).

Only in 2018, both PS×IL and SC×IL interactions were highly significant (Table 2). To examine the nature of PS×IL interaction, the BD data of planting dates were compared under irrigation levels (data not shown). The decline in BD as planting date delayed was found to be more severe under full irrigation compared with water stress conditions. Also, to examine the nature of SC×IL interaction, the BD data of both soil cover systems were compared under irrigation levels (data not shown). The increase in BD as irrigation level increased was found to be more severe under straw mulching compared with no-mulching conditions. These differences could explain the nature of both interactions.

Table 3 -	Mean comparisons of crop respon	ses as influenced b	y planting date,	soil cover s	system, and	irrigation leve	I for both studied
	years						

Tested factor	BL (cm)	BD (cm)	Y-pot (g pot ⁻¹)	WP (kg m ⁻³)	IWUE (kg m⁻³)
			2017		
Planting date					
PS1 (February)	7.9 a	4.7 a	119.74 a	4.60 a	5.71 a
PS2 (March)	7.4 b	3.7 b	110.52 b	4.09 b	4.26 b
PS3 (April)	6.2 c	3.0 c	83.79 c	2.82 c	2.87 c
LSD 0.01	0.4	0.2	8.77	0.32	0.36
Soil cover system					
with mulch	7.7 a	4.1 a	123.07 a	5.14 a	5.80 a
without mulch	6.7 b	3.5 b	86.30 b	2.53 b	2.76 b
LSD 0.01	0.3	0.2	7.16	0.26	0.30
Irrigation level					
IL100 (100% ETc)	7.9 a	4.5 a	141.77 a	4.39 a	4.76 a
IL80 (80% ETc)	7.3 b	3.9 b	105.11 b	3.95 b	4.39 b
IL60 (60% ETc)	6.3 c	3.1 c	67.11 c	3.18 c	3.70 c
LSD 0.01	0.4	0.2	8.77	0.32	0.36
			2018		
Planting date					
PS1 (February)	8.5 a	4.0 a	122.32 a	4.96 a	5.44 a
PS2 (March)	7.8 b	3.9 a	115.42 b	4.21 b	4.46 b
PS3 (April)	7.0 c	3.5 c	92.83 c	3.13 c	3.30 c
LSD 0.01	0.5	0.1	5.95	0.21	0. 22
Soil cover system					
with mulch	8.2 a	4.1 a	126.54 a	5.37 a	5.81 a
without mulch	7.3 b	3.5 b	93.83 b	2.83 b	2.99 b
LSD 0.01	0.4	0.1	4.86	0.17	0.18
Irrigation level					
IL100 (100% ETc)	8.2 a	4.6 a	148.65 a	4.52 a	4.86 a
IL80 (80% ETc)	8.0 a	3.8 b	110.53 b	4.17 b	4.48 b
IL60 (60% ETc)	7.2 c	3.1 c	71.39 c	3.60 c	3.87 c
LSD 0.01	0.5	0.1	5.96	0.21	0.22

* Means followed by the same letter within a year and column for each tested factor are not significantly different according to LSD at 1% level. BL = Bulb length, BD = Bulb diameter, Y-pot = bulb yield per pot, WP = water productivity, IWUE = irrigation water use efficiency).

Bulb yield per pot (Y-pot)

Analysis of variance shown in Table 2 indicated that the main effects of the three studied factors on Y-pot were significant at the 1‰ level. However, none of the three-factor or two-factor interactions were significant at the 1% level in both studied years. The data under each factor were averaged over all levels of the other factors for mean comparison purposes (Table 3). In both years, earliness in planting date resulted in an increase in the bulb yield. The mean yield of bulbs which were planted in February (PS1), were the highest with 119.7 and 122.3 g pot⁻¹ in 2017 and 2018, respectively. Y-pot significantly decreased with delayed planting. It reduced considerably by 8 and 30% in 2017 and by 6 and 24% in 2018 when onion sets were planted in PS2 and PS3, respectively, compared with sets planted in PS1.

In addition, Y-pot was found to be increased significantly by 30% in 2017 and 26% in 2018 when straw mulching was used relative to no-mulching conditions (Table 3).

On the other hand, decreasing water application rate resulted in a significant decline in the bulb yield. The lowest mean values of Y-pot (67.1 g pot⁻¹ in 2017 and 71.4 g pot⁻¹ in 2018) were observed under sharp deficit irrigation when only 60% of ETc was applied to irrigate onion plants. Then, Y-pot was highly improved with increasing irrigation level. Y-pot increased by about 110 and 56% when onion plants were irrigated by 100 and 80% of ETc, respectively, compared with those irrigated by only 60% of ETc, in both years.

However, for presentation and discussion purposes, all experimental data of Y-pot under all studied treatments were demonstrated in figure 1a for 2017 and 1b for 2018. Trend analysis indicated that the relationships between Y-pot and irrigation level (as a percentage of ETc) for each planting date and under both soil cover systems were linear (equations not presented). As can be seen in figure 1, the rate of increasing yield with increasing irrigation water level was similar regardless of the planting date adopted under both soil cover systems. This confirmed the lack of interaction as found by ANOVA (Table 2). As shown also in figure 1, the maximum value of bulb yield was recorded in the treatment combining between planting in February under straw mulching and 100% of ETc (IL100) conditions. The yield of bulbs produced under such conditions could be attained about 185g pot⁻¹ in both years (Fig. 1). Moreover, irrigating onion plants with only 60% of seasonal ETc



Fig. 1 - Response of onion bulb yield (Y-pot) in 2017 (a) and in 2018 (b) to planting date (February, March, and April), soil cover system (with and without mulching), and irrigation level (IL100, IL80, and IL60). Error bar represents one standard deviation.

(IL60) could produce bulb yield comparable with that under 80% of ETc (IL80), provided using straw mulching and planting onion sets as early as possible.

Water use parameters

As mentioned above, irrigation treatments (IL100, IL80, and IL60) received at each irrigation event 100, 80 and 60% of the amount of soil water depleted under IL100 conditions, respectively. Irrigation water amounts and seasonal crop evapotranspiration (ETc) for the studied treatments are shown in Table 4 for both years. The seasonal ETc were close to the applied water amounts, because water amounts added to the pots were equal to the depleted water amounts, as regulated by weight. As can be seen, both irrigation water amounts and crop water consumption were greatly decreased when straw mulch was applied. For the three planting dates (PS1, PS2, and PS3), an average of 30% of water was saved when straw mulching was used compared with nonmulching conditions, regardless of the tested irrigation level. Moreover, early planting resulted in a noticeable decrease in both irrigation water amount and crop water use compared with the other planting dates (Table 4). For instance, onion crop planted in February (PS1) required irrigation amount 20-30% lesser than that planted in the traditional planting date (April, PS3). These results highlight the need for changing cultural practices and adopting early planting in order to conserve water resources.

The ANOVA detected that both crop water productivity (WP) and irrigation water use efficiency (IWUE) were significantly influenced by the main effects of planting date, soil cover system, and irrigation level at the 1‰ level, within both years. The interaction between planting date and soil cover system (PS×SC interaction) was also significant at the 1‰ level (Table 2). It is worth to examine the nature of this interaction. Figure 2 illustrates the data of both WP and IWUE under different planting dates (as averaged over all irrigation levels)under each system of soil covering, for both years. Regression analysis indicated that the relationship between both traits (WP and IWUE) and planting date were linear with significant values of R² at the 1% level, under both straw mulching and no-mulching conditions. For each trait, both representative straights were not parallel, but did not intersect over the studied period. The slope of straight is about two times greater under straw mulching than that without mulching. This indicates that the enhancements in both WP and IWUE due to the earliness in planting date, could be dou-

Table 4 - Irrigation water amount (without rainfall) and crop evapotranspiration (ETc) as influenced by planting date (PS1, PS2, and PS3), soil cover system, and irrigation level, for both studied years

Parameters	Soil cover	Irrigation level	PS1 (Feb.)	PS2 (Mar.)	PS3 (Apr.)
		20	017		
Irrigation water amount	Without				
(mm)	mulch	IL100	705.3	798.8	899.6
		IL80	561.0	649.9	734.2
		IL60	416.7	502.6	570.8
	With mulch	IL100	458.4	561.4	636.0
		IL80	363.9	461.3	524.9
		IL60	269.4	361.2	413.8
Crop	Without				
evapotranspirationETc	mulch	IL100	800.2	819.1	909.2
		IL80	664.5	671.8	745.7
		IL60	525.4	528.1	586.2
	With mulch	IL100	552.5	578.0	641.5
		IL80	459.9	479.8	532.5
		IL60	367.5	387.3	429.9
		20	018		
Irrigation water amount	Without				
(mm)	mulch	IL100	706.5	809.6	886.8
		IL80	572.3	655.8	718.3
		IL60	431.0	493.9	540.9
	With mulch	IL100	494.6	566.7	620.8
		IL80	400.6	459.0	502.8
		IL60	301.7	345.7	378.7
Crop	Without				
evapotranspirationETc	mulch	IL100	760.3	848.1	924.3
		IL80	615.8	687.0	748.7
		IL60	463.8	517.3	563.8
	With mulch	IL100	548.4	605.2	658.3
		IL80	444.2	490.2	533.2
		IL60	334.5	369.2	401.5

bled if straw mulching is used. This could explain the existence of the interaction between planting date and soil cover system.

The obtained data of both WP and IWUE under all tested treatments were shown in figure 3a and 3b for WP, and in figure 4a and 4b for IWUE, in 2017 and 2018, respectively. Also, the mean values under each factor were presented in Table 3 for mean comparison purposes. Both WP and IWUE as derived from the traditional planting date (PS3, in April) were the lowest: 2.82 and 3.13 kg m⁻³ for WP, and 2.87 and 3.30 kg m⁻³ for IWUE, in 2017 and 2018 respectively. Earliness in planting date resulted in a noticeable increase in both efficiencies. For instance, when onion sets were planted early in February (PS1), WP and IWUE were significantly augmented by 63 and 99% in 2017, and by 59 and 65% in 2018, respective-



Planting date

Fig. 2 - For both years, responses of both (a and c) crop water productivity, WP, and (b and d) irrigation water use efficiency, IWUE, to planting dates under both soil cover systems. Regression equations are fitted and coefficient of determination (R2) is given under each system of soil cover. ** = significant at 1% level.



Fig. 3 - Response of water productivity (WP) in 2017 (a) and in 2018 (b) to planting date (February, March, and April), soil cover system (with and without mulching), and irrigation level (IL100, IL80, and IL60). Error bar represents one standard deviation.

ly. Furthermore, both WP and IWUE were found to be enhanced considerably when straw mulching was used: they were two times more than those under no-mulching conditions regardless of the planting dates or irrigation levels chosen. In addition, increasing water application rate resulted in an efficient use of water. The maximum values of both WP and IWUE (4.39 and 4.76 kg m⁻³ in 2017, and 4.52 and 4.86 kg m⁻³ in 2018, respectively) were recorded under full irrigation treatment. They then declined dramatically with decreasing irrigation level.

Trend analysis revealed that both WP and IWUE were linearly related to the irrigation level (as % of ETc) under both soil cover systems, regardless of the planting date considered, as shown in Figures 3 and 4 (mathematical equations not presented). Such developed linear functions could be invested for predicting the targeted values of WP and IWUE under similar climatic conditions in the dry Mediterranean area. For instance, the best agricultural management suggested



Fig. 4 - Response of irrigation water use efficiency (IWUE) in 2017 (a) and in 2018 (b) to planting date (February, March, and April), soil cover system (with and without mulching), and irrigation level (IL100, IL80, and IL60). Error bar represents one standard deviation.

to have maximum values of both traits (WP and IWUE) is to plant onion sets in mulched soil in February under full irrigation conditions. The values of WP and IWUE produced under such conditions could reach in average 6.95 and 8.05 kg m⁻³ (Figs. 3 and 4).

4. Discussion and Conclusions

As the tested onion variety is an oval- to elongated-shape onion, the larger the bulb size (both length and diameter), the better the bulb shape for appearance and marketing purposes. The onion bulb size was found to be increased when onion sets were planted early under straw mulching and 100% of ETc conditions. This could be related to the soil water availability. Under water stress, the soil is drier and relatively more compacted. Its mechanical resistance may limit the growth of the bulb and cause it to grow longitudinally. Moreover, straw mulching can reduce the soil evaporation and conserves soil humidity (Kirda, 2000; Fereres and Soriano, 2007; Igbadun *et al.*, 2012), and consequently, may encourage developing onion bulbs to grow in both length and diameter directions. Thus, the recommended agricultural management to produce better shape of onion bulbs for consumers, is to plant onion sets in February under straw mulching and full irrigation level conditions. Similar results about the role of straw mulching in enhancing the bulb shape indicator were reported by Mubarak and Hamdan (2018 b).

The bulb yield, and both WP and IWUE were also found to be maximized when onion sets were planted early, under straw mulching and full irrigation. These results could be explained by the fact that the early planting partially covers the late winter time in which onion plants grow well and there would be relatively plenty of water available, compared with the rest of the year from spring to the end of summer. Onion sets planted early also had enough time to benefit from cool period during the vegetative stage, which improved photosynthesis, and therefore production, compared with the actual practice followed by farmers (planting in April). This finding is in agreement with similar results obtained by Hamma (2013) and Rohini and Paramaguru (2016). Also, both irrigation water amount and crop water consumption were found to be greatly decreased, saving about of 30% of water when straw mulch was used compared with no-mulch conditions, irrespective of irrigation level. Under current practices of planting in April without mulching, farmers are not in favor of fully irrigating their crops even if the yield is reduced, due to the huge irrigation water needs (about 900 mm). Thus, using straw mulch could regulate such case. Our research results indicated that onion plants planted in February and grown under straw mulch could be fully irrigated with only 550 mm. The favorable impact of mulching was preveiously reported (Vavrina and Roka, 2000; Igbadun et al., 2012; Hamma, 2013; Tsegaye et al., 2016; Mubarak and Hamdan, 2018 b). In fact, mulching decreases evaporation from soil surface, remaining more water available for plants (Kirda, 2000; Fereres and Soriano, 2007; Igbadun et al., 2012). This could also moderate the severity of wetting-drying cycle between irrigations, and therefore, yield could be improved (Vavrina and Roka, 2000; Gimenez et al., 2002; Mubarak and Hamdan, 2018 b). Moreover, Khaledian et al. (2010 and 2011) showed that increasing in crop yield could be also attained under straw mulching due to the enhancements in both soil fertility and soil physical properties.

Results indicated that the tested onion variety was very sensitive to regulated deficit irrigation. Many reports cited similar results that onion yield was optimized under full irrigation rather than under regulated deficit irrigation (Bekele and Tilahun, 2007; Kumar et al., 2007; Nagaz et al., 2012; Igbadun et al., 2012). For example, Nagaz et al. (2012) observed that irrigating onion crop with 60% of ETc resulted in considerable reduction in bulb yield, dry matter, and bulbs per hectare, compared with those irrigated by 100% or 80% of ETc. However, an important finding of our experiments is that the onion crop response to regulated deficit irrigation was found to be significantly enhanced when straw mulching is used. For example, irrigating with only 60% of ETc using straw mulching resulted in WP and IWUE much higher even than those irrigated by 100% of ETc without mulching (Figs. 3 and 4). The irrigation water saving in such treatment (deficit irrigation using straw mulching) could be used to irrigate additional cropped area. Patel and Rajput (2013) reported similar outcome that with 40% deficit irrigation throughout the growing period, a water saving obtained could be utilized to irrigate additional 1/2 ha.

To conclude, onion crop was found to be responsive to early planting and straw mulching, so that both onion bulb size and yield were significantly enhanced, compared with those obtained under the traditional agricultural practices (planting in April without mulching). Both crop water productivity and irrigation water use efficiency were also considerably increased; and the seasonal crop water requirements obviously decreased. Our research results suggest that the best agricultural management is to plant onion sets in mulched soil in February under full irrigation conditions. Moreover, early planting date and straw mulching improved the response of onion crop to the regulated deficit irrigation. This could be an appropriate agronomic alternative to meet the ever increasing demand for onions and to save irrigation water. Onion bulb responses were predicted to be increased linearly with the increment in water application rate and with the earliness of planting date, with an obvious better preference under straw mulching. Both experimental data and the developed equations could be used for predicting onion crop responses under similar agro-pedo-climatic context without carrying out any additional experiments. Moreover, they could be used as a tool for rational management of limited irrigation water.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank the Atomic Energy Commission of Syria (AECS) for encouragement and financial support.

References

- BEKELE S., TILAHUN K., 2007 Regulated deficit irrigation scheduling of onion in a semiarid region of Ethiopia. -Agric. Water Manage., 89: 148-152.
- BREWSTER J.L., 2008 Onions and other vegetable alliums. Second edition. - CAB International, Wallingford, UK, pp. 454.
- CECCARELLI S., GRANDO S., BAUM M., 2007 Participatory plant breeding in water-limited environments. -Experimental Agriculture, 43: 411-435.
- CHAI Q., GAN Y., ZHAO C., XU H.L., NIU Y., SIDDIQUE KH. M., 2016 - Regulated deficit irrigation for crop production under drought stress. A review. - Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 36.
- FAO, 2011 Climate change, water and food security. -FAO, Rome, Italy.
- FERERES E., SORIANO M.A., 2007 Deficit irrigation for reducing agricultural water use. - J. Exp. Bot., 58: 147-159.
- GIMENEZ C., OTTO R.F., CASTILLA N., 2002 Productivity of leaf and root vegetable crops under direct cover. - Sci. Hort., 94: 1-11.
- GIORGI F., LIONELLO P., 2008 *Climate change projections for the Mediterranean region.* - Global and Planetary Change, 63(2-3): 90-104.
- GOMEZ K.A., GOMEZ A.A., 1984 Statistical procedures for agricultural research. Second edition. - Wiley, New York, NY, pp. 680.
- HAMMA I.L., 2013 Growth and yield of onion as influenced by planting dates and mulching types in Samaru, Zaria. - Intern. J. Adv. Agric. Res., 1: 22-26.
- IGBADUN H.E., RAMALAN A.A., OIGANJI E., 2012 Effects of regulated irrigation deficit and mulch on yield, water use and crop water productivity of onion in Samaru, Nigeria. - Agric. Water Manage., 109: 162-169.
- JOFFRE R., RAMBAL S., 2001 *Mediterranean ecosystems*. eLS. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, UK. DOI: 10.1038/npg.els.0003196.
- KADAYIFCI A., TUYLU G.I., UCAR Y., CAKMAK B., 2005 -Crop water use of onion (Allium cepa L.) in Turkey. -Agric. Water Manage., 72(1): 59-68.
- KHALEDIAN M.R., MAILHOL J.C., RUELLE P., MUBARAK I., MARAUX F., 2011 - Nitrogen balance and irrigation water productivity for corn, sorghum and durum wheat under direct seeding compared with conventional tillage in the Southeastern France. - Irrigation Sci., 29(2): 413-422.

KHALEDIAN M.R., MAILHOL J.C., RUELLE P., MUBARAK I.,

PERRET S., 2010 - The impacts of direct seeding into mulch on the energy balance of crop production system in the SE of France. - Soil Till. Res., 106(2): 218-226.

- KHOKHAR K.M., 2014 Flowering and seed development in onion. A Review. Open Access Library Journal, 1: e1049.
- KIRDA C., 2000 Deficit irrigation scheduling based on plant growth stages showing water stress tolerance. -Deficit Irrigation Practices, FAO Water Reports, Rome, Italy, 22.
- KUMAR S., IMTIYAZ M., KUMAR A., SINGH R., 2007 -Response of onion (Allium cepa L.) to different levels of irrigation water. - Agric. Water Manage., 89: 161-166.
- MUBARAK I., HAMDAN T., 2018 a Onion crop response to different irrigation and N-fertilizer levels in dry Mediterranean region. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 32(4): 495-501.
- MUBARAK I., HAMDAN T., 2018 b Onion crop response to regulated deficit irrigation under mulching in dry Mediterranean region. - J. Hort. Res., 26(1): 87-94.
- MUBARAK I., JANAT M., MAKHLOUF M., 2018 Response of two potato varieties to irrigation methods in the dry Mediterranean area. - Agriculture (Poľnohospodárstvo), 64(2): 57-64.
- NAGAZ K., MASMOUDI M.M., BEN MECHLIA N., 2012 -Yield response of drip-irrigated onion under full and deficit irrigation with saline water in arid regions of Tunisia. - ISRN Agronomy, vol. 2012, pp. 8.
- ONOFRI A., 2007 Routine statistical analyses of field experiments by using an Excel extension. - National Conference Italian Biometric Society, "La statistica nelle scienze della vita e dell'ambiente", Proc. 6th, Pisa, Italy, 20-22: 93-96.
- PATEL N., RAJPUT T.B.S., 2013 Effect of deficit irrigation on crop growth, yield and quality of onion in subsurface drip irrigation. - Inter. J. Plant Prod., 7(3): 417-436.
- POLADE S.D., PIERCE D.W., CAYAN D.R., GERSHUNOV A., DETTINGER M.D., 2014 - The key role of dry days in changing regional climate and precipitation regimes. -Scientific Reports, 4: 43-64.
- RAGAB R., PRUDHOMME C., 2002 Climate change and water resources management in arid and semi arid regions: prospective and challenges for the 21st century.
 Biosyst. Eng., 81: 3-34.
- ROHINI N., PARAMAGURU P., 2016 Seasons' influence on bulb, seed yield and quality of aggregatum onion. - Int. J. Farm Sci., 6(1): 174-183.
- SOMOT S., SEVAULT F., DEQUE M., CREPON M., 2008 21st century climate change scenario for the Mediterranean using a coupled atmosphere-ocean regional climate model. - Glob. Planet. Change, 63(2-3): 112-126.
- TSEGAYE B., BIZUAYEHU T., WOLDEMICHAE A., MOHAMMED A., 2016 - Yield and yield components of onion (Allium cepa L.) as affected by irrigation scheduling and nitrogen fertilization at Hawassa Area Districts in Southern Ethiopia. - J. Agric. Sci. Food Technol., 2(2): 15-20.
- TURNER N.C., 2004 Sustainable production of crops and

pastures under drought in a Mediterranean environment. - Ann. Appl. Biol., 144: 139-147.

VAVRINA C.S., ROKA F.M., 2000 - Comparison of plastic mulch and bareground production and economics for short-day onions in a semitropical environment. - HortTechnology, 10: 326-330.

ZINKERNAGEL J., SCHMIDT N., KAHLEN K., 2015 - Changing thermal growing season and climatic water balance affect irrigation and cultivation period of vegetables. -Procedia Environ. Sci., 29: 51-52.





(*) **Corresponding author:** marksroh@gmail.com

Citation:

KIM J.H., SUH J.K., YOON S.T., ROH M.S., 2020 -Production of seed-propagated compact potted Corylopsis plant in one year. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 61-69.

Copyright:

© 2020 Kim J.H., Suh J.K., Yoon S.T., Roh M.S. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 19 June 2019 Accepted for publication 25 October 2019

Production of seed-propagated compact potted *Corylopsis* plant in one year

J.H. Kim¹, J.K. Suh¹, S.T. Yoon², M.S. Roh^{3 (*)}

- ¹ Department of Environmental Horticulture, Dankook University, Cheonan, Chungnam, 31116, Korea.
- ² Department of Crop Science and Biotechnology, Dankook University, Cheonan, Chungnam, 31116, Korea.
- ³ The Institute of Natural Resources Development, Mokpo National University, Cheonggye-myeon, Muan-gun, Jeonnam, 58554, Korea.

Key words: Corylopsis coreana, Corylopsis sinensis var. calvescens, new ornamental plant, pinching, plant growth regulator, slow release fertilizer.

Abstract: The feasibility to produce compact Corylopsis sinensis var. calvescens and C. coreana plant in a 10 cm pot in one year from transplanting seedlings with maximized number of short shoots and inflorescences was investigated. Corylopsis sinensis var. calvescens was selected as a suitable species to produce compact plant with inflorescences. Slow release fertilizer (SRF) at a rate of 0, 0.125, 0.25, and 0.5 g per pot was applied to the surface of the growing medium (Expt. 1). Shoots were pinched 2 (Feb. 28), 4, 6, and 8 weeks (May 16) (Expt. 2) after transplanting, and ancymidol, paclobutrazol, chlormequat, and daminozide plant growth retardants were treated (Expt. 3). Application of a SRF at 0.5 g per pot and pinching four times at 2-week intervals before May 16 effectively increased the flowering percentages and the number of stems with inflorescences, to accelerate flowering, and also produced a compact plants. Paclobutrazol at 10-20 mg/L applied as soil drench was effective in inhibiting stem elongation in the first year; however, higher concentrations should be avoided to prevent excessive reduction in the growth of shoots and production of malformed inflorescences.

1. Introduction

The genus *Corylopsis* Siebold & Zucc., commonly known as Winter Hazel that flowers early in the spring in China and Korea, is a shrub or small tree. Most of the *Corylopsis* species grows tall reaching a height of 2-4 meters (Bean and Anisko, 2014). Flowers are bisexual and seeds are produced. Among 29 species, 19 species are endemic in China (Zhang *et al.*, 2003). *Chinensis sinensis* Hems. var. *calvescens* Rehder & E.H. Wilson is growing in the mountains in Guangxi, Sichuan, and Jiangxi, among other provinces in China (Zhang *et al.*, 2003) and *C. coreana* Uyeki (Son *et al.*, 2016) in a rather restricted area in Korea. All species are deciduous shrubs producing light yellow pendant racemes (inflorescence) measuring about 5 cm in length, followed by appearance of leaves (Fig. 1).

Corylopsis, one of many germplasms native and indigenous to China that includes an endangered Acer pentaphyllum Diels (Roh et al., 2008 b), are not well known to horticulturist, growers, and landscape industry, but has a great potential to develop as a new ornamental plant. Although Corylopsis may be available from rooted cuttings or tissue-cultured propagules for a mass propagation (Moon et al., 2002; Koh and Lim, 2006), the success of the rooting of cuttings depends on the season when cuttings were collected and may not provide a large number of plants (Kwon et al., 2011) and acclimatization of tissue culture propagules is not easy (Moon et al., 2002; Koh and Lim, 2006). Therefore, seeds are a viable alternative source for mass propagation and for forcing seedlings to flower. Suitable species should first be identified and then excessive stem elongation must be controlled using plant growth retardants (Currey and Lopez, 2016), and pinching combined with plant growth retardant treatment (Jeong, 2000).



Fig. 1 - Appearance of *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* at anthesis produced in a 10 cm pot from seeds. Clusters of flower buds (inflorescences) are well developed on long shoots.

Stem elongation can be inhibited by practices such as pinching shoots in many floral and ornamental plants, resulting in short plant height (Lee *et al.*, 2006; Latimer and Whipker, 2013). Growth and flowering is also affected by treatment with plant growth regulators. Among the many growth retardants, ancymidol (a-Cyclopropyl-a-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5pyrimidinemethanol), daminozide (Butanedioic acid mono(2,2-dimethylhydrazide), chlormequat (2-Chloro-*N*,*N*,*N*-trimethylethanaminium chloride), and paclobutrazol [(2RS, 3RS)-1-(4-Chlorophenyl)-4,4dimethyl-2-(1H-1,2,4-triazol-1-yl) penta-3-ol] have been used in many floral and ornamental plants to inhibit stem elongation (Currey and Lopez, 2016). Generally, ancymidol and paclobutrazol is effective when applied as a soil drench, and daminozide and chlormequat when applied as a foliar spray.

Germination of *Corylopsis* seeds as affected by warm and cold stratification and the X-ray imaging to separate full seeds from empty seeds is well documented (Kim et al., 2015, 2017, 2018). To produce compact and flowering Corylopsis plants in small pots in one year after transplanting seedlings, selection of proper species and the most suitable cultural practices should be identified. However, there is no report on the growth and flowering of Corylopsis starting from small propagules regardless of propagation methods: seed propagation, rooting of cuttings, and in vitro propagation. Shortening the total production time from 2-3 years to one year while ensuring the qualities of plants at flowering from seedlings in Lilium longiflorum Thunb. bulbils in L. ×elegans Thunb. and tissue-cultured propagules in interspecific hybrids between L. longiflorum and L. ×elegans was reviewed (Roh, 1992, 1996).

Production of *Corylopsis* in a small pot with inflorescence will attract and enable consumers to purchase at the nursery or the garden center in the early spring, and then plant them in the garden to enjoy the beauty of flowers for many years. The objectives of this research were (1) to select the species to grow starting from seeds in small pots, and to study the effect of (2) slow release fertilizer (SRF) treatments, (3) the pinching frequencies, and (4) plant growth retardant treatments to produce compact seed-propagated *Corylopsis* plants in 10 cm pots in one year from transplanting seedlings.

2. Materials and Methods

Preliminary field evaluation to select a suitable species for final evaluation

Seeds of 45 accessions (data not presented) including *C. glabrescens* (NA50804, Longwood 1997-0068B, Longwood Chimes), *C. spicata* (NA37208, NA40102, Arnold 7950A), *C. pauciflora* (NA37205, Longwood 1944-0213*H), and *C. vietchiana* (NA37208, NA65619) were sown between Oct. 2 and Nov. 2 and planted into 10 cm pot filled with ProMix BM (Premier Horticulture Inc., Quakertown, PA, USA) between Mar. 1 and Apr. 2, and grown in the field. The final evaluation based on the number of plants that flowered and the growth habits, *C. coreana* and *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* (NA 57391) (Roh *et al.*,

2008 a) were selected (Table 1) for evaluation in the next three experiments.

Effect of slow release fertilizer treatment on growth and flowering (Expt. 1)

About 200 seeds each of *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* and *C. coreana* were sown on Oct. 20, 2009 in a 15 cm pot and received temperature treatments [20°C (Oct. 21 - Dec. 1) and 5°C (Dec. 2, 2009 - Feb. 16, 2010)]. One seedling was transplanted per 10 cm pot filled with ProMix BM on Mar. 4, 2010. On Mar. 18, 2010 when seedlings formed 4 nodes, the main shoot was pinched leaving two pair of leaves.

Slow release fertilizer (SRF; Osmocote, 14 N - 6.2 P - 11.6K; Scotts Co., Marysville, OH, USA) was applied to the surface of the growing medium at transplanting seedlings at a rate of 0, 0.125, 0.25, and 0.5 g per 10 cm pot (Table 2). During the culture, plants were fertilized with 1.33 g/L of 15N - 7P - 12.8K water soluble fertilizer once a month.

Greenhouse day temperature was maintained at 21-22°C on Oct. 1, 15-17°C on Nov. 1, 13-14°C on Nov. 16, 10-12°C on Dec. 1, 7-8°C on Dec. 16, 2010 and at 4-5°C on Jan. 1, 21-24°C on Apr. 16, 2011, and was raised by 2.5°C every 2 weeks until Sept. 1, 2011. Night temperature was maintained 2°C lower than the day temperature. The number of weeks to flower counted from the date of transplanting seedlings to pots, and the number and length of nodes with inflorescences from the three longest shoots, and the number of nodes with 2 inflorescences was recorded from 15 plants per treatment. Flowering date was recorded when two florets each from two inflorescences reached anthesis, and data were subjected to the regression analysis for each species using Statistical Analysis System program (SAS, 2002).

Effect of pinching frequencies on growth and flowering (Expt. 2)

After sowing about 200 seeds as described in Expt. 1, seedlings were transplanted. On Mar. 18,

2010, 0.25 g of slow release fertilizer was applied to the surface of growing medium and the effect of pinching frequencies on *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* was evaluated. Shoots were either not-pinched or pinched 2 (Feb. 28), 4 (Apr. 18), 6 (May 2), and 8 weeks (May 16) after transplanting as outlined (Table 3). To the surface of the growing medium at transplanting seedlings 0.8 g of slow release fertilizer per pot was applied, and plants were fertilized with 1.33 g/L of 15N - 7P - 12.8K water soluble fertilizer once a month.

The number of weeks to flower, and the total number of shoots with flowers and flower buds, and the length and number of flowers from the first and second longest shoots was recorded from 15 plants per treatment. The number of days to flower was counted from the date of transplanting. Data were subjected to the analysis of variance (ANOVA) and means were compared with Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test.

Effect of growth retardants treatment on growth and flowering (Expt. 3)

Corylopsis sinensis var. calvescens seeds were sown and transplanted, and pinched as described in Expt. 1, and pinched again on May 26, 2010. Plants were grown in greenhouse maintained at 18-21°C/16-19°C (day/night) and then in greenhouse maintained at 22-25°C/20-23°C until July 6. To the surface of the growing medium at transplanting seedlings 0.8 g of slow release fertilizer per pot was applied, and plants were fertilized with 1.33 g/L of 15N - 7P - 12.8K water soluble fertilizer once a month.

Growth retardants were applied on Jul. 7, when new shoots were about 5-8 cm long. Each pot was treated with 25 mL of ancymidol [0.026% active ingredient (a.i.)] and paclobutrazol (0.4% a.i.) at 0, 10, 20, 40, and 80 mg/L was applied as a soil drench. Daminozide (85% a.i.) and chlormequat (11.8% a.i.) at 0, 2,500,

Table 1 - Evaluation of flowering and growth habit in the field C. coreana and C. sinensis var. calvescens

	Sood	20	008		200)9
Species	harvest	Germi- nation	Trans- planting	Flowering ^z	No. of plants ^y	Growth characteristics ×
C. coreana	2007	Mar. 6	Mar. 12	Mar. 19-25 (Mar. 21)	9 (21)	Upright (12), prostrate/upright (1)
C. sinensis var. calvescens	2007	Mar. 1	Apr. 2	Mar. 27-Apr. 7 (Apr. 2)	14 (16)	Upright (13), prostrate/upright (1)
	2008	Feb. 26	Apr. 8	Mar. 22-Apr. 3 (Mar. 28)	16 (16)	Upright (16)

² Range and mean of flowering.

^y Plants that produced inflorescence and the total number of plants evaluated (parenthesis).

* Number of plants (parenthesis) showing upright and prostrate growth characteristics.

5,000, 7,500, and 10,000 mg/L was applied as a foliar spray, and 200 mL of solution was applied to 15 plants. On Nov. 20, 2010, plants were grown in a greenhouse maintained at 4-5°C for cold treatment until Mar. 1, 2011.

Dates of flowering, when two florets from an inflorescence reached anthesis were recorded and the lengths of two longest shoots (shoot length A) per plant and shoots longer than 3 cm were counted on Jan. 16. Plants were moved outdoors on Mar. 27, and the new growth of two longest shoots (shoot length B) was also recorded on May 10, 2011. Data collected from 15 plants per treatment were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with plant growth retardants and concentration as variables.

3. Results

Selection of a suitable species for final evaluation

Following evaluation of 45 accessions including *C.* glabrescens, *C.* spicata, *C.* pauciflora, and *C.* vietchiana (data not presented), *C.* sinensis var. calvescens and *C.* coreana showing upright growth characteristics of shoots and flowering response were selectedfor the final evaluation. All accessions grew taller than 1.3 m and spread over 65 cm wide in case of *C.* spicata, but with a few inflorescence (data not presented). The selection criteria were based on the number of plants that had flowered exhibiting upright growth characteristics. In less than one year counting from the time of transplanting, 14 from 16 *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* plants flowered showing up-right growth (Table 1). *Corylopsis coreana* was also selected for its large foliage for its good fall foliage color, even though only nine out of 21 plants had flowered.

Effect of slow release fertilizer treatment on growth and flowering (Expt. 1)

The number of weeks to flower in 52 to 53 weeks in *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* and *C. coreana* was not affected by the rate of SRF treatments (Table 2). The number of total shoots and of shoots with inflorescences increased linearly with SRF treatment from 2.5 to 4.1 in *C. coreana* and from 2.1 to 4.1 in *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens*. The lengths of the three longest shoots also increased in both species, from 11.9 to 25.6 cm for the longest shoot, from 4.8 to 15.8 cm for the third shoots in *C. coreana*, and from 12.8 cm to 29.3 cm for the longest shoot in *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens*.

The number of nodes with inflorescences in all the three shoots of *C. coreana* received 0.5 g SRF treatment was 0.3 or less than 0.3 and there was only one node with more than 2 inflorescences. However, the number of nodes with inflorescence produced and the number of nodes with 2 inflorescences was higher in *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* than in *C. coreana*. The number was increased to 4.8 nodes in the first

Table 2 - The effect of slow release fertilizer treatment on the growth and flowering of *Corylopsis coreana* and *C. sinensis* var. calvescens²

Species	Slow release fertilizer	No. of weeks to	No. of total	Length (cm) of three longest shoots (SH)		No. of nodes with inflorescences ^x			
	(g/10 pot)	flower ^y	shoots	SH 1	SH2	SH 3	SH1	SH2	SH 3
C. coreana	0	52	2.5	11.9	6.7	4.8	0.1	0.1	0.0
	0.125	52	3.3	14.4	9.8	7.4	0.3	0.1	0.0
	0.25	53	4.6	20.3	13.6	10.1	0.1	0.0	0.0
	0.5	52	4.1	25.6	22.0	15.8	0.1	0.3	0.3
Regression analysis - linear effect *		NS	*	**	**	**	NS	NS	NS
C. sinensis var. calvescens	0	53	2.1	12.8	6.7	4.5	0.1	0.0	0.0
	0.125	53	2.9	14.3	9.9	7.5	0.8	0.7	0.0
	0.25	52	3.4	21.3	13.0	10.4	3.1	2.8	1.8
	0.5	52	4.1	29.3	21.8	19.8	4.8	4.4	2.7
Regression analysis - linear effect "		NS	**	**	**	**	*	*	*

² There was a significant difference between two species; data for each species were subjected to the linear regression analysis.

^v The number of weeks to flower was counted from the date of transplanting seedlings.

* Nodes with inflorescence that were formed on new growth by pinching.

^w Non-significant (NS), significant at P≤0.05 (*) and P≤0.01 (**).



Fig. 2 - Appearance of the *Corylopsis sinensis* var. *calvescens* plants in a 10 cm pot treated with 0.125, 0.25, and 0.5 g of slow release fertilizer per pot prior to leaf emergence and anthesis.

Effect of pinching frequencies on growth and flower-ing (Expt. 2)

Regardless of frequencies and timing of pinching, the flowering of *C.sinensis* var. *calvescens* occurred in 53 weeks (Table 3). Flowering ranged between 73 and 93%, and the highest flowering rate was recorded when pinched for 4 times at 2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks, yielding a significantly higher number of shoots with inflorescences (5.3) and consequently the highest number of inflorescences (22.1) compared with the control.

The length of the first and the second nonpinched shoot was 49.3 and 33 cm, respectively, with a difference of 16.3 cm (Table 3). However, when pinched 4 times, the lengths were 38.0 and 31.8 cm with a difference of 6.2 cm. The number of inflorescences in non-pinched and pinched shoots, which was 9.2 and 7.1 in the first shoot and 4.0 and 6.9 in the second shoot, respectively, did not vary significantly. However, the difference in the number of inflorescences (0.2) between the first and the second shoot was significantly lower in the pinched shoot compared with the non-pinched shoot (5.2). In general, when pinched, the difference in the inflorescences between the first and the second shoot was less than 1.9, which was significantly less than that of the control.

Effect of growth retardant treatments on growth and flowering (Expt. 3)

When plants were treated with ancymidol, chlormequat, and daminozide, flowering took 22 to 28 days regardless of treatment concentrations, which was not significantly different from that of control (Table 2). However, soil drench treatments with paclobutrazol (20 mg/L or higher concentrations) took longer than 36 days. Flowering percentage was higher than 60% when plants were treated with ancymidol, chlormequat, and daminozide, regardless of treatment concentrations.Treatment with 20 mg/L of paclobutrazol severely inhibited the extension of peduncle bearing inflorescence triggering the death of inflorescence immediately after

Table 3 - The effect of pinching frequencies on growth and flowering of Corylopsis sinensis var. calvescens

	Pinching ^z		Pinching ² No. of weeks to			Total shoots no. with	Flowers (Total	Shoot length (cm)			No. of nodes withinflorescences ^x		
2 Weeks	4 Weeks	6 Weeks	8 Weeks	flower ^y	%	inflores- cences	No.)	First shoot	Second shoot	Difference	First	Second shoot	Difference
x	х	x	x	53	87	2.9	17.2	49.3	33.0	16.3	9.2	4.0	5.2
0	х	х	x	53	87	2.1	12.8	49.0	38.8	10.2	6.9	6.8	0.1
0	0	х	х	54	73	2.4	13.1	47.1	35.5	11.6	6.4	4.8	1.6
0	0	0	х	53	87	3.5	18.5	41.6	35.2	6.4	6.8	5.7	1.1
0	0	0	0	53	93	5.3	22.1	38.0	31.8	6.2	7.1	6.9	0.2
0	х	0	0	53	87	4.3	17.3	32.4	29.2	3.2	5.7	5.2	0.5
0	0	х	0	54	80	3.1	10.4	37.3	26.0	11.3	4.7	3.9	0.8
0	x	0	х	53	73	3.3	14.8	39.5	29.8	9.7	6.5	6.3	0.2
0	x	х	0	53	87	3.3	16.3	39.0	22.2	16.8	7.6	5.7	1.9
Level of sigr	nificance ^w												
HSD at P<0.	05			NS	-	0.94	3.58	8.25	5.61	5.82	4.27	3.84	1.59

² Not pinched (x) or pinched (o) 2 (Feb. 28), 4 (Apr. 18), 6 (May 2), and 8 weeks (May 16) after transplanting.

^y The number of weeks to flower was counted from the date of transplanting seedlings.

* Nodes with inflorescence induced by pinching.

^w Non-significant (Ns) or significance at P≤0.05, F-test.

emergence following leaf emergence (Fig. 3). Therefore, days to flower were estimated on the date of leaf emergence. Flowering percentage was significantly reduced to less than 30% when plants were treated at 20 and 40 mg/L paclobutrazol.

When shoot lengths following 80 mg/L ancymidol were recorded on Jan. 16 (26 weeks after growth retardant treatment), the length of the first and the second longest shoots was significantly reduced from 26.3 cm to 15.6 cm and from 16.4 cm to 12.2 cm, respectively (Table 4).

The length of the two longest shoots treated with daminozide and chlormequat showed similar trends as observed in plants treated with ancymidol. The length of the two longest shoots was significantly reduced to 12.9 cm and 9.8 cm following treatment with 10 mg/L paclobutrazol (Fig. 3), responding to the quadratic effect of concentrations. The length of shoot B showing new growth on May 10 was significantly inhibited to less than 5.0 cm when treated with paclobutrazol. The number of shoots longer than 3 cm varied from 4.8 to 5.7, from 3.8 to 4.8, 4.3 to 5.5, and 5.0 to 3.9 upon treatment with ancymidol, chlormequat, daminozide, and paclobutrazol, respectively. The numbers were not affected by concentrations of these three retardants (data not presented).



Fig. 3 - Corylopsis sinensis var. calvescens in a 10 cm pot treated with 25 mL of 40 mg/L paclobutrazol (A). Blasted inflorescences (arrow) and emerging of dark green leaves of reduced size indicate excessive doses of paclobutrazol (B). Photographed on Mar. 27, 2011.

4. Discussion and Conclusions

Successful acclimatization rate of in vitro propagated C. coreana was low (Moon et al., 2002) and limited time of the season to propagate by rooting of cuttings (Kwon et al., 2011) are the limiting factors for mass propagation to secure sufficient and uniform propagules for experiments, and further, reports are not available on flowering of in vitro propagules and rooted cuttings. This clearly indicates that seeds can be used as a propagule to produce sufficient number of seedlings to produceflowering plants in a year from transplanting seedlingsby various cultural practices reported in this study. The morphological characteristics of C. sinensis var. *calvescens* are suitable to produce in 10 cm pots compared with C. coreana, if stem elongation can be controlled and many shoots with well-developed inflorescences can be formed (Fig. 1).

Growth and flowering as influenced by slow release fertilizer (SRF)

There is a clear difference between *C. coreana* and *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* responding to SRF application per 10 cm pot. Responding to the increased rates of slow release fertilizer, especially at 0.5 g SRF application, and *C. sinensis* var. *sinensis* is recommended to produce as a 10 cm potted plant in one year as the number of inflorescences and of nodes with more than two inflorescences are increased. Production of *C. coreana* may not be recommended due to fewer numbers of nodes with inflorescences and only 0.1 node produced more than 2 inflorescences.

Growth and flowering as influenced by pinching and growth retardant treatments

Stem length is one of the limitations to produce compact *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* in small pots, which can be reduced either by pinching or growth retardant treatments. Manual or mechanical pinching is associated with increased labor costs. Treatment with growth retardant may not induce branching when compared with pinching.

Pinching shoots four times in 2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks prior to May 2 is an effective cultural practice to produce compact plants for small pots without affecting days to flowering and flowering percentage. The increase in the number of shoots with inflorescences, the total number of inflorescences, and the number of nodes with inflorescences may result from an increased number of shoots that are formed prior to the development of inflorescence, which may occur

Table 4 -	Growth and flowering of Co.	rylopsis sinensis var.	calvescens as influenced	l by growth retardant	treatments
-----------	-----------------------------	------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------	------------

Plant growth regulator	No. of days to flower (Mar. 1) (flowering	Shoot lenght A (cm) (Jan. 16, 2011 ²)		Shoot length B (cm) of new growth (May 10, 2011)		
	percent)	FIR ^y	SEC	FIR	SEC	
Ancymidol (soil drench) (mg/L)	· · ·					
0	22 (60)	26.3	16.4	21.0	20.0	
10	23 (80)	28.4	17.5	20.2	19.4	
20	24 (70)	27.9	21.7	20.2	20.0	
40	25 (70)	23.9	19.1	21.9	17.9	
80	25 (60)	15.6	12.2	16.5	16.3	
Regression analysis	NS	L*	L*	NS	NS	
Paclobutrazol (soil drench) (mg/L)						
0	22 (60)	24.7	20.0	24.0	20.0	
10	28 ^w (50)	12.9	9.8	5.0	3.5	
20	38 ^w (30)	11.2	8.1	1.7	1.2	
40	36 ^w (10)	10.3	7.9	1.3	0.8	
80	36 ° (30)	11.0	8.5	1.1	0.6	
Regression analysis ^x	-	Q**	Q**	Q**	Q**	
Chlormequat (foliar spray) (mg/L)						
0	22 (70)	28.9	20.3	23.1	20.9	
2.5	22 (80)	35.1	24.9	22.9	20.1	
5	25 (70)	26.5	20.0	18.3	18.1	
7.5	27 (60)	23.7	14.5	17.9	17.0	
10	25 (70)	24.3	18.5	20.2	19.9	
Regression analysis	NS	L*	NS	NS	NS	
Daminozide (foliar spray) (mg/L)						
0	23 (60)	29.2	23.0	21.0	19.9	
2.5	27 (80)	33.3	23.5	23.5	18.5	
5	25 (70)	28.5	22.0	22.5	18.9	
7.5	25 (60)	29.3	22.7	22.7	19.1	
10	27 (70)	25.5	19.5	21.2	18.5	
Regression analysis	NS	L*	NS	NS	NS	
Level of significance ^v						
Growth retardant (PGR)	NS	***	***	***	* * *	
Concentratio	NS	**	*	*	*	
PGR × Concentration	NS	**	**	**	**	

^z Data collected from over-wintered plants.

^y Length of the first (FIR) and second (SEC) longest shoots.

 Analysis was not carried out due to the estimated days of flowering and low flowering percentage, and regression analysis was performed for each growth retardant. Linear (L) and quadratic (Q) effect.

 Days to flower following paclobutrazol treatment were recorded upon leaf emergence following the death of inflorescence. Generally, about 15 days elapsed between flowering and the appearance of leaf emergence.

V Non-significant (NS) or significance at P<0.05 (*), 0.01 (**) or 0.001 (***), F-test.</p>

after May 2. Since the time of floral bud initiation has not been examined anatomically, it requires further studies. Increase in the number of lateral shoots and flowers were increased as the pinching frequencies in *Sedum rotundifolium* D.B. was increased (Jeong, 2000). The length of shoots exceeding 30 cm following pinching is considered excessive for producing *Corylopsis* in a 10 cm pot.

Flowering of *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* plants treated with ancymidol, chlormequat, and

daminozide that produced higher than 60% plants with inflorescences regardless of treatment concentrations did not differ significantly from that of control. The longest shoot length (A) on Jan. 16 responding linear effect to ancymidol, chlormequat and daminozide was the shortest, especially when treated with 80 ppm ancymidol. Ancymidol is,therefore, recommended for *C. sinensis* var. *calvescens* in 10 cm pot. Since the length of new shoot (B) on May 16 was not affected, the effect of these three plant growth retardants may not last long when compared with paclobutrazol. A single application of ancymidol is not effective and may require two treatments to produce quality *Mussaenda* 'Queen Sirikit' as a shortstemmed potted plant without reducing the number of flowers per plant and delaying the flowering (Cramer and Bridgen, 1998). Application of ancymidol requires further testing since growth retarding effects of ancymidol do not persist as reported in *L. lancifolium* Thunb. (Roh, 1979) and shoot length is increased under a long day photoperiod during June or July as observed in *L. longiflorum* (Roh and Wilkins, 1977).

Soil drench treatment with paclobutrazol 20 mg/L or higher concentrations which took longer than 36 days to flower (Table 4) compared with 22 days with the control. When treated with 20 mg/L of paclobutrazol, the extension of peduncle-bearing inflorescence was severely inhibited resulting in the death of inflorescence immediately following leaf emergence, thus lowering the flowering rate from 60% to 10% (Fig. 3). Shoot length was arrested under any paclobutrazol treatment which is undesirable.

Although 10-20 mg/L paclobutrazol as a soil drench is considered effective to reduce shoot length, the growth of new shoots and inflorescence development is significantly arrested even a year later, which may require double treatments at low concentrations, i. e., 5 mg/L to avoid severe growth retardation and malformation of inflorescence. A single foliar spray of 500 mg/L paclobutrazol may be used to test produce compact flowering plants as reported in *Rhododendron* hybrids, which is a woody ornamental (Wilkinson and Richards, 1991).

Generally paclobutrazol was not effective in Mussaenda at 0.125-0.25 mg a.i. per pot as a soil drench compared with ancymidol and daminozide (Cramer and Bridgen, 1998), which is considered effective in producing compact plants with accelerated flowering although 0.4 g a.i. per pot increased the number of flowers, producing malformed and unacceptable of Rhododendron 'Sir Robert Peel' (Wilkinson and Richards, 1991). Shoot length of poinsettia (Euphorbis pucherrima Wild. ex Klotzch) was reduced by daminozide and chlormequat treatments without affecting the flowering (Lewis et al., 2004). Combined treatment with chlormequat and daminozide can also be considered as reported to be effective to retard stem elongation of zonal (cutting) geraniums [Pelargonium ×hortorum (L.H. Bailey)] (Tayama and Carver, 1990).

Due to the long-lasting inhibitory effect of

paclobutrazol on shoot elongation and reduction in leaf size when applied as a soil drench, a malformation of inflorescence and formation of inflorescences after leaf emergence result in a lower percentage of plants with inflorescences in both species in this study and in other woody ornamentals such as *Dissotis rotundifolia* (Sm.) Triana and *Tibouchina forthergillae* ×*pilosa* (Hawkins *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, paclobutrazol is not recommended to use as a soil drench in *Corylopsis*. The optimum dosages require further study comparing the effect of soil drench and foliar spray. A spray treatment of paclobutrazol may be considered as the quality of *Dianthus caryophyllus* L., cv. Mondriaan was improved (Bañón *et al.*, 2002).

This is the first report providing practical and horticultural strategies to produce flowering *Corylopsis* plants in small pots with a great potential to utilize under-utilized native plants as ornamental and nursery plant starting from seeds. *Corylopsis sinensis* var. *calvescens* indigenous to China is a suitable species as compared to *C. coreana* native to Korea to produce from seeds with application of slow release fertilizer at 0.5 g per pot and pinching for four times at 2-week interval before May 16 to reduce shoot elongation, to increase flowering percentage, and to accelerate flowering with increased number of inflorescences.

Treatments with ancymidol as a soil drench and daminozide and chlormequat as a foliar spray at all concentrations evaluated in this study were not effective to produce compact plants as compared to paclobutrazol treatment. Soil drench treatment with paclobutrazol at 10-20 mg/L is considered effective in reducing shoot elongation the first year. However, the inhibitory effects of paclobutrazol last longer than a year, and appear resulting in malformation of inflorescences in the second year. Therefore, investigation on selecting appropriate treatment methods and concentrations of paclobutrazol to reduce shoot elongation without triggering malformation of inflorescence is needed. The time of floral initiation and development in relation to pinching treatment needs to be determined as well.

References

BAÑÓN S., GONZALEZ A., CANO E.A., FRANCO J.A., 2002 -Growth, development and colour response of potted Dianthus caryophyllus cv. Mondriaan to paclobutrazol treatment. - Scientia Hort., 94: 371-377.

- BEAN E., ANISKO T., 2014 Captivating Corylopsis. https://www.amerinursery.com/growing/captivating corylopsis/.
- CRAMER C.S., BRIDGEN M.P., 1998 Growth regulator effects on plant height of potted Mussaenda 'Queen Sirikit'. - HortScience, 33: 78-81.
- CURREY C.J., LOPEZ R.G., 2016 Commercial greenhouse and nursery production. Applying plant growth retardants for height control. - Purdue Extension. HD-248-W. Purdue University. https://www.extension.purdue.edu/extmedia/ho/ho-248-w.pdf.
- HAWKINS S.M., RUTER J.M., ROBACKER C.D., 2015 Spray and drench treatments of paclobutrazol influence of growth of Dissotis and Tibouchina. - HortScience, 50: 1514-1517.
- JEONG J.H., 2000 Effects of pinching and growth regulators on growth and flowering of Sedum rotundifolium. -J. Korean Soc. Hort. Sci., 41: 105-108 (In Korean with English summary).
- KIM J.H., KIM K.O., LEE A.K., ROH M.S., SUH J.K., 2017 -Germination of Corylopsis seeds evaluated by X-ray imaging and cold stratification. - Hort. Sci., (Prague), 44:105-111.
- KIM J.H., LEE A.K., SUH J.K., 2015 Effect of warm and cold stratification, ethanol treatment on germination of Corylopsis seeds. - Hort. Sci. (Prague), 43: 84-92.
- KIM J.H., SUH J.K., YOON S-T., JOURDAN P., ROH M.S., 2018 - Germination of fully developed Corylopsis seeds influenced by harvest date and cold stratification. -HortScience, 53: 1360-1363.
- KOH G.C., LIM D.K., 2006 In vitro *propagation of Korean native winter hazel* (Corylopsis coreana). - Kor. J. Hort. Sci. Technol., 24: 272-278.
- KWON S.T., KIM J.C., JEONG J.H., 2011 Change of root potential as affected by rooting promoter treatment in cuttings of Corylopsis coreana. - Kor. Soc. Floric. Sci., 19(4): 202-205 (In Korean with English abstract).
- LATIMER J., WHIPKER B., 2013 Selecting and using plant growth regulators on floricultural crops. - Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, VA, USA, Publication 430-102 (HORT-43P), pp. 32.
- LEE J.H., KIM K.S., SONG C.Y., 2006 Effects of pinching and retardants on growth and flowering of Celosia argentea native to Korea. - Kor. J. Plant Res., 19: 573-579 (In

Korean with English abstract).

- LEWIS K.P., FAUSTAND J.E., SPARKMAN IV J.D., 2004 The effect of daminozide and chlormequat on the growth and flowering of poinsettia and pansy. HortScience, 39: 1315-1318.
- MOON H.K., NOH E.W., HA Y.M., SHIM K.K., 2002 -*Micropropagation of juvenile and mature tree of* Corylopsis coreana *by axillary bud culture*. - Kor. J. Plant Biotechnol., 29: 117-121 (in Korean with English abstract).
- ROH M.S., 1992 A method for producing Lilium elegans. U.S. Patent No. 5,138,794.
- ROH M.S., 1996 New production technology of Lilium. A review on propagation and forcing. - Acta Horticulturae, 414: 219-228.
- ROH M.S., LEE A.K., SUH J.K., BORDELON C.M., 2008 a -Interspecific variations in seed germination of Corylopsis. - Scientia Hort., 118: 347-350.
- ROH M.S., McNAMARA W.A., PICTON D., YIN K., WANG Q., 2008 b - Assessment of genetic variation in Acer pentaphyllum based on amplified fragment length polymorphisms. - J. Hort. Sci.& Biotech., 83: 725-731.
- ROH S.M., 1979 Various factors influencing the growth and flowering of Lilium lancifolium Thunb. - J. Kor. Soc. Hort. Sci., 20: 72-83.
- ROH S.M., WILKINS H.F., 1977 The influence and interaction of ancymidol and photoperiod on growth of Lilium longiflorum Thunb. - J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 102: 255-257.
- SAS, 2002 SAS proprietary software version 9.00. -Statistical Analysis System Institute, Inc., Cary, NC, USA.
- SON S.-W., KIM H., KIM Y.-S., 2016 Corylopsis coreana. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T72136190A72136238.- http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/ IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T72136190A72136238.en.
- TAYAMA H.K., CARVER S.A., 1990 Zonal geranium growth and flowering responses to six growth regulators. -HortScience, 25: 82-83.
- WILKINSON R.I., RICHARDS D., 1991 Influence of paclobutrazol on growth and flowering of Rhododendron 'Sir Robert Peel'. - HortScience, 26:282-284.
- ZHANG Z., ZHANG H., ENDRES P.K., 2003 Hamalelidaceae.
 Flora of China, 9: 18-42. 16. http://flora.huh.harvard. edu/china/mss/volume09/Hamamelidaceae.pdf.




M. Shiraishi ^(*), H. Asakuma

Fukuoka Agricultural and Forestry Research Center, Chikushino 818-8549, Japan.

Key words: breeding stock, Diospyros kaki Thunb., flesh juiciness, sweetness value.

Abstract: To promote persimmon breeding project, we analyzed the sugar composition (a ratio of sucrose to hexose sugars, SH ratio) and flesh juiciness of 43 persimmon cultivars (Diospyros kaki Thunb.) consisting of 24 pollination-constant non-astringent (PCNA)-types and 19 non-PCNA-types, together with other fruit quality traits. The cultivar collection includes newly-released cultivars after 1990 and commercially-produced local cultivars in Japan. These cultivars were broadly classified into three types: sucrose accumulators, intermediate accumulators, hexose accumulators. Analysis of variance showed that the genotypic effect on the SH ratio and flesh juiciness is high with negligibly small environmental variance, indicating that SH ratio and flesh juiciness can be determined by a one-year trial without tree replication. Highly varietal diversity in the SH ratio and flesh juiciness was observed within and between persimmon cultivar types. Sweetness value (SSC × SH ratio) of the cultivars/selections seems to be a useful predictor of fruit sweetness. In terms of palatability, however, persimmon cultivar's improvement should be performed on the sweetness value in association with flesh juiciness.

1. Introduction

Persimmon (*Diospyros kaki* Thunb.) is believed to have originated in Eastern Asia, is produced worldwide including in Azerbaijan, Brazil, China, Iran, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, New Zealand, and Spain (FAOSTAT, 2017). A number of local varieties has been developed in China, Korea, and Japan during a long history of domestication (Parfitt *et al.*, 2015; Sato and Yamada, 2016; Yesiloglu *et al.*, 2018). Persimmon cultivars can be classified into four types: pollination-constant astringent (PCA); pollination-variant astringent (PVA); pollination-variant non-astringent (PCNA), based on seed formation, change in flesh color, and nature of astringency loss (Hume, 1914; Ikeda *et al.*, 1985; Yonemori *et al.*, 2000). Among these types, fruits of PCA- and PVA-type cultivars are always astringent without postharvest treatment such as application of carbon dioxide gas or ethanol vapor. PVNA-type cultivars require pollination and seed formation to lose astringency as well as flesh



(*) Corresponding author: mikioshi@farc.pref.fukuoka.jp

Citation:

SHIRAISHI M., ASAKUMA H., 2020 - Varietal differences in sweetness value and flesh juiciness among persimmon. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 71-79.

Copyright:

© 2020 Shiraishi M., Asakuma H. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests:

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 19 July 2019 Accepted for publication 12 November 2019 browning. Fruits of PCNA-type cultivars naturally lose their astringency because they terminate accumulating tannins at early fruit development stage. In particular, PCNA-type persimmon cultivars are highly desired for fresh consumption on a worldwide level.

Regarding eating quality of PCNA-type cultivar, the great stress is laid upon the evaluation of soluble solids content (SSC, °Brix) using refractometer because sugars generally contribute a very large proportion to the SSC in the ripening stage (reviewed by Giordani et al., 2011). However, Ban et al. (2010) and Mitani et al. (2015) postulated that flesh juiciness is a decisieve parameter to determine the texture of persimmon fruit, where fruits with higher firmness had a tendency to be less juicy as observed in apple (Harker et al., 2003). On the other hand, the percentage sucrose in flesh significantly affects the sweetness of fruit, such as East Asian pear (Kajiura et al., 1979), oriental melon (Zhang and Li, 2005), peach (Suzuki et al., 1990; Cirilli et al., 2016) and strawberry (Sone et al., 2000). Thus, understanding how varietal differences influence sugar composition will provide valuable information for genetic improvement of the palatability of persimmon fruit in future breeding programs. Giordani et al. (2011) classified worldwide persimmon cultivars such as 'Atago', 'Fuyu', 'Rojo Brillante' and 'Triumph' into three groups based on the cluster analysis of sugar composition. To date, however, there has been no comprehensive research on the sugar composition of the recent Japanese PCNA- and non-PCNA-type cultivars. Since 1990, new PCNA- and non-PCNA-type persimmon cultivar have been released in Japan by the National Institute of Fruit Tree Science (Yakushiji and Nakatsuka, 2007; Yamada et al., 2012 a, b). These new cultivars have large sized fruit, brilliant skin color, and are highly palatable, but their sugar composition remains largely unknown.

Asakuma and Shiraishi (2017) showed that genotypic effect of sugar composition (SH ratio) and flesh juiciness is significantly high, whereas the year, genotype × year interaction, among trees within genotype, and tree × year interaction is small or negligible. In experimental field of the current study, we have preserved a Japanese persimmon cultivar collection of both PCNA- and non-PCNA-type cultivars as breeding stocks since 1980. Although the total number of preserved cultivars is less than 50, the cultivar collection includes newly-released cultivars after 1990 and commercially-produced local cultivars in Japan. In the present study, we (1) re-confirmed small year variability in the sugar composition and flesh juiciness by the analysis of variance, and (2) discussed varietal differences in the sugar composition and flesh juiciness among persimmon cultivars in association with palatability.

2. Materials and Methods

Plant materials for yearly variation of sugar composition

Four PCNA-type cultivars of Japanese persimmon ('Akiou', 'Fuyu', 'Matsumotowase-Fuyu', 'Taishu') were used. These cultivars are grown for commercially marketable fruit production by normal cultural practices, including pruning, flower and fruit thinning, irrigation, soil and pest management (Yamada, 2006) in an open-field of the Fukuoka Agricultural and Forestry Research Center, Fukuoka, Japan (33°50' N and 130°57' E). According to the reference value derived from our annual survey from 2008 to 2015 (Table S1), mature representative eight fruits per tree were sampled from three trees per genotype for late-October to late-November in 2014 to 2016 seasons depending on each cultivar's optimal ripening time and skin color.

The statistical fixed-effect model (Table S2) that we adopted to express the phenotypic value (Asakuma and Shiraishi, 2017) is:

$$P_{ijkc} = m + G_i + Y_k + (GY_{ik}) + T_{ij} + (TY_{ijk}) + E_{ijkc}$$

where P_{ijkc} is the phenotypic value of the *c*th fruit of the *j*th tree of the *i*th genotype in the *k*th year; *m* is the overall mean; G_i is an effect contributed by the *i*th genotype; Y_k is an effect of the *k*th year; GY_{ik} is the interaction between the *i*th genotype and the *k*th year; T_{ij} is an effect of the *j*th tree of the *i*th genotype; TY_{ijk} is the interaction between the *j*th tree of the *i*th genotype and the *k*th year; and E_{ijkc} is an effect of the *c*th fruit of the *j*th tree of the *i*th genotype in the *k*th year. ANOVA provided the variance associated with genotype (σ_{gy}^{2}), among years (σ_{y}^{2}), genotype × year interaction (σ_{gy}^{2}), among trees within genotypes (σ_t^{2}), tree × year interaction (σ_{ty}^{2}) and among fruits within tree (σ^{2}).

Plant materials for varietal difference in sugar composition

A total of 43 of Japanese persimmon cultivars consisting of 23 PCNA-types (Fig. S1), 9 PVNA-types (Fig. S2), 6 PVA-types (Fig. S3), and 5 PCA-types (Fig. S4) was analyzed in 2016. Cultural practices were conformed to Plant materials for yearly variation of sugar composition. Depending on the optimal ripening time of the cultivar, five to eight mature fruits per one-tree of each cultivar were harvested from late-September to early-December in 2016 season according to the reference values based on abovedescribed cultivation records (Table S1). Classification of fruit ripening time was performed in accordance with the definitions by Yamada et al. (1995). Fruit shape index, FSI (longitudinal diameter/transverse diameter) was defined according to Maeda et al. (2018) with slight modifications (Fig. S5). Cracking of apex and calyx-end of fruit was examined by UPOV guideline (UPOV, 2004). Astringency removal of PCAand PVA-type cultivars was performed by treatment with either ethanol vapor or carbon dioxide gas depending on the cultivar (Yamada, 2006). The sampled fruit was weighed, and each fruit was horizontally cut to measure fruit skin color, flesh firmness, flesh juiciness, soluble solids content (SSC, °Brix), and sugar composition.

Analysis of fruit quality traits

Fruit skin color, flesh firmness, flesh juiciness, soluble solids content, and sugar composition was measured according to Asakuma and Shiraishi (2017). Fruit skin color around fruit apex was measured using a chromameter (CR-300, Minoruta, Tokyo, Japan), and expressed as the value of color chart following formula:

Color chart (CC) = - 9.485 Ln (hue angle) + 44.503, R² = 0.9278.

Flesh firmness (kg) was determined by a handheld universal pressure tester with a 5.0-mm-diameter ×10.0-mm-height columnar plunger (KM-5, FUJI-WARA SCIENTIFIC, Tokyo, Japan). Fifteen to 20 g of peeled flesh was weighed and wrapped in one layer of medical gauze. After hand-pressing (only one press) for 15 s, the squeezed juice (flesh juiciness) was measured using a 25-mL mess cylinder and expressed as mL g⁻¹ FW. Soluble solids content (SSC) of the resulting juice samples was determined as the °Brix value using a portable calibrated electronic refractometer (PAL-1, Atago, Tokyo, Japan).

For the analysis of sugar composition, 8 to 10 g of peeled flesh was weighed and transferred to a 50-mL heat-tolerant tube and partially screw-capped. The flesh sample was immediately microwave-irradiated at 730 W for 60 s before extracting the sugars. The irradiated sample was ground in a laboratory blender with ~40 mL deionized water. The puree was cen-

trifuged at 5000 × g at 25°C for 10 min. The resulting supernatant was brought to 50 mL with deionized water and filtered through a 0.45-µm filter. Sugar composition was analyzed using a HPLC (LC-10A, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) consisting of a SCL-10A system controller, LC-10AD pumps, a CTO-10A column oven, and a RID-10A refractive index detector. The column (SCR-101N, 7.9 × 300 mm, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) was operated at 60°C with 0.8 mL min⁻¹ of water. The injection volume was 10 to 20 µL.

3. Results and Discussion

Variation in sugar composition

HPLC profiles of sugar composition were obtained from persimmon cultivars examined with three major peaks assigned as sucrose, glucose, and fructose, respectively, thereby expressing as the SH ratio, a ratio of sucrose to hexose sugars (Hirano *et al.*, 1995). As shown in figure 1, we classified persimmon cultivars into three types according to Zheng and Sugiura (1990) with slight modification; sucrose accumulators (percentage sucrose \geq 55.1%, SH ratio \geq 1.23), intermediate accumulators (percentage sucrose in 45.0 to 55.0%, SH ratio in 0.82 to 1.22), hexose accumulators (percentage sucrose \leq 44.9%, SH ratio \leq 0.81). Previous studies have shown that the



Fig. 1 - Sugar composition of persimmon cultivars from the HPLC analysis. A: Sucrose accumulators ['Fuyu (PCNA-type)', 'Akagaki (PVNA-type)', 'Atago (PCA-type)']; B: Intermediate accumulator ['Maekawajiro (PCNA-type)', 'Saefuji (PVNA-type)', 'Aizumishirazu (PVA-type)']; C: Hexose accumulators ['Soshu (PCNA-type)', 'Nishimurawase (PVNA-type)', 'Hiratanenashi (PVAtype)'] PCA: pollination-constant astringent PVA: pollination-variant astringent PVNA: pollination-variant nonastringent PCNA: pollination-constant non-astringent. sucrose percentage in persimmon cultivar ranged between 12 and 70%, resulting in varietal difference in the sugar composition or SH ratio (Tsuji and Komiyama, 1987; Zheng and Sugiura, 1990; Hirano *et al.*, 1995; Hirai *et al.*, 2004; Suzuki *et al.*, 2010; Asakuma and Shiraishi, 2017). Sugar profiles of PCNA- and non-PCNA-types from well-known cultivars such as 'Atago' (sucrose accumulator), 'Hiratanenashi' (hexose accumulator), 'Soshu' (hexose accumulator) and 'Fuyu' (sucrose accumulator) in previous reports are in agreement with those in the present study.

Table 1 shows highly varietal difference in the SH ratio among the PCNA-type cultivars, especially for

Mid- to Late-Oct. ripening ones. In cultivars as sucrose accumulators, large amounts of sucrose recorded in 'Sodawase (SH ratio = 3.29)' followed by 'Okugosho (SH ratio = 2.35)', 'Hanagosho (SH ratio = 2.17)', 'Suruga (SH ratio = 2.02)', 'Fuyu (SH ratio = 1.93)', and 'Shinshu (SH ratio = 1.89)'. In the hexose accumulator, large amounts of hexose were present in 'Kishu (SH ratio = 0.21)', 'Soshu (SH ratio = 0.23)', 'Izu (SH ratio = 0.35)', followed by 'Tenjingosho (SH ratio = 0.61)', 'Taishu (SH ratio = 0.64)' and 'Taiga (SH ratio = 0.67)'. Among the remainders, sucrose and hexose seemed to be accumulated approximately equal amounts with 1.10 in SH ratio ('Maekawajiro'), 1.03 in SH ratio ('Misatogosho'), and 0.96 in SH ratio ('Reigyoku').

Table 1 - Sugar composition of pollination-constant non-astringent (PCNA) type of Japanese persimmon cultivars in 2016

Fruit ripening time/	Sugar co	ompositio	on (g 100 g	5 ⁻¹ FW)	Sugar	composit	ion (%)	Type of sugar SH Sweetnes	Sweetness	Flesh s juiciness	
cultivar or selection	Sucrose	Glucose	Fructose	Total	Sucrose	Glucose	Fructose	e accumulation ratio		value	(mL g ⁻¹ FW)
Early-Oct.											
Soushu	1.98	4.96	4.60	11.5	17.2	43.0	39.9	Hexose	0.21	3.1	0.27
Mid-Oct.											
lzu	3.03	4.53	4.22	11,8	25.7	38.5	35.8	Hexose	0.35	5.3	0.29
Shinshuu	9.32	2.62	2.32	14.3	65.4	18.4	16.3	Sucrose	1.89	32.3	0.22
Late-Oct.											
Sodawase	11.66	1.90	1.64	15.2	76.7	12.5	10.8	Sucrose	3.29	58.9	0.27
Reigyoku	6.44	3.59	3.12	13.2	49.0	27.3	23.7	Intermediate	0.96	16.1	0.36
Taiga	5.25	4.21	3.68	13.1	40.0	32.0	28.0	Hexose	0.67	11.1	0.32
Kanshu	5.93	3.87	3.48	13.3	44.7	29.1	26.2	Hexose	0.81	13.2	0.17
Kishu	2.66	5.90	5.56	14.1	18.8	41.8	39.4	Hexose	0.23	3.4	0.24
Taishu	5.30	4.52	3.76	13.6	39.0	33.3	27.7	Hexose 0.64		10.1	0.35
Maekawajiro	6.83	3.48	2.71	13.0	52.5	26.7	20.8	Intermediate	1.10	18.2	0.22
Tenjingosho	6.00	5.33	4.46	15.8	38.0	33.8	28.2	Hexose	0.61	10,5	0.17
Early-Nov.											
Akiou	9.14	3.40	2.68	15.2	60.1	22.3	17.6	Sucrose	1.57	27.6	0.38
Misatogosho	7.37	4.18	2.96	14.5	50.8	28.8	20.4	Intermediate	1.03	18.6	0.23
Uenishiwase	7.63	3.35	2.48	13.5	56.7	24.9	18.4	Sucrose	1.31	20.8	0.13
Matsumotowase-Fuyu	9.16	2.85	2.41	14.4	63.5	19.8	16.7	Sucrose	1.74	26.8	0.27
Mid-Nov.											
Mushirodagosho	5.53	3.77	3.57	12.9	43.0	29.3	27.7	Hexose	0.75	10.8	0.33
Youhou	5.99	4.17	4.11	14.3	42.0	29.2	28.8	Hexose	0.72	12.2	0.18
Late-Nov.											
Fuyu	9.79	2.75	2.32	14.9	65.9	18.5	15.6	Sucrose	1.93	31.7	0.27
Okitsu-20 (Ro-19)	8.64	3.61	3.06	15.3	56.4	23.6	20.0	Sucrose	1.30	25.5	0.31
Taiho	7.92	3.50	2.88	14.3	55.4	24.5	20.1	Sucrose	1.24	21.2	0.36
Early-Dec.											
Okugosho	9.43	2.14	1.88	13.5	70.1	15.9	14.0	Sucrose	2.35	43.0	0.24
Suruga	8.86	2.26	2.13	13.3	66.9	17.1	16.1	Sucrose	2.02	35.4	0.26
Hanagosho	9.03	2.20	1.96	13.2	68.5	16.7	14.9	Sucrose	2.17	37.1	0.25

Fruit ripening time (*Late-Sep., Early- to Late-Oct., Early- to Late-Nov., Early-Dec.*) was classified according to Yamada *et al.* (1995). SH ratio= sucrose [g 100 g⁻¹ FW] / hexoses (glucose + fructose) [g 100 g⁻¹ FW].

Sweetness value= soluble solids content (reference value in Table S1) x SH ratio.

In the PVNA-type cultivars (Table 2), 'Nishimurawase' (SH = 0.47) was hexose accumulator, whereas the sucrose accumulators had SH ratios, varing from 1.83 ('Akagaki') to 2.77 ('Rendaiji'). The SH ratio of intermediate accumulators ranged from 0.86 ('Fudegaki') to 1.22 ('Zenjimaru'). PCA-type cultivars (Table 3) were all sucrose accumulators, except for 'Kawazokogaki' in SH ratio of 1.12 (intermediate accumulator). Conversely, most PVA-type cultivars (Table 3) could be classified as hexose accumulators, with SH ratios ranging from 0.39 ('Tonewase') to 0.67 ('Hiratanenashi') with the exception of 'Koshu-

 Table 2 Sugar composition and other fruit traits of pollination-variant non-astringent (PVNA) type of Japanese persimmon cultivars in 2016

Fruit ripening time/ cultivar or selection	Sugar co	Sugar composition (g 100 g ⁻¹ FW)			Sugar	r composition (%) Type of			SH	Sweetness	Flesh
	Sucrose	Glucose	Fructose	Total	Sucrose	Glucose	Fructose	accumulation	ratio	value	(mL g ⁻¹ FW)
Late-Sept.											
Nishimurawase	3.47	3.22	4.16	10.9	32.0	29.7	38.3	Hexose	0.47	7.1	0.16
Early-Oct.											
Akagaki	8.13	2.24	2.2	12.6	64.7	17.8	17.5	Sucrose	1.83	29.3	0.20
Mid-Oct.											
Fudegaki	5.45	3.29	3.06	11.8	46.2	27.9	25.9	Intermediate	0.86	14.0	0.21
Ganzan	8.56	2.38	2.11	13.1	65.6	18.2	16.2	Sucrose	1.91	31.1	0.18
Oomiyawase	10.17	1.90	1.83	13.9	73.2	13.7	13.2	Sucrose	2.73	46.1	0.20
Saefuji	7.12	3.93	3.55	14.6	48.8	26.9	24.3	Intermediate	0.95	16.4	0.28
Late-Oct.											
Rendaiji	8.45	1.58	1.47	11.5	73.5	13.7	12.8	Sucrose	2.77	41.0	0.20
Early-Nov.											
Zenjimaru	8.05	3.41	3.20	14.7	54.9	23.3	21.8	Intermediate	1.22	21.5	0.25
Early-Dec.											
Shogatsu	9.84	1.90	1.80	13.5	72.7	14.0	13.3	Sucrose	2.66	46.3	0.19

Fruit ripening time (*Late-Sep., Early- to Late-Oct., Early- to Late-Nov., Early-Dec.*) was classified according to Yamada *et al.* (1995). SH ratio= sucrose [g 100 g⁻¹ FW] / hexoses (glucose + fructose) [g 100 g⁻¹ FW].

Sweetness value= soluble solids content (reference value in Table 1S) x SH ratio.

Table 3 - Sugar composition of pollination-constant astringent (PCA) and pollination-variant astringent (PVA) type of Japanese

Fruit ripening time	Type of	Sugar composition (g 100 g ⁻¹ FW)				Sugar composition (%)			Type of sugar	SH	Sweetness	Flesh
selection	gency	Sucrose	Glucose	Fructose	Total	Sucrose	Glucose	Fructose	accumula- tion	ratio	Sweetnes value 30.5 5.9 34.8 18.1 11.3 41.0 32.4 7.5 15.7 12.7 33.8	(mL g ⁻¹ FW)
Mid-Oct.												
Ichidagaki	PCA	10.43	3.59	3.13	17.1	60.8	20.9	18.2	Sucrose	1.55	30.5	0.35
Tonewase	PVA	3.77	5.13	4.48	13.4	28.2	38.3	33.5	Hexose	0.39	5.9	0.25
Late-Oct.												
Saijo	PCA	8.69	2.12	1.97	12.8	68.0	16.6	15.4	Sucrose	2.12	34.8	0.28
Kawazokogaki	PCA	7.80	3.80	3.15	14.8	52.9	25.8	21.4	Intermediate	1.12	18.1	0.31
Early-Nov.												
Hiratanenashi	PVA	5.54	4.50	3.81	13.8	40.0	32.5	27.5	Hexose	0.67	11.3	0.22
Koshuhyakume	PVA	9.62	2.18	1.88	13.7	70.3	15.9	13.7	Sucrose	2.37	41.0	0.31
Hagakushi	PCA	8.56	2.32	2.34	13.2	64.8	17.5	17.7	Sucrose	1.84	32.4	0.26
Taigetsu	PVA	4.34	4.74	4.25	13.3	32.6	35.6	31.9	Hexose	0.48	7.5	0.43
Taiten	PVA	5.93	3.80	2.61	12.3	48.1	30.8	21.2	Intermediate	0.93	15.7	0.46
Mid-Nov.												
Aizumishirazu	PVA	5.85	3.52	3.40	12.8	45.8	27.6	26.6	Intermediate	0.85	12.7	0.21
Atago	PCA	8.15	2.02	1.78	12.0	68.2	16.9	14.9	Sucrose	2.14	33.8	0.23

Fruit ripening time (*Late-Sep., Early- to Late-Oct., Early- to Late-Nov., Early-Dec.*) was classified according to Yamada *et al.* (1995). SH ratio= sucrose [g 100 g⁻¹ FW] / hexoses (glucose + fructose) [g 100 g⁻¹ FW].

Sweetness value= soluble solids content (reference value in Table 1S) x SH ratio.

hyakume' (SH = 2.37), which was classified as a sucrose accumulator. 'Taiten' was an intermediate accumulator in SH = 0.93.

Despite the small number of cultivars examined in the present study, there are no general relationships between astringency type (PCNA, PVNA, PVA, and PCA) and sugar accumulation type. In terms of biochemical consideration, varietal difference in the SH ratio can be explained by the degree of sucrose cleavage due to the activity of vacuolar acid invertase (Hirai et al., 1986; Zheng and Sugiura, 1990). Furthermore, recent transcriptional studies on the sugar accumulation-related key genes postulated that varietal differences in the SH ratio may be resulted from the balance between sucrose synthase and vacuolar acid invertase activities in persimmon fruit (Suzuki et al., 2010; Shiraishi and Asakuma, 2019). To date, the genetic mechanisms controlling sucrose accumulation in persimmon fruit remain unclear. However, we hypothesize that dominance of sucrose accumulation over hexose accumulation in persimmon fruit on the basis of our ongoing breeding program (unpublished data).

Environmental variance in sugar composition, flesh juiciness and SSC

Table 4 shows the contribution of variance from each trait to the total variance. The variance of genotype (σ_g^2) was high for SH ratio in 66.9% and flesh juiciness in 61.7%. As a whole, the variance of year (σ_y^2), among trees within genotype (σ_t^2), genotype × year (σ_{gy}^2) and tree × year (σ_{ty}^2) interactions were small or negligible, varying from 0.0 to 6.6% of the total variance. Similar to previous report (Asakuma and Shiraishi, 2017), the present results indicated that adding year or tree replications will not be efficient in reducing the environmental variance for SH ratio and flesh juiciness. Mitani *et al.* (2015) also showed that genotypic effect of flesh juiciness is significantly high. It is thus considered that the genotypic effect on the SH ratio and flesh juiciness is high with negligibly small environmental variance, and that these traits can be determined by a one-year trial without tree replication. In contrast, σ_g^2 of SSC was small in 14.6%, followed by σ_y^2 in 12.5% and σ_{gy}^2 in 8.8%. Other variance components, σ_t^2 and σ_{ty}^2 of SSC were small or negligible with 1.5 and 4.2%, respectively. Furthermore, the ratio of $\sigma_t^2/(\sigma_y^2 + \sigma_{gy}^2)$ is calculated as 0.07. If the ratio exceeds 1.0, tree replications should be required. However, our results indicate that repeated yearly measurements are more efficient than replicated trees to estimate the genetic variance of SSC as observed in grape (Sato *et al.*, 2000) and persimmon (Yamada *et al.*, 1993)

Using variance components in Table 4, the error variance (σ_{ϵ}^{2}) of each trait can be obtained by the following equation (cf. Yamada *et al.*, 1993):

$$(\sigma_v^2/3) + (\sigma_{av}^2/3) + (\sigma_t^2/3) + \{\sigma_{tv}^2/(3\times3)\} + \{\sigma^2/(3\times3\times8)\}.$$

The $\sigma_{_{F}}^{2}$ of SH ratio, flesh juiciness, and SSC is 0.01366, 0.00014, and 0.16003, respectively. Broadsense heritability $(\sigma_a^2/\{\sigma_a^2+\sigma_E^2\})$ results in high for SH ratio in 0.95 and flesh juiciness in 0.97, whereas low for SSC in 0.63. In general, a high broad-sense heritability means that most of the variation among genotypes is caused by genetic variation and not environmental variation. Knowing the heritability can be of value when the breeder will make an effective selection. In this study, the high heritability of SH ratio and flesh juiciness is useful to discriminate genetic sweetness and juiciness of persimmon fruit, respectively. Yamada et al. (1993) elucidated that an increase in yearly repetition instead of tree replications substantially reduced $\sigma_{_{F}}^{2}$ in the measurements for SSC and fruit weight to clarify the genetic properties of genotypes. In the present study, SSC of each

Table 4 -	Estimates of variance of	component and their	percentage to total	variance obtained f	from the analysis of variance
					,

Variance components	SH ratio	Flesh juiciness	Solube solids content (SSC)
σg² (genotype)	0.2636 (66.9%)	0.0052 (61.7%)	0.2725 (14.6%)
σy² (year)	0.0260 (6.6%)	0.0000 (0.0%)	0.2326 (12.5%)
σgy²(genotype× year)	0.0000 (0.0%)	0.0003 (3.5%)	0.1642 (8.8%)
ot ² (among trees within genotype)	0.0062 (1.6%)	0.0000 (0.0%)	0.0285 (1.5%)
σty²(tree × year)	0.0161 (4.1%)	0.0000 (0.0%)	0.0791 (4.2%)
σ^2 (among fruit within tree)	0.0819 (20.8%)	0.0029 (34.8%)	1.0869 (58.3%)

Negative value was assumed to be zero

SH ratio= sucrose/hexoses (glucose + fructose)

cultivar/selection was evaluated as the reference value based on one tree with more than five years field trials (Table S1).

Varietal difference in sweetness value and flesh juiciness

Sugars represent a crucial component of fruit edible quality, principally conferring sweetness, one of the main attributes influencing the degree of consumer acceptance. The ratio of constitutive sugars determines the sweetness of fruits; the higher the sucrose percentage, the stronger the organoleptic perception of sweetness in Asian pear (Kajiura et al., 1979), oriental melon (Zhang and Li, 2005), peach (Cirilli et al., 2016) and strawberry (Sone et al., 2000). In this study, we proposed a new index entitled "sweetness value" evaluating fruit sweetness by the equation: SSC × SH ratio. In place of Table S3, SSC value in Table S1 was used for calculation of sweetness value because of the above-described environmental error. As shown in Tables 1-3, the sweetness value varied due to the propotional level of sucrose content, ranging from 3.1 to 58.9 in PCNA-, 7.1 to 46.3 in PVNA-, and 5.9 to 41.0 in PVA- and PCA-type cultivars. Corresponding to sugar accumulation type, hexose accumulators exhibited lower sweetness value in 3.1 ('Soushu') to 11.1 ('Taiga'), whereas sweetness values of sucrose accumulators were higher in 20.8 ('Uenishiwase') to 58.9 ('Sodawase'). These results indicate that sweetness value seems to be a useful predictor of fruit sweetness in persimmon genotype. In our previous sensory tests (Asakuma and Shiraishi, 2017), the less-sweet genotypes exhibited SH ratios below 0.3, while highly-sweet genotypes had SH ratios exceeding 1.0. Given that the SSC of genotype is around 16 (average value in 16.6 of 43 persimmon cultivars/selections in Table S1), sweetness value of highly- and less-sweet genotype is expected as exceeding 16 and below 4.8, respectively. For instance, its sensory sweetness of 'Kishu' has been evaluated to be lower than that of 'Fuyu' by several persimmon breeders and growers, although 'Kishu' fruit has normally around 16 in SSC, which is comparable to 'Fuyu' (Yamada et al., 2009). In fact, sweetness value of 'Kishu' was 3.4 in contrast to that of 'Fuyu' in 31.7 (Table 2), which is in agreement with above-mentioned sensory sweetness.

However, there can be inconsistencies when evaluating the eating quality between sweetness scores and cultivars having different flesh juiciness, particularly less juice content (data not shown). In the pre-

sent study, highly varietal difference in flesh juiciness was observed, ranging from 0.13 ('Uenishiwase') to 0.38 ('Akiou') mL g⁻¹ FW of PCNA type (Table 2), 0.16 ('Nishimurawase') to 0.28 ('Saefuji') mL g⁻¹ FW of PVNA type (Table 3), and 0.21 ('Aizumishirazu') to 0.46 ('Taiten') mL g⁻¹ FW of PVA and PCA type (Table 4). In general, the harder the flesh of fruits, the more chewing is required to breakdown the tissue and the longer it takes to release the juice (Harker et al., 2003). In peach (Suzuki et al., 1990), sweet cherry (Dever et al., 1996), and carrot (Horie and Hiramoto, 2009), flesh sweetness is significantly promoted by high juiciness. Similarly, Ban et al. (2010) and Mitani et al. (2015) revealed that flesh juiciness is considered to be crucial mouth-feel attribute in the overall taste of persimmon fruit. Asakuma and Shiraishi (2017) proposed that the new descriptor of flesh juiciness of persimmon fruit as "very juicy" (≥0.30 mL g⁻¹ FW), "juicy" (0.21-0.29 mL g⁻¹ FW) and "slightly juicy" (≤ 0.20 mL g⁻¹ FW) based on the sensory juiciness. From this perspective, three sucrose accumulating PCNA-type cultivars/selections ('Akiou', 'Okitsu 20', and 'Taiho') are considered to be promising breeding stocks because of the high sweetness value (21.2 to 27.6) and high juiciness (0.31 to 0.38 mL g⁻¹ FW) together with large fruit size and brilliant fruit color (Tables S1 and S3). Thus, in terms of palatability, persimmon cultivar's improvement will be effectively performed using a combination of sweetness value and flesh juiciness.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Dr. Hiroyuki Chijiwa, Fukuoka Agricultural and Forestry Research Center, for reviewing the manuscript and providing suggestions. We also thank Mrs. Masako Hirashima for technical assistance with fruit sampling and sugar extraction.

References

- ASAKUMA H., SHIRAISHI M., 2017 Proposed descriptors for the evaluation of skin color, flesh firmness and juiciness, and sugar composition in Japanese persimmon breeding. - Euphytica, 213: 69.
- BAN Y., KONO A., MITANI N., SATO A., 2010 Estimation of the proportions of offspring having soft fruit and juicy fruit as evaluated by sensory tests in Japanese persimmon. - Sci. Hortic., 126(2): 145-151.

- CIRILLI M., BASSI D., CIACCIULLI A., 2016 Sugars in peach fruit: a breeding perspective. Hortic. Res., 3: 15067.
- DEVER M.C., MACDONALD R.A., CLIFF M.A., LANA W.D., 1996 - Sensory evaluation of sweet cherry cultivars. -HortSci., 31(1): 150-153.
- FAOSTAT, 2017 *Production yearbook*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- GIORDANI E., DOUMETT S., NIN S., DEL BUBBA M., 2011 -Selected primary and secondary metabolites in fresh persimmon (Diospyros kaki Thunb.): A review of analytical methods and current knowledge of fruit composition and health benefits. - Food Res. Int., 44(7): 1752-1767.
- HARKER F.R., LAU K., GUNSON F.A., 2003 Juiciness of fresh fruit: A time-intensity study. Postharvest Biol. Technol., 29(1): 55-60.
- HIRAI S., KONDO T., KINOSHITA H., 2004 The changes of sugars, tannins and sarcocarp cellular structures with maturation and removal of astringency of the persimmon fruits. - Bull. Iida Women's Juni. Colle., 21: 73-81.
- HIRAI S., ROKUHARA S., SHIMIZU S., 1986 Changes of invertase activity in Japanese persimmon fruits during maturation, storage and processing. - Nippon Shokuhin Kogyo Gakkaishi, 33(6): 369-374.
- HIRANO S., YONEMORI K., SUGIURA A., 1995 Involvement of sugar metabolism in persimmon growth inhibition by calyx lobe removal. - J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 120(1): 75-77.
- HORIE H., HIRAMOTO R., 2009 Enhanced sweetness of carrot by steaming. J. Cook Sci. Jpn., 42(3): 194-197.
- HUME H.H., 1914 A kaki classification. J. Hered., 5(9): 400-406.
- IKEDA I., YAMADA M., KURIHARA A., NISHIDA T., 1985 -Inheritance of astringency in Japanese persimmon (Diospyros kaki Thunb.). - J. Japan. Soc. Hort. Sci., 54(1): 39-45.
- KAJIURA I., YAMAKI S., OMURA M., AKIHAMA T., MACHIDA
 Y., 1979 Improvement of sugar content and composition in fruits, and classifications of East Asian pears by the principal component analysis of sugar compositions in fruits. Japan. J. Breed., 29(1): 1-12.
- MAEDA H., AKAGI T., TAO R., 2018 Quantitative characterization of fruit shape and its differentiation pattern in diverse persimmon (Diospyros kaki) cultivars. - Sci. Hortic., 228: 41-48.
- MITANI N., YAMADA M., SATO A., KONO A., BAN Y., UENO T., SHIRAISHI M., 2015 - *Objective evaluation of persimmon juiciness: Estimation of environmental variance and varietal differences.* - Sci. Hortic., 193: 374-380.
- PARFITT D.E., YONEMORI K., HONSHO C., NOZAKA M., KANZAKI S., SATO A., YAMADA M., 2015 - Relationships among Asian persimmon cultivars, astringent and nonastringent types. - Tree Genet. Genomes, 11: 24.
- SATO A., YAMADA M., 2016 Persimmon breeding in Japan for pollination-constant non-astringent (PCNA) type with marker-assisted selection. - Breed. Sci., 66(1): 60-68.

- SATO A., YAMADA M., IWANAMI H., HIRAKAWA N., 2000 -Optimal spatial and temporal measurement repetition for reducing environmental variation of berry traits in grape breeding. - Sci. Hort., 85: 75-83.
- SHIRAISHI M., ASAKUMA H., 2019 Sugar accumulation profile during the ripening process in the pollinationconstant non-astringent Japanese persimmon 'Akiou'. -Hort. J., 88(2): 172-179.
- SONE K., MOCHIZUKI T., NOGUCHI Y., 2000 Relationship between stability of eating quality of strawberry cultivars and their sugar and organic acid contents. - J. Japan. Soc. Hort. Sci., 69(6): 736-743.
- SUZUKI A., MURAKAMI Y., MAOTANI T., 1990 Characters related to palatability and sweetness of peach fruit. -Bull. Fruit Tree Res. Stn., 17: 91-98.
- SUZUKI T., NIIKAWA T., SHIRATAKE K., 2010 Relationship between sugar composition and gene expression of sugar metabolism enzymes in Japanese persimmon cultivars. - Hort. Res. (Japan) 9 (Suppl 1): 313.
- TSUJI M., KOMIYAMA Y., 1987 Relationship between invertase activity and sugar composition of persimmon fruit. - Nippon Shokuhin Kogyo Gakkaishi, 34(7): 425-431.
- UPOV, 2004 *Persimmon*. International union for the protection of new varieties of plants, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 12-13.
- YAKUSHIJI H., NAKATSUKA A., 2007 Recent persimmon research in Japan. Jpn. J. Plant Sci., 1: 42-62.
- YAMADA M., 2006 *Persimmon*, pp. 72-81. In: JAPAN SOC. HORT. SCIENCE (eds.) *Horticulture in Japan*. Nakanishi Printing, Kyoto, Japan.
- YAMADA M., SATO A., YAMANE H., MITANI N., IWANAMI H., SHIRAISHI M., HIRAKAWA N., UENO T., KONO A., YOSHIOKA M., 2012 a - *New persimmon cultivar 'Taigetsu'.* - Bull. NARO Inst. Fruit Tree Sci., 14: 25-38.
- YAMADA M., SATO A., YAMANE H., MITANI N., IWANAMI H., SHIRAISHI M., HIRAKAWA N., UENO T., KONO A.,YOSHIOKA M., 2012 b - *New persimmon cultivar 'Taiten'.* - Bull. NARO Inst. Fruit Tree Sci., 14: 39-52.
- YAMADA M., YAMANE H., SATO A., YOSHINAGA K., HIRAKAWA N., IWANAMI H., KAKUTANI M., OZAWA T., HIRABAYASHI T., MITANI N., SHIRAISHI M., SUMI T., YOSHIOKA M., NAKAJIMA I., 2009 - *New Japanese persimmon cultivar 'Kishu'* - Bull. Natl. Inst. Fruit Tree Sci., 8: 25-38.
- YAMADA M., YAMANE H., UKAI Y., 1995 *Genetic analysis* of fruit ripening time in Japanese persimmon. - J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 120(6): 886-890.
- YAMADA M., YAMANE H., YOSHINAGA K., UKAI Y., 1993 -Optimal spatial and temporal measurement repetition for selection in Japanese persimmon breeding. -HortSci., 28(8): 838-841.
- YESILOGLU T., CIMEN B., INCESU M., YILMAZ B., 2018 -Genetic diversity and breeding of persimmon, breeding and health benefits of fruit and nut crops. -IntechOpen. https://doi:10.5772/intechopen.74977.

YONEMORI K., SUGIURA A., YAMADA M., 2000 -

Persimmon genetics and breeding. - Plant Breed. Rev., 19: 191-225.

ZHANG M.F., LI Z.H., 2005 - A comparison of sugar-accumulating patterns and relative compositions in developing fruits of two oriental melon varieties as determined *by HPLC*. - Food Chem., 90(4): 785-790.

ZHENG G.H., SUGIURA A., 1990 - Changes in sugar composition in relation to invertase activity in the growth and ripening of persimmon (Diospyros kaki) fruits. - J. Japan. Soc. Hort. Sci., 59(2): 281-287.





(*) **Corresponding author:** abdi@pgu.ac.ir

Citation:

ABDI G., KARAMI L., 2020 - Salicylic acid effects on some physiochemical properties and secondary metabolite accumulation in peppermint (Mentha piperita L.) under water deficit stress. -Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 81-91.

Copyright:

© 2020 Abdi G., Karami L. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press

(http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests:

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 27 March 2019 Accepted for publication 17 December 2019

Salicylic acid effects on some physiochemical properties and secondary metabolite accumulation in *Mentha piperita* L. under water deficit stress

G. Abdi^{1(*)}, L. Karami^{1,2}

- ¹ Department of Biotechnology, Persian Gulf Research Institute, Persian Gulf University, 7516913817 Busheher, Iran.
- ² Department of Horticultural Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, University of Persian Gulf, Busheher, Iran.

Key words: Mentha piperita L., Persian Gulf, secondary metabolites, water deficit stress.

Abstract: Salicylic acid (SA) play important roles in different physiological processes of plants such as plant growth, stress response, plant adaptation and secondary metabolite accumulation. This study was conducted to evaluate the effect of exogenous SA applications on the growth measurements such as fresh and dry weight of aerial part and lead dry weight, biochemical properties (membrane permeability, lipid peroxidation, Proline content and ROS scavenger enzymes) and secondary metabolite accumulation (total phenolic and the flavonoid and essential oil content) in peppermint (Mentha piperita L.) plants grown at different levels of water deficit stress (Field capacity: FC). For this aim, three different water deficit stress [no stress (100% FC), mild stress (75% FC) and moderate stress (50% FC)] and four different SA concentrations (0, 1, 2 and 2.5 mM) were applied to peppermint plants. Results showed that all of the measured parameters were affected by the water deficit stress and SA application. By elevating the level of water deficit stress, fresh and dry weights of aerial parts and dry leaf weight decreased. Increasing in the water deficit stress level from mild to moderate stress resulted to reduce the essential oil content while proline, lipid peroxidation, total phenolic contents, flavonoid content, and antioxidant enzyme activities increased depending on water deficit stress. Exogenous application of SA obstructed the negative effects of water deficit stress by decreasing the lipid peroxidation and membrane permeability and improving the antioxidant enzymes activities. Essential oil content increased significantly in plant treated with SA grown under water deficit stress conditions. Application of 2 or 2.5 mM of SA enhanced the plant growth and development without any toxic effects and increased significantly the total phenolic content, dry leaf weight, and the essential oil content in stressed and even in control (100% FC) peppermint plants.

1. Introduction

Peppermint (*Mentha piperita* L.) is considered as one of the most important medicinal and aromatic herb in the world cultivated in many

countries such as India, Italy, France, China, Hungary and United States among others (Lawrence, 2007). During the last two decades peppermint cultivation has experienced a remarkable increase, mainly due to the rediscovery of medicinal properties of peppermint essential oil, which has a lower risk of side effects compared to synthetic drugs (Kumar and Kumar-Gupta, 2008; Herro and Jacob, 2010). Furthermore, M. piperita is used as flavoring agent for beverages (phenolic and flavonoids compounds group, including eriocitrin, hesperidin and luteolin 7-O-rutinoside) (McKay and Blumberg, 2006; Hossain et al., 2010) and food industry (Essential oil and different type of plant exteract), as a fragrance (higher amounts of high-volatile monoterpenes such as menthone and isomenthone (Rohloff, 1999), as insecticide (Karamaouna et al., 2013) and fungicide in many industrial products. Essential oil of peppermint contains very important monoterpenes (Essential oil of peppermint contain menthofuran, menthol, menthone, isomenthone, pulegonecaryophyllene, betacaryophyllene, neomenthol, 1,8-cineole, sabinene and limonene) with antibacterial, antifungal (Edris and Farrag, 2003), antioxidant and cytotoxic activities (Mimica-Dukic et al., 2003; Hussain et al., 2010). Due to markedly importance of peppermint, maintaining a high and constant essential oil production for industries requirements and supplying market demands (Silva, 2002) under unfavorable conditions such as water deficit stress is very important.

Water deficit stress is the major yield limiting factor for many agriculture crop plants affecting many biochemical, morphological and physiological parameters. Many research studies indicated that drought stress influenced the growth, yield, secondary metabolite production and composition in different aromatic and medicinal plants. Furthermore, between the abiotic stresses, drought stress can exacerbates the effect of the other stresses in plants and increase the effects of other stresses such as salinity, cold or hot stress (Khalid, 2006; Azhar et al., 2011; Verma and Shukla, 2015). In order to reduce the harmful effects and to increase the resistance of plants to the drought stress, some exogenous plant growth regulator applications such as salicylic acid (SA) can be used (Lee et al., 2019). Salicylic acid, as a plant messenger molecule, plays a non-enzymatic antioxidant role, regulates many physiological and biochemical mechanisms as cell expansion, vascular differentiation, vegetative and reproductive development, seed germination, flowering, fruit set and secondary metabolite accumula-

tions during stress occurrence (Arfan et al., 2007; Hayat and Ahmad, 2007). This compound belongs to the group of the phytochemicals with beneficial effects on human health (Hayat and Ahmad, 2007). In addition, SA is a phenolic compound that has a crucial role in plant defense against pathogenic agents (Dempsey and Klessing, 1994; Hayat et al., 2010). Apart from growth-promoting and health related effects of SA in different plants for instance in Artemisia annua L. (Aftab et al., 2010), Cuminumcy minum (Rahimi et al., 2013) sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) and marjoram (Majorana hortensis) (Gharib, 2007) and Salvia macrosiphon (Rowshan et al., 2010), SA is also reported to confer resistance to plants against various stresses e.g. in Matricaria chamomilla (Kovácik et al., 2009), and Vigna radiate (Khan et al., 2014 a).

This experiment was conducted to determine the effect of different concentrations of exogenous SA applications on some physiochemical properties and secondary metabolite accumulation in *M. piperita* plants grown under different level of water deficit stress.

2. Materials and Methods

Plant materials, SA and water deficit stress treatments

Plants were initiated from rhizome segments of *M. piperita* obtained from a commercial nursery located in Alborz province, Karaj. The plants were grown in a greenhouse at the University of Persian Gulf in pots with a diameter of 10 cm and irrigated every 2 days during the first 30 days. The daily temperature inside the greenhouse was within optimal ranges for peppermint growth (20-25°C). Fertilization was carried out at 15 and 25 days after planting. Each pot was fertilized with a solution containing $Ca(NO_2)_2$ (1.12 g/L), MgSO₄ (0.45 g/L), KNO₃ (0.35 g/L), KH₂PO₄ (0.30 g/L), Ferric EDTA (0.06 g/L), and M_SO, (0.01 g/L). Thirty-day old seedlings were transferred to plastic pots with a diameter of 30 cm filled with soil, cocopeat and perlite (1:1:1; v/v) and kept in an incubation room where the temperature was $25^{\circ}C \pm 1$; the relative humidity was 60-80% and photoperiod of 16 h/d. The first SA (Synonym: 2-Hydroxybenzoic acid; Linear Formula: C₇H₆O₃ (CAS 69-72-7), Sigma-Aldrich) treatments (0, 1, 2 and 2.5 mM) was applied to 35 days old plants by spraying aerial parts of the plants. The stock solutions were prepared by dissolving SA in ETOH and final volume was maintained by distilled water containing 0.02% of Tween 20 as surfactant. Control plants were sprayed with distilled water including 0.02% of Tween 20 and EtOH (100%) as in SA solutions. The 2th, 3th and 4th SA application were repeated at days 50 and 65 and 80 days after transplanting on peppermint plants exposed in three different irrigation (100, 75 and 50 FC) treatments as FC (100% field capacity - FC), mild stress (75% FC), and moderate stress (50% FC). Throughout cultivation period, moisture levels in the growth media were controlled by daily weighting following the procedure of Yadav et al. (2014). Briefly, to calculate the amount of water necessary to bring each soil to determined FC, a 50 g soil sample from randomly chosen pots were collected and the water content was determined by drying at 100°C at 24 h after the pots were watered. The percentage of soil water content was calculated according to Yadav et al. (2014) method. Nutrient and water leaching from pots was captured in dish placed under each pot and the leachate was returned to the soil before the addition of any water. At the end of the experiment, all plants within each pot were harvested and then analyzed.

Determination of biochemical and physical properties

The growth response of the plants to elicitor treatments and water deficit stress were determined by measuring the fresh and dry weights of aerial parts per plant.

Lutts et al. (1996) method was used for determining the membrane permeability of the excised leaves at the end of the experiment by using a conductivity meter. After harvesting (from three plants per treatment), 5 leaves (randomly chosen full developed leaves from upper part of the plant) were cut into 1 cm segments. Leaf segments were washed with three changes of deionized water to remove surface adhered electrolytes. Samples were placed in 20 ml vials contain deionized water and incubated at 25°C on a rotary shaker (100 rpm). After 24 h incubated at 25°C, the electrical conductivity of the bathing solution (L_1) was determined by using a conductivity meter. Then samples were autoclaved at 120°C for 20 min and the electrical conductivity (L_{2}) was obtained. The membrane permeability was obtained using L_1/L_2 . All measurements were made in triplicate.

Lipid peroxidation in leaves was determined by estimating the malondialdehyde (MDA). For malondialdehyde (MDA) determination, 1 g leaf sample (full developed leaves were collected from the upper part of each plant) was homogenized in 5 ml 1% trichloroacetic acid and centrifuged at 10000 g for 10 min. The amount of MDA in the supernatant was estimated by the thiobarbituric reaction as described by Madhava *et al.* (2000). MDA concentration was calculated from the absorbance at 532 nm by using the extinction coefficient of 155 Mm cm⁻¹. All measurements were made in triplicate.

Proline content of treated plant was determined as described by Bates *et al.* (1973). A 1:1:1 solution of proline, ninhydrin acid and glacial acetic acid was incubated at 100°C for 1 hour. For proline colorimetric determinations, the reaction was arrested in an iced bath and the cromophore was extracted with 4 ml toluene and its absorbance at 520 nm was determined in a BioMate spectrophotometer (Thermo-Spectronic). After the analyses, following equation: (g proline in extract/115.5) g⁻¹ sample = mol g⁻¹ FW) was used for calculation the proline concentration from a standard curve.

Enzyme assays

At the end of experiment, leaves were collected and frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C before enzyme extraction. ROS scavenger enzymes were extracted as described by Zhang and Kirkham (1996) with some modifications. All operations were carried out at 4°C. Intact leaves were ground using mortar and pestle under liquid nitrogen in cold 50 mM sodium phosphate solution (pH 7.5) containing 250 mM Sucrose, 10 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl, 1.0 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM 0.1 mM dithiothreitol, 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, and 1% (w/v) polyvinylpolypyrrolidone in a 6:1 proportion (w/v). The homogenate was then filtered and centrifuged at 25,000 g for 20 min at 4°C. Then solid ammonium sulfate $(NH_a)_{2}SO_a$ added to the supernatant to make up 80% saturated solution and allowed to stir gently for several hours at 4°C. After centrifugation (28,000 g for 45 min at 4°C), pellets, were resuspended in a small volume of 50 mM of sodium phosphate (pH 7.5) and used for enzyme assays.

The superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity was assayed by observing the inhibition of photochemical reduction of nitro blue tetrazolium according to Krishnan *et al.* (2002) protocol. One mL of assay mixture consisted of 75 μ M nitro blue tetrazolium, 2 μ M riboflavin, 50 mM Na-P buffer (pH 7.8) 0.1 mM EDTA, 13 mM Methionine, and enzyme extract. The samples were kept 30 cm under a light source (4000 lux) for 15 min and the reaction started during this time. The reaction was stopped by switching off the light. A non-irradiated reaction mixture, served as a control which was run in parallel. The absorbance was read at 560 nm.

The Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity (ε = 2.8 mM⁻¹ cm⁻¹) was determined from the decrease in A290, due to the H₂O₂-dependent oxidation of ascorbate using procedure of Zhang and Kirkham (1996). One mL reaction mixture contained 50 mM Na-P (pH 7.0), 0.5 mM ascorbic acid, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM H₂O₂, and enzyme.

The catalase (CAT) activity ($\epsilon H_2O_2 = 39.4 \text{ mM}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$) were assayed spectrophotometrically according to Zhang and Kirkham (1996) method by monitoring the change in A240 due to the decreased absorption of H_2O_2 . The reaction mixture contained enzyme extract, 50 mM Na-P, pH 7.0, and 15 mM H_2O_2 (in 1 mL final volume). The reaction was initiated by addition of H_2O_2 .

Secondary metabolites determination

At the end of the experiment, in all plants within each pot leaves (1 g full developed leaves were collected from the upper part of the each plant) were collected and frozen in liquid N2 immediately and stored at -80°C before analysis. Folin-Ciocalteu colourimetric method was used for determining the total phenolic content of the peppermint extract (Singleton and Rossi, 1965). Samples were transferred into the different test tube and mixed thoroughly with Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (5 ml). After 5 mins, 4 ml of 7.5% sodium carbonate (Na₂CO₂) was added and allowed at room temperature to react for 2 hrs. The absorbance was measured using spectrophotometer at 765 nm. Samples were measured in three replicates. The flavonoid content was determined according to Liu et al. (2002) by aluminium trichloride method using Catechin. A volume of 125 μL of extract is added to 75 μL of a 5% NaNO, solution. The mixture was allowed to stand for 6 min, and then 150 µL of aluminium trichloride (10%) was added and incubated for 5 min, followed by the addition of 750 µL of NaOH (1M). The final volume of the solution was adjusted to 2500 µL with distilled water. After 15 min of incubation the mixture turned to pink and the absorbance was measured at 510 nm.

Total essential oil content

Hydro distillation method was used. In this method, at least 10 g of dried *M. Piperita* shoot related to the treatment immersed in 150 cc water were submitted to hydro-distillation with a Clevenger-type apparatus for 3 h (until no more essential oil was obtained). The essential oil was collected, dried with anhydrous sodium sulfate, and stored at 4°C until used.

Statistical analysis

This experiment was performed in factorial arrangement based a completely randomized design with 3 replicates per treatment and one plant per replicates in which pots were placed on the benches in the incubation room. The factors included different SA concentration (0, 1, 2 and 2.5 mM) and water deficit stress in 3 levels. Data were analyzed by SPSS 19 software, and differences among treatments were determined using Tukey's test (p<0.05).

3. Results and Discussion

Growth measurement

Foliar application of salicylic acid (SA) and water deficit stress affected peppermint plants in different ways, including physiological and biochemical properties. Some physiological disorders such as leaf yellowing and abscission were observed in plants at sever water deficit irrigation. Also, the high concentration of SA caused burning and drying the edge of some mature leaves in plants (data not shown). The Limited water supply is one of the major abiotic factors that adversely affect agricultural crop production worldwide. Water deficit stress significantly reduced the growth measurements (fresh and dry weights of aerial parts of plants and leaf dry weight) in peppermint plants at 50% FC (Table 1). However, SA treatments were not caused any growth reduction but in plants under water deficit stress, prevented the growth reduction rate. Highest growth values were

Table 1 - Effect of foliar spray of SA on some growth parameters

		Fresh	Dry	Dry
Irrigation	SA	weight	weight	weight
treatment	(mM)	of aerial	of aerial	of leaf
		parts (g)	parts (g)	(g)
Control	0	30.74 b	5.47 b	2.61 bc
	1	31.31 b	7.15 a	3.45 b
	2	42.28 a	8.40 a	4.33 a
	2.5	41.24 a	8.34 a	4.08 a
FC (75%)	0	20.92 cd	4.56 c	1.93 d
	1	22.25 cd	4.75 bc	2.13 cd
	2	26.66 cde	4.84 bc	2.83 d
	2.5	27.71 c	4.65 c	1.91 d
FC (50%)	0	19.25 cde	4.44 c	1.58 d
	1	19.92 cde	4.26 c	1.62 d
	2	18.32 e	3.95 c	1.92 d
	2.5	19.21 de	3.91 c	1.64 d

* Differences between means indicated by the same letters are not statistically significant (p≤0.05).

obtained from the plants treated only with 2 mM of SA. Khorasaninejad et al. (2011) also observed significant reduction in growth parameters of peppermint (M. piperita L.) under water stress. SA treatment in non-stress and even in stress conditions showed positive effect on the growth measurements in comparison to the control (Table 1). Different concentrations of SA (from 10⁻⁵ to 10⁻³ M) improved growth parameters (plant height, number of branches, nodes, and leaves per plant, as well as leaf area) in basil (Ocimum basilicum) and marjoram (Origanum majorana) plants (Gharib, 2007) and these authors suggested that such effects could be related to increased photosynthetic activity. The beneficial effects of SA on the growth measurements especially in term of dry weight of mint in this study paralleled with the results of Khodary (2004) and Hayat and Ahmad (2007). This growth enhancement suggests that SA affects various physiological and biochemical processes, including photosynthesis, water processes, ion homeostasis, antioxidant capacity generates and a wide array of metabolic responses in plants (Hayat and Ahmad, 2007). Also, SA modulates several physiological responses such as maintain Indole-3acetic acid (IAA, 3-IAA) and gibberellin levels, inhibit ethylene biosynthesis and prevent auxin oxidation in plants (Pierpoint, 1994), which could be one reason for the SA-enhanced vegetative growth of peppermint in our study.

Essential oils

Peppermint essential oil (EO) is a rich source of monoterpenes such as menthol and menthone used in pharmaceutical, food, cosmetic and cleaning industries (Kamatou et al., 2013) and its commercial value depends on the essential oil contents. In this study, essential oil content was affected with both water stress and SA application (Table 2). Essential oil content increased from 1.146% (control plants) to 1.192% (mild stress treated plant) and decreased to 0.782% in moderate stress treated plant (Table 3). Exogenous application of SA alleviated this adverse effect especially in moderate stress condition and also SA application enhanced the EO yield in mild stress condition. In control irrigation conditions, 2 mM SA treatment increased total essential oil content to 1.256% while application of SA at higher concentrations caused a reduction in total essential oil content. Under water deficit stress conditions, SA significantly increased the total essential oil content when compared to the untreated plants. Particularly, 2 and 2.5 mM of SA increased essential oil content

more than 2-fold compared to the untreated plants in the presence of moderate water deficit stress.

Responses of plant to environmental stress such as drought stress in terms of volatile emissions are species specific and depend on the duration and intensity of the stress period (Jord'anm *et al.*, 2003). EO yield increased under mild water stress in this study. In medicinal and aromatic plants, the effect of

Table 2 - Effect of foliar spray of SA on biochemical properties of peppermint plants grown at different level of FC

Irrigation treatment	SA (mM)	Membrane permeability (s)	Lipid peroxidation (nM g ⁻¹)	Proline (mol g ⁻¹)
Control	0	37.11 def	5.81 d	0.58 ab
	1	27.43 efg	6.35 d	0.42 bc
	2	28.32 efg	5.38 d	0.28 c
	2.5	21.43 fg	6.05 d	0.66 ab
FC (75%)	0	41.02 cd	14.48 a	0.67 ab
	1	53.74 c	12.01 a	0.59 ab
	2	50.26 cd	6.09 d	0.4 bc
	2.5	25.49 fg	7.11 cd	0.62 ab
FC (50%)	0	87.04 a	11.71 ab	0.83 a
	1	41.52 cde	11.29 ab	0.79 a
	2	74.28 b	8.66 c	0.59 ab
	2.5	49.91 cd	7.03 cd	0.76 a

 Differences between means indicated by the same letters are not statistically significant (p≤0.05).

Table 3 - Effect of foliar spray of SA on phenolic and essential oil contents of peppermint plants grown at different level of FC

Irrigation treatment	SA (mM)	Total phenolic content (mg g ⁻¹)	Flavonoid content (mg GAE/g)	Total essential oil content (%)
Control	0	8.37 e	17.7g	1.146 d
	1	16.51 d	22.2e	1.153 d
	2	14.28 de	38.7d	1.256 c
	2.5	14.32 de	34.81e	1.092 e
FC (75%)	0	28.08 ab	37.2d	1.191 d
	1	22.71 bc	42.3c	1.201 d
	2	18.08 cd	47.4b	1.418 b
	2.5	17. 94 cd	48.2b	1.482 b
FC (50%)	0	29.39 ab	40.7c	0.782 f
	1	31.99 a	55.3a	1.010 d
	2	18.28 cd	53.2a	1.597 a
	2.5	33.65 a	55.7a	1.575 a

 Differences between means indicated by the same letters are not statistically significant (p≤0.05). water deficit stress on essential oil yield is variable and depends on plant species. For example, drought stress had a negative effect on the essential oil yield of M. piperita (Khorasaninejad et al., 2011). By contrast, water stress had a positive effect on Salvia officinalis and showed a higher concentration of monoterpenes such as cineole, camphor and α/β thujone (Nowak et al., 2010). Increasing in essential oil yield under stress condition may be related to induction changes in morphological or physiological traits such as high trichome density and smaller leaf size that prevent excessive water loss and allow them to survive in arid or semi-arid environmental conditions (Nobel, 1999). Foliar spray with Triazole (A triazole refers to any of the heterocyclic compounds with molecular formula C₂H₃N₃, having a five-membered ring of two carbon atoms and three nitrogen atoms) decreased the leaf area in M. pulegium (Hassanpour et al., 2012) and increased trichome density in Bougainvillea spectabilis (Mansouri and Kurup, 2009). The results suggest that the stimulation of essential oil production under drought stress could be due to low allocation of carbon to the growth and high terpene concentrations under stress conditions. Plant growth regulators (PGRs) favorably affect the yield and quantity of essential oil in lemon grass, rose grass, peppermint, spearmint, and sage (Shukla and Faroogi, 1990; Khan et al., 2014 b, 2015). Among different concentration of SA tested on M. piperita in none stress condition, 2 mM of SA showed the most effective in improving the essential oil content. The positive effect of SA on essential oil content and essential oil yield may be ascribed to the improvement in overall plant growth and metabolism by SA. It seemed that SA, considered to be a signaling molecule, might be involved in the signal transduction system, leading to the balance and improved quantity of the secondary metabolites, i.e., essential oil (Hayat and Ahmad, 2007). Thus, SA-mediated enhanced plant growth, photosynthesis, and the overall plant metabolism might account for oil accumulation in the present study. These results corroborate with the findings on Artemisia annua, Salvia macrosiphon, Cumium cyminum, Ocimum basilicum, and Majorana hortensis (Gharib, 2007; Aftab et al., 2010; Rowshan et al., 2010; Rahimi et al., 2013). Moderate stress significantly decreased essential oil content in current study (Table 3). Similarly, Khorasaninejad et al. (2011) reported significant decreases in total essential oil content in water stressed peppermint plants. These results suggest that a high level of water stress can suppresses the essential oil biosynthesis pathway

in peppermint.

Reduction in photosynthesis rate and/or any changes in metabolic pathway could be caused some disorders of oil biosynthesis resulted in reduction in oil content (Srivastava et al., 1998). In control irrigation condition, foliar application of SA at 2 mM concentration resulted to increase in essential oil content of plants compared to the control plants while higher concentrations of SA decreased the oil content. Another interesting result is that SA foliar applications increased the essential oil content in water stressed plants. Under water deficit stressed conditions, essential oil contents of peppermint plants treated with SA were higher in comparison with the group exposed to water stress alone. The highest oil content was found in plants treated with SA at 2.5 mM concentration grown under moderate water stress. In this condition, oil content was more than 2 fold greater than that of plants under combination of moderate water stress and 0 mM of SA. According to the commercial importance of peppermint, our results represented that peppermint plants can be grown in mild or in moderate stress in the presence of SA applications.

Membrane permeability, lipid peroxidation and proline content

Both water deficit stresses resulted to a significant increase in the levels of membrane permeability, a sign of injury to the cells (Table 2). The maximum increase in membrane permeability was obtained in plants subjected to 50% FC and SA treatments reduced significantly this increase was in under water stress. The maximum reduction in membrane permeability was observed in plants treated with 2.5 mM SA. Our results indicated that water stress increased the membrane permeability levels of peppermint plants and they were alleviated significantly by foliar applications of SA.

Water stress significantly increased the lipid peroxidation compared to the control irrigation plants (Table 2). The maximum lipid peroxidation content was recorded in plants grown under high level of water deficit stress. However, SA treatments, especially at 2 mM concentration, significantly overcame the toxicity generated by water stress alone and almost leveled the values with those of control. However, SA did not affect the lipid peroxidation level in control irrigation plants.

The proline content increased by increasing the water stress but foliar spraying of SA at 2 mM concentration upon water stressed plants reduced the

proline content.

Ion leakage is known as a index for evaluating the cell wall damage caused from stress. Membrane permeability increased in line with the elevating levels of water deficit stress in this study. Also, there is a close relationship between producing oxidative damage under water stress condition of cell membrane permeability. However SA significantly decreased the membrane permeability in plants under water deficit stress (Table 4). This result can approve the capability of SA spraying treatment in negative effect of drought stress. Water deficit stress resulted to the displacement of membrane proteins, cellular compartmentalization disruption, loss of membrane selectivity, integrity and a loss of activity of enzymes (Mahajan and Tuteja, 2005).

Malondialdehyde is one of the main known indicator or reliable biomarker for lipid peroxidation, which is part of the oxidative damage at cell level. Malondialdehyde increase the cell permeability by deterioration of membrane integrity. Our results showed that there is a significant relationship between lipid peroxidation and water deficit stress (Table 4). Under water deficit stress conditions the amount of lipid peroxidation increased in peppermint plants, moreover, it was determined that MDA level increased as a result of deterioration of the cell structure. Karray-Bouraouia *et al.* (2009) and Karlıdag *et al.* (2011) reported a positive correlation between stress condition and lipid peroxidation. Water deficit stress caused considerable membrane injuries lead-

Table 4 - Effect of foliar spray of SA on antioxidant enzyme activities of peppermint plants grown at different level of FC

Irrigation treatment	SA (mM)	SOD (unit mg protein ⁻¹)	CAT (mol min ⁻¹ mg protein ⁻¹)	APX (mol min ⁻¹ mg protein ⁻¹)
Control	0	25.17 cd	6.44 cde	311.99 c
	1	17.47 ef	3.11 e	153.71 d
	2	12.31 f	6.63 cde	189.48 d
	2.5	21.19 de	4.15 de	279.11 c
FC (75%)	0	30.88 bc	15.92b	392.95 b
	1	21.17 de	8.52 c	158.21 d
	2	23.46 d	7.43 cd	264.01 c
	2.5	21.13 de	5.41 cde	314.64 c
FC (50%)	0	41.79 a	21.33 a	501.28 a
	1	19.94 de	16.21 b	183.23 d
	2	31.95 b	9.15 c	331. 53 c
	2.5	47.61 a	9.58 c	483.12 a

 Differences between means indicated by the same letters are not statistically significant (p≤0.05). ing to membrane lipid peroxidation. Foliar spray of SA did not show any significant changes in lipid peroxidation content in control irrigation condition while it significantly decreased lipid peroxidation content in water stress-treated plants. The results showed that SA had an important role in membrane integrity and maintenance of membrane structure via preventing damages caused by water deficit stress. Low membrane lipid peroxidation in drought-exposed and SA (0.5 mM)-supplemented *T. aestivum* reported by Kang *et al.*, (2012).

Amino acids play an important role in plant development and metabolism. Proline, an amino acid, plays main roles in plants exposed to stressful conditions (like water deficit stress, low temperature, salinity, heavy metal exposure and UV radiations, etc) such as osmoprotective, protein compatible hydrotrope, scavenging free radicals and buffering cellular redox potential, energy supply, stabilize the function and structure of protein and DNA, alleviating cytoplasmic acidosis and maintaining appropriate NADP+/NADPH ratios compatible with metabolism, metal chelator, antioxidant properties and a signaling molecule (Naidu et al., 1991; Bassi and Sharma, 1993; Schat et al., 1997; Hare et al., 1998; Rhodes et al., 2002; Kavi Kishor et al., 2005; Munns, 2005; Sharma and Dietz 2006; Ashraf and Foolad, 2007; Chookhampaeng, 2011). So, overproduction of proline is a common physiological response of plants against stressful environment. In this study, proline contents were increased with increasing water deficit stress (Table 4). So, more proline accumulation has been associated with increasing the stress tolerance of plant. In general, results showed that drought stress affected the proline biosynthesis in the leaves. The foliar spray of SA on stressed plants cause in reduction of proline content but these declines were not statistically significant in some concentration. It could be due to positive effects of SA in maintaining the membrane maintaining cell turgor or osmotic balance as an osmotic regulator (Wang and Zeng, 1993) or in stabilizing cell membranes, preventing electrolyte leakage and bringing concentrations of ROS within normal ranges.

Phenolic and flavonoids contents

Total phenolic and total flavonoid contents were increased under water deficit stress significantly as compared to control irrigation (100% FC) (Table 3). Minimum phenolic content was measured in control plants while its level increased with increasing the water deficit stress intensity and SA application. Foliar application of SA (2 mM) under control irrigation increased total phenolic content less than two times compared to controls. Moreover, not only water stress but also SA applications enhanced total phenolic contents compared to controls. The plants under moderate stress were sprayed with a solution of 2.5 mM SA showed the highest phenolic contents. Phenolic compounds as stress markers accumulate under stressful environment. It is believed that soluble phenolics compounds act as scavengers of ROS and membrane stabilizer during abiotic stress (Moyer et al., 2002; Taiz and Zeiger, 2006). The increase in total phenolic contents in our study is similar to that observed by El-Danasouryet al. (2010) in a study with Mentha spicata and Queslati et al. (2010) with Mentha pulegium under salinity stress. Also, foliar SA application resulted to increase in total phenolic contents in control plants. Foliar SA application at 2 mM was the most effective dose under stress free conditions for peppermint plants. In water stressed plants, foliar spry of SA generally have positive effects on phenolic accumulations. Especially at moderate stress and 2 and 2.5 mM concentrations of SA showed the highest amount of phenolics. Pepper-mint treated with SA or drought stress showed an increase in total phenolic and flavonoid content in our study. This effect was previously reported in ginger (Zingiber officinale) plants, where the total phenolic content increased by approximately 20% after treatment with 10⁻³ M SA (Ghasemzadeh and Jaafar, 2012). Also, Figueroa-Pérez et al. (2014) previously reported in peppermint plants, where the flavonoids, increased by approximately 93%, 100% and 56% treated with 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mM SA, respectively, when compared with the control. Flavonoids were increased in water deficit stress condition and SA treated plants in our study. Flavonoids are the main bioactive secondary metabolites in plants and they can serve as scavengers of ROS by locating and neutralizing radicals before they damage the cells and are thus important for plants under adverse environmental conditions (such as wounding, drought, metal toxicity, and nutrient deprivation) (Løvdal et al., 2010; Agati et al., 2012). Plants often respond to environmental stresses with an increase in the endogenous SA level (Janda et al., 2014). SA is a promising compound for the reduction of stress sensitivity in the practical agriculture (Horváth et al., 2007).

ROS enzyme activity

The activities of SOD, CAT and APX enzymes were

investigated in the leaves of peppermint plants. SOD, CAT and APX enzymes activities significantly increased in parallel to the water stress in the present study. Activity of SOD was found at 25.17 unit/mg protein, 30.88 unit mg protein⁻¹ and 41.79 unit mg⁻¹ protein in plants under control, mild and moderate stress, respectively (Table 4). In general, foliar application SA on stressed and non-stressed plants alleviated the activity of SOD. However, 2.5 mM of SA increased the SOD activity in plants under control and moderate stress condition. Also, CAT activity increased in the plants under water deficit stress (Table 4). In control irrigation plants, foliar spray of SA treatments did not show a significant change in CAT activity whereas they substantially decreased the CAT activity in mild and moderate stress. APX activity almost showed the similar trend with SOD activity and its activity increased with water deficit stress, gradually (Table 4). SA application at 2.5 mM concentration had no significant effect in terms of the reducing the APX activity in control and moderate stress treatments. The maximum APX activities were found in under moderate stress without SA application or with 2 mM SA while the highest reductions in APX activity content were recorded in plants treated with 1 mM SA in both mild and moderate water stress treatments. Developing enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defense mechanisms against reactive oxygen species is the main strategy of plants in stressful condition (Noctor et al., 2002; Gong et al., 2005; Cheeseman, 2007). In this study, ROS enzyme activities enhanced by increasing the intensity of water stress and APX enzyme activity increased with increasing stress conditions and the highest increases occurred in plants under moderate stress condition (Table 4).

4. Conclusions

According to the obtained results, it may be concluded that prolong water stress especially under moderate water deficit stress had negative effect on peppermint. Under water deficit stress, peppermint plants showed a significant decline in growth measurement in term of fresh and dry weights of aerial parts and leaf dry weight while increased antioxidant enzyme activities, the membrane permeability and lipid peroxidation. In addition, water stress enhanced total phenolic and flavonoids contents while significantly decreased the total essential oil content in moderate stress condition (mild stress increased the total essential oil content but, it was not significant). However, the findings of the present study showed that foliar spray of SA increased grown parameters in non-stress plants while there were no significant effects of SA on water stressed plant. Severity of water stress has a great impact on the physiological and biochemical process of plants. SA applications in this study reduced the severity of both water stress condition and decreased the level of grown parameters reduction rate. SA significantly reduced the water stress-induced negative effects by improving the antioxidant enzyme activities and decreasing the lipid peroxidation and membrane permeability. In terms of the secondary metabolites, SA treatment increased the total phenolic contents in control plants while, especially in plants exposed to water stress, total essential oil content increased. SA contributed to the plant growth and development without any toxic effects and 2 mM of SA significantly increased the essential oil content in non-stressed plants. Also, it was determined that 2 mM of SA for control irrigation and 2 and 2.5 mM of SA for both water stress condition were the optimum concentrations in terms of dry leaf weight, total phenolic contents and essential oil content in peppermint plants.

Acknowledgements

The author wishes to thank Dr. M. Maffeifor providing the facilities and technical support.

References

- AFTAB T., KHAN M.M,. IDREES A.M., NAEEM M., MOINUD-DIN M., 2010 - Salicylic acid acts as potent enhancer of growth, photosynthesis and artemisinin production in Artemisia annua L. - J. Crop Sci. Biotech., 3: 183-188.
- AGATI G., AZZARELLO E., POLLASTRI S., TATTINI M., 2012 -Flavonoids as antioxidants in plants: location and functional significance. - Plant Sci., 196: 67-76.
- ARFAN M., ATHAR H.R., ASHRAF M., 2007 Does exogenous application of salicylic acid through the rooting medium modulate growth and photosynthetic capacity in two differently adapted spring wheat cultivars under salt stress? - J. Plant Phys., 164: 685-694.
- ASHRAF M., FOOLAD M.R., 2007 Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. - Environ Exp. Bot., 59: 206-216.
- AZHAR N., HUSSAIN B., ASHRAF M.Y., ABBASI K.Y., 2011 -Water stress mediated changes in growth, physiology and secondary metabolites of desi ajwain (Trachyspermumammi L.). - Pak. J. Bot., 43(1): 15-19.

- BASSI R., SHARMA S.S., 1993 Proline accumulation in wheat seedlings exposed to zinc and copper. -Phytochem., 33: 1339-1342.
- BATES L.S., WALDREN R.P., TEARE I.D., 1973 *Rapid determination of free proline for water stress studies.* - Plant Soil, 39: 205-207.
- CHEESEMAN J.M., 2007 Hydrogen peroxide and plant stress: a challenging relationship. - Plant Stress, 1: 4-15.
- CHOOKHAMPAENG S., 2011 The effect of salt stress on growth chlorophyll content proline content and antioxidant enzymes of pepper (Capsicum annum L.) seedling. - Eur. J. Sci. Res., 49(1): 103-109.
- DEMPSEY D.A., KLESSING D.F., 1994 Salicylic acid, active oxygen species and system acquired resistance in plants. Trends Cell Biol., 4: 334-338.
- EDRIS A.E., FARRAG E.S., 2003 Antifungal activity of peppermint and sweet basil essential oils and their major aroma constituents on some plant pathogenic fungi from the vapor phase. - Food/Nahrung, 47(2): 117-121.
- EL-DANASOURY M., AL-AMIER H., EL-DIN HELALY A., AZIZ E.E., CRAKER L., 2010 - *Essential oil and enzyme activity in spearmint under salt stress.* - J. Herbs Spices Med. Plants, 16: 136-145.
- FIGUERA-PÉREZ M.G., ROCHA-GUZMÁN N.E., MERCADO-SILVA E., LOARCA-PIÑA G., REYNOSO-CAMACHO R., 2014 - Effect of chemical elicitors on peppermint (Mentha piperita) plants and their impact on the metabolite profile and antioxidant capacity of resulting infusions. - Food Chemistry, 156: 273-278
- GHARIB F.A., 2007 Effect of salicylic acid on the growth, metabolic activities and oil content of basil and marjoram. - Int. J. Agric. Biol., 9: 294-301.
- GHASEMZADEH A., JAAFAR H., 2012 Effect of salicylic acid application on biochemical changes in ginger (Zingiber officinale Roscoe). - J. Med. Plants Res., 6: 790-795.
- GONG H., ZHU X., CHEN K., WANG S., ZHANG C., 2005 -Silicon alleviates oxidative damage of wheat plants in pots under drought. - Plant Sci., 169: 313-321.
- HARE P.D., CRESS W.A., VAN STADEN J., 1998 Dissecting the roles of osmolyte accumulation during stress. -Plant Cell Environ., 21: 535-553.
- HASSANPOUR H., KHAVARI-NEJAD T., NIKNAM R.A., NAJAFI V., RAZAVI F.K., 2012 - Effects of penconazole and water deficit stress on physiological and antioxidative responses in pennyroyal (Mentha pulegium L.). -Acta Physiol. Plant., 34: 1537-1549
- HAYAT Q., HAYAT S., IRFAN M., AHMAD A., 2010 Effect of exogenous salicylic acid under changing environment: a review. Envir. Exp. Bot., 68(1): 14-25.
- HAYAT S., AHMAD A., 2007 Salicylic acid: A plant hormone. - Springer Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 401.
- HERRO E., JACOB S.E., 2010 Mentha piperita (*pepper-mint*). Dermatitis, 21(6): 327-329.
- HORVÁTH E., SZALAI G., JANDA T., 2007 Induction of abiotic stress tolerance by salicylic acid signaling. - J. Plant Growth Reg., 26: 290-300.
- HOSSAIN M.B., RAI D.K., BRUNTON N.P., MARTIN-DIANA

A.B., BARRY-RYAN C., 2010 - Characterization of phenolic composition in Lamiaceae spices by LC-ESI-MS/MS. -J. Agr. Food Chem., 58(19): 10576-10581.

- HUSSAIN A.I., FAROOQ A., NIGAM P.S., ASHRAF M., GILANI A.H., 2010 - Seasonal variation in content, chemical composition and antimicrobial and cytotoxic activities of essential oils from four Mentha species. - J. Sci. Food Agric., 90: 1827-1836.
- JANDA T., GONDOR O.K., YORDANOVA R., SZALAI G., PÁL M., 2014 - Salicylic acid and photosynthesis: signalling and effects. - Acta Physiol. Plant., 36: 2537-2546.
- JORD'ANM J., MART'INEZ R.M., CASES M.A., SOTOMAYOR J.A., 2003 - *Watering level effect on* Thymus hyemalis lange *essential oil yield and composition*. - J. Agric. Food Chem., 51(18): 5420-5427.
- KAMATOU G.P., VERMAAK I., VILJOEN A.M., LAWRENCE B.M., 2013 - Menthol: a simple monoterpene with remarkable biological properties. - Phytochemistry, 96: 15-25.
- KANG G., LI G., XU W., PENG X., HAN Q., ZHU Y., 2012 -Proteomics reveals the effects of salicylic acid on growth and tolerance to subsequent drought stress in wheat. - J. Proteome Res., 11: 6066-6079.
- KARAMAOUNA F., KIMBARIS A., MICHAELAKIS A., PAPACHRISTOS D., POLISSIOU M., PAPATSAKONA P., TSORA E., 2013 - Insecticidal activity of plant essential oils against the vine mealy bug, Planococcus ficus. - J. Insect Sci., 13(1): 142.
- KARLIDAG H., YILDIRIM E., TURAN M., 2011 Role of 24epibrassinolide in mitigating the adverse effects of salt stress on stomatal conductance, membrane permeability, and leaf water content, ionic composition in salt stressed strawberry (Fragaria ananassa). - Sci. Hortic., 130: 133-140.
- KARRAY-BOURAOUIA N., RABHIB M., NEFFATI M., BAL-DAND B., RANIERI A., MARZOUKC B., LACHAÂLA M., SMAOUIB A., 2009 - Salt effect on yield and composition of shoot essential oil and trichome morphology and density on leaves of Mentha pulegium. - Ind. Crops Prod., 30: 338-343.
- KAVI KISHOR P.B., HONG Z., MIAO G.H., HU C.A.A., VERMA D.P.S., 2005 - Over expression of [delta]-pyrroline-5carboxylate synthetase increases proline production and confers osmotolerance in transgenic plants. - Plant Physiol., 108: 1387-1394.
- KHALID K.A., 2006 Influence of water stress on growth, essential oil, and chemical composition of herbs (Ocimum sp.). - Int. Agrophys, 20(4): 289-296.
- KHAN A.F., MUJEEB F., FAROOQI A.H.A., FAROOQUI A., 2015 - Growth regulators on growth and essential oil content in palmarosa (Cymbopogon martinii). - Asian J. Pharma. Clin. Res., 8: 373-376.
- KHAN M., ASGHER M., KHAN N.A., 2014 a Alleviation of salt-induced photosynthesis and growth inhibition by salicylic acid involves glycinebetaine and ethylene mung bean (Vigna radiate L.). - Plant Physiol. Biochem., 80: 67-74.

- KHAN Z.H., MOHAMMAD F., KHAN M.M.A., 2014 b -Enhancing the growth, yield and production of essential oil and citral in lemongrass by the application of triacontanol. - Int. J. Agric. Res., 4: 113-122.
- KHODARY S.F.A., 2004 Effect of salicylic acid on the growth, photosynthesis and carbohydrate metabolism in salt stressed maize plants. Int. J. Agric. Biol., 6: 5-8.
- KHORASANINEJAD S., AMIR MOUSAVI A., SOLTANLOO H., HEMMATI K., KHALIGHI A., 2011 - The effect of drought stress on growth parameters, essential oil yield and constituent of peppermint (Mentha piperita L.). - Med. Plant Res., 5(22): 5360-5365
- KOVÁČIK J., GRÚZ J., BAČKOR M., STRNAD M., REPČÁK M., 2009 - Salicylic acid-induced changes to growth and phenolic metabolism in Matricaria chamomilla plants. -Plant Cell Reports, 28(1): 135.
- KRISHNAN N., CHATTOPADHYAY S., KUNDU J.K., CHAUD-HURI A., 2002 - *Superoxide dismutase activity in* haemocytes *and* haemolymph *of* Bombixmori *following bacterial infection.* - CurrSci., 83: 321-325.
- KUMAR J., KUMAR-GUPTA P., 2008 *Molecular approaches for improvement of medicinal and aromatic plants.* Plant Biotechnol. Rep., 2: 93-112.
- LAWRENCE B.M., 2007 *Mint: the genus* Mentha. CRC Press, New York, USA, pp. 555.
- LEE B.R., ZHANG Q., PARK S.H., ISLAM M.T., KIM T.H., 2019 - Salicylic acid improves drought-stress tolerance by regulating the redox status and proline metabolism in Brassica rapa. - Hortic., Environ. Biotech., 60(1): 31-40.
- LIU M., LI X.Q., WEBER C., LEE C.Y., BROWN J., LIU R.H., 2002 - Antioxidant and anti proliferative activities of raspberries. - J. Agric. Food Chem., 50(10): 2926-2930.
- LØVDAL T., OLSEN K.M., SLIMESTAD R., VERHEUL M., LILLO C., 2010 - Synergetic effects of nitrogen depletion, temperature, and light on the content of phenolic compounds and gene expression in leaves of tomato. -Phytochemistry, 71: 605-613.
- LUTTS S., KINET J.M., BOUHARMONT J., 1996 NaCl induced senescence in leaves of rice (Oryza sativa L.) cultivars differing in salinity resistance. - Ann. Bot., 78: 389-398.
- MADHAVA K., RAO V., SRESTY T.V.S., 2000 Antioxidative parameters in the seedlings of pigeonpea (Cajanuscajan L. Millspaugh) in response to Zn and Ni stresses. - Plant Sci., 157: 113-128.
- MAHAJAN S., TUTEJA N., 2005 *Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview.* Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 444: 139-158.
- MANSOURI A.J.A., KURUP S.S., 2009 Triadimefon induced physiological and ultra-structural changes for moisture stress protection in Bougainvillea (Bougainvillea spectabilis Willd) at nursery stage. - Emir. J. Food Agric., 21(1): 48-58.
- McKAY D.L., BLUMBERG J.B., 2006 A review of the bioactivity and potential health benefits of peppermint tea (Mentha piperita L.). - Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and

Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 20(8): 619-633.

MIMICA-DUKIĆ N., BOŽIN B., SOKOVIĆ M., MIHAJLOVIĆ B., MATAVULJ M., 2003 - Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of three Mentha species essential oils. - Planta Med., 69(5): 413-419.

- MOYER R.A., HUMMER K.E., FINN C.E., FREI B., WROLSTAD R.E., 2002 - Anthocyanins, phenolics, and antioxidant capacity in diverse small fruits: Vaccinium, Rubus, and Ribes. - J. Agric. Food Chem., 50(3): 519-525.
- MUNNS R., 2005 Genes and salt tolerance: bringing them together. New Phytol., 167: 645-663.
- NAIDU B.P., PALEG L.G., ASPINALL D., JENNINGS A.C., JONES G.P., 1991 - Amino acid and glycine betaine accumulation in cold-stressed wheat seedlings. -Phytochem., 30: 407-409.

NOBEL P.S., 1999 - *Physiochemical and environmental plant physiology*. - Academic Press, San Diego, USA, pp. 540.

- NOCTOR G., VELJOVIC-JOVANOVIC S., DRISCOLL S., NOVIT-SKAYA L., FOYER CH., 2002 - Drought and oxidative load in the leaves of C3 plants: a predominant role for photorespiration? - Ann Bot., 89: 841-850.
- NOWAK M., KLEINWAHTER M., MANDERSCHIED R., WEI-IGEL H.-J., SELMAR D., 2010 - Drought stress increases the accumulation of monoterpenes in sage (Salvia officinalis), an effect that is compensated by elevated carbon dioxide concentration. - J. Appl. Biol. Food Qual., 83: 133-136.
- PIERPOINT W.S., 1994 Salicylic acid and its derivatives in plants: medicines, metabolites and messenger molecules. - Adv. Bot. Res., 20: 163-235.
- QUESLATI S., KARRAY-BOURAOUI N., RABHI H., KSOURI M., LACHAAL R., 2010 - *Physiological and antioxidant responses of* Mentha pulegium (*Pennyroyal*) to salt *stress.* - Acta Physiol. Plant., 32(2): 289-296.

RAHIMI A.R., ROKHZADI A., AMINI S., KARAMI E., 2013 -Effect of salicylic acid and methyl jasmonate on growth and secondary metabolites in Cuminum cyminum L. - J. Biol. Environ. Sci., 3: 140-149.

RHODES D., NADOLSKA-ORCZYK A., RICH P.J., 2002 -Salinity, osmolytes and compatible solutes, pp. 181-204. - In: LAUCHLI A., and U. LUTTGE (eds.) Salinity, environment, plant, molecules. Al-Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands.

ROHLOFF J., 1999 - Monoterpene composition of essential

oil from peppermint (Mentha × piperita L.) with regard to leaf position using solid-phase microextraction and gas chromatography/mass spectrometry analysis. - J. Agric. Food Chem., 47(9): 3782-3786.

- ROWSHAN V., KHOI M.K., JAVIDNIA K., 2010 Effects of salicylic acid on quality and quantity of essential oil components in Salvia macrosiphon. J. Biol. Environ. Sci., 4: 77-82.
- SCHAT H., SHARMA S.S., VOOIJS R., 1997 Heavy metalinduced accumulation of free proline in a metal-tolerant and a nontolerant ecotype of Silene vulgaris. -Physiol Plant., 101: 477-482.
- SHARMA S.S., DIETZ K.J., 2006 The significance of amino acids and amino acid-derived molecules in plant responses and adaptation to heavy metal stress. - J. Exp. Bot., 57: 711-726.
- SHUKLA A., FAROOQI A.H., 1990 Utilization of plant growth regulators in aromatic plant production. - Curr. Res. Med. Aromat. Plants, 12: 152-157.
- SILVA A.S., 2002 Technical economic analysis and trends of the Brazilian essential oil industry. - Papel Virtual, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, pp. 202.
- SINGLETON V.L., ROSSI J.R., 1965 Colorimetry of total phenolics with phosphomolybdic-phosphotungstic acid. Am. J. Enol. Vitic., 16: 144-158.
- SRIVASTAVA N.K., MISRA A., SHARMA S., 1998 The substrate utilization and concentration of ¹⁴C photosynthates in citronella under Fe deficiency. -Photosynthethis, 35(3): 391-398.
- TAIZ L., ZEIGER T., 2006 *Plant Physiology*. 4th edition. -Sinauer Associates Inc. Publishers, Massachusetts, USA, pp. 584.
- VERMA N., SHUKLA S., 2015 Impact of various factors responsible for fluctuation in plant secondary metabolites. - J. Appl. Res. Med. Aromatic Plants, 2(4): 105-113.
- WANG B., ZENG O., 1993 Effect of epibrassinolide on the resistance of rice seedling to chilling injury. Acta Physiol. Sin., 19: 53-60.
- YADAV R.K., SANGWAN R.S., SABIR F., SRIVASTAVA A.K., SANGWAN N.S., 2014 - Effect of prolonged water stress on specialized secondary metabolites, peltate glandular trichomes, and pathway gene expression in Artemisia annua L. - Plant Phys. Biochem., 74: 70-83.
- ZHANG J., KIRKHAM M.B., 1996 Antioxidant responses to drought in sunflower and sorghum seedlings. - New Phytol., 132: 361-373.





(*) Corresponding author: shamili@ut.ac.ir

Citation:

AKBARNEJAD-SAMANI Z., SHAMILI M., SAMARI F., 2020 - The toxicity potential of Ag nanoparticles synthesized from Cordia myxa L. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 93-104.

Copyright:

© 2020 Akbarnejad-Samani Z., Shamili M., Samari F. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests:

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 15 October 2019 Accepted for publication 8 January 2020

The toxicity potential of Ag nanoparticles synthesized from *Cordia myxa* L.

- Z. Akbarnejad-Samani¹, M. Shamili^{1(*)}, F. Samari⁽²⁾
- ¹ Horticulture Department, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Hormozgan, Iran.
- ² Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of Hormozgan, Iran.

Kew words: antioxidant capacity, chemical AgNPs, germination value, green AgNPs, lipid peroxidation, phenol, protein.

Abstract: Plant-mediated nanoparticles synthesis is considered as one of the appealing options in bio-nanoparticles synthesis, however, there is contradictory information about the positive or negative impacts of nanoparticles on plants. Investigating the toxic effects of Ag NPs on model plants, such as onion, can reveal the probability of damage. Thus, the present study was conducted to compare the germination indices and biochemical parameters of edible onion seeds treated with different concentrations of two types of silver nanoparticles (green synthesized and chemical synthesized) to examine the oxidative stress. Based on our results, the interaction between leaf extract and silver salt resulted in a color change from pale yellow to dark brown, the first sign of the AgNPs formation. The green AgNPs treatment improved the onion germination indices. The green AgNPs-exposed seeds displayed a no-significant reduction in protein content and same protease activity as the control treatment, but chemical AgNPs-treated displayed a significant rise of protease and reduction in protein content in concentration more than 0.06 gL⁻¹. In chemical AgNPs-treated seeds both peroxidase and catalase displayed an ascending linear trend and the most activities belonged to chemical AgNPs at 0.05 g L^{-1} (315.62 and 51.45 μ mol min⁻¹g⁻¹ FW, respectively). Both nanoparticle types made an increase in MDA, but green AgNPs did not significantly differ with control treatment. It can be concluded that the green synthesis of nanoparticles is a safe and suitable alternative for chemical-synthesized metal nanoparticles.

1. Introduction

The production, manipulation, and use of nanoparticles (NPs), due to their distinctive and definite capabilities, has become one of the most attractive research topic in different area of science, including biology, chemistry, engineering, medicine, physics, agriculture and food. Nanodimension structures involved in many aspects of plant biology such as ionic transport and molecular transmissions. The diameter of plant cell wall pores are in the range of 5 to 20 nm. Furthermore, plasmodesmata, the intracellular channels to facilitate molecular transitions, are also nano-scale (50 to 60 nm in diameter) (Zambryski, 2004).

The nanotechnologies based-products are expected to upturn (Maynard et al., 2006; Rejeski and Lekas, 2008). Nanotechnology applications in agricultural sector involve in precision farming, smart feeding, enrichment of food quality, products packaging, products labeling, nano-pesticide, nano-fertilizer, and nano-herbicide (Thiruvengadam et al., 2018). The different chemical and physical methods are applied to the synthesis of nanoparticles such as sol-gel, electrochemical, hydrothermal, sono-chemical, and microwaves techniques. Chemical methods had low efficiency, need high temperature, high pressure and high energies during the reaction process. Besides they need the expensive reagent and complex equipment. Furthermore, chemical methods require some non-degradable chemical components, as reducing or stabilizing agents, which finally caused environmental pollution (Senapati et al., 2012).

The potential of biological materials to synthesize metal nanoparticles has provided a low-cost and ecofriendly route. Biological synthesis or green synthesis of nanoparticles, uses biological material as the reducing and capping agents (Veerasamy *et al.*, 2011). The green synthesis uses microorganisms such as fungus, bacteria (Ahmad *et al.*, 2005), yeast and actinomycetes (Kowshik *et al.*, 2003) or macro-organisms e.g., plants and algae, as intermediate agents (Niemeyer and Mirkin, 2004; Dubey *et al.*, 2010; Prasad *et al.*, 2012).

Plant-mediated nanoparticles synthesis is considered as one of the appealing options in bio-nanoparticles synthesis, due to high variety and abundance, no need for a complicated growth conditions, bulkbiomass production, no need for special nutrient media, cost-effectiveness, richness of various effective metabolites, simple single-step synthesis process and suitable for the large-scale synthesis of nanoparticles. Polyphenolic contents of the plant act as reducing agents and eventually act as coating and stabilizing agent of nanoparticles (Dubey *et al.*, 2010).

Cordia myxa (L.) or sapistan-tree, a member of Boraginaceae family, is native to tropical areas of Asia. It well documented that *C. myxa* contained flavonoids, glycosides, sterols, terpenoids, saponins, phenolic acids, alkaloids, tannins, coumarins, resins ; and mucilage (Inas *et al.*, 2011; Rashed *et al.*, 2014): a suitable candidate for green NPs synthesis.

However, there is contradictory information about the positive or negative impacts of nanoparticles on plants. Titanium dioxide nanoparticles increased the dry and fresh weight of spinach by increasing the light absorption, boosting rubisco enzyme activity (Lin and Xing, 2007) and rising the nitrogen metabolism (Yang et al., 2007). Zinc and copper nanoparticles showed significant differences in growth, and toxicity symptoms in treated plants (Lee at al., 2008; Monica and Cremonini, 2009; Musante and White, 2012; Prasad et al., 2012). Titanium nanodioxide (40 µg ml⁻¹) improved seed germination, dry and fresh weight of onion seedling; however, the higher concentrations (50 μ g ml⁻¹ and more) had a reverse result (Raskar and Laware, 2013). Conversely, this nanoparticle did not affect the length and quantity of the onion root (Klancnik et al., 2011). The symptoms have depended on the form and coating type of nanoparticles (Barrena et al., 2009).

Due to the growing rate of production and release of nanoparticles in nature (as Nano-fertilizers, Nanotoxins, and Nano-carriers), there are increasing concerns about the possibility of toxicity and oxidative damage (whether chemical or green synthesis) of these particles on the ecosystem. The WHO (World Health Organization) and FAO (The Food and Agriculture Organization) at the meeting on the application of nanotechnologies in the food and agriculture sectors, in Rome in 2010, recognized the potential concern of nanotechnology in agriculture and food sectors. The main concern was about the exponential developing global knowledge on nanotechnology and its applications, which may affect the balance of advantage to risk (FAO/WHO expert meeting report, 2010).

The Ag NPs is known to have antioxidant, antibacterial and antifungal properties and may be used in food, medicine and cosmetics products (El-Nour *et al.*, 2010; Abdel-Aziz *et al.*, 2014). So, investigating the toxic effects of these particles on model plants, such as onion, can reveal the probability of damage. Thus, the present study was conducted to compare the germination indices and biochemical parameters of edible onion seeds who treated with different concentrations of two types of silver nanoparticles (green synthesized and chemical synthesized) to examine the oxidative stress.

2. Materials and Methods

Research site and plant material collection

The current study was conducted at the Horticultural Laboratory of Agriculture and Natural Resources Faculty, Chemical Laboratory of Science Faculty, Central Laboratory (University of Hormozgan, Bandar Abbas, Iran) and Molecular Research Center (Hormozgan University of Medical Sciences, Iran), during 2018.

Preparation of Cordia myxa leaf extract

Leaves of Cordia myxa L. (a member of Boraginaceae family), were collected from Rooydar city, Hormozgan Province, Iran (57° 6' E, 60° 3' N, Elevation: 50 m, RH: 70%, Mean temperature: 28±1°C) during winter, 2018. The healthy leaves were choosing, then washing in tap water followed by rinsing in distilled water and air drying (6 days under the shade conditions at 24±1°C). The dried leaves were powdered using an electric grinder. The leaf extract was prepared by mixing 10 g of dried powder along with 150 mL of deionized water and then heating the mixture at 80°C for 30 min. The solution was pre-filtered through Whatman No. 42 filter paper and re-filtered through Whatman No. 1 filter paper. The obtained extract was collected and stored in the refrigerator (Samari et al., 2018).

Synthesis and purification of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) using C. myxa leaf extract

For AgNPs synthesis, 2.0 ml of *C. mixa* leaf extract was added to 25 ml of 7.0 mM aqueous solution of AgNO₃ (Merck, Germany) and the reaction pH was adjusted to 11.0 using NaOH. The mixture was continuously stirred at room temperature ($24\pm1^{\circ}$ C) for 3 h. The yellow-mixture turned to dark-brown (Samari *et al.*, 2018). The green synthesized AgNPs were centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 30 min and rinsed with deionized water. Then, the obtained sediments were re-dispersed in deionized water to get rid of any free phyto-molecules. This process (centrifugation and redispersion) was repeated three times to ensure the purification of nanoparticles and separation of unbonded compounds.

Characterization of silver nanoparticles

Preliminary characterization of the green synthesized AgNPs was carried out using a S-3100 UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Scinco, Korea, which is operated at a resolution of 2 nm and is equipped with a 10 mm quartz cuvette).

An aliquot of the dried purified pellets, obtained from centrifugation, was used for X-ray diffraction (XRD). The XRD pattern was obtained using a powder X-ray diffractometer (Bruker D8 Advance powder diffractometer) with Cu-K α radiations (λ =1.5406 nm, in a 2 θ range from 20° to 80°). Fine configuration of the green synthesized AgNPs was measured using a transmission electron microscopic examination (TEM). For this, the colloidal AgNPs were allowed for sonication and then a thin film was prepared on the carbon coated grid (Cu Mesh 300). TEM observations were made with (Zeiss-EM10C) operated at an accelerating voltage of 80 kV.

Preparation of colloidal solution of AgNPs (green and chemical synthesized)

The chemical AgNPs wasprovided from Iranian Nano-biotechnology company. Chemical and green nanoparticles were dispersed separately in distilled water and placed in an ultrasonic apparatus (SONI-CA[®] Ultrasonic Cleaners) for 30 min for homogenization. Then, colloidal solutions containing each nanoparticle were prepared at the concentrations of 0, 0.03, 0.06, 0.012, 0.025 and 0.05 g L⁻¹.

For germination assay, red onion seeds (*Allium cepa* L.), disinfected (0.04% of sodium hypochlorite solution, 3 min), rinsed in distilled water (3 times, each for 1 min), dipped in Nano-solutions for 30 min and finally rinsed in distilled water. Seeds were then cultured in sterilized glass Petri dishes (80 mm in diameter, covered with filter papers). Each Petri dish contained 100 seeds.

Germination indices

Germination percentage and germination value. Germination test was conducted under a laboratory condition ($24\pm1^{\circ}$ C). The seeds were placed on 80 mm petri dishes and were covered with filter papers. The seeds were irrigated daily with double distilled water. Counting was done by the emerge of the roots (the seed with root length equal or more than seed diameter were assumed as germinated). The counting continued until 3 days fixed germination. The germination indices including germination percentage and germination value were calculated using the equations (1) and (2) (Okoro, 1976).

Germination (%)= The total number of germinated seeds / total seed) x 100 (1)

$$GV = MDG \times PV$$
 (2)

where GV is germination value and MDG is mean daily germination and calculated by the dividing of germination percentage by the number of days to the end of the test. PV or peak value, derived from all the cumulative germination percentages on any day divided by the number of days to reach these percentages.

The length of radicle and plumule. Seedling root and stem length was measured using a ruler (express in mm).

Biochemical analysis

Preparation of enzyme and protein extract. About 0.5 g of the root was homogenized in liquid nitrogen. Then, 1.0 ml of extraction buffer (in 100 ml: containing of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer with pH: 7.0, 0.0372 g EDTA and 1.0 g PVP) was added and centrifuged (15 min, 12000 rpm, 4°C). At last, the supernatant was used to assay protein content, and the activity of catalase, peroxidase, and protease (Dhindsa *et al.*, 1981).

Protein content assay. The Bradford method (1976) was used to determine protein content. Briefly, 1.0 ml of Bradford reaction solution (containing 0.01 of Coomassie Brilliant Blue G250, 5.0 ml of 96% ethanol and 10.0 ml of 85% phosphoric acid) was added to 50 μ l of protein extract. The optical absorption of the extracts was determined by a spectrophotometer (Cecil CE2501 model) at 595 nm with a plastic cuvette (Bradford, 1976).

Peroxidase activity assay. After adding 33 μ l of the enzyme extract to 1.0 ml of the peroxidase reaction solution (containing 13 mM guaiacol, 5 mM hydrogen peroxide and 50 mM phosphate potassium buffer at pH=7.0), the absorption of the extracts was recorded at 470 nm (Chance and Maehly, 1995).

Catalase activity assay. For catalase assay 50 μ l of the enzyme extract was mixed with 1.0 ml catalase reaction solution (containing 50 mM phosphate potassium buffer at pH=7.0 and 15 mM hydrogen peroxide). The absorption was recorded at 240 nm (Dhindsa *et al.*, 1981).

Protease activity assay. After adding 350 μ l of 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH=7.5) and 800 μ l of 1% casein (W/V) to 50 μ l of the enzyme extract, the mixture was incubated under laboratory condition (24±1°C) for 10 min. Then, 400 μ l of 10% trichloroacetic acid (w/v) was added and the mixture re-incubated for 20 more min. Finally, after centrifugation (10000 rpm, 5 min), the optical absorption of extracts was determined at 280 nm with a quartz cuvette (Kwmbhavi *et al.*, 1993).

Malondialdehyde assay (MDA). About 0.1 g of the root was homogenized with 5.0 ml of 1% trichloroacetic acid. The extract was then centrifuged (10000 rpm, 5 min) and the supernatant (250 μ l) was placed in a water bath (95°C for 30 min), after adding one ml of MDA (containing 20% trichloroacetic acid and 5% thiobarbituric acid). The samples were placed on ice and then re-centrifuged (1000 rpm, 5 min).

Finally, the optical absorption of the extracts was recorded at 532 and 600 nm (Alexieva *et al.*, 2001).

Total phenol assay. The total phenol was assayed using the Spanos and Wrolstad (1990) technique; about 0.1 g of root sample was homogenized with 15.0 ml of 80% methanol. The extract was then centrifuged (10000 rpm, 10 min). Then, 490 μ l of distilled water and 500 μ l of Folin reagent were added to 10 μ l of the supernatant and were placed under dark condition (24±1°C, for 3 min). Subsequently, 500 μ l of 1% sodium carbonate (1.0 g sodium carbonate - 100 ml distilled water) was added to each sample and re-placed under dark condition (24±1°C) for 30 more min. Finally, the absorbance of extracts was determined at 765 nm.

Antioxidant capacity (DPPH assay). The DPPH assay was followed by Brand-Williams *et al.* (1995) procedure. Briefly, about 0.1 g of root sample was homogenized with 15.0 ml of 80% methanol and incubated under dark laboratory condition (24±1°C, for 24 h). Then, the extracts were centrifuged (10000 rpm, 10 min). After adding 40 μ l of methanol, 350 μ l of DPPH and 1550 μ l of 80% methanol to 600 μ l of the supernatant, the samples were kept under the dark condition at 4°C, for 20 min. Finally, the optical absorption was recorded at 517 nm and the antioxidant capacity was calculated using the equation (3):

Antioxidant capacity%= $[(A_{cont} - A_{samp})/A_{cont})] \times 100$ (3)

where ${\rm A}_{_{\rm cont}}$ and ${\rm A}_{_{\rm samp}}$ are the standard and sample optical absorption.

Data analysis

The research was conducted as a factorial experiment based on complete random design, with six replications (each replicon contains 100 seed). The statistical analysis was done using SAS Version 9.1.3 (SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC, USA, 1990). The factors were AgNPs type (green AgNPs and chemical AgNPs) and AgNPs levels (0, 0.03, 0.06, 0.012, 0.025 and 0.05 g L⁻¹). The Shapiro-Wilks test confirmed the data normality (procedure: Proc Univariate, SAS). The Multivariate Analysis of variance, considering the AgNPs type and AgNPs levels as independent variables were done (procedure: Proc Glm, SAS). Pillai's trace test confirmed the variance homogeneity (procedure: Proc Glm, SAS). Tukey's test was performed for mean comparison (procedure: Files, Sedit, Factor, Range, P<0.01, MSTATC). Excel 2013 was used to draw the figures.

3. Results

Synthesis and characterization of C. myxa synthesized AgNPs

The interaction between leaf extract and silver salt resulted in a color change from pale yellow to dark brown, the first sign of the AgNPs formation. This process occurred under room temperature (24±1°C) and lasted 3 hours (Fig. 1).

UV-Vis Spectroscopy is one of the most extensive techniques to confirm the production of nanoparticles. The UV-Vis spectrum of synthesized AgNPs using *C. myxa* leaf extract (Fig. 2A) showed a significant peak with λ_{max} around 410 nm due to SPR (Surface Plasmon Resonance) of AgNPs.

TEM images were used to detect the surface morphology and size distribution of synthesized AgNPs by *C. myxa* leaf extract. TEM micrographs of the AgNPs confirmed the spherical shape of particles, 3-10 nmsize, well-distributed and little aggregation in solution (Fig. 2B); however, the average size of particles was found to be 5.8 nm.

The XRD patterns of synthesized AgNPs showed prominent Bragg reflections at 20 values of 38.1, 44.25, 64.55 and 77.2 (Fig. 3A), which is related to the (111), (200), (220) and (311) Bragg reflections of face-centered cubic (FCC) AgNPs. SEM analysis confirmed the nano dimension of chemical AgNPs (Fig. 3B).

Germination indices

Germination percentage and germination value. The germination percentage was influenced by the type and concentration of nanoparticles (Table 1).



Fig. 1 - The mixture of *C. myx*a leaf extract and AgNO₃ (Left), green-synthetized AgNPs colloidal solution (Right).

The green AgNPs treatment improved the onion germination. Most germination percentage belonged to green AgNPs (100% in 0.05 g L^{-1}), and the least value



Fig. 2 - The SPR spectrum of *C. myxa* synthesized with the AgNPs (A), and TEM image of AgNPs synthetized by *C. myxa* leaf extract (B).



Fig. 3 - The XRD patterns of the *C. myxa* synthesized AgNPs (A) and electron microscopic scanning image of chemical AgNPs (B). (70%) belonged to chemical AgNPs treatment at concentrations more than 0.06 g L^{-1} (Fig. 4A).

The germination value also influenced by the interaction of treatments (Table 1). Green AgNPs treatment did not differ with control, while treatment with the chemical AgNPs caused a significant reduction in the germination value (from 1.88 in controlreached to 0.12 in the 0.05 g L⁻¹). Most and least germination values (1.90 and 0.12) were observed in onion seeds treated with the high concentration of green AgNPs and chemical AgNPs, respectively (Fig.

4B).

The length of radicle and plumule. The effect of type and concentration of AgNPs was significant on the length of plumule (Fig. 5). There was no significant difference between the green AgNPs and the control. Even, the chemical AgNPs was not different from the control up to the concentration of 0.06 g L⁻¹. The higher amount of chemical AgNPs, reduced the



Fig. 4 - The influence of AgNPs type and concentration on germination percentage (A) and germination value (B) in Allium cepa. Means ± SD of six replicates. The same letter denotes lack of a statistically significant difference (Tukey, p<0.01).</p>



Fig. 5 - The influence of AgNPs type and concentration on plumule length (A) and radicle length (B) in Allium cepa. Means ± SD of six replicates. The same letter denotes lack of a statistically significant difference (Tukey, p<0.01).</p>

Table 1 -	The interaction of	AgNPs type and	concentration on Allium c	epa biochemical	parameters

SOV	Germination percentage	Germination value	Radicle length	Plumule length	Protein	Peroxidase	Catalase	Protease	MDA	Phenol	IC ₅₀
NPs type	4408.33 ** (z)	89.89 **	284.21 **	926.64 **	0.11	540853.35 **	3600.65 **	9151.33 **	0.112 *	886.31 **	14.57
NPs concentration	3.80	0.07	9.98 **	5.11 **	0.27 *	40965.25 **	13476.80 **	1.40 *	0.030 **	17.84	34.52 *
NPs type × NPs concentration	15.53*	0.31 **	4.90 **	1.70	0.15*	38719.77 **	7566.10 **	1.87 *	0.020 **	17.89 **	21.90 **
Error	13.10	0.26	1.17	1.92	0.16	5852.71	683.03	1.14	0.020	55.16	24.61

 $\ensuremath{^{(z)}}$ The mean square values are given.

* and **: state significant at 5 and 1% respectively

AgNPs type ×AgNPs concentration: states the interaction of AgNPs type and AgNPs concentration

plumule length (from 7.40 mm in the control treatment reached to 3.28 mm in the 0.05 g L⁻¹ of chemical AgNPs) (P≤0.01) (Fig. 5A). The radicle length had a different pattern in response to the type and concentration of the nanoparticles. Green AgNPs improved radicle length (from 4.53 mm in control treatment reached to 7.76 mm in high concentration) (P<0.01). The chemical AgNPs made a decreasing trend in this parameter and reached it to 2.22 mm in the concentration of 0.05 g L⁻¹ (Fig. 5B).

Biochemical indices

Protein content and protease activity. Despite the significant effect of two AgNPs types on protein content and protease activity (Table 1, P \leq 0.01), the interaction between AgNPs type and concentration had a diverse pattern (Fig. 6A and B). The green AgNPs-exposed seeds displayed a no-significant reduction in protein content (from 1.1 to 1 mg g⁻¹). The reduction of protein content in chemical AgNPs-treated seeds was dose-dependent (Fig. 6A). Green AgNPs-treated

A

1,2 1 Protein (mg g-1) 0,8 Green NPs 0,6 Chemicl NPs 0,4 0,2 0 0 0.03 0,06 0,12 0,25 0,5 NPs Concentration (g L⁻¹) 7 В 6 Protease (µmol min-1g-1FW) 5 4 Green NPs 3 ⊠ Chemicl NPs 2 1 0 0 0,03 0,06 0,12 0,25 0,5 NPs Concentration (g L⁻¹)

seeds had the same protease activity as the control treatment. Chemical AgNPs displayed a significant rise in concentration more than 0.06 gL⁻¹ (from 1.77 μ mol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ FW in control treatment to 6.21 μ mol min⁻¹ g⁻¹ FW at the high concentration) (Fig. 6B).

Antioxidant enzymes (peroxidase and catalase activities). By the results, the activity of both antioxidant enzymes was influenced by the type and concentration of the AgNPs (Table 1). Green AgNPs-treated seeds indicated no significant difference with control. In chemical AgNPs-treated seeds both enzymes displayed the linear trend, so most peroxidase and catalase activities belonged to chemical AgNPs at 0.05 g L⁻¹ (315.62 and 51.45 μ mol min⁻¹g⁻¹ FW, respectively) (Fig. 7A and B).

Malondialdehyde (MDA), phenol and DPPH (antioxidant capacity). The MDA influenced by AgNPs treatment (Table 1) and the less value was observed in control treatment (0.03 mg g⁻¹ Fw). Both nanoparticle types made an increase in MDA, but green AgNPs did not significantly differ with control treatment. Also, the content of MDA had a linear relation



Fig. 6 - The influence of AgNPs type and concentration on protein content (A) and activity of protease (B) in Allium cepa. Means ± SD of six replicates. The same letter denotes lack of a statistically significant difference (Tukey, p<0.01).</p>

Fig. 7 - The influence of AgNPs type and concentration on activities of peroxidase (A) and catalase (B) in Allium cepa. Means ± SD of six replicates. The same letter denotes lack of a statistically significant difference (Tukey, p<0.01).</p>

with chemical AgNPs concentration (from 0.03 mg g^{-1} Fw in the control reached to 0.25 mg g^{-1} FW at high concentration of chemical AgNPs) (Fig. 8A).

The type and concentration of AgNPs influenced phenol content. The most value was assigned to chemical AgNPs (15.16 mg Gallic g⁻¹ FW at 0.05 g L⁻¹), and the least value to control treatment (4.10 mg Gallic g⁻¹ FW) (Fig. 8B).

The amount of antioxidant capacity was also affected by NPs treatments (Table 1). This parameter was expressed in mg g⁻¹ fresh weight based on the-half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC_{50}). The control value (10.67 mg g⁻¹ FW) followed a descending trend in both AgNPs types. It reached to 8.97 mg g⁻¹ FW in green AgNPs while to 1.01 in chemical AgNPs (Fig. 9).

4. Discussion and Conclusions

Plants contain flavonoids, phenols, aroma, latex and alcohols, and some of these compounds are responsible for the reduction of metal ions and production of metal NPs from the metal salts. It has been stated that the leaf extract of *Cordia* species possesses phenolic and flavonoids derived compounds such as robinin, rutin, datiscoside, hes-



Fig. 8 - The influence of AgNPs type and concentration on MDA (A) and total phenol (B) in *Allium cepa*. Means ± SD of six replicates. The same letter denotes lack of a statistically significant difference (Tukey, p<0.01).</p>



Fig. 9 - The influence of AgNPs type and concentration on antioxidant capacity in *Allium cepa*. Means ± SD of six replicates. The same letter denotes lack of a statistically significant difference (Tukey, p<0.01).</p>

peridin, dihydrorobinetin, chlorogenic and caffeic acid (Al-Ati, 2011). The hydroxyl and ketonic groups of such compounds, construct chelate structures by binding to metal ions (Issaabadi *et al.*, 2016). In present work, the leaf extract of *C. myxa* was used as a reducing and stabilizing agent for phyto-synthesis of AgNPs. This eco-friendly procedure was free-hazard and non-toxic. The successful synthesis of green AgNPs from plant extracts has already reported in *Chenopodium album, Camellia sinensis* and *Rhus coriaria* (Song and Kim, 2009; Dwivedi and Gopol, 2010).

The NPs synthesis basis is oxidation of hydroxyl, carbonyl, and aldehyde and subsequently, reduction of metal ions during the neutralization of the electric charge (Sivaraman et al., 2009). In present research the C. myxa extract turned to dark brown, due to the surface plasmon resonance of AgNPs and confirmed the successful synthesis of the AgNPs (Kasthuri et al., 2009; Roopan et al., 2013). In this study, the synthesis process lasted 3 hours at room temperature condition. Other reports have also mentioned that this rapid NPs synthesis dose not require high temperatures (Sivaraman et al., 2009). The FCC crystal structure of green synthesized AgNPs was found by comparing the obtained XRD data with JCPDS File No. 04-0783 (Sutradhar and Saha, 2016), clearly indicate the highly crystalline structure of green AgNPs.

Nanoparticles play an important role in many areas of biology, chemistry and agriculture (Navarro *et al.*, 2008), but their adverse potential on the environment is being subjected to extreme discussions. NPs penetrate to various parts of the plants, some stored within the cell and some in extracellular space (Lee *et al.*, 2008). High AgNPs concentrations pass through the cell by diffusion, cause mitochondrial mal-function, generation of ROS (He *et al.*, 2012; Roh *et al.*, 2012). On the other hand, easy penetration of nanoparticles into the seed shell develops water absorption and increases the activity of rubisco enzyme, which finally simplifies germination (Gao *et al.*, 2006). In the present study, *Cordia myxa* AgNPs increased onion germination percentage and value. The improvement of seed germination has reported in nano-metal treated spinach (Gao *et al.*, 2006), maize (Lin and Xing, 2007) and peanut (Prasad *et al.*, 2012).

The AgNPs have to penetrate plant cell walls, the natural sieves, and roots plasma membranes to enter the xylem tissues and then dislocated to stems and finally leaves (Dietz and Herth, 2011). In fact, the roots are the first target for lethal materials (Sresty and Rao, 1999). There are disagreeing reports regarding the effects of nanoparticles on the plant root and system. The NPs treatment made a decrease in radish root length (Wang et al., 2015), but an increase in the shoot and root length of rice (Hao et al., 2016). Also, ZnO NPs caused root elongation in radish, lettuce, corn, and cucumber (Lin and Xing, 2007). ZnO NPs (500 mg L⁻¹) increased soybean's root length, while higher concentrations resulted in a significant reduction (Lopez-Moreno et al., 2010). The root cap cells of AgNPs-exposed Lolium multiflorum were damaged and malformed, which lastly reduced root growth and dry matter (Yin *et al.*, 2011).

Plant root inter-connect with physical and chemical factors of the root zone. The elongation zone of onion root may act as a sensitive receiver for external signals. The length and morphology of onion roots is an important parameter that reflects the toxicity of the chemical compounds (Odeigah *et al.*, 1997). It has reported that AgNPs lessened root length of onion whichrelatedto a reduction in water absorption and cell division (Kumari *et al.*, 2009). In this study, an inhibition in radicle and plumule development in chemical AgNPs-treated seeds indicate its toxicity potential. Moreover, the root length reduced more than the shoot length in AgNPs-treated samples.

The toxicity of AgNPs in biological systems is closely related to its surface oxidation, releasing the Ag ions, and interaction with macromolecules (Reidy *et al.*, 2013), especially with sulfur-containing molecules e.g. proteins, due to silver- sulfur strong tendency (Liu *et al.*, 2011). The nano-dimension plant pores, the surface charge of NPs (more negative AgNPs limit the cell-particle interactions and made lower toxicity) and coating type (chemical or biological) influence the intensity of AgNPs' toxicity (Choi and Hu, 2008; El Badawy et al., 2011).

In the present study, protein content and protease activity of green AgNPs treated seeds did not significantly differ from the control. However, the high concentration of chemical AgNPs obviously decreased protein content and boosted protease activity. This alignment related to the role of protease in protein catabolism. High concentrations of AgNPs denature the membrane and release LPS (lipopolysaccharide) and purines. Then limit the proton mobility, react with thiol groups of some enzymes, deactivate enzymes, bind to protein groups, denature proteins, produce hydrogen peroxide, which finally causes oxidative stress (Hwang *et al.*, 2008; Zhu *et al.*, 2008).

The regulated production of free radicals in organisms maintains the oxidation and reduction homeostasis cycle; however, there is a group of antioxidant enzymes who prevent and deactivate ROS. Also, extracellular antioxidant molecules, such as ascorbate, scavenge free radical molecules (Shams *et al.*, 2011). Increasing the activity of antioxidant enzymes, catalase and peroxidase, inplant's exposed to the chemical metal NPs treated plants (Krishnaraj *et al.*, 2012; Singh *et al.*, 2013; Wang *et al.*, 2015; Cvjetko *et al.*, 2017) confirms our results.

Nanoparticles interact with the cell membrane (Khan et al., 2011), then depending on their nature and concentration, reduce the destructive effects of oxidative stress, cause programmed cell death (Lei et al., 2008). Silver nanoparticles could damage cell division, cause chromatin bridge, disturbed metaphase, make multiple chromosomal breaks and final cell disintegration (Kumari et al., 2009). According to Burman et al. (2013), zinc oxide NPs linearly increased ROS and MDA content. The MDA content of tomato and tobacco plants who exposed to AgNPs was higher than control plants (Cvjetko et al., 2017). Also, an increase in phenol content has already been reported in metal NPs treated plants (Singh et al., 2013). IC_{50} is a measure of the potency of a substance in inhibiting the biological function and indicates how much of this substance is required to inhibit the biological process. In our research, the chemical AgNPshad IC₅₀ around 8 times more than green AgNPs, which confirms the more toxicity risk of chemical AgNPs. The same trend was observed in green AgNPs synthesized from Aegle marmelos extract (Patil et al., 2015). The results of the present work displayed that green AgNPs significantly enhanced antioxidant abilities by stimulating polyphenols and ascorbic acid in onion.

Globally, incredible changes in agricultural production patterns have taken place, through the application of modern labor-saving technologies, mechanization, and improved crop varieties. In sustainable agriculture, the application of nano-fertilizers is a talented option to provide the food needed for the growing population worldwide. Green synthesis of nanoparticle as an environmental-friendly technique, by minimizing and reducing hazardous material, gradually has introduced itself in the commercial production of nanoparticles. The present research used an eco-friendly and low-cost methodology, without the use of any danger or lethal chemicals for AgNPs synthesis from leaf extract of C. myxa under room temperature conditions. The phenolic and flavonoid contents of leaf extract acted as reducing and stabilizing agent in nanoparticles synthesis and AgNPs with a good quantity and stability were synthesized.

Various bioassays are available to assess the relative toxicity of chemicals in different organisms. However, there is no single test that can detect the damage of classes of chemical compounds. A germination test is a sensitive tool used in physiological and cytogenetic studies. According to our findings, the green nanoparticle synthesis, not only had no oxidative effect on onion germination parameters, but also some stimulant effect was observed. The chemical nanoparticle motivated the plant's defense responses, by inducing oxidative stress and limited germination in a dose-dependent manner. As a final conclusion, it can be noted that the low-cost and easy synthesis of nanoparticles from plant sources, is a safe and suitable alternative for chemical-synthesized metal nanoparticles.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the Head of Research and Technology Center (University of Hormozgan, Iran) and Dr. Ebrahim Eftekhar, the head of Molecular Research Center (Hormozgan University of Medical Sciences, Iran), for technical support.

References

ABDEL-AZIZ M.S., SHAHEEN M.S., EL-NEKEETY A.A., ABDEL-WAHHAB M.A., 2014 - Antioxidant and antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles biosynthesized using Chenopodium murale *leaf extract.* - J. Saudi Chem. Soc., 18: 356-363.

- AHMAD A., SENAPATI S., KHAN M.I., KUMAR R., SASTRY M., 2005 - Extra-intracellular, biosynthesis of gold nanoparticles by an alkalo tolerant fungus, Trichothecium. - J. Biom. Nanotechnology, 1: 47-53.
- AL-ATI T., 2011 Assyrian plum (Cordia myxa L.). -Postharvest Biol. Technol. Trop. Subtrop. Fruits, 116-126e.
- ALEXIEVA V., SERGIEV I., MAPELLI S., KARANOV E., 2001 -The effect of drought and ultraviolet radiation on growth and stress markers in pea and wheat. - Plant, Cell & Environ., 24: 1337-1344.
- BARRENA R., CASALS E., COLÓN J., FONT X., SÁNCHEZ A., PUNTES, V., 2009 - Evaluation of the ecotoxicity of model nanoparticles. - Chemosphere, 75: 850-857.
- BRADFORD M.M., 1976 A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. - Analytical Biochemistry, 72: 248-254.
- BRAND-WILLIAMS W., CUVELIER M.E., BERSET C., 1995 -Use of free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. - Lebensmittel Wissenschaft und Technologie, 28: 25-30.
- BURMAN U., SAINI M., KUMAR P., 2013 Effect of zinc oxide nanoparticles on growth and antioxidant system of chickpea seedlings. - Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry, 95: 605-616.
- CHANCE B., MAEHLY A.C., 1995 Assay of proxidases. -Methods Enzymol., 11: 755-764.
- CHOI O., HU Z.Q., 2008 Size dependent and reactive oxygen species related nanosilver toxicity to nitrifying bacteria. - Environ. Sci. & Techn., 42: 4583-4588.
- CVJETKO P., ZOVKO M., ŠTEFANIĆ P.P., BIBA R., TKALEC M., DOMIJAN A.M., VRČEK I.V., LETOFSKY-PAPST I., ŠIKIĆ S., BALEN B., 2017 - Phytotoxic effects of silver nanoparticles in tobacco plants. - Environ. Sci. and Pollut. Res., 25: 5590-5602.
- DHINDSA R.S., PLUMB-DHINDSA P., THORPE T., 1981 Leaf senescence: correlated with increased levels of membrane permeability and lipid peroxidation, and decreased levels of superoxide dismutase and catalase. - J. Exp. Bot., 32: 93-101.
- DIETZ K.J., HERTH S., 2011 *Plant nanotoxicology*. Trends in Plant Sci., 16: 582-589.
- DUBEY S., LAHTINEN M., SILLANPAA M., 2010 Green synthesis and characterizations of silver and gold nanoparticles using leaf extract of Rosa rugose. - Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 364: 34-41.
- DWIVEDI A.G., GOPOL K., 2010 *Biosynthesis of silver and* gold nanoparticles using Chenopodium album leaf extracts. - Coll. Suf. Phys. Eng. Asp., 360: 27-33.
- EL BADAWY A.M., SILVA R.G., MORRIS B., SCHECKEL K.G., SUIDAN M.T., TOLAYMAT T.M., 2011 - Surface chargedependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles. - Environ. Sci. Techn., 45: 283-287.
- EL-NOUR K.M.A., EFTAIHA A.A., AL-WARTHAN A., AMMAR R.A., 2010 - Synthesis and applications of silver

nanoparticles. - Arab J. Chem., 3: 135-140.

- FAO/WHO, 2010 Expert meeting on the application of nanotechnologies in the food and agriculture sectors: potential food safety implications. - FAO/WHO Meeting report, Rome, Italy.
- GAO F., HONG F., LIU C., ZHENG L., SU M., WU X., YANG F., WU C., YANG P., 2006 - Mechanism of nano-anatase TiO₂ on promoting photosynthetic carbon reaction of spinach: inducing complex of rubisco-rubisco activase. -Biol. Trace Elem. Res., 111: 239-253.
- HAO Y., ZHANG Z., RUI Y., REN J., HOU T., WU S., RUI M., JIANG F., LIU L., 2016 - *Effect of different nanoparticles on seed germination and seedling growth in rice*. - 2nd Annual International Conference on Advanced Material Engineering, pp. 166-173.
- HE D., DORANTES-ARANDA J.J., WAITE T.D., 2012 Silver nanoparticle-algae interactions: Oxidative dissolution, reactive oxygen species generation and synergistic toxic effects. - Environ Sci. Technol., 46: 8731-8738.
- HWANG E.T., LEE J.H., CHAE Y.J., KIM Y.S., KIM B.C., SANG B., GU M.B., 2008 - Analysis of the toxic mode of action of silver nanoparticles using stress-specific bioluminescent bacteria. - Small, 4: 746-750.
- INAS Z.A., HALA A.K., GEHAN H.H., 2011 Gastroprotective effect of Cordia myxa L. fruit extract against indomethacin-induced gastric ulceration in rats. - Life Sci. J., 8: 433-445.
- ISSAABADI Z., NASROLLAHZADEH M., SAJADI S.M., 2016 -Green synthesis of the copper nanoparticles supported on bentonite and investigation of its catalytic activity. -J. Clean. Prod., 142: 3584-3591.
- KASTHURI J., KATHIRAVAN K., RAJENDIRAN N., 2009 -Phyllanthin-assistedsynthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles: a novel biological approach. - J. Nanopart Res., 11: 1075-1085.
- KHAN S.S., MUKHERJEE A., CHANDRASEKARAN N., 2011 -Studies on interaction of colloidal silver nanoparticles (SNPs) with five different bacterial species. - Coll. Surf B Biointerfaces, 87: 129-138.
- KLANCNIK K., DROBNE D., VALANT J., DOLENC KOCE J., 2011 - Use of a modified Allium test with nano Tio₂. -Ecotoxicology Environ. Safety, 74: 85-92.
- KOWSHIK M., ASHTAPUTRE S., KHARRAZI S., VOGEL W., URBAN J., KULKARNI S.K., PAKNIKAR K.M., 2003 -Extracellular synthesis of silver nanoparticles by a silver- tolerant yeast strain MKY3. - Nanotechnology, 14: 95-100.
- KRISHNARAJ C., JAGAN E., RAMACHANDRAN R., ABIRAMI S., MOHAN N., KALAICHELVAN P., 2012 - Effect of biologically synthesized silver nanoparticles on Bacopa monnieri (Linn.) Wettst. plant growth metabolism. -Process Biochemistry, 47: 651-658.
- KUMARI M., MUKHERJEE A., CHANDRASEKARAN N., 2009 -Genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in Allium cepa. - Sci. Total Environ., 407: 5243-5246.
- KWMBHAVI A.A., KULKARNI A., PANT A., 1993 Salt-tolerant and thermostable alkaline protease from bacillus

subtilis NCIM no. 6.4. - Appl. Biochem. Biotecnol., 38: 83-92.

- LEE W.M., AN Y.J., YOON H., KWEON H.S., 2008 Toxicity and bioavailability of copper nanoparticles to the terrestrial plants mung bean (Phaseolus radiatus) and wheat (Triticum aestrivum): plant agar test for waterinsoluble nanoparticles. - Environ. Toxic. Chem., 27: 1915-1921.
- LEI Z., SU M.Y., WU X.C., QU C.X., CHEN L., HUANG H., LIU X.Q., HONG F.S., 2008 Antioxidant stress is promoted by Nano-anatase in spinach chloroplasts under UV-Beta radiation. Biol. Trace Element Res., 121: 69-79.
- LIN D., XING B., 2007 *Phytotoxicity of nanoparticles: inhibition of seed germination and root growth.* - Environ. Pollution, 150: 243-250
- LIU J., PENNEL K.G., HUR R.H., 2011 Kinetics and mechanisms of nanosilver oxysulfidation. - Environ. Sci. Technol., 45: 7345-7353.
- LOPEZ-MORENO M.L., DE LA ROSA G., HERNANDEZ-VIEZ-CAS J.A., CASTILLO-MICHEL H., TORRESDEY J.B.C.P.V.J.G., 2010 - Evidence of the differential biotransformation and genotoxicity of ZnO and CeO₂ nanoparticles on soybean (Glycine max) plants. - Envir. Sci. Techn., 44: 7315-7320.
- MAYNARD A.D., AITKEN R.J., BUTZ T., COLVINV., DONALD-SON K., OBERDÖRSTER G., PHILBERT M.A., RYAN J., SEATON A., STONE V., TINKLE S.S., TRAN L., WALKER N.J., WARHEIT D.B., 2006 - Safe handling of nanotechnology. - Nature, 444: 267-269.
- MONICA R.C., CREMONINI R., 2009 Nanoparticles and higher plants. Caryologia, 62: 161-165.
- MUSANTE C., WHITE J.C., 2012 Toxicity of silver and copper to Cucurbita pepo: differential effects of nano and bulk-size particles. - Environ. Toxicology, 27: 510-517.
- NAVARRO E., PICCAPIETRA F., WAGNER B., MARCONI F., KAEGI R., ODZAK N., SIGG L., BEHRA R., 2008 - *Toxicity* of silver nanoparticles to Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. -Environ. Sci. Technol., 42: 8959-8964.
- NIEMEYER C.M., MIRKIN C.A., 2004 Nanobiotechnology: concepts, applications and perspectives. - John Wiley & Sons, USA, pp. 491.
- ODEIGAH P.G.C., MAKINWA J., LAWAL B., OYENIYI R., 1997 - Genotoxicity screening of leachates from solid industrial waste evaluated Allium test. - ATLA, 25: 311-321.
- OKORO O.O., 1976 Germination of Terminalia ivqrensis seeds source under various conditions of germination. -In 'Seed problem' Proceedings Second Int. Symp. on Physiology of Seed Germination.
- PATIL S., RAJIV P., SIVARAJ R., 2015 An investigation of antioxidant and cytotoxic properties of green synthesized silver nanoparticles. - IAJPS, 2(10): 1453-1459.
- PRASAD T.N.V.K.V., KAMBALA V.S.R., NAIDU R., 2012 -Phyconanotechnology: synthesis of silver nanoparticles using brown marine algae Cystophora moniliformis and their characterization. - J. Appl. Phycology, 25: 177-182.
- RASHED K., LUO M.T., ZHANG L.T., ZHENG Y.T., 2014 -

Evaluation of anti-HIV-1 activity of Cordia myxa *L., and phytochemical profile.* - Banat's J. Biotechn., 5(10): 75-82.

- RASKAR S.V., LAWARE S.L., 2013 Effect of titanium dioxide nano particles on seed germination and germination indic ws in onion. - Plant Sciences Feed, 3(7): 103-107.
- REIDY B., HAASE A., LUCH A., DAWSON K.A., LYNCH I., 2013 - Mechanisms of silver nanoparticle release, transformation and toxicity: a critical review of current knowledge and recommendations for future studies and applications. - Materials, 6: 2295-2350.
- REJESKI D., LEKAS D., 2008 Nanotechnology field observations: scouting the new industrial west. - J. Cleaner Prod., 16: 1014-1017.
- ROH J.Y., EOM H.J., CHOI J., 2012 Involvement of Caenoihabditis elegans MAPK signaling pathways in oxidative stress response induced by silver nanoparticles exposure. - Toxicol Res., 28: 19-24.
- ROOPAN S.M., MADHUMITHA G., RAHUMAN A., KAMARAJ C., BHARATHI A., SURENDRA T.V., 2013 - Low-cost and eco-friendly phyto-synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Cocos nucifera coir extract and its larvicidal activity. - Ind. Crop Prod., 43: 631-635.
- SAMARI F., SALEHIPOOR H., EFTEKHAR E., YOUSEFINEJAD S., 2018 - Low-temperature biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using mango leaf extract: catalytic effect, antioxidant properties, anticancer activity and application for colorimetric sensing. - New J. Chem., 42: 15905-15916.
- SENAPATI S., SYDE A., MOEEZ S., KUMAR A., AHMAH A., 2012 - Intracellular synthesis of gold nanoparticles using alga Tetraselmis kochinensis. - Materials Letters, 79: 116-118.
- SHAMS T., SHAKIL S., UROOJ M., GHAZI A., DAMANHOURI A.M., AHMAD A., 2011 - Genotoxicity testing and biomarker studies on surface waters: An overview of the techniques and their efficacies. - J. Environ. Sci. Health, 29: 250-275.
- SINGH N.B., AMIST N., YADAV K., SINGH D., PANDEY J.K., SINGH S.C., 2013 - Zinc oxide nanoparticles as fertilizer for the germination, growth and metabolism of vegetable crops. - J. Nanoengineering and Nanomanufacturing, 3: 353-364.

- SIVARAMAN S.K., ELANGO S.K., SANTHANAM V., 2009 A green protocol for room temperature synthesis of silver nanoparticles in seconds. Curr Sci, 97: 1055-1059.
- SONG J., KIM B.S., 2009 Rapid biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles using plant leaf extracts. Biopress Biosyst Eng., 39: 79-84.
- SPANOS G.A., WROLSTAD R.E., 1990 The influence of processing and storage on the phenolic composition of Thompson seedless grape juice. - J. Agric. Food Chem., 38: 1565-1571.
- SRESTY T.V.S., RAO K.V.M., 1999 Ultrastructural alterations in response to zinc and nickel stress in the root cells of pigeonpea. - Environ. Exp. Bot., 41: 3-13.
- SUTRADHAR P., SAHA M., 2016 Silver nanoparticles: Synthesis and its nanocomposites for heterojunction polymer solar cells. - J. Phys. Chem. C, 120: 8941-8949.
- THIRUVENGADAM M., RAJAKUMAR G., CHUNG I.M., 2018 - Nanotechnology: current uses and future applications in the food industry. - 3 Biotech, 8(1): 74.
- VEERASAMY R., XIN T.Z., GUNASAGARAN S., XIANG T.F.W., YANG E.F.C., JEYAKUMAR N., DHANARAJ S.A., 2011 -Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using mangosteen leaf extract and evaluation of their antimicrobial activities. - J. Saudi Chem. Soc., 15: 113-120.
- WANG L., ZHU J., WU Q., HUANG Y., 2015 Effects of silver sanoparticles on seed germination and seedling growth of Radish (Raphanus sativus L.). - Int. Conf. on Civil, Materials and Environmental Sciences, pp. 604-608.
- YANG F., LIU C., GAO F., SU M., WU X., ZHENG L., YANG P., 2007 - The improvement of spinach growth by nanoanatase TiO₂ treatment is related to nitrogen photoreduction. - Biol. Trace Element Res., 119: 77-88.
- YIN L., CHENG Y., ESPINASSE B., COLMAN B.P., AUFFAN M., WIESNER M., ROSE J., LIU J., BERNHARDT E.S., 2011 -More than the ions: the effects of silver nanoparticles on Lolium multiflorum. - Environ. Sci. & Technol., 45: 2360-2367.
- ZAMBRYSKI P., 2004 Cell-to-cell transport of proteins and fluorescent tracers via plasmodesmata during plant development. - J. Cell Biol., 162: 165-168.
- ZHU H., HAN J., XIAO J.Q., JIN Y., 2008 Uptake, translocation, and accumulation of manufactured iron oxide nanoparticles by pumpkin plants. - J. Environ. Monitoring, 10: 713-717.



Indirect shoot organogenesis and *in vitro* root formation of *Antirrhinum majus* L. by using of sodium nitroprusside

M.S. Rezaei Zafarghandi¹, M. Rahmati-Joneidabad^{2 (*)}

- ¹ Department of Agronomy and Plant Breeding Science, College of Aburaihan, University of Tehran, Tehran-Pakdasht, Iran.
- ² Department of Horticultural Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Agricultural Sciences and Natural Resources University of Khuzestan, Mollasani, Iran.

Key words: Callus, nitric oxide, plant growth regulator, Snapdragon.

Abstract: The aim of this study was to determine the effect of different concentrations of sodium nitroprusside (SNP) on in vitro shoot organogenesis from hypocotyl explant derived from in vitro grown seedling as well as root formation of Antirrhinum majus L. (Snapdragon). In the first experiment, different concentrations of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) (0, 2.26, 4.52, and 6.79 µM) were used for callus formation. The highest callus fresh weight (1.86 g) as well as callogenesis frequency (93.34%) were observed in Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium containing 4.52 µM 2,4-D. In the later experiments, various concentrations (0, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 µM) of sodium nitroprusside (SNP) were applied for shoot regeneration from callus that derived from hypocotyl segments. Based on our results, MS medium supplemented with 4.44 μ M 6benzylaminopurine (BAP) plus 0.49 μ M 3-indolebutyric acid (IBA) along with 30 µM SNP had the highest shoot organogenesis frequency (93.34%) and shoot number (6.33) from callus. In root induction experiment, different concentrations (0, 20, 40, 60, 80, and 100 μ M) of SNP were applied and MS medium containing 60 µM SNP was the best treatment for root induction. The survival rate of plantlets was more than 95% in acclimatization stage. The present study describes an efficient regeneration system for Snapdragon.

1. Introduction

Snapdragon (Antirrhinum majus L.) is known as one of the most significant ornamental plants which has worldwide values as cut flowers, herbaceous landscape plants, and flowering potted plants (El-Nashar, 2017). Also, snapdragon has high commercial values with its wide range of color, shape, structure, and size (Weiss *et al.*, 2016). The commercial propagation of snapdragon is via seeds. The seed propagation cannot ensure the whole genetic uniformity so seed-propagated plants may indicate undesired phenotypes, quality, and regeneration potential. Therefore, plants



(*) **Corresponding author:** rahmati@asnrukh.ac.ir

Citation:

REZAEI ZAFARGHANDI M.S., RAHMATI-JONEIDA-BAD M., 2020 - Indirect shoot organogenesis and in vitro root formation of Antirrhinum majus L. by using of sodium nitroprusside. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 105-111.

Copyright:

© 2020 Rezaei Zafarghandi M.S., Rahmati-Joneidabad M. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 25 March 2019 Accepted for publication 31 October 2019 might be selected randomly without taking necessary care. These features of seeds exert a negative impact on sexual production of this plant (Jaworski et al., 2016). Therefore, the development, as well as improvement of in vitro culture techniques in this ornamental plant, is of high paramount (Hesami and Daneshvar, 2016). A rapid regeneration pathway for A. majus could be useful for commercial propagation of nursery and cut-flower industries as well as breeding programs (Sheyab et al., 2010). Also, in vitro culture of this plant is necessary for producing high quality/price ratio flower. Moreover, genetic engineering by using biolistic or Agrobacterium methods could be known as a viable alternative in traditional breeding methods for developing distinguished snapdragon cultivars in order to satisfy market demands (Davies et al., 2013). On the other hand, the efficiency of gene transformation in snapdragon, obtained via these methods, remains low in this ornamental plant because of the lack of efficiency in vitro propagation protocols (Azadi et al., 2016). According to the previous study, Sheyab et al. (2010) indicated that high applicability of transformation in A. majusis completely depended on the propagation procedures. Therefore, the use of in vitro culture for producing Snapdragon could reduce these problems that occur in the commercial production of this plant (Atkinson et al., 1989; Sheyab et al., 2010).

Adjusting the culture medium with suitable plant growth regulators (PGRs) in various combinations and concentrations could enhance the propagation potential of various genotypes and explants (Hesami *et al.*, 2017 a, b; Jafari *et al.*, 2017; Hesami *et al.*, 2018 a, b, c; Hesami and Daneshvar, 2018 a, b; Hesami *et al.*, 2019 a, b, c). Thus, it is significant to improve the propagation protocols by using suitable PGRs in order to overcome difficulties associated with clonal regeneration and gene transformation strategies to satisfy the increasing demand for *A. majus* (Newbury, 1986; Sheyab *et al.*, 2010; Hesami and Daneshvar, 2016).

Nitric oxide is known as a messenger molecule for regulating plant development (Neill *et al.*, 2003; Hesami *et al.*, 2019 d). This molecule has recently been characterized as one of the phytohormones (Leterrier *et al.*, 2012). Nitric oxide is known as a ubiquitous bioactive molecule that mainly contributed to various plant developmental processes such as fruit ripening, flowering, organ senescence, and germination (Jimenez-Quesada *et al.*, 2017). The exterior usage of nitric oxide might improve the tolerance of plants under various stresses such as temperature, heavy metals, ultraviolet radiation, drought, and salinity (Laspina et al., 2005; Qiao and Fan, 2008). The activation rate of nitric oxide has been evaluated by the exogenous usage of sodium nitroprusside instead of using NO gas directly because of some technical difficulties (Sarropoulou and Maloupa, 2017). In recent years, nitric oxide is used for developing in vitro plant propagation (Rico-Lemus and Rodríguez-Garay, 2014). Kalra and Babbar (2010) indicated that nitric oxide could enhance the regeneration response via increasing the number of meristems and recommended that nitric oxide regulates the gene expression related to differentiation of meristems. Also, Sarropoulou and Maloupa (2017) recommended that nitric oxide exert a powerful impact on cell division and also it could be involved in shoot organogenesis and proliferation. Han et al. (2009) and Sarropoulou et al. (2014) showed that in vitro shoot proliferation as well as root formation of plantlets were promoted significantly by applying SNP to the MS medium in Malus hupehensis and cherry rootstocks, respectively. Although there are few studies about the effect of nitric oxide on improving in vitro shoot organogenesis (Han et al., 2009; Xu et al., 2009; Kalra and Babbar, 2010; Tan et al., 2013; Sarropoulou et al., 2014; Arun et al., 2017; Ghadakchiasl et al., 2017; Sarropoulou and Maloupa, 2017), there is no research evidence on the effect of this molecule on shoot organogenesis of snapdragon. Thus, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of sodium nitroprusside (SNP) on indirect shoot organogenesis as well as root formation that derived from hypocotyl explants of snapdragon in order to reduce the time of *in vitro* shoot propagation.

2. Materials and Methods

The seeds of snapdragon were washed under tap water for 30 min. Further surface sterilization treatments were conducted in a laminar airflow chamber. The seeds were surface sterilized with 70% ethanol for 10 seconds and soaked for 10 min in 10% (v/v) NaOCI. Afterward, the seeds were washed three times in sterilized distilled water. Subsequently, the sterilized seeds were inoculated on one-tenth strength MS medium. After 8-10 days, seeds were germinated, and the hypocotyl segment from *in vitro* seedling was used as a source of explant for the latter experiment.

The MS medium containing 3% (w/v) sucrose, 0.6% (w/v) agar was used as basal medium. The basal
medium was fortified with different PGRs, and pH 5.8 adjusted with 1 N NaOH before autoclaving at 121°C for 20 min. All growth regulators except sodium nitroprusside (SNP) were added before autoclaving. SNP was added after autoclaving by filtering. All cultures were maintained at 25 ± 2 °C with 55-60% relative humidity, and 16 h photoperiod (65 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) that provided by cool white fluorescent light.

Hypocotyl explants (0.5-1.0 cm) from 1-week-old in vitro seedlings (Fig. 1 a) were inoculated on MS medium supplemented with various concentrations (0, 2.26, 4.52, and 6.79 μ M) of 2,4-D for callus formation. All of the culture vessels were kept at 25±2°C in the absence of light. Data of callus formation frequency (%) and callus fresh weight (g) were measured after four weeks of culture.

Calli were cultured in the regeneration medium containing 4.44 μ M BAP plus 0.49 μ M IBA supplemented with different SNP concentrations (0, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 μ M). The shoots regeneration frequency and the number of shoots per callus were determined after 5 weeks of treatment.

Shoots with 0.5-1.5 cm in length were transferred to MS medium supplemented with 1 mg/l GA₃ (elongation medium) for 4 weeks. Then, the elongated shoots (2-3 cm elongation) were chosen and transferred to the half strength MS medium containing 3% (w/v) sucrose, 0.6% (w/v) agar and different concentrations (0, 20, 40, 60, 80, and 100 μ M) of SNP. Rooting per-



Fig. 1 - In vitro shoot regeneration through indirect organogenesis from seedling derived hypocotyl segments of Antirrhinum majus L. (a) Seedling from in vitro seed germination; (b) Yellow-greenish and friable callus induction on MS + 4.52 μM 2,4-D; (c) Shoot regeneration from callus on MS medium containing 4.44 μM BAP plus 0.49 μM IBA along with 30 μM SNP; (d) In vitro root formation on MS + 60 μM SNP; (e) Acclimatized regenerated plants after four weeks.

centage (%) and root number including main and secondary roots were evaluated after 30 days.

Plantlets with well-developed root system were removed from the media, washed thoroughly with sterile water and transplanted into potting mixture containing autoclaved perlite and cocopeat mixture (1:1) and covered with transparent plastic to maintain high humidity. The plastic sheets were removed after 4 weeks in order to acclimatize plantlets to greenhouse condition, and the plants were shifted to pots comprising garden soil.

All experiments were performed with a total of 10 replicates per treatment and were repeated 3 sets. The data were analyzed by ANOVA using SAS version 9.3 followed by Duncan's multiple range test (DMRT, P<0.05).

3. Results and Discussion

The callogenesis experiment was conducted in order to figure out the most suitable and efficient concentration of 2,4-D for callus formation. The result of this study indicated that the maximum percent of callus induction (93.34%) and callus weight (1.86 g) (Fig. 2) were achieved on MS medium containing 4.52 μ M 2,4-D (Fig. 1b). In the agreement with our result, Sangwan and Harada (1975) showed that acceptable callus formation of Snapdragon through stem explant was achieved in MS medium containing 4.52 μ M 2,4-D. The earlier study proved the positive effect of 2,4-D on the callus formation,



Fig. 2 - Effect of different concentrations of 2,4-Din MS medium on (a) callus formation frequency and (b) callus fresh weight of *A. majus*. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 as determined by Duncan's multiple range test; Vertical bars: standard error.

and also this study reported that 2,4-D may be involved in endogenous IAA metabolism regulation by inducing some specific proteins and controlling DNA methylation (Pan *et al.*, 2010). However, in another study, the callus formation of *A. majus* via hypocotyl explant was obtained on MS medium with different concentrations of NAA plus 10% coconut milk (Atkinson *et al.*, 1989).

By increasing sodium nitroprusside from 10 µM to 30μ M, shoot regeneration was improved (Fig. 3). Also, the maximum frequency of shoot organogenesis (93.34%) and shoots number (6.33) were observed in MS medium supplemented with 30 µM SNP (Fig. 1c, Fig. 3). However, the higher level (more than 30 μ M) of sodium nitroprusside might limit the shoots number and shoot organogenesis frequency. Calli can grow in MS medium supplemented with 50 µM sodium nitroprusside. These obtained results recommended that sodium nitroprusside can promote shoot organogenesis in proper doses. Our results indicated that sodium nitroprusside completely promoted shoot organogenesis from hypocotyl segments in MS medium along with 4.44 µM BAP plus 0.49 µM IBA. Thus, BAP and SNP appear to have a synergistic effect on shoot regeneration. The effect of NO on *in vitro* organogenesis is completely associated with cytokinins (Arun et al., 2017). It has previous-



Fig. 3 - Effect of different concentrations of SNP in MS medium containing 4.44 μM BAP plus 0.49 μM IBA on (a) regeneration frequency and (b) shoot number of *A. majus*. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 as determined by Duncan's multiple range test; Vertical bars: standard error.

ly been shown that NO might interact with auxin and cytokinin, linking the regulation of cell division to differentiation during the de-differentiation and re-differentiation of plant cells (Ghadakchiasl *et al.*, 2017; Karalija *et al.*, 2017). Tun *et al.* (2001) observed that NO plays a potential role in mediating plant hormone (auxin and cytokinin) signal transduction during growth and development. Carimi *et al.* (2005) found that BA stimulates the release and accumulation of NO in plant suspension cell cultures. Therefore, in the present study, SNP may have functioned as an intermediary for adventitious shoot differentiation and regeneration, as suggested by Han *et al.* (2009) in *Malus hupehensis.*

Our results showed that MS medium supplemented with 1 mg/l GA, caused shoot elongation. NO (precursor of SNP) has been reported to influence several plant developmental events in which gibberellins (GAs) play crucial roles such as seed germination, hypocotyl elongation, acquisition of photomorphogenic traits, and primary root growth (Beligni and Lamattina, 2000). However, the actual interaction between NO and GAs has been described for only a limited number of these physiological events. In fact, most of our current knowledge of the mechanisms underlying the interplay between GAs and NO is restricted to the regulation of seed germination (Neill et al., 2003) and the inhibition of hypocotyl elongation during seedling de-etiolation (Lozano-Juste and León, 2011). NO has been described as acting upstream of GAs (Bethke et al., 2007), regulating both biosynthesis and perception/transduction of GAs (Lozano-Juste and León, 2011).

There was no root formation in the MS medium without sodium nitroprusside while adding SNP promoted root formation significantly. By increasing the concentration of SNP from 0 to 60 µM, the root formation frequency (100%) and roots number (8.33) (Fig. 4) were increased significantly (Fig. 1d). However, the roots number was decreased when the SNP level was over 60 µM. Root formation is known as the meristematic development of tissues after removing the primary root system (Dash et al., 2017; Jafari et al., 2017). It was indicated that nitric oxide was involved in the response of auxins during root induction in cucumber (Pagnussat et al., 2003) and another report demonstrated that a NO-mediated cGMP dependent pathway was involved in this process (Pagnussat et al., 2003). In order to form the root meristem, auxins promoted parenchyma cells dedifferentiation and entrance to cell division (Klerk et al., 1995; Fujita and Syono, 1996). Also, Gouvea et



Fig. 4 - Effect of different concentrations of SNP in MS medium on (a) root formation frequency and (b) root number of *A. majus*. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 as determined by Duncan's multiple range test; Vertical bars: standard error.

al. (1997) suggested that the role of nitric oxide in signal transduction pathways for root elongation is similar to the role of auxins in this step. Therefore, it became clear that nitric oxide might have an interaction with auxins in regulating cell division to differentiation in "de-differentiation" and "re-differentiation" steps of plant cells (Ötvös et al., 2005). The positive effect of nitric oxide on improving root induction is reported in various species (Huang and She, 2003; Correa-Aragunde et al., 2004; Han et al., 2009). Sarropoulou et al. (2014) recommended that nitric oxide could (a) produce an antioxidant condition that protects auxins from deteriorations as well as oxidation, (b) speed up cell expansion in order to improve rooting in plants, (c) serve as a downstream messenger in the IAA signaling pathway, (d) regulate enzyme activities or cell-cycle genes that are associated with auxin signal transduction, and (e) reduce the lignification of cell wall. By using exogenous sodium nitroprusside, the root induction in mung bean was promoted significantly (Huang and She, 2003). Furthermore, sodium nitroprusside can induce root hair induction in lettuce (Lombardo et al., 2006), and development of lateral roots in tomato (Correa-Aragunde et al., 2004).

Plantlets that had well-developed roots were transferred successfully into small pots consisting of perlite and cocopeat mixture (1:1). Our results showed that the rooted plants had 95% survival rate in the acclimatization stage. Afterwards, within 20 days after transferring plantlets to the greenhouse, the normal growth of plantlets was resumed (Fig. 1e). Similar to our results, Hesami and Daneshvar (2016) indicated that by acclimatization of the snapdragon plantlets in the perlite and cocopeat mixture (1:1), 90% survival rate was obtained.

In conclusion, we have developed a method for indirect shoot organogenesis from hypocotyl explants of A. majus. It is of note that SNP, a donor of NO, has a direct effect on in vitro shoot differentiation and rooting of the snapdragon explants. SNP may interact with auxin and cytokinin, linking the regulation of cell division to cell differentiation during the dedifferentiation and redifferentiation of plant cells. The improvement of ornamental plant by conventional methods (hybridization, inbreeding and mass selection) is time and labor consuming, depends on the existing gene pool(s) and violently influenced by environmental conditions. On the other hand, callus culture can be utilized as a powerful tool for genetic cell transformation via somaclonal variation and promoting mutagenesis and genetic engineering that can be either more rapid than traditional breeding and leading to new genes and genotypes. The indirect plant regeneration system developed for A. majus provided a step towards the application of such methodology, for this ornamental plant. Moreover, this protocol is rapid with induction of callus to acclimatizing of plantlets to greenhouse completed within 21 weeks.

References

- ARUN M., NAING A.H., JEON S.M., AI T.N., AYE T., KIM C.K., 2017 - Sodium nitroprusside stimulates growth and shoot regeneration in chrysanthemum. - Hort. Environ. Biotech., 58(1): 78-84.
- ATKINSON N.J., FORD-LLOYD B.V., NEWBURY H.J., 1989 -Regeneration of plants from Antirrhinum majus L. callus. - Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 17(1): 59-70.
- AZADI P., BAGHERI H., NALOUSI A.M., NAZARI F., CHAN-DLER S.F., 2016 - *Current status and biotechnological advances in genetic engineering of ornamental plants.* -Biotechnol. Adv., 34(6): 1073-1090.
- BELIGNI M.V., LAMATTINA L., 2000 Nitric oxide stimulates seed germination and de-etiolation, and inhibits hypocotyl elongation, three light-inducible responses in

plants. - Planta, 210(2): 215-221.

- BETHKE P.C., LIBOUREL I.G., AOYAMA N., CHUNG Y.-Y., STILL D.W., JONES R.L., 2007 - *The* Arabidopsis aleurone *layer responds to nitric oxide, gibberellin, and abscisic acid and is sufficient and necessary for seed dormancy.* - Plant Physiology, 143(3): 1173-1188.
- CARIMI F., ZOTTINI M., COSTA A., CATTELAN I., DE MICHELE R., TERZI M., LO SCHIAVO F., 2005 - *NO signalling in cytokinin-induced programmed cell death.* -Plant Cell Environ., 28(9): 1171-1178.
- CORREA-ARAGUNDE N., GRAZIANO M., LAMATTINA L., 2004 - Nitric oxide plays a central role in determining lateral root development in tomato. - Plant, 218(6): 900-905.
- DASH M., YORDANOV Y.S., GEORGIEVA T., TSCHAPLINSKI T.J., YORDANOVA E., BUSOV V., 2017 - Poplar PtabZIP1-like enhances lateral root formation and biomass growth under drought stress. - The Plant J., 89(4): 692-705.
- DAVIES K.M., DEROLES S.C., BOASE M.R., HUNTER D.A., SCHWINN K.E., 2013 - *Biolistics-based gene silencing in plants using a modified particle inflow gun.* - Biolistic DNA Delivery: Methods and Protocols, pp. 63-74.
- EL-NASHAR Y., 2017 Response of snapdragon (Antirrhinum majus L.) to blended water irrigation and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi inoculation: uptake of minerals and leaf water relations. - Photosynthetica, 55(2): 201-209.
- FUJITA H., SYONO K., 1996 Genetic analysis of the effects of polar auxin transport inhibitors on root growth in Arabidopsis thaliana. - Plant Cell Physiol., 37(8): 1094-1101.
- GHADAKCHIASL A., MOZAFARI A.-A., GHADERI N., 2017 -Mitigation by sodium nitroprusside of the effects of salinity on the morpho-physiological and biochemical characteristics of Rubus idaeus under in vitro conditions. - Physiol. Mol. Biol. Plants, 23(1): 73-83.
- GOUVEA C., SOUZA J., MAGALHAES A., MARTINS I., 1997 -NO-releasing substances that induce growth elongation in maize root segments. - Plant Growth Regul., 21(3): 183-187.
- HAN X., YANG H., DUAN K., ZHANG X., ZHAO H., YOU S., JIANG Q., 2009 - Sodium nitroprusside promotes multiplication and regeneration of Malus hupehensis in vitro plantlets. - Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult., 96(1): 29-34.
- HESAMI M., DANESHVAR M.H., 2016 *Regeneration from callus which is produced from cotyledon of* Antirrhinum majus. Indo-Am. J. Agric. Vet. Sci., 4(1): 20-24.
- HESAMI M., DANESHVAR M.H., 2018 a In vitro adventitious shoot regeneration through direct and indirect organogenesis from seedling-derived hypocotyl segments of Ficus religiosa L.: an important medicinal plant. - HortScience, 53(1): 55-61.
- HESAMI M., DANESHVAR M.H., 2018 b Indirect organogenesis through seedling-derived leaf segments of Ficus religiosa - a multipurpose woody medicinal plant. - J.

Crop Sci. & Biotech., 21(2): 129-136.

- HESAMI M., DANESHVAR M.H., LOTFI A., 2017 a In vitro shoot proliferation through cotyledonary node and shoot tip explants of Ficus religiosa *L*. Plant Tiss. Cult. & Biotech., 27(1): 85-88.
- HESAMI M., DANESHVAR M.H., YOOSEFZADEH-NAJAFABA-DI M., 2018 a - *Establishment of a protocol for* in vitro *seed germination and callus formation of* Ficus religiosa *L., an important medicinal plant.* - Jundishapur J. Nat. Pharm Prod., 13(4): e62682.
- HESAMI M., DANESHVAR M.H., YOOSEFZADEH-NAJAFABA-DI M., 2019 d - An efficient in vitro shoot regeneration through direct organogenesis from seedling-derived petiole and leaf segments and acclimatization of Ficus religiosa. - J. Forestry Res., 30(3): 807-815.
- HESAMI M., NADERI R., TOHIDFAR M., 2019 a Modeling and optimizing in vitro sterilization of Chrysanthemum via multilayer perceptron-non-dominated sorting genetic algorithm-II (MLP-NSGAII). - Frontiers in Plant Sci., 10: 282.
- HESAMI M., NADERI R., TOHIDFAR M., YOOSEFZADEH-NAJAFABADI M., 2019 b - Application of adaptive neuro-fuzzy inference system-non-dominated sorting genetic algorithm-II (ANFIS-NSGAII) for modeling and optimizing somatic embryogenesis of Chrysanthemum. - Frontiers in Plant Sci., 10: 869
- HESAMI M., NADERI R., YOOSEFZADEH-NAJAFABADI M., 2018 b - Optimizing sterilization conditions and growth regulator effects on in vitro shoot regeneration through direct organogenesis in Chenopodium quinoa. -BioTechnologia, 99(1): 49-57.
- HESAMI M., NADERI R., YOOSEFZADEH-NAJAFABADI M., MALEKI M., 2018 c - In vitro culture as a powerful method for conserving Iranian ornamental geophytes. -BioTechnologia, 99(1): 73-81.
- HESAMI M., NADERI R., YOOSEFZADEH-NAJAFABADI M., RAHMATI M., 2017 b - *Data-driven modeling in plant tissue culture*. - J. Appl. Environ. Biol. Sci., 7(8): 37-44.
- HESAMI M., TOHIDFAR M., ALIZADEH M., DANESHVAR M.H., 2019 c - *Effects of sodium nitroprusside on callus browning of* Ficus religiosa: *an important medicinal plant.* - J. Forestry Res., 31: 1-8.
- HUANG A., SHE X., 2003 Effect of nitroprusside (SNP) on the generation of adventitious roots in mung bean hypocotyl cuttings. - Acta Bot. Boreal-Occident Sin., 23: 2196-2199.
- JAFARI M., DANESHVAR M.H., LOTFI A., 2017 In vitro shoot proliferation of Passiflora caerulea *L. via cotyle*donary node and shoot tip explants. - BioTechnologia, 98(2): 113-119.
- JAWORSKI C.C., THÉBAUD C., CHAVE J., 2016 Dynamics and persistence in a metacommunity centred on the plant Antirrhinum majus: theoretical predictions and an empirical test. - J. Ecol., 104(2): 456-468.
- JIMENEZ-QUESADA M.J., CARMONA R., LIMA-CABELLO E., TRAVERSO J.Á., CASTRO A.J., CLAROS M.G., DE DIOS

ALCHÉ J., 2017 - Generation of nitric oxide by olive (Olea europaea L.) pollen during in vitro germination and assessment of the S-nitroso-and nitro-proteomes by computational predictive methods. - Nitric Oxide, 68: 23-37.

- KALRA C., BABBAR S.B., 2010 *Nitric oxide promotes* in vitro *organogenesis in* Linum usitatissimum *L*. Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult., 103(3): 353-359.
- KARALIJA E., ZELJKOVIĆ S.Ć., TARKOWSKI P., MURATOVIĆ E., PARIĆ A., 2017 - The effect of cytokinins on growth, phenolics, antioxidant and antimicrobial potential in liquid agitated shoot cultures of Knautia sarajevensis. -Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult., 131(2): 347-357.
- KLERK G.-J.D., KEPPEL M., BRUGGE J.T., MEEKES H., 1995 -Timing of the phases in adventitious root formation in apple microcuttings. - J. Exp. Bot., 46(8): 965-972.
- LASPINA N., GROPPA M., TOMARO M., BENAVIDES M., 2005 - Nitric oxide protects sunflower leaves against Cd-induced oxidative stress. - Plant Sci., 169(2): 323-330.
- LETERRIER M., VALDERRAMA R., CHAKI M., AIRAKI M., PALMA J.M., BARROSO J.B., CORPAS F.J., 2012 -Function of nitric oxide under environmental stress conditions, pp. 99-113. - In: KHAN N.A., R. NAZAR, N. IQBAL, and N.A. ANJUM (eds.) Phytohormones and abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Springer, Berling, Gemany, pp. 308.
- LOMBARDO M.C., GRAZIANO M., POLACCO J.C., LAMATTI-NA L., 2006 - Nitric oxide functions as a positive regulator of root hair development. - Plant Signal Behav., 1(1): 28-33.
- LOZANO-JUSTE J., LEÓN J., 2011 Nitric oxide regulates DELLA content and PIF expression to promote photomorphogenesis in Arabidopsis. - Plant Physiol., 156(3): 1410-1423.
- NEILL S.J., DESIKAN R., HANCOCK J.T., 2003 Nitric oxide signalling in plants. New Phytol., 159(1): 11-35.
- NEWBURY H., 1986 *Multiplication of* Antirrhinum majus *L. by shoot-tip culture*. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult., 7(1): 39-42.
- ÖTVÖS K., PASTERNAK T.P., MISKOLCZI P., DOMOKI M., DORJGOTOV D., BOTTKA S., DUDITS D., FEHÉR A., 2005
 Nitric oxide is required for, and promotes auxin-mediated activation of, cell division and embryogenic cell formation but does not influence cell cycle progression in alfalfa cell cultures. - Plant J., 43(6): 849-860.
- PAGNUSSAT G.C., LANTERI M.L., LAMATTINA L., 2003 -Nitric oxide and cyclic GMP are messengers in the indole acetic acid-induced adventitious rooting process.
 Plant Physiol., 132(3): 1241-1248.
- PAN Z., ZHU S., GUAN R., DENG X., 2010 Identification of

2, 4-D-responsive proteins in embryogenic callus of Valencia sweet orange (Citrus sinensis Osbeck) following osmotic stress. - Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult., 103(2): 145-153.

- QIAO W., FAN L.M., 2008 Nitric oxide signaling in plant responses to abiotic stresses. - Integr. Plant Biol., 50(10): 1238-1246.
- RICO-LEMUS M., RODRÍGUEZ-GARAY B., 2014 SNP as an effective donor of nitric oxide for in vitro plant cell and tissue culture. J. Plant Biochem. Physiol., 2(3): 127-128.
- SANGWAN R., HARADA H., 1975 Chemical regulation of callus growth, organogenesis, plant regeneration, and somatic embryogenesis in Antirrhinum majus tissue and cell cultures. - J. Exp. Bot., 26(6): 868-881.
- SARROPOULOU V., DIMASSI-THERIOU K., THERIOS I., 2014 - In vitro plant regeneration from leaf explants of the cherry rootstocks CAB-6P, Gisela 6, and MxM 14 using sodium nitroprusside. - In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant, 50(2): 226-234.
- SARROPOULOU V., MALOUPA E., 2017 Effect of the NO donor "sodium nitroprusside" (SNP), the ethylene inhibitor "cobalt chloride" (CoCl₂) and the antioxidant vitamin E " α -tocopherol" on in vitro shoot proliferation of Sideritis raeseri Boiss. & Heldr. subsp. raeseri. Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult., 128(3): 619-629.
- SHEYAB S., SHATNAWI M.A., SHIBLI R.A., OBEIDAT M., AL-SHADAIDEH A.N., ALHUSSAEN K.M., ABU-ZAHRA T., 2010 - Micro propagation and medium term conservation of Antirrhinum majus L. - Jordan J. Agric. Sci., 6(2): 171-182.
- TAN B.C., CHIN C.F., ALDERSON P., 2013 Effects of sodium nitroprusside on shoot multiplication and regeneration of Vanilla planifolia Andrews. - In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant, 49(5): 626-630.
- TEWARI R.K., KIM S., HAHN E.-J., PAEK K.-Y., 2008 -Involvement of nitric oxide-induced NADPH oxidase in adventitious root growth and antioxidant defense in Panax ginseng. - Plant Biotechnol. Rep., 2(2): 113-122.
- TUN N.N., HOLK A., SCHERER G.F., 2001 Rapid increase of NO release in plant cell cultures induced by cytokinin. FEBS letters, 509(2): 174-176.
- WEISS J., MÜHLEMANN J.K., RUIZ-HERNÁNDEZ V., DUDAREVA N., EGEA-CORTINES M., 2016 - Phenotypic space and variation of floral scent profiles during late flower development in Antirrhinum. - Front Plant Sci., 7: 1-12.
- XU J., YIN H., WANG W., MI Q., LIU X., 2009 Effects of sodium nitroprusside on callus induction and shoot regeneration in micropropagated Dioscorea opposita. -Plant Growth Regul., 59(3): 279-285.





(*) **Corresponding author:** bn.riadh@gmail.com

Citation:

ILAHY R., TLILI I., ROUHOU H.C., SIDDIQUI M.W., MISHRA P.M., KUCHI V.S., HOMA F., HDIDER C., JEBARI H., LENUCCI M.S., 2020 - Determining the main agronomic traits of snake melon (Cucumis melo var. flexuosus L.) fruits as affected by genotypic differences. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(1): 113-119.

Copyright:

© 2020 Ilahy R., Tilii I., Rouhou H.C., Siddiqui M.W., Mishra P.M., Kuchi V.S., Homa F., Hdider C., Jebari H., Lenucci M.S. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press

(http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Competing Interests:

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 22 March 2019 Accepted for publication 31 October 2019

Determining the main agronomic traits of snake melon (*Cucumis melo* var. *flexuosus* L.) fruits as affected by genotypic differences

R. llahy ¹ (*), I. Tlili ¹, H.C. Rouhou ¹, M.W. Siddiqui ², P.M. Mishra ³, V.S. Kuchi ⁴, F. Homa ⁵, C. Hdider ¹, H. Jebari ¹, M.S. Lenucci ⁶

- University of Carthage, Laboratory of Horticulture, National Agricultural Research Institute of Tunisia, Tunis, Rue Hédi Karray 2049, Ariana, Tunisia.
- ² Department of Food Science and Postharvest Technology, Bihar Agricultural University, Sabour, Bhagalpur, Bihar 813210, India.
- ³ Department of Agricultural Statistics, Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Mohanpur-741252, Nadia, West Bengal, India.
- Department of Postharvest Technology, College of Horticulture, Dr. Y.S.R. Horticultural University, Anantharajupeta, Kadapa District, 516105 Andhra Pradesh, India.
- ⁵ Department of Statistics, Mathematics and Computer Application, Bihar Agricultural University, Sabour, Bhagalpur, 813210 Bihar, India.
- ⁶ Dipartimento di Scienze e Tecnologie Biologiche ed Ambientali, Università del Salento, Via Prov.le Lecce-Monteroni, 73100 Lecce, Italy.

Key words: breeding programs, fruit colour, powdery mildew, resistance, snake cucumber, yield.

Abstract: The variability affecting the main agronomic traits of 10 snake melon genotypes (Cucumis melo var. flexuosus L.) (three F1 hybrids, six breeding lines and the widely grown and consumed traditional cultivar Mornagui), grown under greenhouse conditions during 2014 and 2015 seasons, was examined and compared. Their resistance to powdery mildew was also checked. The main production-driving agronomic traits varied significantly (P<0.05) depending on the genotype. The major skin colour determined visually was different among the considered genotypes. The hybrids (H5 and H12) and the breeding lines (L1, L2, L5, L6 and L9) had dark green skin. The fruits of the hybrid H7 were dark and light green and the breeding line L4 has intense and dark green fruits whereas cv. Mornagui was characterized by medium light green fruits. Regarding fruit shape, the hybrids H7 and H5 produced straight fruits whereas the hybrid H12 and the breeding lines; L2, L4, L5, and L9 and the cv. Mornagui had elongate fruits. However both breeding lines L1 and L6 were characterized by straight elongate fruits. The F1 hybrid H5 was the most productive (3.6 Kg/plant and ≈ 21 fruits/plant for total yield and number of fruit/plant respectively). These findings are useful for further breeding programs aiming to develop new powdery mildew resistant snake melon cultivars with satisfying agronomic traits.

1. Introduction

Snake melons (Cucumis melo var. flexuosus L.), belong to the Cucurbitaceae family largely distributed and consumed since the antiquity across large geographical area (Pandey et al., 2010; Paris, 2012). The flexuosus distinguishes from other C. melo varieties by the twisted long to very long fruits, typically exceeding the 4:1 length-to-width ratio, characterized by a slightly hairy white or light green exocarp (rind) often furrowed by more or less deep grooves running lining the fruit surface. The rind covers a creamy white or pale green flesh (mesocarp and endocarp) containing numerous whitish edible seeds, deliquescent at maturity. Because the stem is rather thin, the plant is usually supported on trellises, where the snake-like fruits grow on vines attaining up to 120 cm lengths (Burger et al., 2010).

Snake melon fruits are known all around the world with different trivial names: "alficoz" in Spain, "tortarello" or "cetrangolo" in Italy, "fakous" or "fegous" in Arabic Maghreb countries, "agoor" in Soudan, "acur", "hitta" or "hiti" in Turquie, "kakri" in India, "uri" in Japan and Armenian cucumber, "yardlong melon", "serpent-melon" or "Gutah" elsewhere (Solmaz et al., 2016). Snake melon fruits are generally consumed raw at the immature stage of ripening with a preference for straight long and thick green fruits in the Mediterranean region. Here, this crop has been appreciated since antiquity for their crisp texture and refreshing, slightly acidic and non-sweet flavour, as revealed by their recurrent depiction in wall painting, sculptures and mosaics dating back to ancient Egypt and Roman Empire, as well as by the presence of references in the Islamic and Jewish literature (Paris et al., 2011; Paris, 2012). The fruits are stomachic and seeds are also traditionally utilized as antitussive, digestive, febrifuge and vermifuge (Duke and Ayensu, 1985).

Besides the differences in skin colour and in the longitudinal furrowing of the fruits, snake melons genotypes differ also in various productivity-driving and quality traits including early marketable and total yield, numbers of fruits per vine and resistance to main pest diseases (eg. fusarium and powdery mildew) (Pandey *et al.*, 2010). Powdery mildew is the main fungal disease affecting similarly greenhouse and open-field grown cucurbits and particularly snake melon. This disease is easily, recognizable by the whitish powdery fungal growth developing on many parts of the plant and fruits (Sitterly 1978; Zitter *et al.*, 1996). The disease is primarily caused by two fungal species around the world: *Golovinomyces* orontii and Podosphaera xanthii and are considered as an important limiting factor for snake melon production (Fernández-Ortuño et al., 2006; Bellón-Gómez et al., 2015). Therefore, growers and breeders are increasingly looking for resistant genotypes in order to overcome this problem although these fungal species are developing also new strains more virulent.

Previous research on snake melons mainly focused on the effect of salinity, sowing period and harvesting intervals on fruit yield, the phenological phases and morphological traits of the plants, the influence of different rootstocks on production in soilless cultivation, the *in vitro* plant regeneration, seed priming, the variability among genetic, morphological, vegetative, fruit and yield parameters of germplasm, the impact of breeding hermaphrodite lines on yield and, least but not last, the identification of fruit morphological and quality traits by QTL mapping (Reviewed in llahy *et al.*, 2019).

Genotypic differences strongly influence the microbial community composition in the rhizosphere (Aydi-Ben-Abdallah et al., 2019). Pre- and post-harvest manipulations also significantly impact quality traits of horticultural crops (Siddiqui et al., 2015, Siddiqui and Singh, 2015; Ilahy et al., 2018). Furthermore, in snake melon genotypes carrying resistance to powdery mildew, the quality traits might be affected with respect to ordinary and susceptible genotypes. Thus, this study investigates the genotypic variability affecting the main agricultural traits of different snake melon genotypes (three F1 hybrids, six breeding lines and a traditional reference cv. Mornagui) grown under greenhouse condition. The overall aim is to select the most promising genotypes (in terms of agronomic traits and mildew resistance), to be used in further snake melon breeding programs

2. Materials and Methods

Plant material

Ten powdery mildew resistant (PMR) snake melon genotypes were used in our study (Three hybrids; H7, H5 and H12), six breeding lines; L1, L2, L4, L5, L6 and L9) and the largely grown and consumed snake melon cultivar Mornagui. The breeding lines were heirlooms landraces previously selected for their higher productivity and powdery mildew resistance levels as well as desirable agricultural traits generally preferred by the consumer (length and skin colour).

The (F1) hybrids were developed in a line x line mating design, in which parents characterized by high levels of powdery mildew resistance (L2 and Mornagui), were crossed with the selected breeding lines (L1, L5 and L6) characterized by good powdery mildew resistance coupled with high productivity and desirable phenotypic traits. The breeding lines and the obtained hybrids were exchanged with different laboratory working on the same topics in Italy, Hungary and India.

Plug trays were used to grow snake melon seedlings at the beginning of December 2013 and 2014. Four weeks later seedlings were transferred into a sandy soil (Fig. 1) under unheated waterimpermeable plastic screens greenhouse, recommended for growing vegetable crops particularly cucurbits during winter cycles, using 125 and 150 cm as in- and between-row separations respectively at the region of Teboulba (35°63'N, 10°95'E) in the coastal zone of Tunisia. The experimental design was a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three blocks (replication). Each replication consisted of 10 plants per genotype. They were subjected to agricultural practices commonly adopted by highyielding farmers in this region. The production methods were in accordance with those reported recently in Ilahy et al. (2019).



Fig. 1 - Overview of the considered snake melon trial.

Determination of the agronomic characteristics

Powdery mildew resistance was determined on the basis of visual evaluation of the developed symptoms. Fruits were harvested weekly at the immature stage of ripening. Yield was determined following counting and considering all fruits on each plant. Early yield (agricultural output discriminating cultivars with precocious production with respect to others) and total yield [Kg of fresh weight (FW)/plant], number of fruit per plant (N. fruits/plant), average fruit weight (g) were determined on all the trials plants. In addition, fruit length and diameter were also recorded for all fruits. Fruit length and diameter (cm) were determined using a Vernier caliper.

Experimental design and statistical analysis

The effect of genotypic differences on the agronomic traits of snake melon was assessed by analysis of variance (ANOVA). When a significant difference was detected, means were compared using the least significant difference (LSD) test (p<0.05). All statistical analysis was performed using SAS Version 6.1 software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Agglomerative Hierarchical Cluster analysis was used to determine differences and similarities among the genotypes, and the distance measure used was Euclidean distance computed between each population by the Ward method.

3. Results and Discussion

The main agronomic traits of the snake melon hybrids and breeding lines grown under greenhouse during the productive seasons 2014 and 2015 are reported in Table 1. Pooled data of the two years were analyzed. Plants of the different genotypes exhibited visually an important vigour with exceptional foliage cover (Figs. 1, 2).

The major skin colour was visually different among the evaluated genotypes. The hybrids H5, and H12 and the breeding lines L1, L2, L5, L6 and L9 had dark green skin (Fig. 2). The hybrid H7 was dark and light green and the breeding line L4 has intense and dark green fruits whereas cv. Mornagui was characterized by medium light green fruits. Regarding fruit form, the hybrids H7 and H5 produced straight fruits and H12, L2, L4, L5, 'Mornagui' and L9 had elongate fruits. However both breeding lines L1 and L6 were characterized by straight elongate fruits.

The early and total yields (expressed as Kg /plant), the number of fruits per vine, as well as the average



В



Fig. 2 - External appearance, longitudinal and cross sections (A), and schematic representation of the morphology (B) of the different snake melon genotypes peponides under analysis (hybrids, breeding lines and the traditional cultivar Mornagui).

fruit weight, length, diameter and length/width ratio varied significantly (P<0.05) between genotypes (Table 1). Early yield ranged from 0.9 Kg per plant for the breeding line L5 and the cultivar Mornagui to 1.5 and 1.7 Kg per plant for the hybrids H5 and H7, respectively. The breeding line L9 had the lowest total yield (1.9 Kg per plant) and 10.7 fruits per plant, while the highest values were recorded for the hybrid H5 (3.6 Kg per plant and 20.7 fruits per plant). The average fruit weight ranged between 151.0 g to 184.3 g for the breeding line L6 and Mornagui cultivar, respectively. In agreement to the low weight, the breeding line L6 produced short fruits (19 cm length as average) with the lowest length/width ratio (5.14), while the fruits of the hybrid H5 and of the breeding line L1 were the longest (32.0 and 32.6 cm, respectively) and showed the highest length to width ratio (8.36 and 8.65, respectively). Fruit diameter is an important agricultural trait for snake melon as consumers generally prefer long fruits with low diameter (width). The lowest fruit diameter (3.3 cm) was measured for the breeding line L5 and the highest value (4.2 cm) was obtained for the hybrid H7 and cv. Mornagui. To our knowledge, these presented data are among the first reports on snake melon horticultural traits. Nevertheless, with respect to total yield, our data exceed the range of values (0.5-3.5 kg/plant) reported by Aydi-Ben-Abdallah et al. (2019)

and (0.3-2.0 Kg per plant) reported by Abdelmohsin et al. (2015) for open field and greenhouse grown monoecious cultivars of the flexuosus group (Alimin, PI222187 and Snake melon) and for the hermaphroditic breeding lines generated by crossing the *flexuosus* parents with the melon accession Paul, while they fell within the range reported by the same authors for number of fruits per vine (2-25). No correspondence was found, instead, between our findings and the number of fruits per plant (5.8-7.2) and fruit length (33-90) measured in five stable inbred lines of cultivated landraces of snake melons grown in open field at Wad Medani (Sudan) by Yousif et al. (2010); while they were in accordance with those of Ali-Shtayeh et al. (2017) for fruit weight (53-201 g) and length/width ratio (3-9) in a study comprising 50 accessions of snake melons grown in different open fields across the West Bank, and were slightly lower than the length (48.3 cm) and width (10.7 cm) values reported by Ramamurthy and Waters (2015) for a pale-green fleshed, non-sweet accession (USDA PI435288) grown it the fields of the Lincoln Agronomy Research Farm of the University of Nebraska.

Powdery mildew resistance visual evaluation showed that the snake melon line L9 exhibited similar resistance level to the ordinary cultivar Mornagui and also to the hybrid H5 (L2 x L1).

 Table 1 - Agronomic characteristics evaluated in snake melon hybrids, breeding lines and cultivar Mornagui grown under greenhouse conditions during the seasons 2014 and 2015 (pooled data of the two years were analyzed)

Genotypes	Major skin colour	Fruit form	Early yield (Kg/plant)	Total yield (Kg/plant).	Number of fruits/plant	Fruit weight (g)	Fruit length (cm)	Fruit diameter (cm)	PMR*
Developed hybrids (Line x Line)									
H7 (Mornagui X L5)	Dark/light green	Straight	1.7±0.1a	3.4±0.5 ab	20.3±2.9 ab	164.0±2.3	29.8±1.2 b	4.2±0.2 a	+
H5 (L2 X L1)	Dark green	Straight	1.5±0.1 a	3.6±0.3 a	20.7±2.0 a	173.6±1.2	32.0±1.0 a	3.7±0.1 bcd	+ +
H12 (Mornagui X L6)	Dark green	Elongate	1.4±0.2 b	3.0±0.2 abc	18.4±0.3 abc	169.0±16.7	22.0±0.6 e	4.1±0.2 ab	+
Breeding lines									
L1	Dark green	Straight elongate	1.4±0.3 b	3.3±0.6 ab	19.4±3.8 abc	172.7±6.1	32.6±0.1 a	3.9±0.3 abc	+
L2	Dark green	Elongate	1.1±0.1 b	2.7±0.1 abcd	16.0±0.6	166.3±3.7	31.2±0.1 ab	3.8±0.1 abcd	+
L4	Intense dark green	Elongate	1.3±0.1 ab	2.7±0.2 bcd	17.0±1.5 abc	153.6±2.7	27.5±0.3 c	3.8±0.4 abc	+
L5	Dark green	Elongate	0.9±0.2 b	2.1±0.2 cd	13.7±1.8 cd	154.6±5.2	19.2±0.1 f	3.3±0.1 d	+
L6	Dark green	Straight elongate	1.0±0.1 b	2.2±0.1 cd	14.7±0.7 bcd	151.0±2.6	19.0±0.6 f	3.7±0.1 bcd	+
L9	Dark green	Elongate	1.0±0.2 b	1.9±0.5 d	10.7±1.8 d	174.0±12.1	22.5±0.1 e	3.6±0.3 cd	+ +
Cultivar Mornagui	Medium/light	Elongate	0.94±0.1 b	2.5±0.2 bcd	13.6±1.2 cd	184.3±12.9	25.2±0.6 d	4.2±0.3 a	+ + +

The data refer to visually assessed snake melon fruits and are the average of at least 10 independent replicates.

Mean ± SD followed by the same letters do not differ significantly (LSD test, P<0.05).

* PMR is the evaluation of the Powdery mildew resistance, based on visual evaluation of the symptoms developed.

The dendogram from the hierarchical ascending classification (Fig. 3) has discriminated snake melon genotypes into 3 main clusters (level of trencature 5). The first cluster comprised 4 genotypes (the hybrid H5 and the breeding line L1 in a sub-cluster and the hybrid H7 and the breeding line L2 in the other subcluster) characterized by the most producing yield and the most elongated fruits. The second main clusters comprised 3 genotypes (the hybrid H12, the breeding line L9 and the traditional cv. Mornagui) mainly characterized by intermediate producing yields and intermediate fresh weights. The third cluster comprised the breeding lines L5, L6 and L4 characterized by the small fruit weight and the small fruit length.

4. Conclusions

The variability detected, for the main agronomic traits, in different snake melon genotypes (F1 hybrids and breeding lines) can be useful for further conventional snake melon breeding programs aiming to improve their agronomic traits and could contribute to the breeding of powdery mildew-resistant elite cultivars suitable for greenhouse and open field conditions.



Fig. 3 - The hierarchical ascending classification oh the studied snake melon genotypes. L1, L2, L4, L5, L6 and L9 are the breeding lines H5 (L2 x L1), H7 (Mornagui x L5) and H12 (Mornagui x L6) are the hybrids, V1 is the traditional cv. Mornagui.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Ministry of Agriculture Water Resources and Fisheries, the Institution of Research and Higher Agricultural Education as well as the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Tunisia (Project: Breeding of cucurbits for various agronomic and quality traits, 2012-2016).

References

- ABDELMOHSIN M.E., EL JACK A.E., YOUSIF M.T., EL NAIM A.M., AHMED E.A., PITRAT M., 2015 - Impact of breeding hermaphroditic melon on early production and yield: Case of snake melon (Cucumis melo var. flexuosus) and Tibish (C. melo var. tibish). - Int. J. Life Sci. Engin., 1(4): 171-176.
- ALI-SHTAYEH M.S., JAMOUS R.M., SHTAYA M.J., MALLAH O.B., EID I.S., ZAITOUN S.Y.A., 2017 - *Morphological characterization of snake melon* (Cucumis melo *var. flexuosus*) *populations from Palestine*. - Genet. Resour. Crop Evol., 64(1): 7-22.
- AYDI-BEN-ABDALLAH R., CHIKH-ROUHOU H., JABNOUN-KHIAREDDINE H., STA-BABA R., DAAMI-REMADI M., 2019 - Variation of the rhizosphere microbial community structures between melon and snake melon genotypes showing differences in growth, and fruit yield parameters. - Int. J. Adv. Agr. Sci., 4(4): 1-12.
- BELLÓN-GÓMEZ D., VELA-CORCÍA D., PÉREZ-GARCÍA A., TORÉS, J.A., 2015 - Sensitivity of Podosphaera xanthii populations to anti-powdery mildew fungicides in Spain. - Pest Manag. Sci., 71: 1407-1413.
- BURGER Y., PARIS H.S., COHEN R., KATZIR N., TADMOR Y., LEWINSOHN E., SCHAFFER A.A., 2010 - *Genetic diversity* of Cucumis melo. - Hortic. Rev., 36: 165-198.
- DUKE J.A., AYENSU E.S., 1985 *Medicinal plants of China*. 2 *Vols*. - Ref. Publ. Inc., Algonac, MI, USA.
- FERNÁNDEZ-ORTUÑO D., PÉREZ-GARCÍA A., LÓPEZ-RUIZ F., ROMERO D., DE VINCENTE A., TORÉS J.A., - 2006 -Occurrence and distribution of resistance to Qol fungicides in populations of Podosphaera fusca in South Central Spain. - Eur. J. Plant Pathol., 115(2): 215-222.
- ILAHY R., SIDDIQUI M.W., TLILI I., MONTEFUSCO A., PIRO G., HDIDER C., LENUCCI M.S., 2018 - When color really matters: Horticultural performance and functional quality of high lycopene tomatoes. - CRC Crit. Rev. Plant Sci., 37(1): 15-53.
- ILAHY R., TLILI I., CHIKH ROUHOU H., R'HIM T., HOMA F., HDIDER C., JEBARI H., LENUCCI M.S., 2019 - Functional quality traits of snake melon (Cucumis melo var. flexuosus *L.*) fruits as affected by genotypic differences. - J. Postharvest Technol., 7(2): 1-10.

ILAHY R., TLILI I., R'HIM T., CHIKH ROUHOU H., MANI A.,

HDIDER C., 2019 - A first insight on snake melon (Cucumis melo var. flexuosus): an underestimated source of functional compounds, pp: 529-542. - In: MITRA S., A.K. BANIK, A. MANI, V.S. KUCHI, and N.K. MEENA, (eds.) Trends and prospects in post-harvest management of horticultural crops. Today & Tomorrow's Printers and Publishers, New Delhi, India, pp. 812.

- PANDEY S., DHILLON N.P.S., SUREJA A.K., SINGH D., MALIK A.A., 2010 - Hybridization for increased yield and nutritional content of snake melon (Cucumis melo L. var. flexuosus). - Plant Genet. Resour., 8(2): 127-131.
- PARIS H.S., 2012 Semitic-language records of snake melons (Cucumis melo, Cucurbitaceae) in the medieval period and the "piqqus" of the "faqqous". - Genet. Resour. Crop Evol., 59: 31-38.
- PARIS H.S., DAUNAY M.C., JANICK J., 2011 Occidental diffusion of cucumber (Cucumis sativus) 500-1300 CE: two routes to Europe. - Ann. Bot., 109(1): 117-126.
- RAMAMURTHY R.K., WATERS B.M., 2015 Identification of fruit quality and morphology QTLs in melon (Cucumis melo) using a population derived from flexuosus and cantalupensis botanical groups. - Euphytica, 204(1):

163-177.

- SIDDIQUI M.W., AYALA-ZAVALA J.F., DHUA R.S., 2015 -Genotypic variation in tomatoes affecting processing and antioxidant attributes. - Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr., 55(13): 1819 1835.
- SIDDIQUI M.W., SINGH J.P., 2015 Compositional alterations in tomato products during storage. - Res. J. Chem. Environ., 19(2): 82-87.
- SITTERLY W.P., 1978 *Powdery mildew of cucurbits*, pp. 359-379. In: SPENCER D.M. (ed.) *Powdery mildews*. Academic Press, London, UK, pp. 584.
- SOLMAZ I., KACAR Y.A., SIMSEK O., SARI N., 2016 Genetic characterization of Turkish snake melon (Cucumis melo *L. subsp.* melo flexuosus *Group*) accessions revealed by SSR markers. - Biochem. Genet., 54(4): 534-543.
- YOUSIF M.T., ELAMIN T.M., BARAKA M., JACK A.A., AHMED E.A., 2010 - Variability and correlation among morphological, vegetative, fruit and yield parameters of snake melon (Cucumis melo var. flexuosus). - Cucurbit Genet. Coop. Report, 33-34: 32-35.
- ZITTER T.A., HOPKINS, D.L., TOMAS, C.E., 1996 -Compendium of cucurbits diseases. - APS Press, St Paul, MN, USA, pp. 87.